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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

[xX] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 .

OR

[1 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the Transition Period from to

Commission file number 000-24821

eBay Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaer)

Delaware 77-0430924
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
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2145 Hamilton Avenue

San Jose, California 95125
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executive offices)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code:
(408) 376-7400

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Securities Exchange Act of 1934:

Title of each class Name of exchange on which reqistered

Common stock The Nasdaq Global Select Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tfie Securities Exchange Act of 1934:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 40%edBéturities Act.  Yes|[x] No[]

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Exchange Act. Yes
[1 Noi[x]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by SectiB or 15(d) of the Exchange Act during



the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter patiatithe registrant was required to file such reg)pand (2) has been subject to such
filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yds [No[]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lasmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥&b site, if any, every Interactive

Data File required to be submitted and posted puntsio Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8 232.405 of tthapter) during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the regigtwas required to submit and post such file&)es [x] No []

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ oontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of the registrant's knowdedgdefinitive proxy or information statementsanporated




by reference in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or anpendment to this Form 10-K. Yes [x] No []

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @aocelerated filer or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer,” and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act.

Large accelerated filer [x] Accelerated filer [
Non-accelerated filer [1 (Do notcheck if a staateporting company) Smaller reporting company [ ]
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExge Act). Yes [] No [X]

As of June 30, 2012 , the aggregate market valtieeofegistrant's common stock held by non-affadf the registrant was
$48,526,400,895 based on the closing sale pricepasted on The Nasdaq Global Select Market.

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of e&tieaegistrant's classes of common stock, alefdatest practicable date.

Class Outstanding as of January 28, 2013
Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share 1,29@31Zhares

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Part Il incorporates information by reference frima definitive proxy statement for the registradthnual Meeting of Stockholders to be
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PART |

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwarddmg statements within the meaning of Section&thAe Securities Act of 1933
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Ac®®4,lincluding statements that involve expectatiptens or intentions (such as those
relating to future business, future results of @iems or financial condition, new or planned fe@sior services, or management strategies).
You can identify these forward-looking statemegta/brds such as “may,” “will,” “would,” “should,” “ could,” “expect,” “anticipate,”
“believe,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan” and other similar expressions. These forward-looking statemémiolve risks and uncertainties that
could cause our actual results to differ materidtym those expressed or implied in our forwardkiog statements. Such risks and
uncertainties include, among others, those disaligséltem 1A: Risk Factors” of this Annual Repam Form 10-K, as well as in our
consolidated financial statements, related notes, the other information appearing elsewhere is tteéiport and our other filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEGIdNM®t intend, and undertake no obligation, to updey of our forward-looking
statements after the date of this report to reflttial results or future events or circumstanc&isen these risks and uncertainties, readers
cautioned not to place undue reliance on such fodwaoking statements.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

eBay Inc. was formed as a sole proprietorship jpt&aber 1995 and was incorporated in Californiay 1996. In April 1998, we
reincorporated in Delaware, and in September 188&,ompleted the initial public offering of our coman stock. Our principal executive
offices are located at 2145 Hamilton Avenue, Sae JGalifornia 95125, and our telephone numbet(8) 376-7400. When we refer to “we,
“our,” “us” or “eBay” in this Annual Report on Fort0-K, we mean the current Delaware corporatiorageBBc.) and its California
predecessor, as well as all of its consolidatedididries. When we refer to “eBay.com,” we meandhkne marketplace located at
www.ebay.com and its localized counterparts. Wherrefer to “PayPal,” we mean the online paymerasfig@im located at www.paypal.com
and its localized counterparts. When we refer t&FGwe mean the ecommerce and interactive marketingcesrprovided by GSI Commer:
which we purchased in June 2011.

We are a global technology company that enablesremge through three reportable segments: Marketp)deayments, and GSI. By
providing online platforms, tools and services étphindividuals and small, medium and large merthamound the globe engage in online anc
mobile commerce and payments, we can facilitatesaretions. Driven by the ubiquity of the Internetldhe proliferation of mobile devices, !
believe that the way consumers engage with brandservices is fundamentally changing. They ar@gimg virtually anytime, anywhere. We
believe that this shift in behavior is blurring tirees between offline retail and online ecommesdtsctively becoming one market for
commerce.

Whether online, through the mobile channel or oéJiour monetization strategy remains the sameai@rimarily a transaction-based
business model that generates revenue throughoounerce and payments platforms. We also generagaue through marketing services,
classifieds and advertising. We have also creatempan source platform that provides software dgpars and merchants access to our
applications programming interfaces, or APIs, teadep software and solutions for commerce. Our e community includes more than
800,000 members. As of December 31, 2012, our Mpldees segment had more than 112 million actieesuand more than 350 million
listings globally, while our Payments segment haaterthan 122 million active registered accountg tBe definitions of "active user" and
“active registered accounts” in our Marketplaced Bayments discussions, respectively, below.

For financial information about our reportable segis as well as the geographic areas where we cbhdsiness, please see "Note 5 -
Segments" to the consolidated financial statemiantsded in this report. Additionally, please ske information in "ltem 1A: Risk Factors"
under the caption "There are many risks associatidour international operations," which describisks associated with the foreign
operations of our reportable segments.

Marketplaces

Our Marketplaces segment includes our core econengatform eBay.com, our vertical shopping expar@nsuch as StubHub,
Fashion, Motors and Half.com, our classifieds wielsssuch as Marktplaats.nl and mobile.de, and &igiver services. Additionally,
Marketplaces has acquired certain technologieg further enable new commerce opportunitiespitidg RedLaser to facilitate mobile
commerce, Milo to enable search for goods at loetallers, WHI to offer a more robust ecatalog @ton parts and accessories and Hunch to
improve search and merchandising based on custonesds and




tastes. These and other acquisitions are interdedhance existing services and deliver new sent@enerchants and consumers by using
innovative technology and improved experiencessgcnoultiple channels of commerce.

Our Marketplaces platforms bring consumers and haerts together through online websites and mopiidieations that are generally
available throughout the world at any time, inchglthrough localized eBay.com sites in many coasttiWe had more than 112 million active
users at the end of 2012, compared to more thamldon at the end of 2011. The term active useans, as of any date, any user who bic
bought or listed an item on any of our Marketplazading platforms, excluding users of Half.comyt#iub, and our Korean subsidiary, dur
the preceding 12-month period. A user may have ri@e one account on our Marketplaces tradinggiat$ and therefore may be counted
more than once when we calculate the number ofe@osers.

Our Marketplaces platforms offer the following fess:
We provide a variety of access points for consuntershop virtually anytime, anywhere.

Our Marketplaces platforms are accessible throughditional online experience and from mobile degi We offer downloadable,
easy-to-use mobile applications for the iPhonejRael, Android and Windows mobile devices for eBayn and some of our other websites
and vertical shopping experiences, including StulyHRashion, Motors and Half.com. We also maintainadile version of our eBay.com
website for use on mobile devices and continuest@bp our mobile applications on an ongoing bdsi2012, nearly $13 billion in mobile
commerce volume was transacted across our platfonme than doubling our prior year's mobile conraarolume.

We offer a number of buying and selling formats,dluding fixed price and auction.

Merchants and individuals can choose to list theaducts and services through fixed price listiagd an auction-style format on
eBay.com, our core Marketplaces platform. Our fipeide format on eBay.com allows buyers and setterdose transactions at a pre-
determined price set by the seller, but also allselters to signal that they would be willing tos# the transaction at a lower price through th
Best Offer feature. Our auction-style format allcavseller to select a minimum price for openingsbiddditional options and features
applicable to auction listings include the abitityset a Reserve Price and the Buy It Now featiline.duration of auctions typically ranges fr
one to ten days. In 2012, our fixed price listingiiat continued to increase in popularity on eBaypcaccounting for approximately 66% of
our gross merchandise volume, or GMV, with our immestyle format accounting for the remaining apjimmately 34% of GMV. We define
GMV as the total value of all closed items betwasers on our eBay Marketplaces trading platformslgeling eBay's classifieds websites,
brands4friends and Shopping.com) during the applécperiod, regardless of whether the buyer ardrsattually consummated the
transaction. Merchants and individuals can algdHisir products and services on our classifiedssites or our other specialized vertical
websites, as discussed below.

In addition, our eBay Stores format enables merchtanexhibit all of their listings in a single pkon one of our Marketplaces platfo
and to describe their respective businesses throusflomized pages. eBay Stores also provides nraechéth tools to build, manage, promote
and track their businesses.

Our classifieds websites have listings in over @,6ifies around the world and are primarily destyteehelp people list their products
and services primarily for free and then trade latal level. Our classifieds websites include adal, BilBasen, dba.dk, eBay Classifieds

controlling equity investment in craigslist, Inahich operates the craigslist classifieds websites.
We offer a variety of specialized vertical formats.

We continue to customize our buying and sellingegigmces to make it easier for users to list, ind buy items by offering formats
dedicated to specific products or categories. Qrcote eBay.com websites, we have built specialegariences for certain vertical formats,
such as Daily Deals, Fashion, Motors (vehiclestspand accessories), and Electronics. Our DailyfidDestical offers a variety of products in
multiple categories at discounted prices with 8kgping. In our Fashion vertical we offer our Hashvault, Fashion Outlet and an applicat
for mobile devices enabled with social media andiestharing functions. In our Motors vertical wdesfusers shopping tailored to their
vehicles specifications, including the Tire Cergted Wheel Center, among others. In our Electronéc8cal, we offer user reviews, similar
item listings, and instant sale feature to helpaufist and find items more easily.




StubHub is a leading marketplace for event ticketigbling fans to buy and sell tickets to a lagjecion of sports, concert, theater and
other live entertainment events. StubHub's onlimeketplace, dedicated solely to tickets, provigesfthe ability to buy and sell their tickets
a safe, convenient and reliable environment. ABefember 31, 2012, StubHub's partners included thare 70 professional and collegiate
sports teams, organizations and venues from the,MBA_, MLB and NCAA. In December 2011, StubHub lahed its first international
website in the United Kingdom.

We are building services to help sellers offer gepthrough both a traditional online experience armdmobile device, providing them with
multiple channels for product distribution.

With the acquisitions of RedLaser and Milo, we lagéping merchants offer their local inventory osliand through mobile devices and
helping consumers find what they are looking foloatl stores. RedLaser allows consumers to s@bdicode on an item using their mobile
device to find merchants offering that item foreshbth online and offline in local stores, whileld/énables local inventory to be viewed on
or on a mobile device. We plan to expand the fnetity and use of these technologies and serwicesore merchants in 2013. In August
2012, we began testing eBay Now, a same-day dglsawice for purchases from participating locates in San Francisco. The eBay Now
service is currently available to consumers in Bamcisco and parts of New York City.

Our individual and merchant listings offers varietgnd choice.

With more than 350 million listings on all of ouB&y.com platforms as of December 31, 2012, we aff@isumers a broad range of
listings across a wide number of categories. Giinlys include new, refurbished and used prodeotsmon and rare items, and branded and
unbranded products. As of December 31, 2012, tvere approximately 110 branded Fashion Outlet stoneour eBay.com platform in the
U.S., the U.K. Germany and Australia offering cansus new items at great prices.

We maintain high standards for trust, safety andstamer service.

We have developed a number of features on ouropta#f in the areas of trust and safety (includingfeedback Forum, SafeHarbor
Program, Verified Rights Owner Program, eBay TopeR&eller (eTRS) and eBay Buyer Protection), eustosupport and value-added tools
and services, as well as loyalty programs (for otyers and sellers). These features are designadhie users more comfortable trading with
unknown partners and completing transactions omirtrough mobile devices, as well as rewardingtop buyers and sellers for their loya

Our eTRS program rewards qualifying sellers with déscounts and improved search standing for ouradjflistings. eTRS is currently
available in the U.S., the U.K., Germany and Augtr®ur eTRS sellers are given the opportunitgamn discounted fees and preferential
search placements for their listings if they arke &b maintain excellent customer service ratingh & minimum number of successful
transactions over the last 12 months. U.S. sedlersequired to offer one-day handling and 14-atadpnger returns with a money-back option
benefit to be eligible for fee discounts. We bediesellers who fulfill these selling standards Wiglp promote our goal of maintaining an online
marketplace that is safe and hassle-free.

eBay Buyer Protection covers items purchased osites in the U.S., the U.K. and Germany througjualifying payment method and
protects most buyers with respect to items thahateeceived or are received but not as desciibé#uk listing. Some purchases, including
most vehicles, are not covered. eBay Buyer Prategirovides coverage for the purchase price oitéme, plus original shipping costs, for a
limited period of time from the original date o&trsaction, and includes a new, streamlined interfadelp buyers and sellers navigate the
process.

Payments

Our Payments segment has three primary paymemsddrRayPal, which enables individuals and busasesssecurely, easily and
quickly send and receive payments online and thr@ugroad range of mobile devices in approximat®y markets worldwide; Bill Me Later,
which enables U.S. merchants to offer, and U.Sswawers to obtain, credit at the point of sale fmmemerce and mobile transactions through
Bill Me Later's relationship with a chartered firgad institution; and Zong, acquired in August 20Which enables users with a mobile phone
to purchase digital goods and have the transactibagged to their phone bill. In 2011, we also asqUBIllSAFE, a provider of payment
services for online merchants in Germany that affersumers the ability to pay for purchases upoaipt of an invoice after the item is
received.

Our Payments solutions provide efficient paymeimt settlement capabilities for consumers and metshtameBay websites, on other
merchant websites and increasingly at offline tédaations. Our payment networks are designecetsilmple, safe and secure and are built
upon the existing global financial infrastructuoecteate global, real-time payment




solutions. PayPal connects with more than 15,0@nttial institutions around the world, and consuoan typically use their payment mett
of choice, no matter where the seller is locateskrs of our PayPal payments solutions can engagess-border shopping, which can help
merchants to increase sales volume by allowing tttesell to a global base of consumers.

We had more than 122 million and 106 million actiggistered accounts as of December 31, 2012 ahti 28spectively. The term
active registered accounts means, as of a given alhregistered accounts that successfully sergagived at least one payment or payment
reversal through the PayPal system within the @riomonths or Bill Me Later accounts that are ableansact at that date and that have
received a statement within the prior 12 month®rblsnay have more than one account with PayPailldviB Later and therefore the number
of active registered accounts may be greater thenumber of underlying users.

Our PayPal payment processing solution is availableth online and on mobile devices.

PayPal started as a payment solution for onlinesaetions between consumers and merchants throgtiional online experience.
With the growth of Internet-enabled mobile devideayPal is becoming a popular form of payment fobite commerce. In 2012, PayPal's ne
total payment volume, or net TPV, for transactiossg mobile devices reached nearly $14 billionfrom approximately $4 billion in 2011.
PayPal's mobile products are designed to delivemainto-end mobile shopping experience in a saflesanure environment. PayPal's mobile
checkout solutions offer a convenient and easy f@agnerchants to accept payments from mobile deyiaed for consumers to pay, through a
mobile-optimized user experience. Consumers wRiayPal account have the flexibility to pay witheuatering a credit card number or a
billing and shipping address online or throughttihedbile devices. We define net TPV as total doli@lume of payments, net of payment
reversals, successfully completed through our Pagsneetworks, Bill Me Later and Zong during the liggble period, excluding PayPal's
payment gateway business.

Our PayPal payment solution offers merchants an-aitone payment processing solution.

An online merchant can typically open a standangPRaaaccount and begin accepting payments throagR#& within a few minutes.
Most online or mobile merchants are approved iristafProcessing with PayPal does not require ngecialized hardware. It can also reduce
the need for merchants to receive and store semsitistomer financial information. PayPal doesamatirge merchants any setup fees and «
a standard service with no recurring monthly fees.

We offer consumers choice by providing a varietyfofiding mechanisms.

Consumers can fund their PayPal accounts and pagrasimg PayPal in a variety of ways, includingcbgdit card, debit card, electroi
funds transfers from their bank account and thrauftayPal balance if the buyer has previously vedgpayments through PayPal or chose
pre-fund a balance. We also provide a credit affethrough our Bill Me Later service, which allogugalifying U.S. consumers to obtain a
revolving line of credit at the point of sale frafebBank, a third-party chartered financial instdnt Bill Me Later is not a chartered financial
institution nor is it licensed to make loans in atgte. Accordingly, Bill Me Later must rely on artk or licensed lender to issue the Bill Me
Later credit products and extend credit to custemérS. consumers may also be offered an oppoyttmiefer payments for purchases made
using Bill Me Later. Under some promotional arramgats offered on select merchant sites, interesuch purchases can be deferred for as
long as 18 months.

When a consumer makes a purchase using a Bill Mer ceedit product issued by a chartered finanaoigtitution, the chartered financ
institution extends credit to the consumer, fur@sextension of credit at the point of sale anditefunds to the merchant. We subsequently
purchase the receivables related to the consurages lmade by the chartered financial institution, asda result of that purchase, bear the risk
of loss in the event of loan defaults. Although ¢hartered financial institution continues to ovatle customer account, we own the related
receivable and are responsible for all servicincfions related to the account. For informatiorarding risks related to our Bill Me Later
business, see the information in “Item 1A: RisktBes' under the captions "Bill Me Later's operasaepend on lending services provided by
an unaffiliated lender" and "Bill Me Later's opéoats expose us to additional risks."




We have embarked on plans to enable merchants ferd?ayPal at offline retail locations.

In 2011, we began work on a PayPal point of sajyengats solution for the U.S. and select Europearkets. In the U.S., this solution is
intended to allow PayPal users who sign up forstiteice to use their PayPal accounts to make pseshat offline retail locations. We expect
that users will be able to access their PayPalumdsdhrough a PayPal Access Card, their mobilm@mumber and personal identification
number (PIN), or a Near Field Communication-enaldedce depending on what the retailer offers. Tiitgative is an important part of
PayPal's strategy to provide a comprehensive palysatution for retailers both online and offline elWnplemented the point of sale payments
solution on a limited basis for select retailer@12, and expect to continue to roll out this piido additional retailers.

Our payments solutions offer leading fraud prevemti and protection.

PayPal enables consumers to pay merchants quicklgasily without sharing sensitive financial imf@tion, such as credit card or dt
card numbers. To make payments using PayPal, carsureed to disclose only their email addressesetehants. The account-based nature
of PayPal's network helps us to better detect aadept fraud when funds enter, flow through and # PayPal network.

Bill Me Later accounts are most commonly openeé @hS. merchant websites, including eBay.com, oiffeBill Me Later as a
payment method but can also be opened by U.S. nwrsuthrough a qualified PayPal account or at thévig Later website.

When using Bill Me Later, qualified consumers nézgrovide only their name, address, birth datetardast four digits of their social
security number. When using Zong, buyers needpotionly their mobile phone number and respondtexgor email requiring them to
approve the transaction.

PayPal has developed a number of trust and safeygms, including PayPal's Seller Protection amatfase Protection Programs.
These programs provide additional protection téaderaccount holders who pay or receive paymenthfeir transactions through PayPal on or
off eBay.com in certain key geographies. PayPa&leSProtection Program covers sellers in certaiyngeographies who follow specific
shipping and handling practices against claimsdhatnsaction was not authorized by the buyehatrthe item was not received. PayPal's
Purchase Protection Program reimburses the buylgied to specified limitations, for qualified phases using PayPal on or off eBay.com in
certain key geographies if the buyer does not vectie item or, in limited markets, if the itensignificantly not as described. In some non-
U.S. markets, protection for buyers is limited tmaximum amount per transaction.

GSlI

Acquired by eBay in June 2011, GSl is a leadingigier of ecommerce and interactive marketing sewio enterprise clients that
include some of the world's leading brands andleeta GSI offers a broad suite of solutions desijto power merchants' online businesses
and effectively integrate with their other saleamhels. GSI's advanced technology, fulfilmenttooeer care and interactive marketing
services are designed to enable its clients taatdethe consumer experience and cost-effectivediasuit over time.

GSI operates two business units: Global eCommegcéc®s, or GeC, and Global Marketing ServicesGBIS. Each business unit off
products and services that complement the othachadilows for crosselling opportunities. While GSI operates on a gldiasis, nearly all ¢
its net revenues in 2012 were derived from its Néanerican operations.

GSI enables companies to operate ecommerce busaseand to integrate their ecommerce businesses wfitier multi-channel retail
offerings.

GSil sells its products and services on an indiibaais and as bundled solutions. The GeC busim@sserves enterprise clients that
operate in general merchandise categories, indualiparel, sporting goods, toys & baby, health &ute and home. We refer to GSI clients
enterprise clients because GSI generally servgs,laationally recognized brand name companies Gét& ecommerce suite is comprised of
three principal services: Technology & Paymentdfilfaent & Freight and Customer Care.

GSI Technology & Payments services provide retalaith ecommerce platforms, products and services.

GSI Technology & Payments uses shared sales, sepperations and administration teams for itsetlareas of focus: webstore &
mobile, commerce exchange & multi-channel and payme




Webstore & mobile provides secure shopping cartcdretkout offerings, analytical tools, site managettools, including catalog,
content and promotions management and guided proiscovery.

Commerce exchange & multi-channel offerings protidesactional capabilities, including order mamaget, inventory management
and fulfillment integration. GSI's multi-channefering is a suite of software products that enablestore pickup, ship-from-store, ship-to-
store and drop ship capabilities.

The payments offering provides a robust onlinenpanyt processing engine with capabilities includnige, tax and shipping
calculations, address verification, order review &raud prevention, credit card authorization asttlement and alternative payment
processing, including PayPal as well as privatellakedit cards, gift cards and online gift cectifies.

GSI Fulfillment & Freight services help retailers mnage logistics complexities.

GSI operates five ecommerce fulfilment centermU.S., one in Canada and one in the U.K., tegethcompassing over 3.4 million
square feet. Within these facilities, GSI utilizegrehouse management systems and infrastructprevae customized direct-to-consumer
fulfillment solutions, including order managemenmial-time order status updates and reverse logistitvices. Through scale and partnerships
with leading freight providers, GSI offers cliefié&aorable shipping rates and innovative freightgoaons, including its ShipQuik shipping
program. Under this program, packages are presbytedistomer zip code, which helps to shortenithe packages are in transit.

GSI Customer Care services provide retailers witkegrated customer support for their online web &s.

Through three call centers in the U.S. and a nétwbrustomer support agents, plus one call centdre U.K., GSI provides customer
care services for ecommerce via telephone, livé ahé email. GSI combines proprietary and thirdyptechnologies, including automatic call
distribution, computer telephony integration, iafive voice response, email, workforce managenveite recording/monitoring and
customer relationship management systems in thieroes care platform. The U.K. call center offerstomer care in multiple languages.

GMS provides retailers with extensive online marikef services

The GMS business unit is focused on providing cahensive, industry-leading solutions designed tp tigents acquire new
customers, convert more website visitors into bsiyleuild customer loyalty and drive revenue ackas®us channels. GMS offers a full-
service digital agency, a brand-centric boutiquenayg, enterprise email marketing, database managemebile advertising, affiliate
marketing, online advertising display retargetiagd in-depth analytics capabilities.

Competition

We encounter vigorous competition in our busine§ses numerous sources. For our Marketplaces segrmenusers can find, buy, s
and pay for similar items through a variety of catipg online, mobile and offline channels. Thes#ude, but are not limited to, retailers,
distributors, liquidators, import and export comiganauctioneers, catalog and mail-order companlassifieds, directories, search engines,
commerce participants (consumer-to-consumer, bssiteeconsumer and business-to-business), shoppannels and networks. As our
product offerings continue to broaden into new gaties of items and new commerce formats, we expefeice additional competition from
other online, mobile and offline channels for thosev offerings. We compete on the basis of pricedpct selection and services.

For our Payments segment, our users may choosg/tthpugh a variety of alternative means, inclgdiredit and debit cards,
automated clearing house and bank wires, othen®piiyment services, offline payment methods saaash, check or money order and u
mobile phones. Likewise, our users may elect tarfoe their purchases through a broad range of stheces of financing, including credit
cards, lines of credit provided by financial ingtibns and store credit or layaway plans providgdierchants.

Our GSI segment faces different competitors fohezfdts two business units. GSI seeks to competihe basis of offering premium
capabilities at attractive prices. Each of GSl'siess units competes on a stand-alone basismwithuse solutions promoted and supported b
internal departments, as well as technology andceproviders that supply ecommerce solutionsoongonents of ecommerce solutions (e.g.
website and mobile platforms, customer care/cailtereservices and fulfillment and logistics) antemctive marketing services, as the case
may be. GSI also seeks to differentiate itself lmss-selling and bundling services to offer moteaative pricing and integrated
implementations.




For more information regarding these risks, seartfemation in “Item 1A: Risk Factors” under thaptions “Our industries are
intensely competitive” and “We are subject to regoty activity and antitrust litigation under cortipien laws.”

To compete effectively, we may need to expend Barit resources in technology and marketing. Tledfgets may be expensive and
could reduce our margins and have a material aeedfect on our business, financial position, ofiegaresults and cash flows and reduce the
market price of our common stock. Despite our ¢fftm preserve and expand the size, diversity mmbaction activity of our users and
customers and to enhance the user experience, waahae able to continue to manage our operatpgmses or increase or maintain our
revenue to avoid or reduce a decline in our codat#id net income or avoid a net loss.

Seasonality

We expect transaction activity patterns on our Webdo mirror general consumer buying patterng. @8l segment is highly seasonal.
The fourth calendar quarter typically accountsdalisproportionate amount of GSI's total annuaénexe because consumers increase their
purchases and businesses increase their advettisaagnsumers during the fourth quarter holidayseeaPlease see the additional information
in “ltem 7: Management's Discussion and Analysifiofincial Condition and Results of Operations”emithe caption “Seasonality.”

Technology

Our Marketplaces, Payments and GSI platforms etdizombination of proprietary technologies andises as well as technologies ¢
services provided by others. We have developedivewser interfaces, customer tools and transagirocessing, database and network
applications that help enable our users to reliably securely complete transactions on our sitdsalp GSI's clients to utilize its suite of
services. Our technology infrastructure simplifiles storage and processing of large amounts of dases the deployment and operation of
large-scale global products and services and adgsnmauch of the administration of large-scale eltssbf computers. Our infrastructure has
been designed around industry-standard architectareeduce downtime in the event of outages @staiphic occurrences. We strive to
continually improve our technology to enhance thgtemer experience and to increase efficiencyabdél and security. For information
regarding technology-related risks, see the infoionan “ltem 1A: Risk Factors” under the captidi®ystem failures and resulting
interruptions in the availability of our websitesdaservices could harm our business” and “Our ffaito costeffectively manage certain aspe
of our business could harm us.”

Intellectual Property

We regard the protection of our intellectual prapeincluding our trademarks (particularly thoseeong the eBay and PayPal names),
patents, copyrights, domain names, trade dresframe secrets as critical to our success. We agjgedyg protect our intellectual property rig
by relying on federal, state and common law righthe U.S. and internationally, as well as a \#gr&d administrative procedures. We also |
on contractual restrictions to protect our propnigtrights in products and services. We have edtete confidentiality and invention
assignment agreements with our employees and ctortseand nondisclosure agreements with partidswdiitom we conduct business to limit
access to and disclosure of our proprietary infdiona

We pursue the registration of our domain namedetraarks, and service marks in the U.S. and intemeaty. Additionally, we have
filed U.S. and international patent applicationsearing certain aspects of our proprietary technpldjfective trademark, copyright, patent,
domain name, trade dress and trade secret pratésti@ry expensive to maintain and may requiigditon. We must protect our intellectual
property rights and other proprietary rights iniereasing number of jurisdictions, a process ihakpensive and time consuming and may
be successful.

We have registered our core brands as trademadkd@nain names in the U.S. and a large numberhef garisdictions and have in
place an active program to continue to secure tnades and domain names that correspond to our biandarkets of interest. If we are
unable to protect our trademarks or domain names;auld be adversely affected in any jurisdictionvhich our trademarks or domain names
are not registered or protected. We have licensélae past, and expect to license in the futungaireof our proprietary rights, such as
trademarks or copyrighted material, to others.

Third parties have from time to time claimed, atieos will likely claim in the future, that we hairdringed their intellectual property
rights. We are typically involved in a number otkuegal proceedings at any time. Please see ftheriation in “Item 3: Legal Proceedings”
and in “ltem 1A: Risk Factors” under the captioi#®é listing or sale by our users of pirated or ¢etfeit items may harm our business," "We
are subject to patent litigation" and "We may bahla to protect or enforce our own intellectualgandy rights adequately.”
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Employees

As of December 31, 2012, we employed approxim&d#[$00 people globally including approximately D36mporary employees.
Approximately 20,500 of our employees were locateithe U.S.

Available Information
Our Internet address is www.ebay.com. Our invegtlations website is located at http://investongiiacom. We make available free
charge on our investor relations website undeh#eing “SEC Filings” our Annual Reports on FormKL,QQuarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,

Current Reports on Formi8-and amendments to those reports as soon as sddggmacticable after such materials are electalyi filed with
(or furnished to) the SEC. Information containedoon websites is not incorporated by reference tini® Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 1A: RISK FACTORS
Risk Factors That May Affect Results of Operatioaad Financial Condition

Our operations and financial results are subjecvésious risks and uncertainties that could advlrsdfect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flowswadl as the trading price of our common stock drbt offerings.

Our operating results have varied on a quarterjsb@uring our operating history. Our operatingitssmay fluctuate significantly as a
result of a variety of factors, many of which argside our control. Factors that may affect ourrapieg results include risks described
elsewhere in this section and the following:

« general economic conditions, including the puaitisy of a prolonged period of limited economicogrth or possible economic
decline in the U.S. and Europe; adverse effecte@bngoing sovereign debt crisis in Europe, iniclgdncreased Euro currency
exchange rate volatility, the negative impact &f thisis and related austerity measures on Europe@momic growth, potential
negative spillover effects to the rest of the wptle: “contagion” risk of the crisis spreading tiddional countries in Europe, the
possibility that one or more countries may leaweHEuro zone and re-introduce their individual cacies, and, in more extreme
circumstances, the possible dissolution of the Eurcency; the possibility of greater austerityhie U.S. due to, among other
factors, automatic sequesters, failure to raisédbbt ceiling,” or other related actions (or faduo take actions) by the U.S.
Congress and executive branch and, more genettadlympact of uncertainty regarding the fiscal pplof the U.S. government;
disruptions to the credit and financial market&imope, the U.S., and elsewhere; contractiongratdd growth in consumer
spending or consumer credit; and adverse econamniditions that may be specific to the Internet,negerce and payments
industries;

e our ability to manage the rapid shift from oelioommerce and payments to mobile and nolltinnel commerce and payme

e our ability to improve the quality of the usesperience on our websites and through mobile deViceluding our customer support
in the event of a problem) in light of the improweaklity generally of the user experience offerga@mpetitive merchants;

e our ability to upgrade and develop our systeimdding the migration to GSlI's new technologytflem and our need to
“replatform” our base PayPal technology), infrastawe and customer service capabilities to acconateogrowth and to improve
the functionality and reliability of our websitesdaservices at a reasonable cost while maintai?diig operations;

< the primary and secondary effects of previoasipounced and possible future changes to our gripimducts and policies,
including, among other changes, restrictions odfoin payments made to certain sellers or in cdiomewith certain transactions;
changes to our dispute resolution process; upgtadeBay checkout services, including the introducbf an eBay shopping
cart/basket that enables buyers to add items froitipte sellers and pay in a single checkout; clesng our fee structure, including
new requirements to qualify for “eBay Trusted SEl@iscounts; changes to the design, navigation anctifunality of the eBay.coi
website, including a redesigned homepage, a neway'é®ed” that allows users to establish a perszedhfieed of items on their
homepage and the display of larger images and ptadfiormation; changes to the checkout processudting the ability for users
to connect their eBay and PayPal accounts moré/gasid other products and features through whiehave increasingly
intermediating more aspects of transactions betwegers and sellers using our platforms;

e our ability to retain an active user base, attrew users, and encourage existing users titdias for sale and purchase items
through our websites and mobile platforms, or ugepayment services, especially when consumer $pgslweak;

e consumer confidence in the safety and secufitsaasactions using our websites and technolagsiyding through mobile devices)
and the effect of any changes in our practicespatidies or of any events on such confidence;

< our ability to manage the costs of and administeruser protection progran

e our ability to comply with existing and new laasd regulations as we expand the range and gdugahdgcope of our products and
services and as we grow larger, including thoses lamd regulations discussed below under the cafifionr Payments business is
found to be subject to or in violation of any lagrsregulations, including those governing monepdraission, electronic funds
transfers, money laundering, terrorist financiragions, consumer protection, banking and lendtrpuld be subject to liability,
licensure and regulatory approval and may be fotaadhange its business practices”;

* new laws or regulations (such as those that stey from the proposed Anti-Counterfeiting Tradegfgment (ACTA) and Trans-
Pacific Partnership Agreement (TPP), the Europeams@mer Rights Directive and the proposed
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revisions to the European Data Protection Diregtaral interpretations of existing laws or regulasipincluding national court
interpretations of the European Court of Justidetssion in the L'Oréal case (see “ltem 3: LegakPedings” below), that impose
liability on us for the actions of our users oretliise harm our business models, especially asawerbe more actively involved in
various aspects of transactions on our platforms;

e regulatory and legal actions imposing obligasiem our businesses or our users, including thmation related to certain cosmetic
and perfume brands (see “Item 3: Legal Proceedibhgkiw);

- the impact on PayPal or Bill Me Later of regidas enacted pursuant to new laws regulating firsitstitutions, including the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Praiacdict in the U.S., or the Dodd-Frank Act;

< our ability to manage the costs of compliance witlsting and new laws and regulations that affectbusinesse

- the volume, velocity, size, timing, monetizationdacompletion rates of transactions using our websir technolog

e our ability to reduce the loss of active buyansl sellers and increase activity of the usersioMarketplaces business, especially
with respect to our top buyers and sellers, ancease activity of PayPal account holders, partibpia our merchant services
business;

e our ability to develop product enhancementsgmms, and features on different platforms and featsvices at a reasonable cost
and in a timely manner, including our initiativesmhake PayPal solutions available at the retaittpaii sale;

« changes to our use of advertising on our ¢

» the actions of our competitors, including theeaduction of new stores, channels, sites, apjiinat services, products and
functionality, or changes to the provision of seed important to our success, including Internatcdeand access to smartphones
through operating systems;

» the costs and results of litigation or regulatoetians that involve u

« technical difficulties or service interruptions oiving our website:

» disruptions to services provided to us or our ubgrthird parties

< our ability to manage the transaction loss raunMarketplaces, Payments and GSI ecommerce ssrhigsinesse

e our ability to manage funding costs, credit @sid interestate risk associated with our Bill Me Later buss

< our ability to successfully and cosffectively integrate and manage businesses thaogeire

« the amount and timing of operating costs andtabgxpenditures relating to the maintenance aqpduesion of our businesses,
operations and infrastructure;

e our ability to comply with the requirements aitides whose services are required for our opanatisuch as payment card network:
and banks;

» the cost and availability of traditional and onlimdvertising, and the success of our brand buildimdymarketing campaig!

« our ability to attract new personnel in a timelgasifective manner and to retain key employ

« the continued healthy operation of our technolaggpdiers and other parties with which we have contmaérelations

e continued consumer acceptance of the Interrdebémobile devices as a medium for commerce agchpats in the face of
increasing publicity about data privacy issuesluding breaches, fraud, spoofing, phishing, virusegware, malware and other
dangers; and

* macroeconomic and geopolitical events affectingoance generall

It is difficult for us to forecast the level or oe of our revenues or earnings accurately. In \déthe rapidly evolving nature of our
business, we believe that period-to-period compas®f our operating results may not be meaningfu, you should not rely upon them as ar
indication of future performance. We do not havekbag, and substantially all of our net revenuesheguarter come from transactions
involving sales or payments during that quartere Buthe inherent difficulty in forecasting revesui is also difficult to forecast income
statement expenses as a percentage of net rev€uaaserly and annual income statement expenseparcentage of net revenues may be
significantly different from historical or projecteates. Our operating results in one or more &trarters may fall below the expectations of
securities analysts and investors. In that evaetfrading price of our common stock would almestainly decline.

We invest heavily in technology, marketing and potion, customer support, protection programs anihén development of the
operating infrastructure for our operations. Sorhhig investment entails longrm contractual commitments. As a result, we mayimable t
adjust our spending rapidly enough to compensatarfp unexpected revenue shortfall, which may hawmprofitability.

The growth of Internet users is slowing in manyrtoies where we have a significant presence. Agouwth rates in established marlk
slow, we will increasingly need to focus on keepaxisting Marketplaces users (especially our togebsi
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and sellers) and PayPal account holders (espeaiatlyr merchant services business) active an@asing their activity level on our websites
and mobile platforms and their use of our paymentises, respectively, in order to continue to gtbase businesses. The growth of Internet
users is accelerating in some countries and regitese we do not have a significant presence (Brgzil/Latin America, Russia, China and
certain developing countries in which we do notéhavmeaningful (or, in some cases, any) domestinbss). If we are unable to establish oul
businesses and drive adoption of our servicesdh markets, our future growth would be negativetpacted.

Our Marketplaces business continues to face ineteesmpetitive pressure online and offline. Inipatar, the competitive norm for, and
the expected level of service from, Internet economend mobile commerce has significantly increaded to, among other factors, improvec
user experience, greater ease of buying goodsy l@r@o) shipping costs, faster shipping times anwde favorable return policies. If we are
unable to change our services in ways that refltecthanging demands of the Internet ecommercenatile commerce marketplaces,
particularly the higher growth of sales of fixedegritems and higher expected service levels (saiméich depend on services provided by
sellers on our platforms), our business will suffer

We regularly announce changes to our Marketplaasgbss intended to drive more sales and imprdier sdficiency and buyer
experiences and trust. Some of the changes theaweannounced to date have been controversigl avithled to dissatisfaction among, our
sellers, and additional changes that we annountteeifuture may also be negatively received by sofreur sellers. This may not only impact
the supply of items listed on our websites, butlise many sellers also buy from our sites, it nisseesely impact demand as well. Given the
number of recent changes that we have made anthgerib make to our policies and pricing, it malyetaur sellers some time to fully assess
and adjust to these changes, and sellers maytelemiuce volume on our sites while making suclkessaents and adjustments or in response
to these changes. If any of these changes causesgelmove their business (in whole or in panag from our websites or otherwise fail to
improve gross merchandise volume or the numbenafessful listings, our operating results and pabfiity will be harmed.

We believe that the mix of sales under our tradéicuction-style listing format and fixed-pricsting format will continue to shift
towards our fixed-price format. Accordingly, we leasliminated some of the features related to @ditional auction-style format and expect
others will continue to become less meaningfuatal used less frequently by, our sellers, resultirgcorresponding decrease in revenues
from those features. We also expect that the esstsciated with our seller discount programs wiléase as more sellers become eligible for
such discounts. In addition, because a large pergerof PayPal transactions originate on the eBatyopm, declines in growth rates in major
Marketplaces markets also adversely affect Pay@alisth. The expected future growth of our PayB&|, StubHub and our other lower
margin businesses may also cause downward pressunar profit margins because those businesseslbaee gross margins than our
Marketplaces platforms.

The sluggish economy and the sovereign debt aisikl harm our business.

Our Marketplaces, Payments and GSI ecommerce ssrhigsinesses are dependent on consumer purchadesr GSI business is also
impacted by the offline businesses of our GSI téiefihe economic downturn resulted in reduced bdgarand and reduced selling prices, an
the slow recovery and possible impact of autonmssquesters or a failure to raise the “debt ceilinghe U.S., as well as the impact of the
sovereign debt crisis and resulting austerity messsin Europe, may reduce the volume and pricgsiathases on our Marketplaces platforms
the volume and prices of transactions paid forgisiar Payment services and the online and offlugresses of our GSI clients, which would
adversely affect our business. These macroeconfactiars could also have a negative and adversecingmecompanies with which we do
business, which in turn could have an adverse effieour business.

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchaatgs and interest rates.

Because we generate a majority of our revenuesdeutse U.S. but report our financial results isUdollars, we face exposure to
adverse movements in currency exchange ratesnimection with its multi-currency service, PayPaEf exchange rates twice per day, and
may face financial exposure if it incorrectly fixie exchange rate or if exposure reports are ddlagiven that PayPal also holds some
corporate and customer funds in non-U.S. currenitieinancial results are affected by the tramsitaof these non-U.S. currencies into U.S.
dollars. In addition, the results of operationsrany of our internationally focused websites angosed to foreign exchange rate fluctuation
the financial results of the applicable subsidgmaee translated from the local currency into d@lars upon consolidation. If the U.S. dollar
weakens against foreign currencies, the translatidhese foreign currency denominated transactiahsesult in increased revenues,
operating expenses and net income. Similarly,@fuhS. dollar strengthens against foreign curren@ar translation of foreign currency
denominated transactions will result in lower retenues, operating expenses and net income. U.thedollar
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strengthens against major European currencies {eegEuro and British pound) due to the ongoingeseign debt crisis in Europe, worsening
economic conditions or for any other reasons, euemues and operating results would be adversegdgdtad. For the year ended Decembe
2012, foreign currency movements relative to th8.dollar negatively impacted our net revenuesldf $ billion by approximately $206
million (net of a $44 million positive impact frohedging activities included in PayPal's net revg¢rmoenpared to the prior year. As exchange
rates vary, net revenues and other operating sesufien translated, may differ materially from esagions. In particular, to the extent the U.S
dollar strengthens against the Euro, British poltatean won, Australian dollar or Canadian doltart foreign revenues and profits will be
reduced as a result of these translation adjussn@ftile from time to time we enter into transactido hedge portions of our foreign currency
translation exposure, it is impossible to predict@mpletely eliminate the effects of this exposulmeaddition, to the extent the U.S. dollar
strengthens against the Euro, the British pours Alistralian dollar or other currencies, cross-botdade related to purchases of dollar-
denominated goods (or goods from those Asia-Paaifimtries whose currencies tend to follow theatdlby non-U.S. purchasers will likely
decrease, and that decrease will likely not beedfly a corresponding increase in cross-bordee tiratblving purchases by U.S. buyers of
goods denominated in other currencies, which wadlekersely affect our business.

In addition, we face exposure to fluctuations iteiest rates. Relatively low interest rates haveinaed to limit our investment income,
including income we earn on PayPal customer batance

Bill Me Later's operations depend on lending seggiprovided by an unaffiliated lender.

In November 2008, we acquired Bill Me Later, a campthat facilitates credit services offered byaaffiliated bank. Bill Me Later is
neither a chartered financial institution nor ifdensed to make loans in any state. Accordinglly Me Later must rely on a bank or licensed
lender to issue the Bill Me Later credit produatsl @xtend credit to customers to offer the Bill Meer service. Currently, when a consumer
makes a purchase using a Bill Me Later credit pchdhe chartered financial institution extendddréeo the consumer, funds the extension of
credit at the point of sale and advances fundldarterchant. We subsequently purchase the reces/eddated to the consumer loans made by
the chartered financial institution and, as a itesfuthe purchase, bear the risk of loss in thenewé&loan defaults. Although the chartered
financial institution continues to own each customecount, we own the related receivable and Bél IMter is responsible for all servicing
functions related to the account.

In September 2010, WebBank became the issuer d@ithile Later credit products. WebBank is an inttizd bank chartered by the St
of Utah. Any termination or interruption of WebBaskbility to lend could result in our being unatdeoriginate any new transactions for the
Bill Me Later service, which would require us tohair reach a similar arrangement with another ehadtfinancial institution, which, if
possible at all, may not be available on favoradtens, or to obtain our own bank charter, which Mdae a time-consuming and costly proces:
and would subject us to a number of additional lang regulations, compliance with which would bedemsome.

In 2010, a lawsuit was filed against Bill Me LatBgyPal and eBay in the U.S. District Court for Hathern District of California,
alleging that in its relationship with the chartfaancial institution, Bill Me Later is acting &se true lender to customers in violation of
various California laws, including the state's ydaw. The court dismissed the usury claims in Deloer 2010, but breach of contract and ¢
claims remain. WebBank requested to interveneérattiion and has been added as a party to theaatid in October 2011, the court
transferred the case to the U.S. District CourtHierDistrict of Utah. The Utah Court allowed plifiis the opportunity to amend the complaint;
the complaint was amended and plaintiffs re-alletpedusury claims that were previously dismissed.aidd WebBank have filed a motion to
dismiss the lawsuit. A hearing on the motion wasl by the court in September 2012. We believe phaintiffs’ allegations are without merit
and intend to defend ourselves vigorously. Howetyes, area of law is uncertain and if the lawssiisuccessful, Bill Me Later may be required
to change its methods of operations, pay very sakist damages and reduce some of its chargesasdwhich would adversely affect our
business.

If our Payments business is found to be subjeat to violation of any laws or regulations, inclumj those governing money
transmission, electronic funds transfers, monewdbaing, terrorist financing, sanctions, consumestpction, banking and lending, it could be
subject to liability, licensure and regulatory ajgpal and may be forced to change its business joect

Our Payments business is subject to various lagsegulations in the U.S. and other countries witerperates, including those
governing money transmission, electronic fundssfens, money laundering, terrorist financing, sema, consumer protection, banking and
lending. The legal and regulatory requirements épgly to our Payments business vary in the mamkké&se we operate. While PayPal has a
compliance program focused on compliance with apple laws and
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regulations and has significantly increased theuases of that program in the last several yehesetcan be no assurance that we will not be
subject to fines or other enforcement actions i@ onmore jurisdictions or be required to make gearto our business practices or complianc
programs to comply in the future.

While PayPal currently allows its customers withdit cards to send payments from approximatelyrh@fkets, PayPal only allows
customers in 110 of those markets (including th®.)to receive payments, in some cases with sanifirestrictions on the manner in which
customers can withdraw funds. These limitations afégct PayPal's ability to grow in these markétsthe markets whose residents can use
the PayPal service, 31 (27 countries plus four élraverseas departments) are members of the Eurdjprgan, or EU. Since 2007, PayPal has
provided localized versions of its service to cuostos in the EU through PayPal (Europe) S.a rCiet SCA, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
PayPal that is licensed and subject to regulatioa lank in Luxembourg by the Commission de Suareie du Secteur Financier (CSSF).
Accordingly, PayPal (Europe) is subject to sigmifitfines or other enforcement action if it viokatke disclosure, reporting, anti-money
laundering, capitalization, funds management, c@fgogovernance, information security, sanctionstber requirements imposed on
Luxembourg banks. Any fines or other enforcemetibas imposed by the Luxembourg regulator couldeasily affect PayPal's business.
PayPal (Europe) implements its localized servindsUW countries through a “passport” notificatiomgess through the Luxembourg regulator
to regulators in other EU member states pursuaBti®irectives, and has completed the “passportifination process in all EU member
countries. The regulators in these countries coatdy PayPal (Europe) of local consumer protectamms that apply to its business, in addition
to Luxembourg consumer protection law, and couto akek to persuade the Luxembourg regulator tr ¢tdyPal (Europe) to conduct its
activities in the local country through a brancfioaf. These or similar actions by these regulatordd increase the cost of, or delay, PayPal's
plans for expanding its business in EU countriesddition, national interpretations of regulatiamplementing the EU Payment Services
Directive, which established a new regulatory regfior payment services providers in 2009, may bernsistent, which could make
compliance more costly and operationally diffidoltmanage.

In 2011, we began implementing a new payment proice§ermany and Austria in which eBay intermedigiayments, receiving funds
directly from buyers for items purchased from nevdgistered sellers on the localized eBay websitésose countries and subsequently
paying the sellers upon shipment of the items. Gheman Bundesanstalt fir Finanzdienstleistungszhif§BaFin) and the Austrian
Finanzmarktaufsicht (FMA) subsequently determirtext EBay was required to obtain a license in o@értroduce the new payment method.
eBay's payment processing unit is based in Luxemgband is governed by the CSSF, which had advisaitthere was no need for such a
license. In accordance with the BaFin and FMA pos#t, eBay has stopped intermediating paymentssawdrking with the CSSF with respt
to understanding the requirements associated \itfiring an appropriate license.

In Australia, PayPal serves its customers througyPBl Australia Pty. Ltd., which is licensed by thestralian Prudential Regulatory
Authority as a purchased payment facility providehjch is a type of authorized depository institati Accordingly, PayPal Australia is subject
to significant fines or other enforcement actioit ifiolates the disclosure, reporting, anti-moteyndering, capitalization, corporate
governance or other requirements imposed on Aistrdkepository institutions. In China, PayPal iliafed with Shanghai Wangfuyi
Information Technology Ltd., which is licensed aslaternet Content Provider and operates a paynsentéce only for Chinese customers anc
only for transactions denominated in Chinese cugrefihe People's Bank of China (PBOC) has enaetgdlations to establish a new type of
license, called a Payment Clearing OrganizationQPkeense, which will be required for non-bank pagnt services. The PBOC regulations
leave unclear whether a foreign-owned company agdhayPal can control or invest in a Payment Glgadirganization, and whether
Wangfuyi or PayPal's wholly-owned subsidiary in @hivould be eligible to obtain a PCO license. Nbeketss, PayPal applied for such a
license.

To date, PayPal has obtained licenses to operateramsey transmitter in 45 U.S. states, the DistricColumbia and Puerto Rico. PayPal
is also licensed as an escrow agent in one U.®. fayPal is applying for money transmitter li@nim two additional states to facilitate its
planned offering of payment services at the reiiht of sale. The two remaining U.S. states whragPal has not applied for a license do not
currently regulate money transmitters. As a licedns®ney transmitter, PayPal is subject to restnction its investment of customer funds,
reporting requirements, bonding requirements, asgédction by state regulatory agencies. If PayRatviound to be in violation of money
services laws or regulations, PayPal could be stibjdiability and/or additional restrictions, fm@d to cease doing business with residents of
certain states, forced to change its businessipeacor required to obtain additional licensesegulatory approvals that could impose a
substantial cost on PayPal. Any change to PayBadimess practices that makes the service lesstate to customers or prohibits its use by
residents of a particular jurisdiction could alsiase the velocity of trade on eBay and websjiesated by GSI's clients that accept PayPal
as a form of payment, which would further harm business.
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In 2012, PayPal's California regulator, the CalifarDepartment of Financial Institutions (DFI), iffied PayPal that PayPal's practice of
holding the funds underlying U.S. customer balarasean agent on behalf of its customers, ratherdsawner of those funds, meant that
PayPal could not treat those funds as liquid ageefsurposes of the liquidity rules applicableGalifornia money transmitter licensees. Base
on change to our U.S. PayPal user agreement e#edtbvember 1, 2012, PayPal began holding U.Somest balances as direct claims aga
PayPal, rather than as an agent or custodian aaifttsuch PayPal customers. As a result, effedievember 1, 2012, all U.S. PayPal
customer balances, which were previously reporseafiabalance sheet, have been reflected as drsmis consolidated balance sheet under
"Funds receivable and customer accounts," withsap@ated liability under "Funds payable and an®duoe to customers.” In addition, this
change disqualified the customer balances from-fhassigh FDIC insurance and resulted in U.S. Pagbstiomers becoming general creditors
of PayPal with respect to such customer balandss.change could also result in decreased revenBayPal if it decides to shift the funds
from interest-bearing deposit accounts to secsrttiat bear lower interest rates or non-intereatibg deposit accounts. For additional
information, please see “Part Il - Item 7: ManagstiseDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Condittord Results of Operations” under the
caption “Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements,” below.

In markets other than the U.S., the EU, Austrafia,China domestic business and Brazil, PayPaksétsy customers through PayPal
Private Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of PayPwlttis based in Singapore. PayPal Private Ltegslated in Singapore as a stored value
issuer. In many of these markets, it is not clelaetiver PayPal's Singapdsased service is subject only to Singaporean law ibiwere subjec
to local laws, whether such local law would req@neayment processor like PayPal to be licensedoask or financial institution or otherwi
In such markets, the business may rely on partiperstith local banks to process payments and cdrfdueign exchange in local currency.
Local regulators who do not have direct jurisdiotaver Singapore-based PayPal Private Ltd. mayheselocal regulatory power to slow or
halt payments to local merchants conducted thrdligtocal banking partner. Such regulatory actiomgacting local banking partner
arrangements could impose substantial costs amdivimeonsiderable delay to the provision or develept of PayPal services in that market,
or could prevent PayPal from providing any services given market. For example, in January 20i® Reserve Bank of India directed the
Indian affiliate of PayPal's processing bank tqpsusl withdrawals to the Indian bank accounts ofPRhgustomers for both personal and
business customers for a period of time. As a teBalyPal ended personal non-commercial paymerasddrom Indian accounts and the
ability of Indian sellers to spend payments theseiee, and also stopped offering certain commepagiments between Indian buyers and
Indian sellers. In November 2010, the Reserve RdnRkdia issued guidelines to Indian banks on #rgiirements for processing export-relatec
transactions for online payment gateway serviceigess such as PayPal, including a limitation omamount of individual transactions to no
more than $500 (increased in October 2011 to $3,00@& Reserve Bank recently approved an applicdtjoPayPal's bank in India which
would permit PayPal to process domestic Indians@ations, subject to a number of conditions. TheeRe Bank may again impose a
suspension if it is not satisfied with PayPal's asgartner bank's actions to comply with thesglines. In the event of any non-compliance,
PayPal could be subject to fines from the ReseargkBand PayPal's prospects for future businekxlia, both cross-border and domestic,
could be materially and adversely affected.

Even if PayPal is not currently required to beriged in some jurisdictions, future localizatiortamgeted marketing of PayPal's servic
expansion of the financial products offered by Rdy{®hether alone, through a commercial alliancthoyugh an acquisition) in those
countries could subject PayPal to additional liceasequirements, laws and regulations and incdegeggulatory scrutiny, which may harm
PayPal's business. For example, PayPal will beinedjto obtain a license in Russia to expand itgises there, and has applied for such a
license. Even if PayPal does not expand its sesvitéhe countries it serves, changes in the ldisase countries could also require us to
obtain new licenses or submit new registrations.eéxample, PayPal has recently submitted applioatior licenses in Hong Kong and in the
Canadian province of Quebec. There can be no assuthat PayPal will be able to obtain such licenEgen if PayPal were able to obtain
such licenses. There are substantial costs invatvethintaining such licenses, and PayPal woulduigect to fines or other enforcement ac
if it violates disclosure, reporting, anti-moneytaering, capitalization, corporate governancetioeiorequirements of such licenses. These
factors could impose substantial additional costsiavolve considerable delay to the provision evelopment of PayPal's products. Delay or
failure to receive such a license or regulatoryrapal could require PayPal to change its businesstiges or features in ways that would
adversely affect PayPal's expansion plans or féegdPal to suspend providing products and servaceagtomers in one or more countries.
Several other countries (for example, Turkey andddidong) are also contemplating introducing e-paytséaws and licensing regimes that
would be applicable to PayPal's business.

PayPal is also subject to various anti-money latingeand counteterrorist financing laws and regulations aroundwiogld that prohibit
among other things, its involvement in transferting proceeds of criminal activities. PayPal isused on compliance with these laws and
regulations and has programs designed to complymétv and existing legal and regulatory requiremadbwever, any errors, failures or
delays in complying with federal, state or forearti-money laundering and counter-terrorist finagdaws could result in significant criminal
and civil lawsuits, penalties and forfeiture ofrsfgcant
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assets or other enforcement actions. In the U&yP#& is subject to regulations that require itejoort, within required timeframes, suspicious
activities involving transactions of $2,000 or maaad may be required to obtain and keep morelddtegcords on the senders and recipients
in certain transfers of $3,000 or more. New regoitest on prepaid access programs which took fudlafin March 2012 require PayPal to take
additional steps to verify the identity of custosaho pre-fund a PayPal balance. U.S. regulators imcreased scrutiny of compliance with
these obligations. Existing and new regulations neaylire PayPal to revise further its complianaggpam, including the procedures it uses to
verify the identity of its customers and to moniitwtiernational and domestic transactions.

Several countries in which PayPal is regulateduting Australia, Japan, Luxembourg, and Singapleage implemented new anti-
money laundering and counter-terrorist financingdand regulations, and PayPal has had to makeekaa its procedures in response. In
November 2009, the Australian emoney laundering and counter-terrorist financiegulator (AUSTRAC) accepted an enforceable
undertaking from PayPal Australia pursuant to whielyPal Australia agreed, among other things, poiap an independent auditor to assess
PayPal Australia's anti-money laundering compligmalicies and procedures and issue a report igeémgifany unremediated deficiencies
accompanied by a plan by PayPal to remedy any defitiencies. Pursuant to the remediation plan stbdby PayPal Australia and acceptec
by AUSTRAC, PayPal Australia was required to invasgignificant improvements to its anti-money ldering and counter-terrorist financing
systems, policies and operations. As PayPal coggitwilocalize its services in additional jurisiios, it could be required to meet standards
similar to or more burdensome than those in Australhe European Commission has also announcedsaiktation process to consider
revisions to the European Anti-Money Launderingebiive. These requirements could impose significasts on PayPal, cause delay to othe
planned product improvements, make it more diffiéoil new customers to join its network and redieeattractiveness of its products.

Although there have been no definitive interpretadito date, PayPal has taken actions as thougéritge is subject to the Electronic
Fund Transfer Act and Regulation E of the U.S. Faldeeserve Board. Under such regulations, amomer ¢hings, PayPal is required to
provide advance disclosure of changes to its serticfollow specified error resolution proceduaesl to reimburse consumers for losses fron
certain transactions not authorized by the consuReyrPal seeks to pass most of these losses ba televant merchants, but PayPal incurs
losses if the merchant does not have sufficiend$un its PayPal account. Additionally, even techhviolations of these laws can result in
penalties of up to $1,000 for each non-compliaarigaction or up to $500,000 per violation in arasslaction, and we could also be liable for
plaintiffs’ attorneys' fees. In the second quanfe2010, two putative class-action lawsuits (Dewarternando and Vadim Tsigel v. PayPal, Inc.
and Moises Zepeda v. PayPal, Inc.) were filed énUhS. District Court for the Northern District G&lifornia. These lawsuits contain
allegations related to violations of aspects offlertronic Fund Transfer Act and Regulation E aiothtions of a previous settlement
agreement related to Regulation E, and/or allegeRhayPal improperly held users' funds or othenmg®operly limited users' accounts. These
lawsuits seek damages as well as changes to PapRadtices, among other remedies. A determingiianthere have been violations of the
Electronic Fund Transfer Act, Regulation E or vimas of other laws relating to PayPal's practmasld expose PayPal to significant liability.
Any changes to PayPal's practices resulting fraesdHawsuits could require PayPal to incur sigaificcosts and to expend substantial
resources, which could delay other planned proldwetches or improvements and further harm our lessin

In January 2012, the Consumer Financial Prote®iareau finalized new rules under Regulation E, raded by the Dodd-Frank Act,
which will require PayPal, starting in 2013, to yide additional disclosures, error resolution rigand cancellation rights to U.S. consumers
who make international remittance payments. Thesenequirements could increase our costs of protwgssternational payments and
adversely affect our business.

Our Bill Me Later service is similarly subject tovariety of laws and regulations. Although we do oidgginate loans under the Bill Me
Later service, we do purchase receivables relatéiiet consumer loans extended by the bank whigjinaties them. One or more jurisdictions
may conclude that the eBay company which purchées® receivables is a lender or money transnattéyan broker, which could subject us
to liability or regulation in such jurisdictions.sAdescribed under the captidBilt Me Later's operations depend on lending sasiprovided b
an unaffiliated lender” above, a lawsuit pendingiagt Bill Me Later in the U.S. District Court fthie District of Utah alleges that in its
relationship with the former issuer of the Bill Mater credit products, Bill Me Later was actingtlas true lender to customers in violation of
various California laws, including the state's ydaw. Additionally, federal regulators could matelahanges to the relationship between us
and the issuing bank of the Bill Me Later credibgucts. Any termination or interruption of the isgubank's lending services to consumers
could result in an interruption of Bill Me Laterrsiees, as described under the caption “Bill Medrat operations depend on lending services
provided by an unaffiliated lender” above.

Given that our Payments business is subject tdaggns in the manner described above, any detextinimthat we have not properly
complied with laws and regulations or any instarineghich we are criminally indicted or found toveaviolated
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a criminal statute or regulation could adverselpact our regulatory status and our ability to offar products and services in one or more
jurisdictions, which would harm our busine

Changes to payment card networks or bank feess, rotepractices could harm PayPal's business.

PayPal does not directly access payment card nketwsuch as Visa and MasterCard, which enable PayRRaeptance of credit cards
and debit cards (including some types of prepaids)aAs a result, PayPal must rely on banks ogrgtayment processors to process
transactions, and must pay fees for this servicanRime to time, payment card networks have ireedaand may increase in the future, the
interchange fees and assessments that they cluargach transaction using one of their cards. kample, MasterCard has recently annoul
a new Staged Digital Wallet Operator Annual NetwAdcess Fee which would apply to many of PayPadissactions if the buyer uses a
MasterCard to fund their payment, and will be atiftel starting in June 2013. PayPal's payment gaickpsors have the right to pass any
increases in interchange fees and assessment®ay®al as well as increase their own fees forqasing. Changes in interchange fees and
assessments could increase PayPal's operatingatmbteduce its profit margins. In addition, in sojurisdictions, governments have required
Visa and MasterCard to reduce interchange fedsawe opened investigations as to whether Visa atéd@ard's interchange fees and
practices violate antitrust law. In the U.S., thedD-Frank Act enacted in 2010 authorizes the Fé&Raserve Board to regulate debit card
interchange rates and debit card network exclyspibvisions, and in June 2011, the Federal Redgoaed issued a final rule capping debit
card interchange fees at significantly lower rdkes Visa or MasterCard previously charged. Anyemal reduction in credit or debit card
interchange rates in the U.S. or other marketsicjgalpardize PayPal's competitive position agdiastitional credit and debit card processors,
although it would also lower PayPal's costs. Witikeregulations adopted by the Federal ReservedBoalune 2011 do not treat PayPal as a
“payment card network,” future changes to thoselagns or to PayPal's business could potent@lyse PayPal to be treated as a payment
card network, which could subject PayPal to add#laegulation and require PayPal to change itinbas practices, which could reduce
PayPal's revenue and adversely affect PayPal'ndsssi

PayPal is required by its processors to comply wéthiment card network operating rules, and Pay&ablgreed to reimburse its
processors for any fines they are assessed by payae networks as a result of any rule violatibpdayPal or PayPal's customers. The
payment card networks set and interpret the cdesd.r®ayment card networks have from time to titlegad that various aspects of PayPal's
business model violate these operating rules. 8liepations have recently been made more aggrégsarel if not resolved, could result in
material fines and penalties or require changé&ayPal's business that may be costly, make idlissctive to customers or even require
PayPal to cease certain operations. The paymethetworks could adopt new operating rules or preror re-interpret existing rules that
PayPal or its processors might find difficult oeevmpossible to follow, or costly to implement. Asesult, PayPal could lose its ability to ¢
customers the option of using payment cards to thadt payments, or could lose its ability to gtuestomers the choice of currency in which
they would like their card to be charged, which Waeduce PayPal's revenues from cross-border.tthBayPal were unable to accept
payment cards, its business would be seriously dathdn addition, the velocity of trade on eBay ambsites operated by GSI's clients that
accept PayPal as a form of payment could decreabewr business would further suffer.

PayPal is also required to comply with payment ceivorks' special operating rules for Internetrpagt services. PayPal and its
payment card processors have implemented specigingss processes for merchant customers in araentply with these rules, but any
failure to comply could result in fines, the amoohtvhich would be within the payment card netwodkiscretion. PayPal also could be subjec
to fines from payment card networks if it failsdetect that merchants are engaging in activitiasahe illegal or that are considered “high
risk,” primarily the sale of certain types of dagjicontent. For “high risk” merchants, PayPal naiter prevent such merchants from using
PayPal or register such merchants with paymentmeatworks and conduct additional monitoring witepgect to such merchants. PayPal has
incurred fines from its payment card processoratired to PayPal's failure to detect the use ofétwice by “high risk” merchants. The amount
of these fines has not been material, but did as@en 2012 compared to prior years. Any additiéinak in the future would likely be for
larger amounts, could become material and couldtr#sa termination of PayPal's ability to accppyment cards or changes in PayPal's
process for registering new customers, which weelibusly damage PayPal's business. PayPal's ta&p@nt of sale solution and PayPal
Here product are also subject to payment card nktogerating rules, which may negatively impacirtideployment, particularly
internationally.

Similarly, consumers of the websites operated bj/sE8ents typically pay for purchases by paymeard or similar payment method.
Accordingly, our GSI ecommerce services businesssfaisks similar to the risks described abovePfyPal.
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The listing or sale by our users of pirated or ctarfeit items may harm our business.

We have received in the past, and we anticipatviag in the future, communications alleging tbattain items listed or sold through
our service by our users infringe third-party caghits, trademarks and trade names, or other iotalid property rights. See “ltem 3: Legal
Proceedings” below. Although we have sought to vwamtively with the owners of intellectual properights to eliminate listings offering
infringing items on our websites, some rights owrteave expressed the view that our efforts ardfinmnt. Content owners and other
intellectual property rights owners have activedgexrted their purported rights against online cangsa including eBay. Allegations of
infringement of intellectual property rights haesulted in threatened and actual litigation agaisdtom time to time by rights owners,
including litigation brought by luxury brand ownessch as Tiffany & Co. in the U.S.; Rolex S.A. @ty Prestige Lancaster Group GmbH in
Germany; Louis Vuitton Malletier and Christian Di@outure in France; and L'Oréal SA, Lancéme ParfatiBeauté & Cie and Laboratoire
Garnier & Cie in several European countries. Tlaéntiffs in these cases seek to hold eBay liabtefieged counterfeit items listed on our s
by third parties; for “tester” and other consumeyducts labeled in a manner to prevent resale andrnboxed and other allegedly
nonconforming products in each case listed on ives By third parties; for the alleged misuse aflamarks or copyrights in listings or
otherwise on our sites and in connection with gaidrch advertisements; for alleged violations tH#cte distribution channel laws or parallel
import laws for listings of authentic items; and &leged non-compliance with consumer protectawsl. Such plaintiffs seek, among other
remedies, injunctive relief and damages. In theeggte, these suits could result in significant algenawards and injunctions that could,
individually or in the aggregate, adversely affeet business. There are approximately 37,000 rightgers in our verified rights owner
(VeRO) program, and each rights owner has anywinene one to several hundred brands. Statutory deméay copyright or trademark
violations could range up to $150,000 per copyrigblation and $2,000,000 per trademark violatiorthie U.S., and may be even higher in
other jurisdictions. These and similar suits magéous to modify our business practices, which@daler our revenue, increase our costs or
make our websites and mobile platforms less comverido our customers, which could materially harmlwusiness. In addition, rights owners
have aggressively sought to reduce the applicghifitimitations to intellectual property rightsguas copyright exhaustion and the first sales
doctrine in cases such as Vernor v. Autodesk KMmtf Circuit Court of Appeals) and Wiley v. Kirsag (pending before the U.S. Supreme
Court). To the extent the scope or applicabilitsoth doctrines is limited or narrowed, the sumflgoods available for resale on our sites |
be adversely affected.

In addition to litigation from rights owners, we ynbe subject to regulatory, civil or criminal precéngs and penalties if governmental
authorities believe we have aided and abetteddrséte of counterfeit goods. While we have had seanky success in defending against such
litigation, more recent cases have been basedast in part, on different legal theories than ¢hoisearlier cases, and there is no guarantee th
we will continue to be successful in defending aghsuch litigation. Plaintiffs in recent casesdawgued that we are not entitled to safe
harbors under the Digital Millennium Copyright Antthe U.S. or as a hosting provider in the Europégaion under the Electronic Commerce
Directive because of the alleged active natureuofimvolvement with our sellers, and that whethenat such safe harbors are available, we
should be found liable because we supposedly havadequately removed listings that are counteofe#ire authentic but allegedly violate
trademark or copyright law or effectively suspendedrs who have created such listings. While weatdelieve the European Court of Jus
decision in the L'Oréal case (see “ltem 3: LegatPedings’below) changes the standard for hosting immunigearthe Electronic Commer:
Directive, rights owners in European jurisdictidra/e asserted that our degree of participatioharttansaction should cause us to be unat
take advantage of the hosting immunity exceptiagmalFresolution of this issue has been left torthBonal courts of countries in the European
Union. We believe that the legal climate, espegi@lEurope, is becoming more adverse to our postiwhich may require us to take actions
which could lower our revenues, increase our castg)ake our websites and mobile platforms lesseoient to our customers, which could
materially harm our business. In addition, pubkegeption that counterfeit or pirated items are mamplace on our sites, even if factually
incorrect, would damage our reputation, lower thieepour sellers receive for their items and danmagebusiness.

We are continuously seeking to improve and modify efforts to eliminate counterfeit and piratedritethrough ongoing business
initiatives designed to reduce bad buyer experieaog improve customer satisfaction and by respgnidi new patterns we are seeing among
counterfeiters and others committing fraud on @ers. Increased intermediation of transactions é&tvbuyers and sellers, which we gene
refer to as our Managed Marketplace initiativetgrided to achieve those goals may result in ugheiable to rely, to the same extent that we
have in the past, on hosting immunity and otheosdary liability safe harbors when sued by usedsraghts owners over actions taken on our
site by our users. While we are taking steps tégati¢ this impact on our safe harbor defenses, aehe subject to more intellectual property
litigation and may lose more cases as a resuliede business model changes, which would adveaffelst our business.

Content owners and other intellectual propertytagiwners may also seek to bring legal action againtities that are peripherally
involved in the sale of infringing items, such ayment companies. To the extent that intellectugperty rights
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owners bring legal action against PayPal based thmuose of PayPal's payment services in a transdaotolving the sale of infringing items,
including on our websites or mobile platforms, business could be harmed. Several jurisdictiong lagopted new laws in these areas, and
others are considering imposing additional resgtms.

In addition, new laws have been proposed reguldtiteynet companies with respect to intellectualerty issues. For example, ACTA
and TPP are trade agreements that include interradtstandards for enforcing intellectual propeigints, including provisions regarding
counterfeit goods and online piracy. The Europeammission is considering revising the Intellectledperty Enforcement Directive, which
could potentially increase our exposure to enfoernactions from rights owners. Implementationhafse or similar laws could require us to
change our business practices, increase our camplieosts and harm our business. Rights ownersdiswéncreasingly gone into U.S. courts
and obtained injunctions requiring PayPal to cémswalling transactions for named websites and fharties (in most cases located outside the
U.S.) and to hold the funds of such parties penglidiial resolution of such rights owners' claiagainst such parties, which disrupts the
relationship between PayPal and such parties &adch parties sell on our Marketplaces platforoesild also adversely affect our
Marketplaces business.

We are subject to patent litigation.

We have repeatedly been sued for allegedly infriggither parties' patents. We are a defendanhimer of patent suits and have beer
notified of several other potential patent disput¥e expect that we will increasingly be subjecp&tent infringement claims involving vario
aspects of our Marketplaces, Payments and GSI sggras our products and services continue to exjpasitbpe and complexity (e.g., our
mobile, local, social and digital initiatives); @& expand into new businesses, including througjuiaitions; and as the universe of patent
owners who may claim that we, companies that we la@guired, or our customers (including GSI clipim&inge their patents and the
aggregate number of patents controlled by suchpateners correspondingly increases. Such claimshbearought directly against our
companies and/or against our customers, includi@gdBents, whom we may indemnify either becauseaveecontractually obligated to do so
or as a business matter. We and other technologypanies have seen more of these claims from aadsitrg number of third parties whose
sole or primary business is to assert such cldimaddition, we have seen significant patent displitetween operating companies in some
technology industries (e.g., mobile telephony)eRatlaims, whether meritorious or not, are timestoning and costly to defend and resolve,
and could require us to make expensive changesrimethods of doing business, enter into costlaltgyor licensing agreements, or cease
conducting certain operations, which would harmlmusiness.

Use of our services for illegal purposes could haum business.

We may be unable to prevent our users from sellimgwful or stolen goods or unlawful services, @ltisg goods or services in an
unlawful manner, and we (including our employees dinectors of our various entities) may be subjedllegations of civil or criminal
liability for unlawful activities carried out by ass through our services. We have been subjeeveeral lawsuits based upon such allegations.
In Turkey, local prosecutors and courts are ingesitng our liability for allegedly illegal actionsy users of our Turkish Marketplaces business
(GittiGidiyor.com). In accordance with local lawdhoustom they are considering indicting, and hav&ime cases already indicted, one or
more members of the board of directors of our Ideakish subsidiary. We believe that the relevamtkish ecommerce and criminal laws
protect our local directors from being held perdigriable for the activities of GittiGidiyor’s use, and intend to defend vigorously against an
such actions. In August 2012, we were informed th& listings of footwear with religious imagergre visible on our local Indian site and
we immediately removed these listings. In Septen2b&2, a criminal case was registered against glia in regard to these listings, and we
are challenging the prosecution of this case. Als®,German Federal Supreme Court has ruled thatayehave a duty to take reasonable
measures to prevent prohibited DVDs from being solaur site to minors and that competitors mawltie to enforce this duty. In a number
of circumstances, third parties, including governtmegulators and law enforcement officials, halegad that our services aid and abet ce
violations of certain laws, including anti-scalpilagvs with respect to the resale of tickets, laggarding the sale of counterfeit items, the
fencing of stolen goods, selective distributionruiel laws, customs laws, distance selling lawsthadale of items outside of the U.S. that are
regulated by U.S. export controls. As we seek tluce bad buying experiences and improve the custerperience on our sites, our level of
interaction with buyers and sellers may increassr time, which could in turn increase our potergigbosure to allegations of civil or criminal
liability for unlawful activities carried out by ess through our services.

Although we have prohibited the listing of illegald stolen goods and certain higgk items and implemented other protective meas
we may be required to spend substantial resouociekée additional protective measures or discoeticertain service offerings, which could
harm our business. Any costs incurred as a respibtential liability relating to the alleged ortaal sale of unlawful goods or the unlawful sale
of goods could harm our business. Certain manufactand large retailers have sought new U.S. &ded state legislation regarding stolen
goods that could limit our ability to allow selldrs
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use our sites without confirming the source of, tar legal rights to sell, the underlying gooltsaddition, from time to time we have
received significant media attention relating te listing or sale of illegal goods and stolen goasisg our services. This negative publicity
could damage our reputation, diminish the valuewfbrand names and make users reluctant to usseotices.

PayPal's payment system is also susceptible toiiaity illegal or improper uses, including illegahline gambling, fraudulent sales of
goods or services, illicit sales of prescriptiondisations or controlled substances, piracy of safeymovies, music and other copyrighted or
trademarked goods, money laundering, terroristfiivag, bank fraud, child pornography traffickingobibited sales of alcoholic beverages or
tobacco products, online securities fraud and eragpng, promoting, facilitating or instructing otego engage in illegal activities. There has
been an increased focus by rights owners and W&rgment officials on the role that payments systelay in the sale of, and payment for,
pirated digital goods on the Internet. Recent ckang law have increased the penalties for interanied providing payment services for
certain illegal activities and additional paymergtated proposals are under active consideratiogolvgrnment policymakers. Despite
measures PayPal has taken to detect and lesseskiloé this kind of conduct, illegal activities wldl still be funded using PayPal. Any result
claims, liabilities or loss of transaction volunmutd damage our reputation and harm our business.

If our GSI business is unable to enhance its ptaifand migrate clients to its new platform in aegignand coseffective manner, it wou
be substantially harmed.

Our GSI business is in the process of enhancinguiabdndling the components of its ecommerce anthpays platform and migrating
existing customers to its new platform. This projeosery expensive and time consuming and invosigsificant technical risk. Previously
planned migrations of certain clients to the neatfpfm have been delayed into 2013 and beyondielfittmigrations to the new platform
continue to be delayed, the functionality of thevn@atform is not accepted by GSI's existing clent prospective clients targeted by GSlI, the
new platform contains an unacceptable amount a§ddgws or does not perform or operate as expgeaeGSI fails to meet client
commitments and services level agreements, GStdmisubject to substantial penalties under itsexgents with its clients (including
significant financial penalties and terminationhtigi for its affected clients), its relationshipgtwits clients and their respective businessesa
be substantially harmed, and GSI clients may seédriinate their contracts with GSI early base@ctual or proposed breach. In addition,
GSlI's new platform provides for substantially molient control over certain platform functionalisuch as promotions and marketing,
operations and performance analytics. If GSI islméo help clients understand, assess and aditireisénternal preparedness needs for the
new platform, this could result in delays in depl@nt, client dissatisfaction due to lack of pregaess, degraded site performance, and
additional support costs attributable to clientdzhssues. We believe that GSI's ability to secere clients and retain current clients will be
negatively impacted until GSI is able to succesgfudll out the new platform in live client implemtations. Any of these events or
circumstances could materially and adversely afiectGSI| business. Even if accomplished succegsthiis development and migration
project may cost more than expected or take lotiger planned, which could harm our GSI business.

We are subject to risks associated with informati@seminated through our service.

The laws relating to the liability of online serg&ccompanies for information carried on or disseeid through their services remain
unsettled in many jurisdictions. Claims could bedmagainst online services companies under bothdndforeign law for defamation, libel,
invasion of privacy, negligence, copyright or traek infringement, or other theories based on #tare and content of the materials
disseminated through their services. Several grilatsuits seeking to impose liability under a nemtf these theories have been brought
against us, as well as other online service congain addition, domestic and foreign legislatias been proposed that would prohibit, or
impose liability for, the transmission over thedmtet of certain types of information. Our Marketi#s service features a Feedback Forum,
which includes information from users regardingesthsers. Although all such feedback is generayagsbrs and not by us, claims of
defamation or other injury have been made in tle @ad could be made in the future against usdbramoving content posted in the
Feedback Forum.

Furthermore, several court decisions arguably Inaveowed the scope of the immunity provided torimié service providers like us in:
U.S. under the Communications Decency Act. For etanthe Ninth Circuit has held that certain imntymrovisions under the
Communications Decency Act might not apply to thieeet that a website owner materially contributethie development of unlawful content
on its website. As our websites evolve, challerigegbe applicability of these immunities can beewntpd to continue. In addition, the Paris
Court of Appeal has ruled in the Louis Vuitton Maiér and Christian Dior Couture cases that appleciaws protecting passive Internet
“hosts” from liability are inapplicable to eBay @i that eBay actively promotes bidding on its sglléstings and receives a commission on
successful transactions, and is therefore a brdker European Court of Justice decision in the é4Dcase (see “Item 3: Legal Proceedings”
below) gave
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broad discretion to national courts in Europe teduine if Internet hosting immunity applies to gBAccordingly, our potential liability to
third parties for the user-provided content on sites, particularly in jurisdictions outside theSUwhere laws governing Internet transactions
are unsettled, may increase. If we become liablinformation provided by our users and carriedbanservice in any jurisdiction in which we
operate, we could be directly harmed and we mdpioed to implement new measures to reduce oursexpdo this liability, including
expending substantial resources or discontinuimgiceservice offerings, which would negativelyeadt our financial results. The increased
attention focused upon liability issues as a resiulhese lawsuits and legislative proposals coetplire us to incur additional costs and harm
our reputation and our business.

Government inquiries may lead to charges or peesilti

A large number of transactions occur on our websited mobile platforms on a daily basis. Governmeguailators have received a
significant number of consumer complaints aboutyeBayPal and GSI, which, while small as a peragntd our total transactions, are larg
aggregate numbers. As a result, from time to timénawve been contacted by various U.S. and foredgargmental regulatory agencies that
have gquestions about our operations and the stepiake to protect our users from fraud. PayPaléesived inquiries regarding its restriction
and disclosure practices from the Federal Trader@igsion and regarding these and other businesigaadrom the attorneys general of a
number of states. In September 2006, PayPal enitgieed settlement agreement with the attorneyegdiof a number of states under which it
agreed to pay $1.7 million to the attorneys geneatadrten and streamline its user agreement, isereducational messaging to users about
funding choices and communicate more informatiayarding protection programs to users.

From time to time, we face inquiries from governinegulators in various jurisdictions related téi@us that we have taken that are
designed to improve the security of transactiorsthe quality of the user experience on our webgitel we may face similar inquiries from
other government regulators in the future. For g¥anin 2008, the Australian Competition and Consu@ommission and the Reserve Bank
of Australia reviewed our policies requiring setléo offer PayPal as a payment alternative on massactions on our localized Australian
website and precluding sellers from imposing alsamge or any other fee for accepting PayPal orrgithgment methods. Other regulators
from time to time requested information concerritayPal's limitations of customer accounts. SimjlaBill Me Later has from time to time
received customer complaints that could resulbirestigations into Bill Me Later's business pragsiby state or federal regulators. As a result
of the U.S. credit crisis, new laws and regulatibage been, and are expected to be, adopted atehimpted that impose additional
obligations and restrictions on the provision afdit. We are likely to receive additional inquiriesm regulatory agencies in the future,
including under new or existing credit laws or riagions, relating to our business, products andices. We have responded to all inquiries
from regulatory agencies by describing our cureertt planned antifraud efforts, customer supportgulares, operating procedures and
disclosures of the relevant business. If one orenebthese agencies is not satisfied with our nespao current or future inquiries, we could be
subject to enforcement actions, fines or other iesaor forced to change our operating practinegays that could harm our business.

We are subject to general litigation and regulatdigputes.

From time to time, we are involved in other dispute regulatory inquiries that arise in the ordynesurse of business. The number and
significance of these disputes and inquiries haeesiased as our company has grown larger, our ésg#s have expanded in scope (e.g., our
mobile, local, social and digital initiatives andra@ontinuing geographical expansion) and our petsland services have increased in
complexity. We have in the past been forced tgdite such claims. We may also become more vulretatihird-party claims as laws such as
the Digital Millennium Copyright Act, the Lanham Aand the Communications Decency Act are interprbiethe courts as our products and
services to users continue to expand and as weneéxgeographically into jurisdictions where the uhglag laws with respect to the potential
liability of online intermediaries such as oursahage either unclear or less favorable. As an asing portion of our business shifts to mobile,
we may be subject to additional laws, which mayehsignificant penalties.

We are also subject to federal, state, local areida laws of general applicability, including lavegulating working conditions. Any
claims or regulatory actions against us, whetheitoreus or not, could be time consuming, resaltostly litigation, damage awards
(including statutory damages for certain causesctibn in certain jurisdictions), injunctive reljefr increased costs of doing business through
adverse judgment or settlement, require us to ahang business practices in expensive ways, regigreficant amounts of management time.
result in the diversion of significant operation@sources, or otherwise harm our business.
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Changes to our dispute resolution process couldeim®e our costs and loss rate.

Beginning in 2009, we have transitioned buyerhat.S., U.K. and Germany to a dispute resolutioeslutions”) process provided by
eBay customer support, which now serves as theapyimntry point for buyers in these countries éytfare unable to resolve their disputes
eBay sellers. Among other things, the resolutiole@ss provides that eBay will generally reimbubeebuyer for the full amount of an item's
purchase price (including original shipping costsgases where the item was not received or the titey received was different from that
described in the listing and the seller does noviple adequate resolution to the buyer. eBay tftempts to recoup amounts paid to the buyer
from the seller's PayPal accounts or through atbBection methods. Our costs associated with tgols have increased as a result of these
changes to our resolutions policies and procegsiinbecause eBay may not have the same leviglhag rof recoupment against sellers as
PayPal, resulting in higher costs to operate tbgmam. These changes, together with any additicimahiges that we may make to our
resolutions process in the future, may be negatinexieived by, and lead to dissatisfaction on i @f, some of our sellers, and may also
result in an increase in buyer fraud and associaéedaction losses.

In the event of the bankruptcy or other busineszriinption of a merchant that sells goods or sesvin advance of the date of their
delivery or use (e.g., airline, cruise or conceeitdts, custonmade goods and subscriptions), eBay and/or PayR#d be liable to the buyers
such goods or services, either through its buyeteption program or through chargebacks on paymemais used by customers to fund their
payment through PayPal. While we have establiseserves based on assumptions and estimates theieee are reasonable to cover such
eventualities, these reserves may be insufficindtaur operating results could be adversely aftecte

Failure to deal effectively with bad transactionmsacustomer disputes would increase our loss ratelearm our business.

Over the last several years, we have enhanceduter nd seller protections offered by PayPal mage eBay marketplaces, and in
certain countries for transactions outside of eBayketplaces. These changes to PayPal's buyeefledmotection program could result in
future changes and fluctuations in our Payments#etion loss rate. For the years ended Decemb@032 and 2011, our Payments
transaction losses (including both direct losseskaryer protection payouts) totaled $281 million 246 million, representing 0.19% and
0.21% of our net total payment volume, respectivBlginning in 2009, we have also changed the tisgasolution process for transactions
for buyers in the U.S., U.K. and Germany (on eBayceBay.co.uk and eBay.de, respectively), as testin more detail above under the
caption “Changes to our dispute resolution procesdd increase our costs and loss rate,” whichccoedult in an increase in our combined
eBay and PayPal transaction losses.

PayPal's highly automated and liquid payment sermnekes PayPal an attractive target for fraudohfiguring its service, PayPal
continually strives to maintain the right balané@appropriate measures to promote both conveniandesecurity for customers. Identity
thieves and those committing fraud using stolempeyt card or bank account numbers can potentitdbl sarge amounts of money from
businesses such as PayPal. We believe that se¥étal/Pal's current and former competitors in leetnic payments business have gone
of business or significantly restricted their besises largely due to losses from this type of friditile PayPal uses advanced anti-fraud
technologies, we expect that technically knowletdgeariminals will continue to attempt to circumydtayPal's anti-fraud systems using
increasingly sophisticated methods. From timerteetisuch fraudsters may discover and exploit valsiéties that may not immediately be
identified and remediated, which may in turn reguline-time increases in fraud and associatedgaction losses, which may be substantial. |
addition, because users frequently use the sansavpeds for different sites, a data breach of altparty site can result in a spike in eBay
and/or PayPal transaction losses. PayPal's sarwidd also be subject to employee fraud or othieriral security breaches, and PayPal may &
required to reimburse customers for any funds stakea result of such breaches. Merchants couddradgiest reimbursement, or stop using
PayPal, if they are affected by buyer fraud or otipes of fraud. Additional fraud risks associatgth PayPal's point of sale solutions are
described below under the caption “PayPal's rptaiit of sale solutions expose us to additionaistis

PayPal incurs substantial losses due to claims boyers that merchants have not performed or ket tjoods or services do not match
the merchant's description, whether those claiiise &fiom merchant fraud or from an unintentiondlufa to perform by the merchant. PayPal
seeks to recover such losses from the merchanmawyinot be able to recover in full if the merchianinwilling or unable to pay. PayPal also
incurs losses from claims that the customer didanttorize the purchase, from buyer fraud, frororegous transmissions and from customers
who have closed bank accounts or have insuffidierds in them to satisfy payments. In additiodo#ses incurred by PayPal related to
payment card transactions become excessive, thag potentially result in PayPal losing the rigbtatccept payment cards for payment, whicl
would materially and adversely affect PayPal'siess both on and off eBay. In the event that PayBalunable to accept payment
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cards, the velocity of trade on eBay and websipesated by GSI's clients that accept PayPal asxadbpayment could also decrease, in w
case our business would further suffer. The Bill Mger service is similarly subject to the riskfiegfudulent activity associated with merchants
users of the Bill Me Later service and third partiandling its user information. Our Payments essrhas taken measures to detect and
the risk of fraud, but these measures need to bencally improved and may not be effective agaimesty and continually evolving forms of
fraud or in connection with new product offeringfighese measures do not succeed, our businessukfiér.

eBay faces similar risks with respect to frauduketivities on its websites. eBay periodically iges complaints from users who may
have received the goods that they had purchasednhe cases, individuals have been arrested amittehfor fraudulent activities using our
websites. eBay also receives complaints from selldro have not received payment for the goodsalmatyer had contracted to purchase. Nor
payment may occur because of miscommunication,useca buyer has changed his or her mind and denatdd honor the contract to
purchase the item, or because the buyer bid oitettremaliciously to harm either the seller or eBlaysome European and Asian jurisdictions,
buyers may also have the right to withdraw fronale snade by a professional seller within a spetifime period. While eBay can, in some
cases, suspend the accounts of users who failftibtheir payment or delivery obligations to othesers, eBay does not have the ability to
require users to make payment or deliver goodstt@rwise make users whole other than throughuyebprotection program.

Our limited eBay and PayPal buyer protection prograepresent the means by which we compensatewberbelieve that they have
been defrauded, have not received the item thgtpghechased, or have received an item differemt thlat was described. However, users
pay through PayPal may have reimbursement rigbta their payment card company or bank, which in tuill seek recovery from PayPal.
eBay also periodically receives complaints fromdisyas to the quality of the goods purchased. Vgeatxo continue to receive
communications from users requesting reimburseimetitreatening or commencing legal action agaisst no reimbursement is made. Our
liability for these sort of claims is slowly beging to be clarified in some jurisdictions and mayHigher in some non-U.S. jurisdictions than i
is in the U.S. Litigation involving liability fortird-party actions could be costly and time consupior us, divert management attention, resul
in increased costs of doing business, lead to adyadgments, or otherwise harm our business.ditiad, affected users will likely complain
to regulatory agencies that could take action agais, including imposing fines or seeking injuons.

Negative publicity and user sentiment generatesl r@sult of fraudulent or deceptive conduct by sieéour Marketplaces, Payments and
GSil services could reduce our ability to attraat/ mesers or retain our current users, damage outadpn and diminish the value of our brand
names. We believe that negative user experieneesnar of the primary reasons users stop usingesuicss.

From time to time, we have considered more actieelhanisms designed to combat bad buyer experiamckscrease buyer
satisfaction, including evaluating sellers on thsib of their transaction history and restrictinguspending their activity as a result. For
example, in the U.S., the U.K. and Canada, we ragyest that PayPal hold seller funds in certaitaimees (e.g., for sellers with a limited
selling history or belovstandard performance ratings), which is intendduketp improve seller performance and increase bsggsfaction. W
may expand the scope of such programs in the fatudentroduce other programs with similar aimghiese and other countries. Our increase
usage of these or other mechanisms to attemptgmire buyer satisfaction could result in dissatiséam on the part of sellers, loss of share to
competing marketplaces, reduced selection of irorgrdn our sites and other adverse effects.

Any factors that reduce cross-border trade couldnihaur business.

Cross-border trade has become an increasingly tapiosource of both revenue and profits for us s€4morder transactions using our
websites and mobile platforms generally providenbigevenues and gross margins than similar tréineadhat take place within a single
country or market. We generally earn higher tratisadees for cross-border transactions involvigy®al, and our Marketplaces business
continues to represent a relatively straightforwaay for buyers and sellers to engage in crossdvdrdde compared with other alternatives.
Cross-border trade also represents our primarin(®me cases, only) presence in certain marketdioh Internet and mobile device use is
accelerating and we have a limited (or no) domedtcketplaces business (e.g., Brazil/Latin Americhina, Russia and various developing
countries).

The interpretation and application of specific aa#il or regional laws, such as those related @l@utual property rights of authentic
products, selective distribution networks, andesslin other countries listing items on the Intéraed the potential interpretation and
application of laws of multiple jurisdictions (e.the jurisdiction of the buyer, the seller, andhe location of the item being sold) are
extremely complicated in the context of cross-bottsde. Some of these issues are involved in @edal and Louis Vuitton Malletier cases
(see “Item 3: Legal Proceedings” below). To theeakiny
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interpretation or application of such laws imposgEstrictions on, or increases the costs of, puinbaselling or shipping goods across national
borders, our business would be harmed. Any additifactors that increase the costs of purchaskiting or shipping goods across national
borders or restrict, delay or make cross-bordeietraore difficult or impractical, including flucttians in currency exchange rates, currency
restrictions, increases in delivery service rateseovice terminations, disruptions or interrupgpimport or export control laws, the application
of (or increases in) tariffs, duties or other tawagmports or exports, customs enforcement (ifinlydelays at the border attributable to
customs inspections), enforcement of internatiamallectual property rights by rights holders oud rulings, or that otherwise result in a net
reduction in cross-border trade on our sites wéuieer our revenues and adversely affect our busings part of our ongoing efforts to drive
more transactions and improve seller efficiency bunger experience, we are evaluating opportunitidezcome more actively involved in
different aspects of cross-border transactions¢lvbould potentially expose us to additional lispibased upon the nature of our involvement
in aspects of such transactions and/or the actibosr users in one or more countries.

Our cross-border trade is also subject to, and lmeaynpacted by, currency exchange rate fluctuatiassliscussed under the captidvie’
are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchantgsrand interest rates” above.

Our business is subject to online security risksluding security breaches.

Our businesses involve the storage and transmiss$iogers' proprietary information, and securitgduhes could expose us to a risk of
loss or misuse of this information, litigation gpatential liability. An increasing number of welgsit including several other large Internet
companies, have disclosed breaches of their sgcsoine of which have involved sophisticated amyhlyi targeted attacks on portions of their
sites. Because the techniques used to obtain wréel access, disable or degrade service, oragdalstems, change frequently and often
are not recognized until launched against a targethay be unable to anticipate these techniquésiorplement adequate preventative
measures. If an actual or perceived breach of @curgy occurs, public perception of the effectiess of our security measures could be
harmed and we could lose users. A party that is &tbtircumvent our security measures could misgpate our or our users' proprietary
information, cause interruption in our operatiostemage our computers or those of our users, orwitedamage our reputation and business
Any compromise of our security could result in alation of applicable privacy and other laws, siigaint legal and financial exposure, dam
to our reputation and a loss of confidence in @ausity measures, which could harm our businesta Becurity breaches may also result from
non-technical means, for example, actions by ammasmbemployee. GSlI's clients also face similarsrisksecurity breaches, and to the extent
that its clients are harmed as a result of a sigdoireach, GSI's business would also be adverstygtad.

A significant number of our users authorize usitictfeeir payment card accounts directly for aliisaction fees charged by us. For
example, PayPal's users routinely provide paymamt and other financial information, and GSI cusgtosiroutinely provide payment card
information and other personally identifiable infaation which we maintain to facilitate the easéuttdire transactions. We rely on encryption
and authentication technology licensed from thiadips to provide the security and authenticatmaftectively secure transmission of
confidential information, including customer payrheard numbers. Advances in computer capabilities discoveries in the field of
cryptography or other developments may result éntéthnology used by us to protect transaction loksiteg breached or compromised.
Financial services regulators in various jurisaigs, including the U.S. and the EU, have implentbpteare considering proposals to impose
new authentication requirements on banks and payprenessors intended to reduce online fraud (Bvp-factor authentication to verify a
user's identity), which could impose significanstsoon PayPal, require PayPal to change its bissprastices, make it more difficult for new
customers to join its network and reduce the ehss®of its products, which could harm PayPalsiiess.

Under payment card rules and our contracts withcawi processors, if there is a breach of paymematioformation that we store, or t
is stored by PayPal's direct payment card procgssiatomers, we could be liable to the payment isatdng banks for their cost of issuing
new cards and related expenses. In addition, flal¢o follow payment card industry security stands, even if customer information has not
been compromised, we could incur significant finesose our ability to give customers the optiorusing payment cards to fund their
payments or pay their fees. If we were unable t@picpayment cards, our businesses would be sbridamaged.

Our servers are also vulnerable to computer virysiggsical or electronic break-ins and similar gjgions, and we have experienced
“denial-of-service” type attacks on our system thate, in certain instances, made all or portidrsuo websites unavailable for periods of
time. For example, in December 2010, PayPal wagsuto a series of distributed “denial of serviedgtacks following PayPal's decision to
indefinitely restrict the account used by WikiLeakse to an alleged violation of PayPal's Acceptalde Policy. We may need to expend
significant resources to protect against securigabhes or to address problems caused by breddiese issues are likely to become more
difficult and costly as we expand the number otpta
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where we operate. Security breaches, includingoaegches of our security measures or those ofegastith which we have commercial
relationships (e.g., our clients and third-partyge providers) that result in the unauthorizeldase of users' personal information, could
damage our reputation and expose us to a risksefdolitigation and possible liability. Our insoce policies carry low coverage limits, which
may not be adequate to reimburse us for lossegddyssecurity breaches.

Our users, as well as those of other prominentrietecompanies, have been and will continue talgeted by parties using fraudulent
“spoof” and “phishing” emails to misappropriate usames, passwords, payment card numbers, or jpéhgonal information or to introduce
viruses or other malware through “trojan horse"gramns to our users' computers. These emails appéarlegitimate emails sent by eBay,
PayPal, a GSI client, StubHub or one of our othusirtesses, or by a user of one of our businessedijriact recipients to fake websites
operated by the sender of the email or requestlteatecipient send a password or other confideinfiermation through email or download
malware. Despite our efforts to mitigate “spooftdiphishing” emails through product improvements aiser education, “spoof” and
“phishing” activities remain a serious problem thaty damage our brands, discourage use of our i@slzsid increase our costs.

Changes in regulations or user concerns regardiriggey and protection of user data could adverssfect our business.

We are subject to laws relating to the collectigse, retention, security and transfer of persondé#ytifiable information about our users,
especially for financial information and for uséveated outside of the U.S. As an entity licensed subject to regulation as a bank in
Luxembourg, PayPal (Europe) S.ar.l et Cie, SCgulgject to banking secrecy laws. In many casesetlavs apply not only to third-party
transactions, but also to transfers of informabetween ourselves and our subsidiaries, and betagselves, our subsidiaries and other
parties with which we have commercial relationspémticular, the collection and use of personadiimfation by companies has come under
increased regulatory scrutiny. The interpretatind application of user data protection laws ara state of flux, and may be interpreted and
applied inconsistently from country to country.

Regulatory scrutiny of privacy and user data prideds increasing on a global basis, and a nurobeountries in which we operate are
actively evaluating changes to their privacy lawd gegulations. The European Union recently propossv data laws that give customers
additional rights and provide additional restrioBcand harsher penalties on companies for illegifdation and misuse of personal informati
including restrictions on the use of Internet tiagktools called “cookies.” While the European Unitdirective on cookies has taken effect, the
manner in which member states adopt implementigiglition, and whether the European Union deentdehslation sufficient, continues to
evolve. To the extent implementing legislation bgmber states is more restrictive, it could negtiirapact the manner in which we use
cookies for many of our services, ranging from atisig to antifraud, and require us to incur additional costst@nge our business practis
which could harm our business. The European Unamnahso proposed a General Data Protection Reguilditat would supersede the Eurog
Data Protection Directive. In the U.S., the Fed&ralde Commission, or FTC, and the White House latle proposed U.S. privacy
frameworks, and in 2012, legislation was introduicethe U.S. Senate which would have required dmgaions that suffer a breach of security
related to personal information to notify ownerstaf breached information and, in some instanc@ffyrthe Federal Bureau of Investigatior
U.S. Secret Service; similar legislation may beddticed and enacted in the future. Other counitmigghich we operate have recently adopted
and implemented privacy and data protection lavesragulations for the first time, or are in thegess of doing so. Our current data protec
policies and practices may not be consistent wétlh laws and regulations or evolving interpretatiand applications. It is unclear how the
application of existing privacy laws and regulagamill impact mobile services and technologies,alihare evolving rapidly. Complying with
these varying national requirements could cauge urscur substantial costs or require us to changeusiness practices in a manner adverse
to our business.

In addition, we have and post on our websites @ur privacy policies and practices concerning thigection, use and disclosure of user
data. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us tamply with our posted privacy policies or with amegulatory requirements or orders or other
federal, state or international privacy or consupretection-related laws and regulations (or, & ¢hse of our GSI businesses, any such failul
or perceived failure on the part of GSI or GSlisruls) could result in proceedings or actions agjais by governmental entities or others (e.g.
class action privacy litigation), subject us torsfigant penalties and negative publicity, requiseto change our business practices, increas
costs and adversely affect our business. The FiGtate regulatory agencies have become more ajgres enforcing privacy and data
protection laws and regulations. For example, th€ Fecently entered into a number of consent deangln a number of major online
companies, including Facebook and Google, to saitdgations of unfair or deceptive privacy pragsicThe FTC's consent decrees with
Facebook and Google require each of those comptmiggplement a comprehensive privacy program arakrgo regular, independent
privacy audits for the next 20 years, among otbquirements. In December 2012, California's attpgeneral filed a lawsuit against Delta Air
Lines for failing to include a privacy policy irsimobile apps.
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Certain of our businesses, including GSI's intévaanarketing services business, utilize “behaviorarketing” (generally, the tracking
of a user's online activities) to deliver relevaantent to Internet users. The FTC has releasadfF®port with principles to address consu
privacy issues that may arise from behavioral margeand to encourage industry self-regulationMirch 2012, the FTC issued a final report
titted “Protecting Consumer Privacy in an Era opRlaChange: Recommendations for Businesses andyRakers,” which details the FTC's
perspective on best practices for companies tHetot@nd use consumer data to protect the prigcpnsumers. Should the FTC pursue
enforcement actions related to these businessiggactve may have to modify our business practeesnform and incur substantial costs,
which could harm our business. In addition, legstaand regulators in various jurisdictions a@éasingly focusing on the capture and use c
locationbased information relating to users of smartph@mesother mobile devices, which may result in adudél restrictions being placed
the collection and use of such information. Anyhstegulations or legislation could, if enacted,tpbit the use of certain technologies,
including those that track individuals' activities the Internet or geolocation via mobile devi&sch laws and regulations could restrict our
ability to collect and use page viewing data ang@eal information, which may reduce demand forsmivices or require changes to our
current business models, such as advertising, wdtald harm our business.

Even technical violations of certain privacy-rethtaws can result in significant penalties, inchglstatutory damages. The Federal
Communications Commission recently amended itslagigns under the Telephone Consumer Protectior(REPA), effective in July 2012,
which could increase our exposure to liability éertain types of telephonic communication with oustrs, including but not limited to text
messages to mobile phones. Under the TCPA, pl&imtify seek actual monetary loss or statutory desaf§$500 per violation, whichever is
greater, and courts may treble the damage awandiliéul or knowing violations. Two putative classtion lawsuits have been filed containing
allegations that our businesses violated the TG®erts v. PayPal (filed in the U.S. District Coiartthe Northern District of California in
February 2012) contains allegations that commeeadakrtisements for PayPal products and services sent via text message to mobile
phones without prior consent. Murray v. Bill Me kaffiled in the U.S. District Court for the NortimeDistrict of Illinois in June 2012) contai
allegations that Bill Me Later made calls featurargjficial or prerecorded voices without prior cemt. These lawsuits seek damages (inclt
statutory damages) and injunctive relief, amongotbmedies. Given the enormous number of commtioicawe send to our users, a
determination that there have been violations wEleelating to PayPal's or Bill Me Later's practi¢er those of any of our other companies)
under the TCPA or other communications-based staduld expose us to significant damage awardsdhed, individually or in the
aggregate, materially harm our business.

Data collection, privacy and security have becongesubject of increasing public concern. If Intérered mobile users were to reduce
their use of our websites, mobile platforms, prddand services as a result, our business coutdimeed. As noted above, we are also subjec
to the possibility of security breaches, which tlsefmes may result in a violation of these laws.

Our revenue from advertising is subject to factmegond our control.

We derive significant revenue from advertising om websites and applications. Revenues from omlthesrtising are sensitive to events
and trends that affect advertising expendituresh s1$ general changes in the economy and changeasamer spending, the effectiveness of
online advertising versus offline advertising mealia the value our websites provide to advertisdadive to other websites. Similarly, the
economic downturn adversely impacted our advedisavenue. In addition, major search engine opesg®g., Google) have the ability to
change from time to time, at their sole discretitwe, rules and search algorithms governing thengrj@vailability and placement of online
advertising, and do so periodically. Changes bydbosince October 2012 have significantly redudedamount of traffic our Marketplaces
unit receives from free search on Google. Any clearig these rules or search algorithms could nadfereduce the value that we derive from
online advertising on our websites, either direotiyndirectly. For example, retailers pay a fe&tmpping.com for online shoppers directed to
their websites by our Shopping.com website. Rungles made by search engines beginning in 200&ptkst traffic to our Shopping.com
website, which in turn adversely affected clicketigh traffic to retailers from our Shopping.com witd and associated fee revenue. In
addition, legislators and regulators in varioussgictions, including the U.S. and the Europeanddnare reviewing Internet advertising
models and the use of user-related data, includicafion-based information relating to users of gpteones and other mobile devices, and are
considering proposals that could restrict or otheevimpact these business models and practice® #xperience a reduction in our advertis
revenues due to economic, competitive, regulatehnological or other factors, the renegotiatibow contracts with major advertising
companies on unfavorable terms, or a reductioruirability to effectively place advertisements ar sites, or are otherwise unable to provide
value to our advertisers, our business and finanesalts would suffer.
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Our growth will depend on our ability to developrdwands, and these efforts may be costly.

We believe that continuing to strengthen our bramitide critical to achieving widespread accep&o€ our services, and will require a
continued focus on active marketing efforts acedbef our brands. We will need to continue to gpenbstantial amounts of money on, and
devote substantial resources to, advertising, niakeand other efforts to create and maintain thdagalty among users. Since 2005, we have
significantly increased the number of brands wesaggporting, adding Shopping.com, our classifiethsites (including Den BI& Avis,
BilBasen, eBay Classifieds (including eBay AnunceBay Kleinanzeigen and eBay Annunci), GumtregjiKioQUo, Marktplaats.nl,
mobile.de and alaMaula), StubHub, Bill Me Later, &ket, Milo, WHERE, RedLaser, Zong and GSI, amotigeis. Each of these brands
requires its own resources, increasing the costsiobranding efforts. Brand promotion activitieaymot yield increased revenues, and even |
they do, any increased revenues may not offsetxtpenses incurred in building our brands. Also,anagarch engine operators that we use tc
advertise our brands have frequently changing thigisgovern the pricing, availability and placeitneionline advertisements (e.g., paid
search, keywords), and changes to these rules oeglire us to increase our spending on onlinertideenents and adversely affect our ability
to use online advertising to promote our brands @ost-effective manner. If we fail to promote angintain our brands, or if we incur
substantial expenses in an unsuccessful attengobtoote and maintain our brands, our business woeildarmed.

New and existing regulations could harm our busines

We are subject to the same foreign and domestis &émiother companies conducting business on aribeoffiternet. It is not always cl¢
how existing laws governing issues such as propentyership, copyrights, trademarks and other iatélial property issues, parallel imports
and distribution controls, consumer protectionataon, libel and defamation, obscenity and perspnighcy apply to online businesses such a:
ours. Many of these laws were adopted prior tcatiheent of the Internet and related technologies as@ result, do not contemplate or addres
the unique issues of the Internet and related tdolyies. Those laws that do reference the Intesuety as the U.S. Digital Millennium
Copyright Act, the U.S. “CAN-SPAM” Act and the Eym@an Union's Distance Selling Directive (which e superseded by the new
Consumer Rights Directive, which the member statesn the process of implementing) and Electr@ommerce Directive are being
interpreted by the courts, but their applicabitityd scope remain uncertain. As our activitiesypes of goods and services listed on our
websites, the products and services we offer (dhotythrough acquisitions such as Bill Me Later &tdbHub) and our geographical scope
continue to expand, regulatory agencies or cougg ohaim or hold that we or our users are subjeetdditional requirements (including
licensure) or prohibited from conducting our busi their jurisdiction, either generally or wighspect to certain actions (e.g., the sale of re:
estate, event tickets, cultural goods, boats atah@abiles, or the application of distance selliag$). Recent financial and political events may
increase the level of regulatory scrutiny on lacgmpanies in general, and financial services comegan particular, and regulatory agencies
may view matters or interpret laws and regulatidifferently than they have in the past and in a nearadverse to our businesses.

Our success and increased visibility has driveneseristing businesses that perceive our businegelsio be a threat to their busine:
to raise concerns about our business models toypoetikers and regulators. These established busiass! their trade association groups
employ significant resources in their efforts tasé the legal and regulatory regimes in countriesreswe have significant operations. They
may employ these resources in an effort to chamgéegal and regulatory regimes in ways intenda@doce the effectiveness of our
businesses and the ability of users to use ourystedind services. In particular, these establiblisthesses have raised concerns relating to
pricing, parallel imports, professional seller ghliions, selective distribution networks, stoleond® copyrights, trademarks and other
intellectual property rights and the liability dfet provider of an Internet marketplace for the em@f its users related to those and other
issues. Any changes to the legal or regulatorymegiin a manner that would increase our liabilitythird-party listings could negatively
impact our business.

Over the last few years, some large retailers heil trade associations have sought legislatiamnamber of states and the U.S.
Congress that would make eBay liable for the shltalen property or would ban certain categoriegamds from sale on our platform,
including gift cards and health and beauty produsfisile no such legislation has passed to datepthponents continue to seek passage of
such legislation, and if any of these laws are &&bbthey could harm our business.

Numerous states and foreign jurisdictions, inclgdime State of California, where our headquarterdaxated, have regulations regarc
“auctions” and the handling of property by “secoandtt dealers” or “pawnbrokersSeveral states and some foreign jurisdictions ladtesnpte
to impose such regulations upon us or our usetsptrers may attempt to do so in the future. Atterd@nforcement of these laws against
some of our users appears to be increasing. IrcErave have been sued by Conseil des Ventes, ¢éimelfrauction regulatory authority, which
has alleged that sales on our French website
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constitute illegal auctions that cannot be perfatwithout its consent. We have won this lawsuthattrial and appeals court levels, but it may
be subject to further appeal. A lawsuit allegingikir claims has been brought against us by twodatons of French antique dealers, and is
now pending on appeal after we won in the firstanse. We intend to vigorously defend against thessuits. However, these and other
regulatory and licensure claims and enforcemem&icould result in costly litigation and, if urtsessful, we could be required to change the
way we or our users do business in ways that isereasts or reduce revenues (for example, by fprasnto prohibit listings of certain items or
restrict certain listing formats in some locationa)e could also be subject to fines or other pesland any of these outcomes could harm oL
business.

A number of the lawsuits against us relating tdéraark issues seek to have our websites subjecfavorable local laws. For example,
“trademark exhaustion” principles provide trademawkners with certain rights to control the saledfranded authentic product until it has
been placed on the market by the trademark holdeitb the holder's consent. The application cAd&mark exhaustion” principles is largely
unsettled in the context of the Internet, anddatiemark owners are able to force us to prohiliinfis of certain items in one or more locations,
our business could be harmed.

As we expand and localize our international adgésitwe may become obligated to comply with theslafithe countries or markets in
which we operate. In addition, because our senacesccessible worldwide and we facilitate safegpods and provide services to users
worldwide, one or more jurisdictions may claim tiag or our users are required to comply with theirs based on the location of our servers
or one or more of our users, or the location ofgfealuct or service being sold or provided in aonemerce transaction. For example, in the
Louis Vuitton Malletier litigation, we were founéble in France, under French law, for transactmmsome of our websites worldwide that
did not involve French buyers or sellers (see “Ierhegal Proceedingdielow). Laws regulating Internet and ecommerce @nigs outside «
the U.S. are generally be less favorable than throfee U.S., giving greater rights to consumesitent owners, competitors, users and other
third parties. Compliance may be more costly or megpire us to change our business practices tiiatesur service offerings, and the
imposition of any regulations on us or our usery hmm our business. In addition, we may be sultgentultiple overlapping legal or
regulatory regimes that impose conflicting requieans on us (e.g., in crob®rder trade). Our alleged failure to comply wibheign laws coul
subject us to penalties ranging from criminal poogien to significant fines to bans on our servjéesddition to the significant costs we may
incur in defending against such actions.

Following the global financial crisis, U.S. fedelalvmakers enacted the Dodd-Frank Act overhaulwegféderal government's oversight
of consumer financial products and systemic risthaU.S. financial system. Although the full etfet the new legislation will be dependent
on regulations to be adopted by a number of diffeagiencies (including the recently created Consirimancial Protection Bureau), we exf
the general effect of the financial reform law vii# to require PayPal and Bill Me Later to makeitiatthl disclosures to their users and to
impose new restrictions on certain of their adgt For example, in January 2012, the Consumerigial Protection Bureau finalized new
regulations, required by the Dodd-Frank Act thdt meiquire PayPal, starting in 2013, to provideitiddal disclosures, error resolution rights
and cancellation rights to U.S. consumers who nirtieenational remittance payments, which couldéase our costs of processing
international payments. These and other new oldigatwill impose new compliance requirements anlédgabions on us that could increase out
costs, may result in increased litigation and thedhto make expensive product changes and mayasieesdversely impact our business.

In addition, we also expect that the continued anmntation of the Dodd-Frank Act will adversely Bopsome significant traditional
revenue streams for banks. For example, in Jung,20& Federal Reserve Board issued a final rylping debit card interchange fees. As a
result of this and other regulations implementimg financial reform law, banks may need to revisgdrtbusiness models to remain profitable,
which may lead them to charge more for serviceckwhiere previously provided for free or at lowestc@ny resulting increases in service
fees required for PayPal to process transactiags gervice fees for automated clearing houses#@ions) would increase our costs and couls
adversely affect our business.

Our business and users may be subject to salemdother taxes.

The application of indirect taxes (such as salesume tax, value-added tax (VAT), goods and sesviar, business tax and gross receipt
tax) to ecommerce businesses such as eBay and tsens is a complex and evolving issue. Many effttndamental statutes and regulations
that impose these taxes were established befordityation and growth of the Internet and ecommercmany cases, it is not clear how
existing statutes apply to the Internet or ecommdrtaddition, governments are increasingly logkior ways to increase revenues, which ha:
resulted in discussions about tax reform and ddggslative action to increase tax revenues, inalgithrough indirect taxes.

Some jurisdictions have implemented or may implerntems specifically addressing the Internet or s@sgect of ecommerce. For
example, the State of New York has passed legisldhiat requires any out-of-state seller of targ®@rsonal
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property to collect and remit New York use taxhié tseller engages affiliates above certain findticiasholds in New York to perform certain
business promotion activities. Several ecommerogpemies are challenging this new law. In June 2CHhlifornia enacted legislation that
required certain out-of-state retailers to colkutl remit California use tax on taxable sales tif@nia purchasers when the retailer has a
relationship with a person in California that refeustomers to the retailer. In September 2011CHigornia Governor signed into law AB 1!
which superseded the prior law and became effetti&=ptember 2012. The new law is similar to #ve passed in New York, but provides
exclusions for certain forms of Internet marketargl is limited to retailers who exceed prescrit®dssvolume thresholds. However, if our
sellers who are not already required to collecif@alia sales or use tax believe that their usewfwebsites requires them to collect California
use tax, they may elect to limit their use of owbsites rather than collect the tax, which wouldrhaur business. North Carolina, Rhode
Island, Illinois, Arkansas and South Dakota hawe @nacted similar laws related to affiliates, andimber of other states appear to be
considering similar legislation. In addition, therfasylvania Department of Revenue has ruled thatitof-state retailer using Pennsylvania-
based affiliates could have nexus in Pennsylvangenexisting statutes. Most of these new lawspagitions are being challenged and in May
2012, a Cook County Circuit Court judge ruled ttinet lllinois Internet Affiliate Nexus Law was uncgiitutional. The State of lllinois has filed
a direct appeal to the lllinois Supreme Court. @eption of such legislation by states where eBagydignificant operations that perform
certain business promotion activities could result use tax collection responsibility for certafrour sellers. This collection responsibility &
the additional costs associated with complex used#ection, remittance and audit requirements ianake selling on our websites and
mobile applications less attractive for small basmretailers, and would harm our business.

The State of Colorado has enacted legislationt#tkats a different approach by imposing a set otas@otice and reporting requireme
(but not the actual tax collection responsibility) certain retailers with no physical presenceadto@do. The law is designed to aid Colorado
in collecting use tax from Colorado residents whechase taxable items from out-of-state retail€h& regulation promulgated by the
Colorado Department of Revenue excludes from thegserting obligations businesses that sell $100¢¥06ss into the state in a calendary
thus limiting the impact on our sellers. The lave haen challenged in Federal Court by a numbeubbbstate retailers and a Federal District
Court has issued an injunction blocking enforcenoéiihe regulations pending a resolution of theecés March 2012, a federal judge struck
down the Colorado law as unconstitutional, findihgt it discriminated against interstate commeitds.expected that the State will appeal the
decision. Oklahoma has enacted a similar law. Wthigeapplication of these new state laws to ourldetiglaces business has limited direct
impact, the proliferation of such state legislatiorexpand sales and use tax collection on Intevaless, could adversely affect some of our
sellers and indirectly harm our business.

In conjunction with the Streamlined Sales Tax Ribje- an ongoing, multi-year effort by U.S. state dmcal governments to require
collection and remittance of remote sales tax hyofistate sellers — U.S. Senate and U.S. Houssiores of the Main Street Fairness Act (S.
1452 and H.R. 2701) were introduced in the #€angress in 2012. These measures would allow dtéemeet certain simplification and
other standards to require out-of-state sellecotiect and remit sales taxes on goods purchaséua-$tate residents. Sellers meeting an as yet
undefined small seller exception would be exclufilecth the requirements of the Act. Other legislatioimoduced in the 112Congress in
2012, including H.R. 3179 and S. 1832, would gstates the authority to require out-of-state retaito collect and remit sales taxes without
requiring the state to join the Streamlined Salas Froject. The adoption of remote sales tax ctidiedegislation that lacks a robust small
business exemption would result in the impositibeades taxes and additional costs associatedowitiplex sales tax collection, remittance
and audit compliance requirements on many of digrseThis would make selling online less attraetior small retailers, and would likely
harm our business.

From time to time, some taxing authorities havefieok us that they believe we owe them certain sake May 2008, the City of Chicago
notified both eBay and StubHub that they are lidbtea city amusement tax on tickets to eventshic&go, irrespective of the location of the
buyer or seller, and filed suit to enforce collentbf taxes it claims are due. In a series of gdirssued in 2009, the court ruled that StubHub i
not required to collect and remit the city amuseintax, entered a final order dismissing the casgnasg StubHub, and dismissed the case
against eBay. The City of Chicago appealed bothargto the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals, whighsequently certified the state law
arguments to the lllinois State Supreme Court. ¢toBer 2011, the lllinois Supreme Court ruled gtate municipalities may not require
electronic intermediaries such as StubHub to cbled remit amusement taxes on resold tickets. déeision is now final. The application of
similar existing or future laws, including the ingition of similar taxes by taxing authorities, abaldversely affect our business.

Several proposals have been made at the U.S astdti®cal levels that would impose additional taxeshe sale of goods and services
over the Internet. These proposals, if adopteddcaubstantially impair the growth of ecommerce andbrands, and could diminish our
opportunity to derive financial benefit from outtiatties. The U.S. federal government's moratoriumstate and local taxation of Internet
access or multiple or discriminatory taxes on ecemu® has been extended
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through November 2014. This moratorium does nohibibfederal, state, or local authorities fromleoting taxes on our income or from
collecting certain taxes that were in effect ptmthe enactment of the moratorium and/or onesoéxtensions.

Similar issues exist outside of the U.S., whereajhygication of VAT or other indirect taxes on eguoarce providers such as eBay is
uncertain and evolving. While we attempt to conmiplyhose jurisdictions where it is clear that aisague, certain of our subsidiaries have,
from time to time, received claims relating to gpplicability of indirect taxes to our fees. In{2012, we received Notices of Reassessr
for tax years 2001-2005 from the Canadian Revergengy (CRA) which assert goods and service tax (@8&d harmonized sales tax (HST)
on our fees charged to Canadian users. These ssassats of GST/HST were the result of an audiBafyelnternational AG and are based on
the CRA's assertion that we were “doing busines€anada for GST/HST purposes. We disagree withethg&sessments and filed a Notice of
Appeal with the Tax Court of Canada in July 201208d such taxes become applicable, our businedd be harmed. We collect and remit
indirect taxes in certain jurisdictions. Howeverx tiuthorities may raise questions about our ofiigdo collect and remit such taxes, as we
the proper calculation of such taxes. For exantpkeKorean tax authority asserted that certain cns@nd incentives available on our sites
should not be deducted when computing taxes offe@st We challenged these assessments and in Quaehz National Tax Tribunal issued
a final ruling in our favor. Should any new taxezbme applicable to our fees or if the taxes wegpayfound to be deficient, our business
could be harmed.

We do not collect taxes on the goods or servickklsousers of our services. One or more statéiseofederal government or foreign
countries may seek to impose a tax collection, ntéppor record-keeping obligation on companieg g#rayage in or facilitate ecommerce. Suct
an obligation could be imposed by legislation iiketh to improve tax compliance (and legislationuchseffect has been contemplated by
several states and a number of foreign jurisdishian if an eBay company was ever deemed to biegad agent of the users of our services b
a jurisdiction in which eBay operates. In July 200& Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008(F8221) was signed into law. This |
contains provisions that require companies thatigeopayments over electronic means to users wrrépthe Internal Revenue Service (IRS)
information on payments received by certain custsniehe legislation, effective for payments recdiedter December 31, 2010, requires
PayPal and other electronic payments processoveeldas StubHub and similar companies, to repothé IRS on customers subject to U.S.
income tax who receive more than $20,000 in paysiantl more than 200 payments in a calendar year witrequire us to request tax ID
numbers from certain payees, track payments byxaxumber and, under certain conditions, withhojabation of payments and forward such
withholding to the IRS. We have had to modify ooftware to meet these requirements and expectdaerkoperational costs and changes to
our user experience in connection with complyinthwiese reporting obligations. The IRS regulatialse require us to collect a certification
of non-U.S. taxpayer status from certain interrmalanerchants. The Foreign Account Tax Compliance which takes effect starting in 2013,
is likely to require an increase in the numberafi#J.S. customers from whom we must obtain a smaiatification, and to increase the
compliance burdens on us. These requirements nagake seller activity on our sites and harm osimass. Any failure by us to meet these
new requirements could result in substantial magegianalties and other sanctions and could harnbosiness.

One or more other jurisdictions may also seek fpose tax collection or reporting obligations basedhe location of the product or
service being sold or provided in an ecommercestetion, regardless of where the respective usel®eated. Imposition of a discriminatory
record keeping or tax collecting requirement calédrease seller activity on our sites and wouldnhaur business. Foreign authorities may
also require eBay to help ensure compliance bysars with local laws regulating professional ssllencluding tax requirements. In addition,
we have periodically received requests from takauities in many jurisdictions for information reding the transactions of large classes of
sellers on our sites, and in some cases we havelégally obligated to provide this data. The inipos of any requirements on us to disclose
transaction records for all or a class of sellersk or other regulatory authorities or to fil& farms on behalf of any sellers, especially
requirements that are imposed on us but not omaliee means of ecommerce, and any use of thesed®to investigate, collect taxes from,
or prosecute sellers, could decrease seller activitour sites and harm our business.

We pay input VAT on applicable taxable purchasehiwithe various countries in which we operatemivst cases, we are entitled to
reclaim this input VAT from the various countriégfowever, because of our unique business modegppkcation of the laws and rules that
allow such reclamation is sometimes uncertain. éceasful assertion by one or more countries thadmnenot entitled to reclaim VAT could
harm our business.

We continue to work with the relevant tax authestand legislators to clarify eBay's obligationdemnew and emerging laws and
regulations. Passage of new legislation and th@gitipn of additional tax or tax-related reportimggjuirements could harm our users and our
business. There have been, and will continue tguiestantial ongoing costs associated with comglyiith the various indirect tax
requirements in the numerous markets in which ef®agucts or will conduct business.
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Bill Me Later's operations expose us to additionisiks.

Risks associated with our reliance on an unaféitidender in providing the Bill Me Later service aliscussed in more detail under the
caption “Bill Me Later's operations depend on lemgdservices provided by an unaffiliated lender”\aho

The Bill Me Later service relies on third-party roleant processors and payment gateways to proegssattions. For the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, approximately 62% 866l 8espectively, of all transaction volume by doimount through the Bill Me Later
service was settled through the facilities of grvendor. Any disruption to these third party p@nt processing and gateway services woulc
adversely affect the Bill Me Later service.

The Bill Me Later service is offered to a wide raraf consumers, and the financial success of thinkss depends on the ability of the
issuing bank of the Bill Me Later credit produatsmianage credit risk related to those products.l@ihger extends credit using Bill Me Later's
proprietary segmentation and credit scoring alporg and other analytical techniques designed ttyam#he credit risk of specific customers
based on their past purchasing and payment hiatowell as their credit scores. Based on thesemesince criteria, the lender may extend or
increase lines of credit to consumers at the prfisale. These algorithms and techniques may mafrately predict the creditworthiness of a
consumer due to inaccurate assumptions aboutiayartconsumer or the economic environment, armathgr factors. The accuracy of the
predictions and the ability of the lender and BI& Later to manage credit risk related to the Bl Later service may also be affected by I¢
or regulatory changes (e.g., bankruptcy laws amdrmim payment regulations), competitors' actiohanhges in consumer behavior and other
factors. The lender may incorrectly interpret théadproduced by these algorithms in setting itdicpolicies, which may impact the financial
performance of the Bill Me Later service. In aduliti economic and financial conditions in the U.&yraffect consumer confidence levels and
reduce consumers' ability or willingness to uselicréncluding the credit extended by the lendec@aasumers who use the Bill Me Later
service, which could impair the growth and profili&p of this business.

Over the past several years, the volume of cradiineled by WebBank (the financial institution isgpthe Bill Me Later credit products)
has increased as we have continued to enable iqddifiyers with a PayPal account to use Bill Mestais a payment funding option for
transactions on eBay.com and on certain merchabsives that accept PayPal. We purchase the redesvedating to these consumer loans
extended by the issuing bank, and therefore bearigk of loss in the event of loan defaults. Likber businesses with significant exposure to
losses from consumer credit, the Bill Me Later garaces the risk that account holders will ddfanltheir payment obligations with respect
to the consumer loans, making the receivables leutillle and creating the risk of potential chaogis- The rate at which receivables were
charged off as uncollectible, or the net charge-ati, was approximately 4.81% and 4.46%, respalgtifor the years ended December 31,
2012 and 2011. The nonpayment rate among Bill MerLasers may increase due to, among other thimgsening economic conditions, such
as a recession or greater austerity in the U.8.hagh unemployment rates. Consumers who miss patgea their obligations often fail to
repay them, and consumers who file for protectioden the bankruptcy laws generally do not repay tredit.

We fund the purchase of receivables related toNBdILater accounts through borrowings and domestétinternational cash resources.
If we are unable to fund our purchase of receivabddéated to the Bill Me Later business adequateiy a cost-effective manner, the growth
and profitability of this business would be sigcé#intly and adversely affected.

Additionally, in providing the Bill Me Later sensg we face other risks similar to those faced byPRhdescribed elsewhere in these |
Factors, including under the captions “Governmequiries may lead to charges or penalties” an@ulf Payments business is found to be
subject to or in violation of any laws or regulaitso including those governing money transmissitetcteonic funds transfer, money laundering,
terrorist financing, sanctions, consumer protectimnking and lending, it could be subject to lihilicensure and regulatory approval and
may be forced to change its business practices.”

PayPal's retail point of sale solutions exposeaiadditional risks.

PayPal has recently announced several retail pbsle solutions, including PayPal Here, whichbdes merchants to use a card reader
attached to a mobile device (or to scan cards hadks using the device's embedded camera) to qoagptent, as well as in-store pilot
programs for new point of sale technologies, wihiakie been rolled out to certain retailers in th8.WAs PayPal continues to expand into point
of sale transactions, PayPal will face even greatpectations from offline retailers regarding takability and availability of its systems and
services and correspondingly lower amounts of dometPayPal's retail point of sale solutions mayp dle targeted by fraudsters; given that
our fraud models are less developed in this areanay experience increases in fraud and assodrateshction losses as we adjust to
fraudulent activity at the point of sale. The mamifiring and sale of a hardware product (the PayiBed device) exposes us to potential
product liability
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claims for which we could have substantial liakjliand could require product recalls or other axgtid?ayPal's point of sale solutions also may
subject us to increased exposure to other lawsemdations (e.g., export control regulations eflatb the shipment of the PayPal Here reade
across national borders). There is significant ostitipn at the retail point of sale, and there bamo assurance that merchants will adopt, or
consumers will use, PayPal's retail point of salat®ns. Retail point of sale transactions alseehlawer profit margins than PayPal's other
payment solutions. Unless we are able to drive golojpf, and significant volume through, our ref@ilint of sale solutions over time, our
business may suffer.

Changes in PayPal's funding mix could adverselgcafPayPal's results.

PayPal pays significant transaction fees when owsts fund payment transactions using credit cdodser fees when customers fund
payments with debit cards, nominal fees when custsrfund payment transactions by electronic trarefféunds from bank accounts, and no
fees when customers fund payment transactions &mexisting PayPal account balance or through thé&B Later service, or use buyer
credit issued by GE Money Bank. Customers fundyaiitant portion of PayPal's payment volume usiredit and debit cards, and PayPal's
financial success will remain highly sensitive tmnges in the rate at which its senders fund patamesing credit and debit cards. Customers
may prefer funding payment transactions using teadids or debit cards rather than bank accounsfieas for a number of reasons, including
the ability to dispute and reverse charges diregiliy their payment card provider if merchandiseas delivered or is not as described, the
ability to earn frequent flier miles, cash rebataspther incentives offered by payment card issuéie ability to defer payment, or a reluctance
to provide bank account information to PayPal.ddition, some of PayPal's offerings, including #idlity for buyers to make a limited numl
of payments without opening a PayPal account, bhavigher rate of payment card funding than PayBabg product offering. Some of
PayPal's plans to lower its funding costs, inclgdioth the Bill Me Later service and the ability fiuyers to defer payment for a short period
of time on some transactions, may increase theagiglayPal of nonpayment by buyers,

PayPal's failure to manage customer funds propeolyld harm its business.

PayPal's ability to manage and account accuratelgdstomer funds requires a high level of intenmadtrols. In some of the markets that
PayPal serves and currencies that PayPal offey®dPhas a limited operating history and limitegpenence in managing these internal
controls. As PayPal's business continues to griomvyust continue to strengthen its internal contemlsordingly. PayPal's success requires
significant public confidence in its ability to hdle large and growing transaction volumes and ansoaincustomer funds. Any failure to
maintain necessary controls or to manage customneisfaccurately could severely diminish customeraig®ayPal's products.

Systems failures and resulting interruptions in d@hailability of our websites, applications, prodsior services could harm our business

We have experienced system failures from timenb@ tiand any interruption in the availability of auebsites, applications, products or
services will reduce our current revenues and tafbuld harm our future revenues and profits@ndd subject us to regulatory scrutiny. Our
eBay.com website has been interrupted for periddp do 22 hours. In April 2012, technical systasmies resulted in eBay.com users being
unable to checkout on our sites for a period oésghvhours. Our PayPal website has suffered integntiunavailability for periods as long as
five days, including unavailability for approximteéhree hours affecting payments primarily on ebay.co.uk site in May 2011. Other of our
websites (e.g., StubHub, Milo and others), as agMvebsites of GSI clients and hosted serviceseauffey GSI's interactive marketing services
business, have experienced intermittent unavaialiibm time to time. Any unscheduled interruptimnour services results in an immediate,
and possibly substantial, loss of revenues, asasggllotential service credits or other payment&8Yyto its clients. Frequent or persistent
interruptions in our services could cause curremadential users to believe that our systems areliable, leading them to switch to our
competitors or to avoid our sites, and could pemndy harm our reputation and brands. Reliabiltparticularly critical for PayPal, which
faces increased expectations on the part of usersnerchants regarding the full-time availabiliffRayPal's services as it seeks to expand its
Merchant Services business and gain acceptante retail point of sale solutions. Because Pay$alregulated financial institution, frequent
or persistent site interruptions could lead to Sigant fines and penalties, or mandatory and gagibnges to PayPal's business practices, anc
ultimately could cause PayPal to lose existingnges it needs to operate or prevent it from obtgiadditional licenses that it needs to expanc
Finally, because many of our customers may us@mgucts for critical transactions, any systenufais could result in damage to our
customers and their businesses. These customddssamk significant compensation from us for thesises. Even if unsuccessful, this type of
claim likely would be time-consuming and costly te to address.

Although our systems have been designed aroundindstandard architectures to reduce downtimbéretvent of outages or
catastrophic occurrences, they remain vulnerabtiatoage or interruption from earthquakes, hurrisafieods,
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fires, power loss, telecommunication failures,dgdst attacks, cyber attacks, computer viruses,prder denial-of-service attacks, human error
hardware or software defects or malfunctions (iditig defects or malfunctions of components of gistesms that are supplied by third-party
service providers), and similar events or disrupidcome of our systems, including our Shopping.e@fsite and the systems related to the
Bill Me Later business, are not fully redundant] aur disaster recovery planning is not sufficiiemtall eventualities. Our systems are also
subject to break-ins, sabotage, and intentional @ictandalism. Despite any precautions we may, tifleeoccurrence of a natural disaster, a
decision by any of our third-party hosting provislés close a facility we use without adequate edkie financial or other reasons, or other
unanticipated problems at our hosting facilitiesldacause system interruptions and delays, andtriedoss of critical data and lengthy
interruptions in our services. We do not carry hass interruption insurance sufficient to compensatfor losses that may result from
interruptions in our service as a result of systaitnres.

If we are unable to cost-effectively upgrade angbex our websites, services and platforms, ourrtass would suffer.

We must constantly add new hardware, update saftesad add new engineering personnel to accommduaiacreased use of our
websites and platforms, and the new products eatdifes we regularly introduce. As our PayPal bissim®ntinues to grow and expand both ir
terms of geographies and product offerings (eayPRl's retail point of sale solutions), we areusmd on updating our PayPal platform to
provide increased scale, improved performance dddianal built-in functionality addressing reguag compliance matters (e.g., anti-money
laundering and terrorist financing). This upgradecgss is expensive and timensuming, and the increased complexity of our websnd th
need to support multiple platforms as our portfalidrands grows increases the cost of additionhdercements. Failure to upgrade our
technology, features, transaction processing systeeturity infrastructure, or network infrastruetin a timely and cost-effective manner to
accommodate increased traffic or transaction volamehanges to our site functionality could harmlousiness. Adverse consequences coulc
include unanticipated system disruptions, slowspoase times, degradation in levels of customepatpimpaired quality of users'
experiences of our services, impaired quality o¥ises for third-party application developers ustwug externally accessible application
programming interfaces and delays in reporting esteuinancial information, and could result in ttmer dissatisfaction and the loss of
existing users on our websites. We may be unaldéfeatively upgrade and expand our systems imalyi manner or smoothly integrate any
newly developed or purchased technologies or bes@gewith our existing systems, and any failurdotso could result in problems on our
sites. Further, steps to increase the reliability ®dundancy of our systems are expensive, cedigce our margins and may not be successfi
in reducing the frequency or duration of unschedalewntime.

Risks associated with our ongoing efforts to enkaartd unbundle the components of GSI's ecommertpayments platform and to
migrate GSlI's existing customers to its new platfare discussed in more detail under the captibouil GSI business is unable to enhance its
platform and migrate clients to its new platformaitimely and cost-effective manner, it would bbstantially harmed” above.

There are many risks associated with our interrmeicperations.

Our international expansion has been rapid andnt@mational business, especially in GermanyUti€ and Korea, has also become
critical to our revenues and profits. Net revenogiside the U.S. accounted for approximately 52%%8% of our net revenues in the years
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Expansion into international markets, such as atnyeénto Turkey in May 2011 upon the completionoair acquisition of additional
shares in GittiGidiyor and PayPal's entry into egiteg markets, is an increasing focus of our busin€gographical expansion requires
significant management attention and resourcesemares us to localize our services to conforfotal cultures, laws, regulations, standards
policies and practices. The commercial, finandrgkrnet, and transportation infrastructure in depimg countries may make it more difficult
for us to replicate our business models. Someaddhleveloping countries may have legal regimasioh the application of laws and
regulations in the online or mobile context is &abjto greater uncertainty, as well as a highaderce of corruption and fraudulent or
unethical business practices, than countries ithviie are historically accustomed to operatingnémy countries, we compete with local
companies that understand the local market bétter we do, and we may not benefit from first-to-kedadvantages. We may not be
successful in expanding into particular internagianarkets or in generating revenues from foreigerations. For example, in 2002 we
withdrew our eBay marketplace offering from thealagse market. In 2007, we contributed our busime€éina to a joint venture with a local
Chinese company; we terminated this joint ventar2d12. Even if we are successful in developing neskets, we often expect the costs of
operating new sites to exceed our net revenuesthose sites for at least 12 months in most coemtri
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As we continue to expand our businesses interratigrincluding through acquisitions and joint verds, we are increasingly subject to
risks of doing business internationally, includihg following:

e strong local competitor

e regulatory requirements, including regulatiorr@ernet and mobile services, auctioneering, msitmal selling, distance selling,
privacy and data protection, banking and moneystratting, that may limit or prevent the offeringaidir services in some
jurisdictions, prevent enforceable agreements bartveellers and buyers, prohibit the listing of aiercategories of goods, requ
product changes, require special licensure, subgtd various taxes, penalties or audits, or Ithettransfer of information between
us and our affiliates;

e customs and duties, including the possibilitgigiificant delays at the border due to custorapastions and the possibility that our
services may be viewed as facilitating customsdiaygovernmental authorities;

e greater liability or legal uncertainty regardiogr liability for the listings and other contembpided by our users, including
uncertainty as a result of unique local laws, dotiflg court decisions and lack of clear precederapplicable law;

« risks associated with cross-border transactimefyding those described under the risk factqtioa “Any factors that reduce cross-
border trade could harm our business,” above;

» potentially higher incidence of fraud and corruptand higher credit and transaction loss r

« cultural ambivalence towards, or naoeeptance of, trading or payments over the Intennéarough mobile device

* laws and business practices that favor local comopgior prohibit or limit foreign ownership of ¢am businesse

« difficulties in integrating with local paymentqviders, including banks, credit and debit cartivoeks and electronic fund transfer
systems;

» differing levels of retail distribution, shippingd Internet and mobile infrastructur

- different employee/employer relationships and ldbass, and the existence of workers' councils abdi unions

- difficulties in staffing and managing foreign opéwas;

e challenges associated with joint venture relatiggeshnd minority investments, including dependemteur joint venture partne

- difficulties in implementing and maintaining adetpuaternal control:

« longer payment cycles, different accounting prastiand greater problems in collecting accountsvalke

- potentially adverse tax consequences, includingl ltacxation of our fees or of transactions on oabsites

* higher Internet service provider or mobile netwopgerator cost

« differing intellectual property law

« different and more stringent consumer protecti@tagbrotection, privacy and other la

e seasonal reductions in business acti

e expenses associated with localizing our produatssanvices, including offering customers the apiiit transact business in the Ic
currency and adapting our products and servicexca preferences (e.g., payment methods) with wtie may have limited or no
experience;

« foreign exchange rate fluctuatio

e our ability to repatriate funds from abroad withadizerse tax consequent

« the possibility that foreign governments may impogaency controls or other restrictions on theateption of funds

< volatility in a specific country's or region'sljgical, economic or military conditions (e.g., Bouth Korea relating to North Korea);
and

« challenges associated with maintaining relatiorshijth local law enforcement and related agen

Some of these factors may cause our internatiasas ©f doing business to exceed our comparablesiintosts. As we expand our
international operations and have additional pogiof our international revenues denominated iaifpr currencies, we also could become
subject to increased difficulties in collecting aoots receivable and repatriating money withoueasly tax consequences, as well as increase
risks relating to foreign currency exchange ratetfiations. The impact of currency exchange ratetdltions on our business is discussed in
more detail under the caption “We are exposedutctdlations in currency exchange rates and inteagss” above.

Compliance with complex foreign and U.S. laws agglutations that apply to our international operaiocreases our cost of doing
business. These numerous and sometimes conflietivgyand regulations include internal control arstidsure rules, data privacy and filter
requirements, anti-corruption laws, such as theigarCorrupt Practices Act and U.K. Bribery Actdasther local laws prohibiting corrupt
payments to governmental officials, and antitruit a@ompetition regulations, among others. Violatiofthese laws and regulations could
result in fines and penalties, criminal sanctiogaimast us, our officers, or our employees, proltb# on the conduct of our business and on ot
ability to offer our products and services in
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one or more countries, and could also materiafigcafour brands, our international expansion effastir ability to attract and retain employz
our business, and our operating results. Althoughave implemented policies and procedures designedsure compliance with these laws
and regulations, there can be no assurance thanaployees, contractors, or agents will not viotaiepolicies.

In addition, we conduct certain functions, incluglproduct development, customer support and otberadions, in regions outside the
U.S., particularly in India and China. We are sabje both U.S. and local laws and regulationsiapple to our offshore activities, and any
factors which reduce the anticipated benefits aatet with providing these functions outside of th&., including cost efficiencies and
productivity improvements, could adversely affegt business.

We maintain a portion of Shopping.com's researchdmvelopment facilities and personnel in Israeti have acquired other Israeli
companies. Political, economic and military coratii in Israel affect those operations. Increaseatilli@s or terrorism within Israel or armed
hostilities between Israel and neighboring coustdeother entities could make it more difficult fes to continue our operations in Israel,
which could increase our costs. In addition, mahgur employees in Israel could be required to s@mthe military for extended periods of
time under emergency circumstances. Our Israeliatipas could be disrupted by the absence of enegloylue to military service, which co
adversely affect our business.

Acquisitions, joint ventures and strategic investtaeould result in operating difficulties, dilutipand other harmful consequences.

We have acquired a significant number of busingdeebnologies, services and products. We expemiritinue to evaluate and consider
a wide array of potential strategic transactionpars of our overall business strategy, includingibess combinations, acquisitions and
dispositions of businesses, technologies, serviresiucts and other assets, as well as strateggstiments and joint ventures. At any given
time we may be engaged in discussions or negatigtigth respect to one or more of these typesanfstictions. Any of these transactions
could be material to our financial condition anduls of operations.

These transactions involve significant challengebrésks. Some of the areas where we may face oislffficulties include:

« the need to integrate the operations, systemstugling accounting, management, information, hunegource and other
administrative systems), technologies, productspndonnel of each acquired company, which isfitseinherently risky process;
the inefficiencies and lack of control that mayule# such integration is delayed or not impleneshtand unforeseen difficulties &
expenditures that may arise in connection withgrdagon;

» diversion of management time, as well as a shiifbcus from operating the businesses to isseiasad to integration and
administration, particularly given the number, sirel varying scope of our recent acquisitions;

» declining employee morale and retention isseseslting from changes in, or acceleration of, comspéion, or changes in
management, reporting relationships, future praspec the direction of the business;

« the need to implemenbntrols, procedures and policies appropriate flarger public company at companies that priorcguisition
may have lacked such controls, procedures andigsiic

« risks associated with our expansion into newrimational markets and doing business internatipnatluding those described
under the risk factor caption “There are many re&sociated with our international operations” ahov

- difficulties in entering new markets where werdao or limited direct prior experience or wheoenpetitors may have stronger
market positions;

« inthe case of foreign acquisitions, the neemtiegrate operations across different cultureslanguages and to address the
particular economic, currency, political and regomga risks associated with specific countries;

« the potential loss of key customers, vendorsahdr business partners of the companies we actpliowing and continuing after
announcement of our acquisition plans;

e in some cases, the need to transition operatiGesswand customers onto our existing or new plats

« liability for activities of the acquired compabgfore the acquisition, including intellectual peoty and other litigation claims or
disputes, violations of laws, rules and regulatji@msnmercial disputes, tax liabilities and otheokn and unknown liabilities;

« the potential loss of key employees following tleguisition

» the acquisition of new customer and employesgral information, which in and of itself may reguiegulatory approval and or
additional controls, policies and procedures arjesit us to additional exposure; and
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« for investments in which an investee's resulisperations and financial condition are incorpedainto our financial statements,
either in full or in part, the dependence on thestiee's accounting, financial reporting and sinslestems, controls and processes.

It may take us longer than expected to fully reatize anticipated benefits, such as increased vevand enhanced efficiencies, of any or
all of our acquisitions, and those benefits maymately be smaller than anticipated or may notdagized at all, which could adversely affect
our business and operating results. Future aciuisitnay also require us to issue additional ecgetyurities, spend our cash, or incur debt
increased interest expense), liabilities and amatitin expenses related to intangible assets oewfis of goodwill, which could adversely
affect our results of operations and dilute theneooic and voting rights of our stockholders.

In addition, we have made certain investmentsuifioly through joint ventures, in which we have aonity equity interest and lack
management and operational control. The controjbimg venture partner in a joint venture investieray have business interests, strategi
goals that are inconsistent with ours, and busidesisions or other actions or omissions of theérodlimg joint venture partner or the joint
venture company may result in harm to our reputadioadversely affect the value of our investmarthie joint venture. Our strategic
investments may expose us to additional risks example, GSI's minority interest in Intershop Cominations AG is governed by German
law, which could subject us to liability for cemadisadvantages to Intershop if we were deemee io bontrol of Intershop under German Ii
We have also been sued by craigslist, which haged that we improperly misused confidential infation from craigslist that we received as
a minority investor. The complaint alleges breatbamtract, breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, unfe@mpetition and false advertising and seek:
compensatory and punitive damages, rescission thed elief.

Our ownership of GSI Commerce, Inc. exposes udddianal risks.

Our GSI business faces certain risks and challengeshared by our other businesses, includingetdescribed under the risk factor
captions “If our GSI business is unable to enhatscelatform and migrate clients to its new platfioin a timely and cost-effective manner, it
would be substantially harmed” and “Changes in l&gpns or user concerns regarding privacy andegtain of user data could adversely
affect our business.”

Competition for GSlI's existing and potential cleig intense, and our GSI business may not betalaldd new clients or keep existing
clients on favorable terms, or at all. For examplehange in the management of a GSI client callérzely affect our relationship with that
client. In addition, many of GSI's client contractsitain service level commitments. If our GSI bess is unable to meet these commitments
its relationships with its clients could be damaged client rights to terminate their contractdwG S| and/or financial penalty provisions
payable by GSI may be triggered. If any existind €@&nts (in particular, the large merchants arahbls that GSI serves) were to exit the
business we provide services to, be acquired, debknkruptcy, suffer other financial difficultidgjl to pay amounts owed to GSI and/or
terminate or modify their relationships with GSlamanner unfavorable to us, our GSI business dmildversely affected.

A portion of GSI's ecommerce services revenuelivee from the value of ecommerce transactionsftbat through GSI's ecommerce
services business. Accordingly, growth in GSI'snet@rce services revenue depends upon the contgroedh of the online businesses of its
clients. GSI's ecommerce services business maylistamtially impacted by any adverse conditionth@noffline businesses of a GSI client 1
negatively impact that client's online businesges. impairment of the offline business of GSI clignwhether due to financial difficulties,
impairment of client brands, reduction in marketaifprts, reduction in the number of client retires or otherwise, could negatively affect
consumer traffic and sales through GSI's cliengdsites, which would result in lower revenues geateer by our GSI business. Our GSI
business also relies on its clients' ability touaately forecast product demand and select andh®iinventory for their corresponding online
businesses. Under such arrangements, the cliextlissies product prices and pays GSI service fassdeither on a fixed or variable
percentage of revenues, or on the activity perfdimes a result, if GSI's clients fail to accuratédyecast product demand or optimize or
maintain access to inventory, the client's ecommbusiness (and, in turn, GSI's service fees) doelddversely affected.

Our GSI business holds some inventory on behats@commerce services customers. If GSI is unabédfectively manage and handle
this inventory, this may result in unexpected ctisés could adversely affect our GSI business. et of such inventory, or damage or
interruption to such inventory, including as a fesfiearthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fire, poless, labor disputes, terrorist attacks and
similar events and disruptions, could result irséssrelated to such inventory and disruptions tbs@&Bstomers' businesses, which could in
adversely affect our GSI business.
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Our GSI business processes personal informatidrebalf of its ecommerce services clients. The paisiaformation of customers of
certain websites operated by GSI's clients mayfalated under the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, the Helisurance Portability and
Accountability Act, the Children's Online Privacyolection Act, or other privacy laws and regulatioln some cases, GSI's use or disclost
that information may be restricted by contractealrts, laws and regulations, and any misuse or urified disclosure of that information co
negatively impact GSI and its clients.

GSl's interactive marketing services businessseain email marketing to drive consumer traffithi websites operated by its clients.
Email could become a less effective means of conirating with and marketing to consumers for a \gref reasons, including: problems
with technology that make GSI's email communicatiorore difficult to deliver and for consumers tadde.g., the inability of smart phones ol
similar communication devices to adequately disgliaail); consumers may disregard marketing emaistd the large volume of such emails
they receive; the inability of filters to effectiyescreen for unwanted emails, resulting in incegblgvels of junk mail, or “SPAM,” which may
overwhelm consumer's email accounts; increasedfusacial networking sites, which may result in gased use of email as a primary mean:
of communication; continued security concerns reigar Internet usage in general from viruses, woomsimilar problems; and increased
governmental regulation or restrictive policies pteol by Internet service providers that make itendifficult or costly to utilize email for
marketing communications. If any of our GSI ensitigere to end up on SPAM lists or lists of entitiest have been involved in sending
unwanted, unsolicited emails, their ability to amitcustomers through email could be significargbtricted. If any of the foregoing were to
occur, the demand for GSI's email marketing sohgticould decrease and our GSI business could beedaiGSI's interactive marketing
services business also utilizes mobile messagignasans of communicating with consumers, whichiesrisks similar to those described
above for email marketing.

Our GSI business has relationships with searchnesgcomparison shopping sites, affiliate marketarsne advertising networks and
other websites to provide content, advertising kasiand other links to its clients’ ecommerce lessias, and GSl relies on these relationship.
as significant sources of traffic to its clientsbmmerce businesses. If we are unable to mairtiagetrelationships or enter into new
relationships on acceptable terms, our abilityttcaat new customers could be harmed.

Immediately following our acquisition of GSI, eBagld 100% of GSI's sports merchandise busines§@¥dof its RueLalLa and
ShopRunner businesses (which we refer to colldgta® the divested entities), to Kynetic LLC, whiwek refer to as Kynetic. Kynetic is
primarily owned by GSI's former Chairman, Presidamd Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Michael Rubin.dBeof the divested entities was a
direct or indirect whollyswned subsidiary of GSI Commerce. In connectiom{dind as a result of) the divestiture to Kynedia, GSI busines
maintains certain commercial and financial reladitips with the divested entities which expose itddain risks of the businesses of Kynetic
and the divested entities.

As part of the Kynetic divestiture, we loaned Kyoeind the divested entities $467 million, whiclsézured by certain assets of the
divested entities. Kynetic and the divested eitility to repay this obligation is dependentloa financial performance of Kynetic and the
divested entities. If Kynetic is unable to repaig thbligation, our results of operations and firiahcondition could be harmed.

Finally, our GSI business is also party to certiguisition agreements relating to entities puretidsy GSI prior to our acquisition, and
which relate to businesses owned by the divestétiesn Kynetic has agreed to indemnify GSI fortaar liabilities incurred by GSI under the
acquisition agreements. If such liabilities weralimed and Kynetic was not able or willing to miggtindemnification obligations, GSI would
be liable for them and its business could be harmed

Our tickets business is subject to regulatory, cetitipe, and other risks that could harm this besis.

Our tickets business, which includes our StubHufinmss, is subject to numerous risks. Many jurtgatis have anti-scalping laws and
regulations covering the resale of event ticketen& jurisdictions prohibit the resale of event ¢iskat prices above the face value of the ticke
or at all, or highly regulate the resale of ticketsd new laws and regulations or changes to egitdiws and regulations imposing these or ¢
restrictions may be adopted that could limit oiiliithour ability to operate, or our users' abilitycontinue to use, our tickets business.

Regulatory agencies or courts may claim or hold weaare responsible for ensuring that our usensptp with these laws and regulatic
or that we or our users are either subject to finem or prohibited from reselling event ticketshair jurisdictions. In October 2007, two
plaintiffs filed a purported class action lawsumitNorth Carolina Superior Court alleging that Stubt$old (and facilitated and participated in
the sale) of concert tickets to plaintiffs with tkiowledge that the tickets were resold in violatid North Carolina's maximum ticket resale
price law (which has been subsequently amended). In
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February 2011, the trial court granted plaintiff®tion for summary judgment, concluding that imntyninder the Communications Decency
Act did not apply. The trial court further held tf&tubHub violated the North Carolina unfair andejgive trade practices statute as it perte
to the two named plaintiffs, and certified its dgan for immediate appeal to the North Carolina €otiAppeals. In February 2012, the North
Carolina Court of Appeals overturned the lower €ewdecision. The Court of Appeals decision is fiimal. Similar actions are pending in ot
states. Laws and regulations governing the redagemt tickets outside the U.S. (for example, imdpe) may be more restrictive, and carry
harsher penalties and fines, than correspondinglél8 and regulations. In 2012, France passed afahibiting the habitual resale of event
tickets without permission from the event organizeraddition, the unauthorized resale of footfsticcer) tickets is illegal in the U.K., wher
StubHub site was launched in 2011.

Some event organizers and professional sports thamesexpressed concern about the resale of Wit éckets on our sites. Suits
alleging a variety of causes of actions have inptest, and may in the future, be filed against Buiband eBay by venue owners, competitors,
ticket buyers and unsuccessful ticket buyers. $itigation could result in damage awards, coulduiegjus to change our business practices ir
ways that may be harmful to our business, or cotlidrwise negatively affect our tickets business.

Our tickets business is subject to seasonal fltictusiand the general economic and business congdithat impact the sporting events
and live entertainment industries. The economicrdawm resulted in a decrease in ticket prices saldur sites and negatively impacted
revenue and profits. In addition, a work stoppagygke or lockout by a professional sports leagoedxample, the National Hockey League
lockout that ended in January 2013) that resultiéncancellation of all or a portion of the garrea league's season would harm our tickets
business. In addition, a portion of the ticketseimory sold by sellers on the StubHub website ée@ssed by StubHub in digital form. Systems
failures, security breaches, theft or other disomst that result in the loss of such sellers' tiskeventory could materially harm our tickets
business.

Our tickets business also faces significant cortipatfrom a number of sources, including ticketsggvice companies (such as Live
Nation Entertainment/Ticketmaster, Com-Spectacor and Tickets.com), event organizers (aagirofessional sports teams and leagues),
ticket brokers and online and offline ticket resed| such as TicketsNow (which is owned by Liveiddi@Entertainment) and RazorGator. In
addition, some ticketing service companies and tewgganizers have begun to issue event ticketsitfiroarious forms of electronic ticketing
systems that are designed to restrict or proHikitttansferability (and by extension, the resaleuch event tickets. Ticketing service
companies have also begun to use market-basedgstiategies or dynamic pricing to charge muchdrigrices than they historically have
for premium tickets. Besides charging higher pritiesse ticketing service companies have also isgbaslditional restrictions on
transferability for these types of tickets, suchiexpuiring customers to pick up these tickets #taegill with the purchasing credit card. To the
extent that event tickets issued in this mannenagbe resold on our websites, or to the extentwiegsare otherwise unable to effectively
compete with these competitors, our tickets busimesuld be harmed. Pursuant to commercial arrangtsméth certain of its partners,
StubHub provides some of its sellers with the gbith conduct integrated resale transactions, wbaisumers may prefer due to, among othe
factors, quicker delivery and lower fraud conceffifsese integrations are largely deal-dependentiteagk arrangements may not be renewed
on favorable terms, or at all.

Our StubHub business receives funds directly froyebs for tickets purchased from sellers, and syesatly pays the sellers upon
shipment of the tickets. Intermediation of trangatt between buyers and sellers could potentialyject StubHub to licensure requirements,
laws and regulatory oversight in certain jurisdios, which may harm our ticket business.

We depend on key personnel.

Our future performance depends substantially orctmtinued services of our senior management amat &y personnel and our ability
to retain and motivate them. We do not have lomgrtemployment agreements with any of our key persband do not maintain any “key
person” life insurance policies, and some membEasiosenior management team have fully vestediéise majority of their in-the-money
equity incentives. The loss of the services of ahgur executive officers or other key employeeslddarm our business.

Our businesses all depend on attracting and ratakey personnel. Our future success will dependwrability to attract, train, retain
and motivate highly skilled technical, managemaérketing and customer support personnel. Competitir these personnel is intense,
especially in the Silicon Valley where our corperbeadquarters are located, and we may be unabletessfully attract, integrate, or retain
sufficiently qualified personnel. In making emplognt decisions, particularly in the Internet anchkigchnology industries, job candidates
often consider the value of the equity awards thieyld receive in connection with their employméfitictuations in our stock price may make
it more difficult to retain and motivate employees.
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Problems with or price increases by third partidsonprovide services to us or to our users couldhaur business.

A number of parties provide services to us or tousers that benefit us. Such services includers&bls that automate and manage
listings, merchant tools that manage listings amerface with inventory management software, storg§ that help our users list items, cacl
services that make our sites load faster and gigpgmioviders that deliver goods sold on our platfoamong others. In some cases we have
contractual agreements with these companies thatus a direct financial interest in their success|e in other cases we have none. PayPal |
dependent on the processing companies and bartdgthBRayPal to the payment card and bank cleangtgvorks. Similarly, Bill Me Later
relies on an unaffiliated lender in providing thi#l Ble Later service and also relies heavily orrdiparties to operate its services, including
merchant processors and payment gateways to proeesactions. In addition, GSI utilizes unafféidtpayment processing companies to
process transactions on the websites operated By @iSnts, third parties to provide underlyingmaonents of its ecommerce platform, and
third parties in its operations business to perfeenvices during peak order volume periods. Firddmeiregulatory issues, labor issues (e.g.,
strikes, lockouts or work stoppages) or other proid that prevent these companies from providingces to us or our users could reduce the
number of listings on our sites, make it more diffi for users to complete transactions on our vtebsind mobile platforms, or adversely
affect GSlI's ability to timely fulfill and ship pduoicts sold on the websites operated by GSI's slievttich would harm our business.

Price increases by, or service terminations, digvap or interruptions at, companies that provielvises to our users and clients (such a
postal and delivery services, as well as our régéainched global shipping platform intended toilitate cross-border transactions between
buyers and sellers) could also reduce the numbléstiofigs on our websites or make it more diffidialt our sellers to complete transactions or
for us to timely fulfill and ship products sold tme websites operated by GSI's clients, therebmimar our business. Some third parties who
provide services to us may have or gain market pawve be able to increase their prices to us witbompetitive constraint. In addition, the
U.S. Postal Service has announced that it is cerisgl closing thousands of local post offices andirg Saturday mail delivery. While we
continue to work with global carriers to offer @allers a variety of shipping options and to enkama shipping experience, these closures
could require certain sellers to utilize alternatiwhich could be more expensive or inconveniehighvcould in turn decrease the velocity of
trade on our site, thereby harming our businesy. s&turity breach at a company providing servioesur users could also adversely affect
customers and harm our business. We have outsocectin functions to third-party providers, indiugl some customer support and product
development functions, which are critical to ouergiions. If our service providers do not perfoatisactorily, our operations could be
disrupted, which could result in user dissatistattnd adversely affect our velocity of trade, bess, reputation and operating results.

Although we generally have been able to renew terekthe terms of contractual arrangements witlf, ecessary replace, third parties
who provide services to us on acceptable termse tten be no assurance that we will continue talbe to do so in the future. If any third
parties were to stop providing services to us aeptable terms, including as a result of bankrugtoy to poor economic conditions, we may
be unable to procure alternatives from other thadies in a timely and efficient manner and oreatable terms, or at all. In addition, there
be no assurance that third parties who provideaeEsdirectly to our users will continue to do spazceptable terms, or at all.
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Customer complaints or negative publicity about oustomer support or anti-fraud measures could dishi use of our services.

Customer complaints or negative publicity about@customer support could severely diminish conswoafidence in and use of our
services. Measures that we sometimes take to comskatof fraud and breaches of privacy and sechat/e the potential to damage relations
with our customers or decrease activity on ousdite making our sites more difficult to use or riesing the activities of certain users. These
measures heighten the need for prompt and acotuatemer support to resolve irregularities and utisp. Effective customer support requires
significant personnel expense, and if not managepaply, this expense could significantly impact profitability. Failure to manage or train
our own or outsourced customer support represgasafiroperly could compromise our ability to hantlistomer complaints effectively.
Negative publicity about, or negative experiencéh veustomer support for any of our businessesdcoause our reputation to suffer or aff
consumer confidence in our brands individually ®aavhole. Because PayPal is providing a finarsgatice and operating in a more regulate
environment, PayPal must provide both telephoneeamail customer support and resolve certain custaomacts within shorter time frames.
As part of PayPal's program to reduce fraud loasesprevent money laundering and terrorist finagiciteyPal may temporarily restrict the
ability of customers to withdraw their funds if gefunds or the customer's account activity aretified by PayPal's risk models as suspicious
PayPal has in the past received negative publidity respect to its customer support and accoustticions, and has been the subject of
purported class action lawsuits and state attogeeneral inquiries alleging, among other thingdufaito resolve account restrictions promptly.
In the second quarter of 2010, two putative clag®a lawsuits (Devinda Fernando and Vadim TsigdPayPal, Inc.; and Moises Zepeda v.
PayPal, Inc.) were filed in the U.S. District Coft the Northern District of California. These Iswits contain allegations that PayPal
improperly held users' funds or otherwise impropénhited user's accounts. These lawsuits seek damas well as changes to PayPal's
practices among other remedies. A determinationttiegie have been violations of laws relating tgHRa's practices could expose PayPal to
significant liability. Any changes to PayPal's giees resulting from these lawsuits could requiagfPal to incur significant costs and to exp
product resources, which could delay other plarpreduct launches or improvements and further harmbasiness. If PayPal is unable to
provide quality customer support operations in st-effective manner, PayPal's users may have megatperiences, PayPal may receive
additional negative publicity, its ability to atttanew customers may be damaged and it could besabject to additional litigation. As a
result, current and future revenues could suftesés could be incurred and its operating margmsadecrease.

Our industries are intensely competitive.
Marketplaces

Our Marketplaces businesses currently and potgntiampete with a wide variety of online and oféisompanies providing goods and
services to consumers and merchants. The Intendemabile networks provide new, rapidly evolvinglantensely competitive channels for
the sale of all types of goods and services. Oukbtplaces businesses compete in two-sided makadsmnust attract both buyers and sellers
to use our platforms. Consumers who purchase bgsetls and services through our Marketplaces lbssis have more and more alternative
and merchants have more channels to reach consuersxpect competition to continue to intensifyli@e and offline businesses
increasingly are competing with each other. Theidato entry into these channels can be low, arginesses easily can launch online sites ¢
mobile applications at nominal cost by using conuiadly available software or partnering with anyaofiumber of successful ecommerce
companies.

Consumers who might use our site to buy goods hawigle variety of alternatives, including the vastjority of traditional department,
warehouse, boutique, discount and general mercbausthres (as well as the online and mobile opearsif these traditional retailers), online
retailers and their related mobile offerings, oaland offline classified services, and other shogpphannels such as offline and online home
shopping networks. In the U.S., these include WakiMTarget, Sears, Macy's, JC Penney, Costcocéffepot, Staples, OfficeMax, Sam's
Club, Amazon.com (which continues to expand inte geographies and lines of business), Buy.com (ovinyeRakuten), Yahoo! Shopping,
MSN, QVC and Home Shopping Network, among otheraddition, consumers have a large number of omlimteoffline channels focused on
one or more of the categories of products offeredur site.

Consumers also can turn to many companies that @ffariety of services that provide other chanfaibuyers to find and buy items
from sellers of all sizes, including online aggregaand classifieds websites such as craigshsivfiich we own a minority equity stake),
Oodle.com and a number of international websitesatpd by Schibsted ASA. Consumers also can tushdpping-comparison sites, such as
Google Shopping and Bing Shopping. In certain miatkaur fixed-price listing and traditional auctistyle listing formats increasingly are
being challenged by other formats, such as clasksfi
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Our classifieds websites, including Den Bla AvidB&sen, eBay Classifieds (including eBay AnunciBay Kleinanzeigen and eBay
international markets. In many markets in whichytbperate, including in the U.S., our classifiedtfurms compete against more established
online and offline classifieds platforms.

Our online shopping comparison site, Shopping.aaympetes with sites such as Google Shopping, Bimgp@ng, Buy.com,
Nextag.com, Pricegrabber.com, Shopzilla, Buscapé&im America (owned by Naspers) and Yahoo! Pro@garch, which offer shoppit
search engines that allow consumers to searcintémet for specified products. In addition, sellare increasingly utilizing multiple sales
channels, including the acquisition of new custamsr paying for search-related advertisements ozdrtal search engine sites such as Bing
Google, Yahoo!, Naver and Baidu. We use produattkeangines and paid search advertising to helsdse our sites, but these services :
have the potential to divert users to other ondinepping destinations. Consumers may choose totséarproducts and services with a
horizontal search engine instead of our sites hamizontal search engines may send users to dilopping destinations instead of our sites.

Consumers and merchants who might use our sitgalltgoods also have many alternatives, includiergegal online ecommerce sites
such as Amazon and Etsy, and more specialized €itesinternational sites also compete for selgth general online ecommerce sites such
as: Amazon, Rakuten.de, Quelle and Otto in Germlaglgoncoin.fr and PriceMinister (owned by Rakutienfrrance; Taobao in China; Tradus
(owned by Naspers) in Poland; Yahkowno in Taiwan; Lotte, Naver and 11th Street in Bokiorea; Trading Post, OZtion and Aussie Bidde
Australia; and Amazon and Play.com (owned by RaRutethe United Kingdom and other countries. Caltess may choose to sell their gos
through other channels, such as classifieds €®ssumers and merchants also can create andreeifjththeir own sites, and may choose to
purchase online advertising instead of using otrices. In some countries, there are online shiashave larger customer bases and greater
brand recognition than we do, as well as compatiioat may have a better understanding of locéiliczibnd commerce than we do. As our
businesses in developing countries grow, we inanghsmay compete with domestic competitors thatehadvantages we do not possess, suc
as a greater ability to operate under local reguyatiuthorities.

The principal competitive factors for Marketpladesiude the following:
» ability to attract, retain and engage buyers aifidrse
« volume of transactions and price and selectiornoofdg
» trustin the seller and the transact
*  customer service; a
e brand recognitiol

With respect to our online and mobile competitiadditional competitive factors include:
e community cohesion, interaction and s
e website or mobile application easeusfe and accessibilil
e system reliability
< reliability of delivery and paymet
* level of service fees; a
e quality of search tool

We may be unable to compete successfully agaimsgrtuand future competitors. Some current andrpisiecompetitors have longer
operating histories, larger customer bases andagrbeand recognition in other business and Intesaetors than we do. Other online
ecommerce sites may be acquired by, receive inegtnirom, or enter into other commercial relatiops with well-established and well-
financed companies. As a result, some of our coopetvith other revenue sources may be able totewmore resources to marketing and
promotional campaigns, adopt more aggressive gripolicies and devote more resources to websitejlenapplication and systems
development than we can. Some of our competitossaffar or continue to offer free shipping, favol@beturn policies or other transaction-
related services which improve the user experiemctheir sites and which could be impractical @fficient for eBay sellers to match. Our
competitors may be able to innovate faster thacave and new technologies may further increasedh®etitive pressures by enabling our
competitors to offer more efficient or lower-cost\dces. Our competitors may be able to use tharstdges of brick-and-mortar stores or othe
sorts of physical presence.

In addition, certain manufacturers may limit orsedistribution of their products through onlin@chels such as eBay. Manufacturers
may attempt to use existing or future governmegiiigion to prohibit or limit online commerce inrtan categories of goods or services.
Manufacturers may also attempt to enforce minimesale price maintenance or minimum advertised @nicEngements to prevent distribut
from selling on our websites or on the Internetegatty, or at prices that
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would make our site attractive relative to othéeraatives. For example, in June 2012, Adidas Geouppunced that it intends to restrict its
dealers, on a global basis, from listing and sglididas and Reebok products on sites includingye®an, and Nike Inc. and ASICS Corp.
have taken steps to similarly restrict Interne¢salf their products on platform sites such as efay. The adoption by manufacturers of
policies, or the adoption of new laws or regulation interpretations of existing laws or regulasidny government authorities, in each case
discouraging or restricting the sales of goodseovises over the Internet, could force eBay usetdp selling certain products on our
websites. Increased competition or dnternet distribution policies or regulations magult in reduced operating margins, loss of maskate
and diminished value of our brands. As we resporzhtinges in the competitive environment, we m@aynftime to time, make pricing, serv
or marketing decisions or acquisitions that magdeatroversial with and lead to dissatisfaction agneame of our sellers, which could reduce
activity on our websites and harm our profitability

Although we receive Internet traffic from severige online services and search engine providersetarrangements may not continue
on favorable terms or these companies may decigeotnote competitive services. In any event, sutdingements may not result in increasec
usage of our sites. In addition, companies thatroboser access to transactions through netwarkss; Internet browsers, mobile networks,
operating systems or search engines could pronusteampetitors, channel current or potential usetseir vertically integrated electronic
commerce sites or their advertisers' sites, atteémpstrict access to our sites, or charge usantial fees for inclusion. For example, Google
increasingly may steer its users to its own sadsgrsely affecting traffic to our sites. Searchires increasingly are becoming a starting poin
for online shopping, and as the costs of operatimgnline store continue to decline, online selfeay increasingly sell goods through multiple
channels, which could reduce the number and vdltramsactions these sellers conduct through ¢es.si

PayPal

The markets for PayPal's products and servicemtesely competitive and are subject to rapidnetbgical change, including but not
limited to: mobile payments, electronic funds tf@nsietworks allowing Internet access, cross-boadeess to payment networks, creation of
new payment networks, and new technologies forlergamerchants, both online and offline, to proceagments more simply. PayPal faces
competition and potential competition from existmmgine, mobile and offline payment methods, inahgd among others:

» providers of traditional payment methods, paitidy credit and debit cards, checks, money ordatcsAutomated Clearing House
transactions (these providers are primarily wetbelished banks);

» providers of “digital wallets” which offer custeers the ability to pay online or on mobile devite®ugh a variety of payment
methods, including Visa's V.me, American ExpreSgs/e, Google Wallet and the recently announced:ivert Customer
Exchange (MCX) initiative supported by Walmart, getrand other major U.S. retailers;

* payment-card processors that offer their sesvioanerchants, including Square, Chase PaymerfigshData, Wells Fargo,
WorldPay, Barclays Merchant Services, Global Payménc., and Stripe, and payment gateways, inolydyberSource and
Authorize.net (both owned by Visa), Braintree amdtfData;

« Amazon Payments, which offers merchants thétalbd accept credit card- and bank-funded paym&ota Amazon's base of
online and mobile customers on the merchant's owlsite; and

e providers of mobile payments, including I1SISte U.S., Buyster in France, Mpass in Germany, Wevee U.K., Boku, Venmo
(acquired by Braintree) and Crandy, many of which@vned by or supported by major mobile carriers.

PayPal also faces competition and potential corigetirom:

e money remitters such as MoneyGram, Western Unidoh& Payments, Inc. and Eurot

< bill payment services, including CheckFree, a dibsy of Fiserv

e services that provide online merchants the tgltii offer their customers the option of paying poirchases from their bank account
or paying on credit, including ClearXchange (a jai@nture among Wells Fargo, Bank of America andAdiPjgan Chase), Western
Union's WU Pay, Dwolla, Acculynk, TeleCheck (a sdi@y of First Data), IDEAL in the Netherlands,fS8duberweisung in
Germany and the recently-announced MyBank pan-Eaojnitiative;

e issuers of stored value targeted at online paymartisiding NetSpend, Green Dot, PayNearMe and b

« online payment-services providers such as Aliftay PayU group of companies (owned by Naspeeg)SBguro, Bcash (owned by
Naspers) and Klarni

« other providers of online account-based paymesutsh as Skrill, ClickandBuy (owned by Deutschéekem), Barclays Pingit in the
U.K., Kwixo in France, and Paymate and Visa PayQlicAustralia;
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e payment services targeting users of social netwankkonline gaming, including PlaySpan (owned bsay, Boku and Bang

e payment services enabling banks to offer theiine banking customers the ability to send aneéikecpayments through their bank
account, including ZashPay from Fiserv and Popmdrmy CashEdge (recently acquired by Fiserv), lmdtiwhich have announced
collaboration agreements with Visa; and

< online shopping services that provide specidreflinked to a specific payment provider, sucWea's RightClig, MasterCard
MarketPlace, TrialPay and Tapjoy.

Some of these competitors have longer operatirtgrigs, significantly greater financial, technicalarketing, customer service and other
resources, greater brand recognition, or a largse lof customers than PayPal, and may be alsddéodbverage other affiliated businesses
for competitive advantage. PayPal's competitors beagble to innovate and respond to new or emetgitinologies and changes in customel
requirements faster and more effectively than Plyitane of these competitors may also be subjdestburdensome licensing, anti-money
laundering, counteterrorist financing and other regulatory requiretsghan PayPal, which is subject to additional l&tions based on, amo
other factors, its licensure as a bank in Luxemfpolihey may devote greater resources to the dewalofy promotion, and sale of products
services than PayPal, and they may offer lowerpri€or example, Google previously has offeredgaanents processing on transactions in
amounts proportionate to certain advertising spandiith Google. We also expect new entrants, ssdii@X, to offer competitive products
and services. In addition, some merchants prouida services to themselves. Competing serviceddiedtablished banks and other financial
institutions may offer greater liquidity and engendreater consumer confidence in the safety diwhe§ of their services than PayPal. In
addition, in certain countries, such as Germanyh&ltands and Australia, electronic funds tranisfer leading method of payment for both
online and offline transactions. In the U.K., theyfents Council has announced that mobile payntettgeen bank accounts will be broadly
available beginning in 2014. As in the U.S., estdlgld banks and other financial institutions thahdt currently offer online payments could
quickly and easily develop such a service.

The principal competitive factors for PayPal inadutie following:
< ability to attract, retain and engage both buyers sellers with relatively low marketing exper
e ability to show that sellers will achieve incremedrgales by offering PayP
e security of transactions and the ability for buytersise PayPal without sharing their financial infation with the selle
« low fees and simplicity of fee structu
» ability to develop services across multiple comrearicannels, including mobile payments and paymnaritse physical point of sa
e trustin PayPal's dispute resolution and buyersahiér protection prograrn
e customer service; a
* brand recognitiol

With respect to our online competition, additionampetitive factors include:
* website and mobile application onboarding, ezfsgse and accessibilii
e system reliability
e data security; ar
e quality of developer tools such as our ApplicatRnegramming Interfaces and Software Developmerst

Some of PayPal's competitors, such as Wells F&igst, Data, American Express and Royal Bank ofl@od, also provide processing or
foreign exchange services to PayPal. If PayPal weeseek to expand the financial products thafférs, either alone or through a commercial
alliance or an acquisition, these processing areldn exchange relationships could be negativdéblcédd, or these competitors and other
processors could make it more difficult for Payt®adieliver its services.

GSI

Our GSI business segment has two main businessasneerce services and interactive marketing sesvice
Ecommerce Services

The market for the development and operation ofreaerce services that enable companies to operateneerce businesses and integ
their ecommerce businesses into their multicharetall offerings is continuously evolving and insefy competitive. In our ecommerce
services business, we face competition from in-B@emmerce solutions, technology and service geosiwhich supply one or more
components of an ecommerce solution, and otheiigeos/of integrated ecommerce solutions. Many ofpsaspective ecommerce services
clients evaluate managing all or some aspects of
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an ecommerce operation with internal resources esult, we often compete with in-house solutjiprenoted and supported by internal
information technology staffs, merchandising grougrsl other internal corporate constituencies dsasavith technology and service
providers that supply one or more components efcammerce solution that allow prospective clieatddvelop and operate their ecommerce
business in-house. This group of providers mayihelthe prospective client itself and companietdffar: Web platforms (e.g., Art
Technology Group (owned by Oracle), IBM, Amazonniaemdware and Microsoft); customer care/call ceseevices (e.g., West
Communications, Amazon, Sykes Enterprises, and &ugyse); fulfillment and logistics (e.g., PFS Webmazon, Innotrac, DHL, and UPS);
and systems integrators and technology providegs, (g&ccenture, EDS, Sapient, Infosys, Oracle &id)!

We believe that we compete with ecommerce serdoawpetitors primarily on the basis of the following
- offering the choice of a complete integratedisoh or a componeriased solutiol
e promoting the client's brand and business, ratier bur owr
e providing scale and operating leverage with anrenise focus
e establishing a commitment to invest in and enhaneelatform; an
< aligning our financial interests with those of @lients

Interactive Marketing Services

The market for interactive marketing services isttmously evolving and intensely competitive. b interactive marketing services
business, we face competition from other providéiateractive marketing services, other providefrfraditional marketing services and in-
house marketing departments, as our prospectigeaictive marketing services clients evaluate manggtiieir marketing services with internal
resources as well as through interactive marketgencies. As a result, we often compete with insk@olutions promoted and supported by
internal marketing departments as well as withisergroviders that supply one or more interactiakating services. This group of providers
may include the prospective client itself and coniea that offer: email management and data aggoeg@.g., Experian, Harte-Hanks and
Epsilon); online marketing and design servicesif@ignarketing services agencies such as Omnicoou@G\WPP Group, Publicis and the
Interpublic Group of Companies); and other intavaciarketing services (e.g., Google, LinkSharenesvby Rakuten), TradeDoubler, and
ValueClick). Low barriers to entry in the interagtimarketing industry could also increase the nurobeompetitors our interactive marketing
services business may face.

We believe that we compete with interactive marigegervices competitors primarily on the basisheffollowing:
- offering digital marketing solutions that aréeigrated with our ecommerce services platform, Wwiie believe provides a more
strategic, cohesive and optimized approach to grgwcommerce businesses; and
e providing services that utilize proprietary tecto@y to promote stronger customer engagement designacrease clients' return
investment.

Our ecommerce services and interactive marketingcss businesses have competitors with longeradipgy histories, larger customer
bases, greater brand recognition and greater fialamearketing and other resources. Those compstit@y be able to secure components of
their technology and services on more favorabimsesind devote more resources to technology developamd marketing than our
ecommerce services and interactive marketing ses\bcisiness. In addition, as we expand our econenservices and interactive marketing
services businesses internationally, we will fazgéased competition from global and local companikich may have a greater understan
of, and focus on, the local customer. Lastly, asoomrent and prospective clients seek a largdsajlpresence and target new markets abroad
we increasingly will compete with ecommerce servicempetitors on the basis of our internationahaoerce solutions.
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We are subject to regulatory activity and antitrlisgjation under competition laws.

We receive scrutiny from various government agenaigder U.S. and foreign competition laws. Somisqictions also provide private
rights of action for competitors or consumers teegisclaims of anttompetitive conduct. Other companies and govern@mageancies have in t
past and may in the future allege that our actisolsite the antitrust or competition laws of theSU.individual states, the European
Commission, or other countries, or otherwise ctutgtiunfair competition. Contractual agreementéwityers, sellers, or other companies
could give rise to regulatory action or antitruggation. Also, our unilateral business practicesld give rise to regulatory action or antitrust
litigation. Some regulators, particularly thosesidé of the U.S., may perceive our business to Bavauch market power that otherwise
uncontroversial business practices could be deantcompetitive. For example, in the U.S., we hiagen sued by a plaintiff representing a
putative class of sellers who alleges that we lilfegally monopolized a market for online auctiohsKorea, the national competition autha
has investigated allegations that we have engag#iégal exclusive conduct and rendered a deciagpinst us in October 2010. The main «
was conclusively resolved in our favor, and a sgladministrative action is on appeal. A furthemeistigation was concluded by the Seoul
prosecutor's office, which chose not to bring angrges. The competition authorities in Germany Anstralia have conducted investigations
(now completed) of various actions taken by ouililesses. Such claims and investigations, evertlifout foundation, typically are very
expensive to defend, involve negative publicity andstantial diversion of management time and gféord could result in significant
judgments against us or require us to change ainéss practice:

In several jurisdictions, we have taken actionsgiesl to improve the security of transactions deddquality of the user experience on
websites and mobile platforms. Beginning in Jun@&@ve have required users in the U.K. to offerFRdyas a payment alternative on most
transactions on our localized U.K. site, and si@céober 2008, we have required sellers on eBaytoomecept one or more accepted payment
methods (currently PayPal, credit or debit card@e@ssed through Internet merchant accounts, Pr&@Rayl, (formerly known as
Moneybookers) and Paymate) and no longer allowfamys of paper payment, including checks and mamegrs, to be listed by sellers in the
U.S. for most categories of items. While thesdatiites are intended to improve and make safeusars' buying experience and/or increase
activity on our sites, certain users may be neghtiaffected by or react negatively to these changed may allege that we have (and are
abusing) market power. We have faced inquiries fgmvernment regulators in various jurisdictiongtetl to such actions. For example, in
2008, both the Australian Competition and ConsuBmnmission and the Reserve Bank of Australia regteaur policies requiring sellers to
offer PayPal as a payment alternative on mostaeimns on our localized Australian website anctjpiding sellers from imposing a surcharge
or any other fee for accepting PayPal or other atrmethods. We may face similar inquiries fromeotipovernment regulators in the future.
Negative reactions to these changes by our useyewarnment authorities could, among other thifgse us to change our operating pract
in ways that could harm our business, operatinglieand profitability.

Our business may be adversely affected by fadt@tschuse our users to spend less time on our vesbsi mobile applications,
including seasonal factors, national events anddased usage of other websites.

Anything that diverts our users from their custoynlavel of usage of our websites or mobile appiaret could adversely affect our
business. We would therefore be adversely affdayegeopolitical events such as war, the threataf wr terrorist activity, and natural
disasters, such as hurricanes or earthquakes.a8iynibur results of operations historically haxperienced seasonal fluctuations because
many of our users reduce their activities on oupsites with the onset of good weather during threreer months, and on and around national
holidays. In addition, our GSI business is highdasonal, with the fourth quarter holiday seasooaaiing for a disproportionate amount of
GSI's net revenues due to consumers increasingpiieihases and businesses increasing their aglagrtd consumers during that period, and
any factors that limit or dampen consumer spendiming the fourth quarter holiday season could hanmGSI business. In addition, increa
usage of social networking or other entertainmesthsites or mobile applications may decrease theuatrad time users spend on our websites
or mobile applications, which could adversely affear financial results.

Our failure to cost-effectively manage certain agp@f our business could harm us.
We have expanded significantly our headcount,ifesland infrastructure in the U.S. and internaity, and anticipate that further
expansion in certain areas and geographies wikkfeired for some of our businesses. We are atseasing our product and service offerings

across our businesses. This expansion increasesttdexity of our businesses and places a sigmifistrain on our management, operationa
and financial resources. The areas of our busithessre put under strain by our growth includeftilewing:
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e Customer Account BillingOur revenues depend on prompt and accuratedjpliocesses. Our failure to grow our transaction-
processing capabilities to accommodate the inangasiimber of transactions that must be billed anamal our subsidiaries'
websites would harm our business and our abiliyoltect revenue.

e Customer ServiceWe continue to focus on providing better and nmeffigient customer support to our users. We intengprovide
an increased level of support (including an indrepamount of telephone support and supportinghareasing number of
languages) in a cost-effective manner. If we amhlato provide customer support in a cost-effecthanner, users of our products
and services may have negative experiences, cuaneifuture revenues could suffer, our costs merease and our operating
margins may decrease.

e Technology PlatformsWe continue to focus on upgrading and developimgsystems and infrastructure to accommodate the
growth of our businesses and to improve the funatity and reliability of our websites and servie¢s reasonable cost while
maintaining 24/7 operations. Risks associated withfailure to do so are described under the captiti we are unable to cost-
effectively upgrade and expand our websites, sesvamd platforms, our business would suffer” angst&ns failures and resulting
interruptions in the availability of our websiteqplications, products or services could harm asirtess.”

We must continue to effectively hire, train and @g@ new employees. If our new hires perform podfrlye are unsuccessful in hiring,
training, managing and integrating new employeeff,we are unsuccessful in retaining our existamgployees, our business may be harmed.

Our current and planned personnel, systems, proesdund controls may not be adequate to suppoftiune operations. To effectively
manage the expected growth of our operations arsbpeel, we will need to continue to improve oansaction processing, operational and
financial systems, procedures and controls. Thisspecial challenge as we acquire new operatighsdifferent and incompatible systems.
Any capital investments that we may make will irege our cost base, which will make it more diffidal us to offset any future revenue
shortfalls by expense reductions in the short térailure to implement these improvements couldtloor ability to manage our growth and
adversely affect our operating results.

We may have exposure to greater than anticipatedidailities.

The determination of our worldwide provision focome taxes and other tax liabilities requires estiiom and significant judgment, and
there are many transactions and calculations wtheraltimate tax determination is uncertain. Likeny other multinational corporations, we
are subject to tax in multiple U.S. and foreign jiatisdictions and have structured our operationgtiuce our effective tax rate. Our
determination of our tax liability is always sulijée audit and review by applicable domestic arrdifm tax authorities, and we are currently
undergoing a number of investigations, audits @wvikws by taxing authorities throughout the woitdtjuding with respect to our tax structc
Governments are increasingly focused on ways te@&se revenues, which has contributed to an inelieasudit activity and harsher stances
taken by tax authorities. Any adverse outcome gfsaarch audit or review could have a negative eff@cour business, operating results and
financial condition, and the ultimate tax outcomayndiffer from the amounts recorded in our finahstatements and may materially affect
financial results in the period or periods for whguch determination is made. While we have esfadd reserves based on assumptions and
estimates that we believe are reasonable to coebreventualities, these reserves may prove taddficient in the event that any taxing
authority is successful in asserting tax posititthrag are contrary to our positions.

In light of serious ongoing fiscal challenges ie th.S. and many countries in Europe, various levkbtpvernment are also increasingly
focused on tax reform and other legislative actmimcrease tax revenue, including corporate inctares. For example, the economic
downturn reduced tax revenues for U.S. federalstaied governments, and a number of proposals tedre taxes from corporate entities have
been implemented or are being considered at valkiwats of government. Among the options have tseesnge of proposals included in the
tax and budget policies recommended to the U.Sgf@ss by the U.S. Department of the Treasury toifytie federal tax rules related to the
imposition of U.S. federal corporate income tax@ascbmpanies operating in multiple U.S. and foramnjurisdictions. If such proposals are
enacted into law, this could increase our effectarerate. A number of U.S. states have likewisenapted to increase corporate tax revenu
taking an expansive view of corporate presencétéongt to impose corporate income taxes and otinectdousiness taxes on companies that
have no physical presence in their state, and geadinthorities in foreign jurisdictions may take g&mactions. Many U.S. states are also alte
their apportionment formulas to increase the amofitaxable income/loss attributable to their staden certain out-of-state businesses.
Companies that operate over the Internet, sucBag, @re a target of some of these efforts. If niaxeng authorities are successful in apply
direct taxes to Internet companies that do not laapiysical presence in the jurisdiction, this ddutrease our effective tax rate.
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Our developer platforms, which are open to merchamid third-party developers, subject us to adddiaisks.

In 2009, we launched the PayPal Developer Platforamable third-party developers to access a wadiety of PayPal product and
programming code specifications and to connecelecs PayPal payment application programming iat®$ (APIs). We also began providing
a software tool kit for building mobile paymentgipations, and enabling third-party developeradoess certain APIs with respect to our
Marketplaces platforms. In August 2011, we acquivadiento, Inc. (how X.commerce, Inc.) which incla@a open platform for merchants
and developers. There can be no assurance thatamsor third-party developers will develop andntzn applications and services on our
open platforms on a timely basis or at all, andimiber of factors could cause such third-party dspesis to curtail or stop development for our
platforms. In addition, our business is subjeantny regulatory restrictions, which may be contreageby such third party applications. If this
were to occur, we could be liable for the regubatiailure and our business could be adversely tdtec

There are risks associated with our indebtedness.

At December 31, 2012, we had approximately $4 lfohibf senior unsecured indebtedness and no iedekss outstanding under our
$2.0 billion commercial paper program, althoughfrime to time we have made substantial borrowingger our commercial paper program.
We also have a $3.0 billion revolving credit fagiliunder which we maintain $2.0 billion of availatborrowing capacity in order to repay
commercial paper borrowings in the event we ardien@ repay those borrowings from other sourcesnithey come due. As of December
2012, no borrowings or letters of credit were auriging under this revolving credit facility andcaodingly, $1.0 billion of borrowing capacity
was available for other purposes permitted bycreslit facility.

We may incur additional indebtedness in the futimeluding under our commercial paper program a@awlving credit facility or throug
public or private offerings of debt securities. @uitstanding indebtedness and any additional irdielgtss we incur may have important
consequences, including, without limitation, thédieing:

« we will be required to use cash to pay the prinaip@nd interest on our indebtednt

« ourindebtedness and leverage may increase ouenalditity to adverse changes in general econonddragustry conditions, as wi
as to competitive pressure;

e adverse changes in the ratings assigned to oursdebtities by credit rating agencies will likehciease our borrowing cos

e our ability to obtain additional financing fororking capital, capital expenditures, acquisiticstsare repurchases and other general
corporate and other purposes may be limited; and

< our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, ahges in our business and our industry may bedi

Our ability to make payments of principal of anteiest on our indebtedness depends upon our fp&ufermance, which will be subject
to general economic conditions, industry cycles famghcial, business and other factors affectingamnsolidated results of operations and
financial condition, many of which are beyond oantrol. If we are unable to generate sufficienthcBew from operations in the future to
service our debt, we may be required to, amongr dkiegs:

e repatriate funds to the U.S. at substantial tax;

« seek additional financing in the debt or equity kets

< refinance or restructure all or a portion of owtebtednes
* sell selected asse

« reduce or delay planned capital expenditure

« reduce or delay planned operating expendit

Such measures might not be sufficient to enabte service our debt. In addition, any such finagciefinancing or sale of assets might
not be available on economically favorable termataall.

We depend on the continued growth of online andlsobmmerce.

The business of selling goods over the Internetraoldile networks, particularly through online traglj is dynamic and relatively new.
Concerns about fraud, privacy and other problemg discourage additional consumers from adoptingriternet or mobile devices as modes
of commerce, or may prompt consumers to offlinencleds. In countries such as the U.S., Germany,&anal the U.K., where our services
online commerce generally have been availabledorestime and the level of market penetration ofsmivices is high, acquiring new users
our services may be more difficult and costly tiidras been in the past. Moreover, the growth ratésternet users are slowing in many
countries where we have a significant presencerder to expand our user base, we must appeatta@juire consumers who historically
have used traditional means of commerce to purofjasds and may prefer Internet analogues to saditibnal retail means, such as the
retailer's
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own website, to our offerings. If these consumeoy@ to be less active than our earlier users dil@er levels of willingness to use the
Internet or mobile devices for commerce for anysoea including lack of access to higheed communications equipment, congestion ofdt
on the Internet, Internet or mobile network outagiedelays, disruptions or other damage to userspaiters or mobile devices, and we are
unable to gain efficiencies in our operating costsluding our cost of acquiring new users, ouribess could be adversely impacted.

Our businesses depend on continued and unimpeaedsito the Internet, as well as access to mobiwaorks. Internet service
providers and mobile network operators may be #blelock, degrade, or charge us or our users addgi fees for our offerings, which cot
harm our business.

Our customers rely on access to the Internet orilmobktworks to use our products and services.dnyrtases, that access is provide
companies that compete with at least some of darings, including incumbent telephone companiablecompanies, mobile
communications companies and large Internet sepriceiders. Some of these providers have statadhbs may take measures that could
degrade, disrupt, or increase the cost of custdmsesof our offerings by restricting or prohibgithe use of their infrastructure to support or
facilitate our offerings, or by charging increadeds to us or our users to provide our offeringebNé& network operators or operating system
providers could block or place onerous restriction®ur ability to offer our mobile applicationstimeir mobile application stores. Internet
service providers or mobile network operators caitdmpt to charge us each time our customerswrsefierings. Worldwide, a number of
companies have announced plans to take such acti@re selling products designed to facilitatehsaictions. The United States Federal
Communications Commission enacted rules in Dece@®0 (Preserving the Open Internet Broadband Industrydiices (FCC-10-201)
establishing baseline restrictions that would ratguthe ability of Internet access companies &riate with Internet traffic transported over
wired and wireless networks. A decision from th€ DCircuit Court of Appeals is expected in earlfl 20Pending greater regulatory and
judicial clarity, any interference with our offega or higher charges for access to our offeringmgther paid by us or by our customers, ct
cause us to lose existing customers, impair ouityatn attract new customers and harm our reveangegrowth.

Our business depends on the development and mairderf the Internet infrastructure.

The success of our services will depend largeltherdevelopment and maintenance of the Internedstriicture. This includes
maintenance of a reliable network backbone withniheessary speed, data capacity, and securityelhastimely development of
complementary products, for providing reliable intt access and services. The Internet has expedeand is likely to continue to
experience, significant growth in the numbers @frasand amount of traffic. The Internet infrasttmetmay be unable to support such deme
In addition, increasing numbers of users, increpbandwidth requirements, or problems caused hy$es,” “worms,” malware and similar
programs may harm the performance of the Intefirtet.backbone computers of the Internet have beetatigets of such programs. From time
to time, the Internet has experienced, and isylikelcontinue to experience, a variety of outages@her delays as a result of damage to
portions of its infrastructure. Any such outaged dalays could reduce the level of Internet usageetally as well as the level of usage of our
services, which could adversely impact our business

We may be unable to protect or enforce our owrlledtial property rights adequately.

We regard the protection of our intellectual praypeincluding our trademarks (particularly thoseeong the eBay and PayPal names),
patents, copyrights, domain names, trade dresframe secrets as critical to our success. We agjgedyg protect our intellectual property rig
by relying on federal, state and common law righthe U.S. and internationally, as well as a \#gr&d administrative procedures. We also |
on contractual restrictions to protect our propnigtrights in products and services. We have edtete confidentiality and invention
assignment agreements with our employees and ctortseand confidentiality agreements with partiéth whom we conduct business in or
to limit access to and disclosure of our proprietaformation. Effective intellectual property peation may not be available in every country
in which our products and services are made avejlalnd contractual arrangements and the othes stephave taken to protect our intellect
property may not prevent third parties from infiimgyor misappropriating our technology or detereipendent development of equivalent or
superior technologies or other intellectual propeights by others.

We pursue the registration of our domain namedetraarks and service marks in the U.S. and intenmally. Additionally, we have filed
U.S. and international patent applications covededain aspects of our proprietary technologyeétffie trademark, copyright, patent, domain
name, trade dress and trade secret protectiomjsex@ensive to maintain and may require litigatidfe must protect our intellectual property
rights and other proprietary rights in an incregsimmber of jurisdictions, a process that is expenand time consuming and may not be
successful in every location. We may not be abldigoover or determine the extent of any unautledrizse of our proprietary rights. We have
licensed in the past, and expect to
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license in the future, certain of our proprietaghts, such as trademarks or copyrighted mate¢daithers. These licensees may take actions
that diminish the value of our proprietary rightsharm our reputation.

We are subject to the risks of owning real property

We own real property, including land and buildimgkated to our operations. We have little expemeincmanaging real property.
Ownership of this property subjects us to a nunobadditional risks, including:

« the possibility of environmental contamination dhd costs associated with fixing any environmeptablems

< disruptions to our operations resulting from possitatural disasters, interruptions in utilitieslaimilar event:

< adverse changes in the value of these propeltieso interest rate changes, changes in the corirahproperty markets, or other

factors;
« the possible need for structural improvements @eoto comply with zoning, seismic, disability lagr,other requirements; a
e possible disputes with tenants, neighboring owr@rsthers

Some anti-takeover provisions may affect the pyfaeur common stock.

Our Board of Directors has the authority to isspeau10,000,000 shares of preferred stock andtermhne the preferences, rights and
privileges of those shares without any further \artaction by the stockholders. The rights of thllars of common stock may be harmed by
rights granted to the holders of any preferredistbat may be issued in the future. Some provisairaur certificate of incorporation and
bylaws could have the effect of making it moreidifft for a potential acquirer to acquire a majpof our outstanding voting stock or take
control of our board of directors. These includevsions that provide for a classified board okdtors through our annual meeting of
stockholders in 2015, prohibit stockholders frokirig action by written consent and restrict thdighof stockholders to call special meetings.
We are also subject to provisions of Delaware laat prohibit us from engaging in any business couatiion with any interested stockholder
(as defined by Delaware law) for a period of thyears from the date the person became an interststekholder, unless certain conditions are
met. This restriction could have the effect of giglg or preventing a change of control.
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ITEM 1B: UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.

ITEM 2: PROPERTIES

We own and lease various properties in the U.S.38nather countries around the world. We use topegties for executive and
administrative offices, data centers, product dgwelent offices, fulfillment centers and customewise offices. As of December 31, 2012 ,
our owned and leased properties provided us wighesate square footage as follows:

United States Other Countries Total
(In millions)
Owned facilities* 2.€ — 2.€
Leased facilities 4.9 3.C 7.¢
Total facilities 7.5 3.C 10.£

* We also own approximately 96 acres of land intiiaf which approximately 60 aces are currentlyarrdbvelopment and the remaining a
remain available for future development, if necegs® accommodate future growth.

Our corporate headquarters are located in San Gadiégrnia and occupy approximately 0.2 milliorusge feet. As of December 31,
2012 , the total square footage generally usedabl ef our reportable segments was as follows:

Marketplaces Payments GSlI Total

(In millions)
Total facilities 2.C 2.7 4.7 10.2

From time to time we consider various alternatiredated to long-term facilities needs. While weidat our existing facilities are
adequate to meet our immediate needs, it may beoegessary to develop and improve land we ownasel®r acquire additional or
alternative space to accommodate any future growth.

ITEM 3: LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Overview

We are involved in legal proceedings on an ongbiagjs. If we believe that a loss arising from songtiters is probable and can be
reasonably estimated, we accrue the estimateditaibi our financial statements. If only a rangeestimated losses can be determined, we
accrue an amount within the range that, in our joelgt, reflects the most likely outcome; if nondtef estimates within that range is a better
estimate than any other amount, we accrue the folwoéthe range. Amounts accrued for legal procegifor which we believe a loss is
probable were not material for the year ended Déeer81, 2012. Except as otherwise noted, we hanelwded that reasonably possible los
arising directly from the proceedings (i.e., mongtégamages or amounts paid in judgment or settl€nieexcess of our accruals are also not
material. For those proceedings in which an unfalvler outcome is reasonably possible but not prebai® have disclosed an estimate of the
reasonably possible loss or range of losses orave boncluded that an estimate of the reasonalsisilgle loss or range of losses arising
directly from the proceeding (i.e., monetary dansageamounts paid in judgment or settlement) atenaterial. If we cannot estimate the
probable or reasonably possible loss or rangessil® arising from a legal proceeding, we haveatisd that fact.

In assessing the materiality of a legal proceediregevaluate, among other factors, the amountasfatary damages claimed, as well as
the potential impact of nomonetary remedies sought by plaintiffs (e.g., iofire relief) that may require us to change oulifess practices
a manner that could have a material adverse ingraotir business. With respect to the matters disdan this Item 3: Legal Proceedings, we
are unable to estimate the possible loss or rahtpsses that could potentially result from the laggtion of such non-monetary remedies.

Specific Matters
In August 2006, Louis Vuitton Malletier and Chrasti Dior Couture filed two lawsuits in the Paris @af Commerce against eBay Inc.
and eBay International AG. Among other things, ¢bmplaint alleged that we violated French tort lawnegligently broadcasting listings

posted by third parties offering counterfeit itebearing plaintiffs' trademarks and by purchasingade advertising keywords. Around
September 2006, Parfums Christian Dior, Kenzo PasfuParfums Givenchy,
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and Guerlain Société also filed a lawsuit in thesP@ourt of Commerce against eBay Inc. and eBégrivational AG. The complaint alleged
that we had interfered with the selective distiiuinetwork the plaintiffs established in France #me European Union by allowing third
parties to post listings offering genuine perfurard cosmetics for sale on our websites. In Jun8,286@ Paris Court of Commerce ruled that
eBay and eBay International AG were liable forifgjlto prevent the sale of counterfeit items omigbsites that traded on plaintiffs' brand
names and for interfering with the plaintiffs' sgtiee distribution network. The court awarded ptéfs approximately EUR 38.6 million in
damages and issued an injunction (enforceable ibyfitees of up to EUR 100,000) prohibiting all salof perfumes and cosmetics bearing the
Dior, Guerlain, Givenchy and Kenzo brands ovenaltldwide eBay sites to the extent that they aessible from France. We appealed this
decision, and in September 2010, the Paris Coukpptal reduced the damages award to EUR 5.7 midicd modified the injunction. We
further appealed this decision to the French Supr€ourt, and in May 2012, the French Supreme Galetl that the appeal court should not
have assumed jurisdiction upon activity that totdcp on the eBay.com site and that the injunctias o broad insofar as it did not exclude
private sales. The court also noted that the appmeat had not sufficiently dealt with assertiohattthe plaintiffs' distribution contracts were
not valid. Those matters will now be remanded wRlaris Court of Appeal. In 2009, plaintiffs filad action regarding our compliance with
original injunction, and in November 2009, the dawarded the plaintiffs EUR 1.7 million (the eqalient of EUR 2,500 per day) and
indicated that as a large Internet company we shdala better job of enforcing the injunction. Raré Christian Dior has filed another motion
relating to our compliance with the injunction. Wave taken measures to comply with the injunctiwh lzave appealed these rulings, noting,
among other things, the modification of the initiglinction. In light of the French Supreme Cowlinrg mentioned above, we asked the court
to stay proceedings with respect to enforcemetti®fnjunction pending the retrial of the mattensappeal, and this request has been grantec
However, these and similar suits may force us tdifp@ur business practices, which could lower mwenue, increase our costs, or make oul
websites less convenient to our customers. Any eeslhits could materially harm our business. Otiiand owners have also filed suit against
us or have threatened to do so in numerous diffguneisdictions, seeking to hold us liable for, amgaother things, alleged counterfeit items
listed on our websites by third parties, “testarti @ther not for resale consumer products listedwrwebsites by third parties, alleged misuse
of trademarks in listings, alleged violations ofesgive distribution channel laws, alleged violasoof parallel import laws, alleged non-
compliance with consumer protection laws and inneation with paid search advertisements. We hagegiled in some of these suits, lost in
others, and many are in various stages of appealkdiitinue to believe that we have meritorious meds to these suits and intend to defend
ourselves vigorously.

In May 2009, the U.K. High Court of Justice rulectihe case filed by L'Oréal SA, Lancome ParfunBestuté & Cie, Laboratoire
Garnier & Cie and L'Oréal (UK) Ltd against eBayemtational AG, other eBay companies, and severay eBllers (No. HC07C01978) that
eBay was not jointly liable with the seller co-defiants as a joint tortfeasor, and indicated thabitld certify to the European Court of Justice
("ECJ") questions of liability for the use of L'@lérademarks, hosting liability, and the scopa @bssible injunction against intermediaries.
On July 12, 2011 the ECJ ruled on the questiortsfieerby the U.K. High Court of Justice. It heldat (a) brand names could be used by
marketplaces as keywords for paid search advegtisithout violating a trademark owner's rightstifvere clear to consumers that the goods
reached via the key word link were not being offidog the trademark owner or its designees butéalsby third parties, (b) that marketplaces
could invoke the limitation from liability providelly Article 14 of the ecommerce directive if thag dot take such an active role with respect
to the listings in question that the limitation idnot be available, but that even where the lititawas available, the marketplace could be
liable if it had awareness (through notice or itsdnvestigation) of the illegality of the listing&) that a marketplace would be liable in a
specific jurisdiction only if the offers on theesiait issue were targeting that jurisdiction, a tjaesf fact, (d) that injunctions may be issued
marketplace in connection with infringing third pacontent, but that such injunctions must be prdpoate and not block legitimate trade and
(e) that trademark rights can only be evoked biglats owner as a result of a seller's commercigicas opposed to private activity. The
matter will now return to the U.K. High Court ofslice for further action in light of the ECJ opinidlhe case was originally filed in July 20
L'Oréal's complaint alleged that we were jointhblie for trademark infringement for the actionshaf sellers who allegedly sold counterfeit
goods, parallel imports and testers (not for repadelucts). Additionally, L'Oréal claimed that eBayse of L'Oréal brands on its website, in its
search engine and in sponsored links, and purdfds®réal trademarks as keywords, constitute et infringement. The suit sought an
injunction preventing future infringement, full dissure of the identity of all past and presenesglof infringing L'Oréal goods, and a
declaration that our Verified Rights Owner (VeR®@)gram as then operated was insufficient to presaah infringement. The scope of a
possible injunction claimed is to be specified iafte trial upon remand from the ECJ.

eBay's Korean subsidiary, IAC (which has merged @®inarket and is now named eBay Korea), has ndtifseapproximately 20 million
users of a January 2008 data breach involving paflsoidentifiable information including name, adds, resident registration number and
some transaction and refund data (but not includiegit card information or real time banking infation). Approximately 149,000 users
sued IAC over this breach in several lawsuits imgém courts and more may do so in the future (diotpafter final determination of liability).
Trial for a group of representative suits began in
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August 2009 in the Seoul District Court, and tfala group of 23 other suits began in Septemb8620 the Seoul District Court. There is
some precedent in Korea for a court to grant “ctaii@m money” for data breaches without a spedifiding of harm from the breach. Such
precedents have involved payments of up to apprabely $200 per user. In January 2010, one bentedBeoul District Court ruled that IAC
had met its obligations with respect to defendhmgdite from intrusion and, accordingly, had nbility for the breach. This ruling has been
appealed by approximately 34,000 plaintiffs to $soul High Court. In September 2012, a bench oS#éw@ul High Court announced its
decision upholding the Seoul District Court's 2@#&@ision for three cases involving 55 plaintiffhelremaining cases before the Seoul High
Court are currently being heard de novo, and asdetis expected in 2013. In January 2013, the S&®gtern District Court ruled in favor of
IAC with respect to two cases filed by 2,291 plistfollowing the January 2010 ruling.

General Matters

Other third parties have from time to time claimadd others may claim in the future, that we haferiged their intellectual property
rights. We are subject to patent disputes, andaxpat we will increasingly be subject to addibpatent infringement claims involving
various aspects of our Marketplaces, Payments &ldGsinesses as our services continue to expaswbjye and complexity. Such claims r
be brought directly against our companies and/aireg our customers (who may be entitled to cotiuedéndemnification under their contra
with us), and we are subject to increased expdsusach claims as a result of our recent acquisstiparticularly in cases where we are
entering into new businesses in connection witth swrjuisitions. We have in the past been forcditigate such claims. We may also become
more vulnerable to third-party claims as laws saslhe Digital Millennium Copyright Act, the Lanhahket and the Communications Decency
Act are interpreted by the courts, and as we explamdange and geographical scope of our servitgdacome subject to laws in jurisdictions
where the underlying laws with respect to the pidéhiability of online intermediaries like ouraads are either unclear or less favorable. We
believe that additional lawsuits alleging that veevé violated patent, copyright or trademark lawk vé filed against us. Intellectual property
claims, whether meritorious or not, are time conisignand costly to defend and resolve, could regex@ensive changes in our methods of
doing business, or could require us to enter ingilg royalty or licensing agreements on unfavaeabfms.

From time to time, we are involved in other dispute regulatory inquiries that arise in the ordyneourse of business, including suits by
our users (individually or as class actions) allggiamong other things, improper disclosure ofpiges, rules or policies, that our prices, rt
policies or customer/user agreements violate agipléclaw, or that we have not acted in conformitthwsuch prices, rules, policies or
agreements. The number and significance of thegithis and inquiries are increasing as our compasygrown larger, our businesses have
expanded in scope (both in terms of the rangeadymts and services that we offer and our geogcaphbperations) and our products and
services have increased in complexity. Any claimsegulatory actions against us, whether meritariounot, could be time consuming, result
in costly litigation, damage awards (including staty damages for certain causes of action in irejtiaisdictions), injunctive relief or
increased costs of doing business through advedsgrient or settlement, require us to change ounésss practices in expensive ways, requir
significant amounts of management time, resulhediversion of significant operational resourcestberwise harm our business.

ITEM 4: MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM 5: MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STORHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock has been traded on The NasdagGBetect Market (formerly The Nasdaq National Meykinder the symbol
“EBAY” since September 24, 1998. The following &kskets forth the high and low closing sale pricsshare of our common stock, as
reported by The Nasdaq Global Select Market, ferftilowing periods.

High Low
Year Ended December 31, 2012
First Quarter $ 38.0¢ $ 30.1¢
Second Quarter 43.5( 35.47
Third Quarter 50.8: 38.6(
Fourth Quarter 52.8: 46.2:
High Low
Year Ended December 31, 2011
First Quarter $ 34.6¢ $ 27.7(
Second Quarter 34.3¢ 28.3¢
Third Quarter 34.4% 26.9¢
Fourth Quarter 33.8i 28.11

As of January 21, 2013, there were approximat@9@@ holders of record of our common stock, althowg believe that there are a
significantly larger number of beneficial ownersoofr common stock.

Dividend Policy
We have never paid cash dividends on our stocldarnbt anticipate paying cash dividends in thedeeable future.

Performance Measurement Comparison

The graph below shows the cumulative total stodkdofeturn of an investment of $100 (and the restment of any dividends
thereafter) on December 31, 2007 (the last tradagfor the year ended December 31, 2007) in (i)common stock, (ii) the Nasdaq
Composite Index, (iii) the S&P 500 Index and (iwg tS&P North American Technology Internet Indexe (Successor to the GSTI Internet
Index). The S&P North American Technology Intertlmetex is a modified-capitalization weighted indepresenting the Internet industry,
including Internet software and services and Irgeratail companies. Our stock price performanaashin the graph below is not indicative
future stock price performance.
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The following graph and related information shait he deemed “soliciting material” or be deemetiedfiled” with the SEC, nor shall
such information be incorporated by reference @rtg past or future filing with the SEC, excepthe txtent that such filing specifically states
that such graph and related information are incateal by reference into such filing.
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Stock repurchase activity during the three montitded December 31, 2012 was as follows:

Total Number of Maximum Dollar Value
Shares Purchased as of Shares that May Yet

Total Number of Average Price Part of Publicly be Purchased Under
Period Ended Shares PurchasedPaid per Share Announced Programs the Programs (1)
October 31, 2012 2,100,001 $48.6° 2,100,00t $2,137,109,4C
November 30, 2012 2,400,001 $49.8: 2,400,001 $2,017,569,43
December 31, 2012 665,00( $52.0° 665,00( $1,982,941,7€
5,165,001 5,165,001

(1) In September 2010, our Board of Directatharized a stock repurchase program that proviaethe repurchase of up to $2 billion of
our common stock, with no expiration from the dat@uthorization. In June 2012, our Board of Dicestauthorized an additional stock
repurchase program that provides for the repurcbfsp to an additional $2 billion of our commondit, with no expiration from the date of
authorization. These stock repurchase programisiteneded to offset the impact of dilution from agquity compensation programs. As of
December 31, 2012 , we had repurchased the fullatraf stock permitted under the 2010 stock repasetprogram and approximately $2.0
billion remained for further repurchases of our coom stock under the 2012 stock repurchase program.




ITEM 6: SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial dgttauld be read in conjunction with the consoliddieadncial statements and notes
thereto and “Management's Discussion and Analydi$rmancial Condition and Results of Operationspagxing elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. The consolidated statemeiriadime data and the consolidated balance sheefaldte years ended, and as of,
December 31, 2012 , 2011 , 2010, 2009 and 2008eeed from our audited consolidated financiatetents.

Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011@ 2010 2009®@ 2008

(In millions, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statement of Income Data®

Net revenues $ 14,07: $ 11,65: $ 9,15¢ $ 8,721 $ 8,541
Gross profit 9,85¢ 8,191 6,59 6,24¢ 6,31:
Income from operations 2,88¢ 2,37: 2,05¢ 1,457 2,07¢
Income before income taxes 3,08¢ 3,91( 2,09¢ 2,87¢ 2,18¢
Net income 2,60¢ 3,22¢ 1,801 2,38¢ 1,77¢
Net income per share:

Basic $ 20z $ 25C % 138 % 1.8t % 1.37

Diluted $ 1.9¢ $ 2.4 % 136 $ 1.8: $ 1.3€
Weighted average shares:

Basic 1,292 1,29: 1,30¢ 1,29( 1,30:

Diluted 1,31 1,31z 1,327 1,30¢ 1,31

As of December 31,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(In millions)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data®

Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,817 $ 4,691 % 5571 % 4,000 % 3,18¢
Short-term investments 2,591 1,23¢ 1,04t 944 164
Long-term investments 3,044 2,45 2,49 1,382 10¢€
Working capital® 10,47 5,927 6,54¢ 4,81¢ 2,58
Total assets 37,07« 27,32( 22,00¢ 18,40¢ 15,59:
Short-term debt 413 56E& 30C — 1,00(
Long-term debt 4,10¢ 1,52¢ 1,49¢ — —
Total stockholders' equity 20,86¢ 17,93( 15,30: 13,78¢ 11,08

(1) Includes the impact of acquisitions as wellresimpact from dispositions. For a summary oerecignificant acquisitions and
dispositions, please see “Note 3 - Business Cortibimaiand Divestitures” to the consolidated finahstatements included in this report.

(2) The consolidated statement of income datéh®ryear ended December 31, 2011 includes a lodssested business of $256.5 milliand
a gain on the sale of our remaining 30% equityrégein Skype of approximately $1.7 billion. Seet&l3 - Business Combinations and
Divestitures" to the consolidated financial statateeéncluded in this report.

(3) The consolidated statement of income datéhryear ended December 31, 2009 includes a $34i8i@n charge related to the settlement
of a lawsuit between Skype, Joltid and entitiestimdied by Joltid’s founders and a $1.4 billion gan the sale of Skype.

(4) Working capital is calculated as the differencentsetn total current assets and total current ligdmsl
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ITEM 7: MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL GONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwarddmg statements within the meaning of Section&thAe Securities Act of 1933
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Ac®®4,lincluding statements that involve expectatiptens or intentions (such as those
relating to future business, future results of @iems or financial condition, new or planned fe@sior services, or management strategies).
You can identify these forward-looking statememts/brds such as “may,” “will,” “would,” “should,” “ could,” “expect,” “anticipate,”
“believe,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan” and other similar expressions. These forward-looking statemémiolve risks and uncertainties that
could cause our actual results to differ materidiym those expressed or implied in our forwardkiog statements. Such risks and
uncertainties include, among others, those disaligséltem 1A: Risk Factors” of this Annual Repam Form 10-K, as well as in our
consolidated financial statements, related notes, the other information appearing elsewhere is tteéiport and our other filings with the
SEC. We do not intend, and undertake no obligatmopdate any of our forward-looking statementerahe date of this report to reflect
actual results or future events or circumstancese6 these risks and uncertainties, readers ardionad not to place undue reliance on such
forward-looking statements. You should read the followiitagnagement's Discussion and Analysis of Financ@idition and Results of
Operations in conjunction with the consolidatedafinial statements and the related notes includddisreport.

Overview

We have three reportable business segments: M#aketp Payments and GSI. Our Marketplaces segmenties our eBay.com
platform and its localized counterparts and oueptinline trading platforms, such as our onlinesiféeds businesses and StubHub. Our
Payments segment is comprised of PayPal, Bill MerLand Zong. Our GSI segment was added upon theletion of our acquisition of GSI
Commerce, Inc. (GSI) on June 17, 2011. The res@ibsir GSI segment have been included in our cadestedd results of operations from the
acquisition date.

In 2012 , net revenues increased 21% to $14.bhittbompared to $11.7 billion in 2011 , driven prityaby increases in net revenues
from each of our business segments. We achieveganmting margin of 21% in 2012 compared to 202011 . Our diluted earnings per
share decreased to $1.99 in 2012, a $0.47 dequeasbare compared to 2011 , driven primarilyH®ydain resulting from the sale of our
remaining 30% equity interest in Skype in 2011seffin part by growth in 2012 net revenues andweteffective tax rate. We generated cash
flow from operations of approximately $3.8 billiom2012 compared to $3.3 billion in 2011 .

Our Marketplaces segment total net revenues inede®856 million , or 11% , in 2012 compared to 20The increase in total net
revenues was driven primarily by an increase in Gfd¥ defined below) excluding vehicles of 12% ,ahhivas attributable to strong growth
across all regions, partially offset by the negatmpact of foreign currency movements relativehioU.S. dollar. Our Marketplaces segment
operating margin of 39.8% for 2012 remained flanhpared to 2011.

Our Payments segment total net revenues incredsgdion , or 26% , in 2012 compared to 201lheTncrease in total net revenues
was driven primarily by a year-over-year increasaet TPV (as defined below) of 22% due to the agfmn of our global footprint with
international net TPV increasing 26% in 2012 ver20&1. Our Payments segment operating margin isetka percentage points in 2012
compared to 2011, due primarily to a higher take aad lower transaction processing costs.

Our GSI segment had total net revenues of $1.ibbilh 2012 and a segment operating margin of 11.88# revenues attributable to
the GSI segment for 2011 are reflected from Jun@Q¥1 (the date the acquisition of GSI was conepletAccordingly, comparisons with
GSl's net revenues for 2012 to 2011 are not meéiing

In 2011, net revenues increased 27% to $11.7 hidmmpared to $9.2 billion in 2010, driven primatily a 29% increase in PayPal net
TPV and a 13% increase in Marketplaces GMV exclgdighicles, as well as the impact from GSI, whighagquired in June 2011. We
achieved an operating margin of 20% in 2011 comptre@2% in 2010. This reduction in operating mangas driven primarily by the impact
of acquisitions. Our diluted earnings per sharedased to $2.46 in 2011, a $1.10 increase compar2@tL0, driven primarily by a gain
resulting from the sale of our remaining 30% ins¢ie Skype and growth in net revenue, partialfgetfby the impact of a loss on a divested
business, acquisitions and a higher tax rate. Wiergéed cash flow from operations of approxima$3ys billion in 2011 compared to $2.7
billion in 2010.

Some key operating metrics that members of ouos@nanagement regularly review to evaluate oumiiiel results include net
promoter score (NPS), market share, GMV, GMV exiclgdehicles, number of sold items, net TPV, Mertha
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Services net TPV (as defined below), on eBay nét {@ defined below), net number of payments, patieh rates, active registered
accounts, funding mix (the mix of payments vehictegh as credit cards, debit cards, bank accamat$ayPal accounts, used by custome
make payments through our Payments networks), bemtmemmerce (GeC) Merchandise Sales (as definedvpetame store sales, free cash
flow (a non-GAAP measure, which we define as nehgarovided by operating activities less purchaégsoperty and equipment, net) and
revenue excluding acquisitions and foreign curréngyact (also a non-GAAP measure).

We define GMV as the total value of all succesgfalbsed items between users on our eBay Markegplaading platforms (excluding
eBay's classifieds websites, brands4friends ang@hg.com) during the applicable period, regardi#sshether the buyer and seller actually
consummated the transaction. We define net TPYefotal dollar volume of payments, net of paynremersals, successfully completed
through our Payments networks, Bill Me Later acdswamd Zong during the applicable period, excludiagPal's payment gateway business.
We define Merchant Services net TPV as the tothhdweolume of payments, net of payment reversaiscessfully completed through our
Payments networks, Bill Me Later accounts and Zdungng the applicable period, excluding PayPaligypent gateway business and payment:
for transactions on eBay Marketplaces and GSlqiai$. We define on eBay net TPV as the total detdume of payments, net of payment
reversals, successfully completed through our Paysmeetworks during the applicable period for teantions on eBay Marketplaces and GSI
platforms. We define GeC Merchandise Sales asatad walue of all sales transactions, inclusivdreight charges and net of allowance for
returns and discounts, which flow through the G&Inemerce services platform during the applicabléogdewhether we record the full amot
of such transaction as a product sale or a pegemtasuch transaction as a service fee.

Results of Operations
Summary of Net Revenues

We generate two types of net revenues: net transastvenues and marketing services and other tmge©Our net transaction revenues
are derived principally from listing fees and fivallue fees (which are fees payable on transactiompleted on our Marketplaces trading
platforms), fees paid by merchants for paymentgseing services and ecommerce service fees. Oletimy services revenues are derived
principally from the sale of advertisements, rev@sharing arrangements, classifieds fees, markséingce fees and lead referral fees. Other
revenues are derived principally from interest fees earned on the Bill Me Later portfolio of ra@dles from loans, interest earned on certai
PayPal customer account balances and fees fromactudl arrangements with third parties that pre\adrvices to our users.
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The following table sets forth the breakdown of mtenues by type and geography for the periodsepted.

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011® 2010
(In millions, except percentage changes)

Net Revenues by Type:
Net transaction revenues

Marketplaces $ 6,07¢ $ 5431 $ 4,80(
Payments 5,14¢ 4,123 3,261
GSI 85C 46( —
Total net transaction revenues 12,07 10,01« 8,061
Marketing services and other revenues
Marketplaces 1,32( 1,211 921
Payments 42¢ 28¢ 174
GSI 23z 13C —
Corporate and other 3¢ 8 —
Total marketing services and other revenues 2,02( 1,63¢ 1,09t
Elimination of inter-segment net reveritie
(22 — —
Total net revenues $ 14,07:  $ 11,65 $ 9,15¢
Net Revenues by Geography:
u.s. $ 6,77¢  $ 548: $ 4,21¢
International 7,294 6,16¢ 4,94;
Total net revenues $ 14,07: $ 11,65: $ 9,15¢€

(1) Includes data for GSI since June 17, 2011ddte the acquisition of GSI was completed.
(2) Represents net revenue generated betweenpnrtable segments.

Revenues are attributed to U.S. and internatioeaftpphies based primarily upon the country in tvitie seller, payment recipient,
customer, website that displays advertising, oeofervice provider, as the case may be, is located

Because we generated a majority of our net reveint&mationally in recent periods, including theays ended December 31, 2012 ,
2011 and 2010, we are subject to the risks ofglbirsiness in foreign countries as discussed uitden 1A: Risk Factors.” In that regard,
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange ratesdaotur results of operations. We have a foreigiharge risk management program that is
designed to reduce our exposure to fluctuatiorisrigign currencies; however, the effectivenessisf program in mitigating the impact of
foreign currency fluctuations on our results of igi@ns varies from period to period, and in anyegi period, our operating results are usually
affected, sometimes significantly, by changes imemcy exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchangs edso directly affect our cross-border
revenue. We calculate the year-over-year impafireign currency movements on our business usiiog period foreign currency rates
applied to current year transactional currency amgu

For the year ended December 31, 2012 , foreigrenayrmovements relative to the U.S. dollar neggtiiepacted net revenues by
approximately $206 million (net of a $44 milliongtive impact from hedging activities relating tayPal's net revenue) compared to the priol
year. Foreign currency movements relative to tHe. dollar for the year enddDecember 31, 2012 negatively impacted Marketplaces,
Payments, and GSI net revenues by approximatel #filfion , $33 million and $1 million respectively, compared to the prior year (nehe
impact of hedging activities, noted above, in thsecof Payments net revenues).

For the year ended December 31, 2011 , foreigrenayrmovements relative to the U.S. dollar podijivepacted net revenues by
approximately $202 million (net of $26 million neéy@ impact from hedging activities relating to Pay's net revenue) compared to the prior
year. Foreign currency movements relative to tHe. dollar for the year enddDecember 31, 2011 , positively impacted Marketdaaed
Payments net revenues by approximately $167 miliwh $36 million , respectively, compared to thempyear (net of the impact of hedging
activities, noted above, in the case of Paymertsavenues).
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The following table sets forth, for the periodsgmeted, certain key operating metrics that we belare significant factors affecting our
net revenues.

Percent Change Percent Change
Year Ended December 31, from from
2012 2011 2010 2011 to 2012 2010 to 2011

(In millions, except percentage changes)
Supplemental Operating Data:
Marketplaces Segment?

GMV excluding vehicles® $ 67,76 $ 60,33: $ 53,53: 12% 13%
GMV vehicles only @ 7,61: 8,301 8,287 (8)% —%
Total GMV @ $ 75,37¢  $ 68,63 $ 61,81¢ 10% 11%

Payments Segment:
Merchant Services net TP¥

$ 97,277 $ 77,700 $ 57,23: 25 % 3€%
On eBay net TPV
$ 47.66( $ 41,05¢ $ 34,72« 16 % 18%
Net TPV @ $ 14493 $ 118,75¢ $ 91,95¢ 22 % 29%
GSI Segment:
GeC Merchandise Salés $ 3,68: $ 2,046 $ — N/A N/A

(1) eBay's classifieds websites, brands4friends ang@®hg.com are not included in these met

(2) Total value of all successfully closed items betwasers on eBay Marketplaces trading platformsnduitie period, regardless of whet
the buyer and seller actually consummated the actims, excluding vehicles GMV.

(3) Total value of all successfully closed vehicknsactions between users on eBay Marketplaadmy platforms during the period,
regardless of whether the buyer and seller actgalhsummated the transaction.

(4) Total value of all successfully closed items betwvasers on eBay Marketplaces trading platformsnduitie period, regardless of whet
the buyer and seller actually consummated the dctios.

(5) Total dollar volume of payments, net of paymenersals, successfully completed through our Paymettgorks, Bill Me Later accour
and Zong during the period, excluding PayPal's patrgateway business and payments for transaatine8ay Marketplaces and GSI
platforms.

(6) Total dollar volume of payments, net of payt@&versals, successfully completed through ountemgs networks during the period for
transactions on eBay Marketplaces and GSI platforms

(7) Total dollar volume of payments, net of paymenersals, successfully completed through our Paymeittgorks, Bill Me Later accour
and Zong during the period, excluding PayPal's patrgateway business.

(8) Represents the retail value of all sales farigns, inclusive of freight charges and net tfveédince for returns and discounts, which flow
through the GSI ecommerce services platform dutiegoeriod, whether we record the full amount afhstransaction as a product sale
a percentage of such transaction as a servicénidades data for GSI since June 17, 2011, thettatacquisition of GSI was completed.
Accordingly, the percent change in GSl's metridsvben 2011 and 2012 is not meaningful.
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Seasonality

The following table sets forth, for the periodsgmeted, our total net revenues and the sequentiaiarly movements of these net
revenues:

Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
(In millions, except percentage changes)

2010
Net revenues $ 2,19¢ $ 2,21t $ 2,24¢ % 2,49t
Percent change from prior quarter (7% 1% 2% 11%
2011®
Net revenues $ 2,54¢ $ 2,76C $ 2,966 $ 3,38(
Percent change from prior quarter 2% 8% 7% 14%
2012
Net revenues $ 3,27 $ 339% % 340¢ % 3,997
Percent change from prior quarter 3% 4% —% 17%

(1) Net revenues attributable to the GSI segment dlected beginning from June 17, 2011 (the dateattiuisition of GSI was complete

We expect transaction activity patterns on our Webdo mirror general consumer buying patterng. @8l segment is highly seasonal.
The fourth calendar quarter typically accountsdalisproportionate amount of GSI's total annuaénexe because consumers increase their
purchases and businesses increase their advettisgagsumers during the fourth quarter holidayssera

Marketplaces Net Transaction Revenues

Marketplaces net transaction revenues increased $@Hon , or 12% , in 2012 compared to 2011 , sistent with the increase in GMV
excluding vehicles of 12% in 2012 compared to 20TIfe increases in net transaction revenue and @ktluding vehicles were due primat
to strong growth across all regions, partially effsy the negative impact of approximately $118iarilin foreign currency movements relat
to the U.S. dollar.

Marketplaces net transaction revenues increaset is@8on, or 13%, in 2011 compared to 2010, cotesiswith the increase in GMV
excluding vehicles of 13% in 2011 compared to 20t increases in net transaction revenue and Gxt\iding vehicles were due primarily
to improvements in the shopping experience, foreigmency movements relative to the U.S. dollar emrtinued growth at StubHub. Net
transaction revenues and GMV excluding vehiclessiased in the U.S., Europe and Asia in 2011 conagar@010.

Marketplaces net transaction revenues earned attermally totaled $3.4 billion , $3.1 billion an@ 3 billion in 2012 , 2011 and 2010 ,
respectively, representing 56% of total Marketpéacet transaction revenues in all three periods.ifitrease in the dollar amount of
international net transaction revenues was duegpifyrto growth in our existing international matge

Payments Net Transaction Revenues

Payments net transaction revenues increased &inhilbr 25% , during 2012 compared to 2011 , diragrily to net TPV growth 022%
and a higher take rate. The increase in net TPVduasrimarily to growth in consumer and merchaudion and use of PayPal both on and
off eBay. Our Merchant Services net TPV increass¥ 2luring 2012 compared to 2011 , and represemédd PayPal's net TPV in 2012 ,
compared with 65% in 2011 . On eBay net TPV incedaks% during 2012 compared to 2011 , and reprede8#% of PayPal's net TPV in
2012 . The increase in the take rate was drivemanily by foreign exchange income, gains from hadgictivities and the full year impact
from our acquisition of Zong (acquired in Augusti2).

Payments net transaction revenues increased $86@mbr 26%, during 2011 compared to 2010, dumarily to net TPV growth of
29%. The increase in net TPV was due primarilyrtmgh in consumer and merchant adoption of Pay®al.Merchant Services net TPV
increased 36% during 2011 compared to 2010, andsepted 65% of PayPal's net TPV in 2011, compaithd62% in 2010. The increase in
our Merchant Services net TPV was due primarilgriancrease in the number of online merchantsioffd?ayPal as a payment option.
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Payments net transaction revenues earned intemaljidotaled $2.8 billion , $2.2 billion and $1b@lion in 2012 , 2011 and 2010,
representing 55% , 53% and 49% of total Paymerttgam@saction revenues, respectively. The incregasgernational net transaction revenues
was due primarily to the growth of our Merchant\vi@as business and increased penetration on eBakeldaces platforms internationally.

GSI Net Transaction Revenues

GSI net transaction revenues were $850 million0h2and $460 million in 2011 . Net transaction rexes attributable to the GSI
segment for 2011 are reflected from June 17, 20teLdate the acquisition of GSI was completed).oddingly, comparisons of GSlI's net
transaction revenues for 2012 to 2011 are not mgéui

Marketing Services and Other Revenues

Marketing services and other revenues increased B88on , or 23% , in 2012 compared to 2011 , asgresented 14% of total net
revenues for both periods. The increase in maretmvices and other revenues was due primariydath in our Bill Me Later portfolio of
receivables from loans, as well as increased revé&om our advertising business.

Marketing services and other revenues increased ftdion, or 50%, in 2011 compared to 2010, armtesented 14% and 12% of total
net revenues in 2011 and 2010, respectively. Torease in marketing services and other revenuepriraarily due to the acquisitions of GSI
and brands4friends and an increase in revenudsusdiole to our classifieds business and advegdibirsiness, as well as interest earned on ot
Bill Me Later portfolio of receivables from loans.

Summary of Cost of Net Revenues

The following table summarizes changes in costedfravenues for the periods presented:

Change from Change from
Year Ended December 31, 2011 to 2012 2010 to 2011
2012 2011 2010 in Dollars in % in Dollars in %

(In millions, except percentages)
Cost of net revenues:

Marketplaces $ 1,27: $ 1,21( $ 1,071 $ 63 5% $ 13¢ 13%
As a percentage of total Marketplaces net revenues 17.2% 18.2% 18.7%

Payments 2,20¢ 1,86¢ 1,49: 34z 18% 372 25%
As a percentage of total Payments net revenues 39.6% 42.2% 43.5%

GSI® 69€ 374 — 32z N/A 374 N/A
As a percentage of total GSI net revenues 64.2% 63.2% N/A

Corporate and other 38 11 — 27 N/A 11 N/A

Total cost of net revenues $ 421¢ $ 3461 $ 256 % 75k 22% $ 897 35%
As a percentage of net revenues 30% 29.% 28.(%

(1) Cost of net revenues attributable to the @&ghsent for 2011 are reflected from June 17, 24 @ate the acquisition of GSI was
completed). Accordingly, the percent changes in'€&&list of revenues between 2011 and 2012 are eamingful.

Cost of net revenues consists primarily of costeeisted with payment processing, interest expengdeorrowings incurred to finance
Bill Me Later's portfolio of loan receivables, caster support, site operations and fulfilment. $figant components of these costs include
bank transaction fees, credit card interchangeaasdssment fees, interest expense on indebtedoas®d to finance the purchase of
consumer loan receivables related to Bill Me Lairounts, employee compensation, contractor dasifities costs, depreciation of
equipment and amortization expense.

Marketplaces

Marketplaces cost of net revenues increased $@®mijlor 5% , in 2012 compared to 2011 . The inasgewas due primarily to increases
in our customer support costs and site operatissscated with our GMV growth. Marketplaces cosbef revenues as a percentage of
Marketplaces net revenues decreased during 201garexh to the prior year due primarily to improvexi@ting leverage in our site operations
infrastructure, partially offset by investment instomer support programs.
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Marketplaces cost of net revenues increased $1B®mior 13%, in 2011 compared to 2010. The inseeduring 2011 was due primat
to the impact of acquiring brands4friends during fiilst quarter of 2011 and increased customera@tgosts associated with our GMV grov
Marketplaces cost of net revenues as a percenfdgarketplaces net revenues decreased during 2rhpared to the prior year due primarily
to improved operating leverage in our site openatimfrastructure, partially offset by the impataoquisitions. In addition, Marketplaces cost
of net revenues as a percentage of Marketplacegvetues in 2010 was adversely impacted by thkeseint of a lawsuit and the
establishment of a reserve related to certainéetitax positions (recorded as a reduction in reggn

Payments

Payments cost of net revenues increased $343 mjlio 18% , in 2012 compared to 2011 due primaalthe impact of growth in net
TPV. Payments cost of net revenues as a perceafdm/ments net revenues decreased during 2012ascethjp 201Hue primarily to a lowe
transaction expense rate driven largely by the anhphcertain regulatory changes, primarily the Elaramendment of the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act.

Payments cost of net revenues increased $373 mibio25%, in 2011 compared to 2010 due primadilthe impact of growth in net
TPV. Payments cost of net revenues as a perceafdm/ments net revenues decreased during 2011lacethjp 2010 due primarily to a lowv
transaction expense rate. The improvement in amstction expense rate was driven primarily byirtipact of certain regulatory changes, r
payment processing arrangements, a favorable rifidshower cost international markets and a srimaffrovement in funding mix.

GSl
GSiI cost of net revenues were $696 million duriog2and $374 million in 2011. Cost of net revenatiisbutable to the GSI segment
for 2011 are reflected from June 17, 2011 (the treeacquisition of GSI was completed). Accordingigmparisons with GSI's cost of
revenues for 2012 to 2011 are not meaningful.

Summary of Operating Expenses, Non-Operating Iteamsl Provision for Income Taxes

The following table summarizes changes in operatgenses, hon-operating items and provision forite taxes for the periods
presented:

Change from Change from
Year Ended December 31, 2011 to 2012 2010 to 2011
2012 2011 2010 in Dollars in % in Dollars in %
(In millions, except percentage changes)

Sales and marketing $ 291: $ 243t $ 1947 $ 47¢ 2% $ 48¢ 25%
Product development 1,57 1,23¢ 90¢ 33¢ 27 % 327 3€%
General and administrative 1,567 1,36¢ 1,101 20¢c 15 % 262 24%
Provision for transaction and loan losses 58C 517 39z 63 12% 12t 32%
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 33t 267 19C 68 25 % 77 41%
Interest and other, net 19¢ 1,537 44 (1,34)) (87)% 1,497 3,32%%
Provision for income taxes (475) (687) (297) 20¢€ (30)% (389) 12<%
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The following table summarizes operating expenses;operating items and provision for income taa®a percentage of net revenues
for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Sales and marketing 21% 21% 21%
Product development 11% 11% 1C%
General and administrative 11% 12% 12%
Provision for transaction and loan losses 4% 4% 4%
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 2% 2% 2%
Interest and other, net 1% 13% —%
Provision for income taxes 3% 6% 3%

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilgeérising costs and marketing programs (both erdind offline), employee
compensation, contractor costs, facilities costbdepreciation on equipment. Online marketing espsnepresent traffic acquisition costs in
various channels such as paid search, affiliateketing and display advertising. Offline advertgimcludes brand campaigns, buyer/seller
communications and general public relations expensaignificant portion of our sales and marketaxgense is attributable to our online
marketing programs, primarily paid search, whiatiude keyword advertising and third party lead gatien costs, in order to drive traffic to
our Marketplaces and Payments websites.

Sales and marketing expense increased by $47&mijlbr 20% , in 2012 compared to 20IMhe increase in sales and marketing exp
was due primarily to higher employee-related expsr{gcluding consultant costs, facility costs agdipment-related costs), marketing
program costs to drive consumer engagement andhjbect from acquisitions, primarily GSI. Sales andrketing expense as a percentage of
net revenues were 21% in both 2012 and 2011.

Sales and marketing expense increased by $48&mibr 25%, in 2011 compared to 2010. The incr@asales and marketing expense
was due primarily to higher marketing program cosisployee-related expenses (including consultasis¢ facility costs and equipment-
related costs) and the impact from acquisitiongparily GSI. Sales and marketing expense as a ptage of net revenues were 21% in both
2011 and 2010.

Product Development

Product development expenses consist primarilyngfleyee compensation, contractor costs, facilitests and depreciation on
equipment. Product development expenses are metofred capitalization of major site and otherduat development efforts, including the
development of our next generation platform arcites, migration of certain platforms, seller toatel Payments services projects. Our top
technology priorities include mobile, user expecersearch, platform and new products such as PelgPa. Capitalized site and product
development costs were $285 million , $212 milleovd $193 million in 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , respebti and are primarily reflected as a
cost of net revenues when amortized in future plsrio

Product development expenses increased by $338milor 27% , in 2012 compared to 2011 . The iaseewas due primarily to higher
employee-related costs (including consultant cdatslity costs and equipment-related costs) drikgrincreased investment in platform,
search, mobile, and offline and the impact fromuggitions, primarily GSI. Product development exgpesnas a net percentage of revenues we
11% in both 2012 and 2011.

Product development expenses increased by $32ipmitir 36%, in 2011 compared to 2010. The increesedue primarily to higher
employee-related costs (including consultant cdatslity costs and equipment-related costs) drilignncreased investment in our top
technology priorities and the impact from acquisii. Product development expenses as a perceritagerevenues were 11% and 10% in
2011 and 2010, respectively.
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General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist piliynafremployee compensation, contractor costs|ifes costs, depreciation of
equipment, employer payroll taxes on employee shaded compensation, legal expenses, restructumsigrance premiums and professional
fees. Our legal expenses, including those relatestious ongoing legal proceedings, may fluctsatestantially from period to period.

General and administrative expenses increased I®#0&n , or 15% , in 2012 compared to 2011 . Theréase was due primarily to
higher employee-related costs (including consultasts, facility costs and equipment-related co#tg)impact from acquisitions, primarily
GSI, restructuring costs and the increase in psadesl service fees. General and administrativerses as a percentage of net revenues wer
11% and 12% in 2012 and 2011, respectively.

General and administrative expenses increased i8#B8n, or 24%, in 2011 compared to 2010. The éaze was due primarily to higher
employee-related costs (including consultant cdatslity costs and equipment-related costs) ardittpact from acquisitions. The increase in
2011 was also due in part to an increase in prigieskservice fees, including those relating towasitjons, and was patrtially offset by a
decrease in restructuring costs. General and aslirative expenses as a percentage of net revereresl®% in both 2011 and 2010.

Provision for Transaction and Loan Losses

Provision for transaction and loan losses congistsarily of transaction loss expense associated air customer protection programs,
fraud, chargebacks and merchant credit lossesgélbidexpense associated with our accounts receibahnces; and loan reserves associate
with our loan receivables balances. We expect ouwvrigion for transaction and loan loss expensduittdate depending on many factors,
including macroeconomic conditions, our custometgxtion programs and the impact of regulatory gean

Provision for transaction and loan losses increaye®63 million , or 12% , in 2012 compared to 20This increase was due primarily
to higher transaction volume and growth in our Bi# Later portfolio of receivables from consumearis. The increase was partially offset by
a reduction in our Marketplaces consumer protegiimgram expense as a result of certain loss pteveprograms and lower Marketplaces
bad debt expense. Provision for transaction and llmss expense as a percentage of net revenuetwasboth 2012 and 2011.

Provision for transaction and loan losses increage®l25 million, or 32%, in 2011 compared to 20L0is increase was due primarily
higher transaction volume and higher transactiss fates, partially offset by improvements in It@ss and bad debt rates. Transaction loss
rates increased due primarily to strategic risk ag@ment decisions designed to improve the useriexyge and drive growth as well as the
expansion of our protection programs. Our loan &ss$ bad debt rates declined due to continued imepnents in charge-off rates. Provision
for transaction and loan loss expense as a pegenfanet revenues was 4% in both 2011 and 2010.

Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets

From time to time we have purchased, and we expemintinue to purchase, assets and businessese Phechase transactions gener
result in the creation of acquired intangible asgéth finite lives and lead to a corresponding@ase in our amortization expense in periods
subsequent to acquisition. We amortize intangibiets over the period of estimated benefit, udirgstraightine method and estimated use
lives ranging from one to eight years. Amortizatafracquired intangible assets is also impactedurysales of assets and businesses and
timing of acquired intangible assets becoming faliyortized. See “Note 4 - Goodwill and Intangiblesats” to the consolidated financial
statements included in this report.

Amortization of acquired intangible assets increldsg $68 million , or 25% , in 2012 compared to 20T he increase in amortization of
acquired intangible assets was due to the impaatadisitions, primarily GSI.

Amortization of acquired intangible assets increasg $77 million, or 41%, in 2011 compared to 20L0e increase in amortization of

acquired intangible assets was due to the thiegnisitions we completed in 2011, with the acdigisiof GSI having the most significant
impact of approximately $61 million.
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Interest and Other, Net

Interest and other, net, primarily consists ofies¢ earned on cash, cash equivalents and invetstnasnwell as foreign exchange
transaction gains and losses, our portion of opeyaesults from investments accounted for underettuity method of accounting, investment
gain/loss on acquisitions, and interest expenggsisting of interest charges on any amounts bordoavel commitment fees on unborrowed
amounts under our credit agreement and interesinmepon our outstanding commercial paper and @ebtisies. Interest and other, net
excludes interest expense on borrowings incurrdohaémce Bill Me Later's portfolio of loan receivab, which is included in cost of net
revenues (see "Note 19 - Interest and Other, eti¢ consolidated financial statements includethigreport for more information).

Interest and other, net, decreased $1.3 hillid20it2 compared to 2011 . The decrease in interelsbaer, net was due primarily to an
investment gain of approximately $1.7 billion asated with the sale of remaining 30% equity interesSkype in 2011. The decrease in
interest and other, net was partially offset byamgn the divestiture of a business, a favorahlgaict from the foreign currency activity,
favorable resolution of an indirect tax dispute &igher interest income from investments.

Interest and other, net, increased $1.5 billioAdf1 compared to 2010. The increase in interesbtret, net was due primarily to an
investment gain of approximately $1.7 billion asated with the sale of our remaining 30% equitgiest in Skype, partially offset by a loss
from a divested business of $257 million (see "N®teBusiness Combinations and Divestitures" tociresolidated financial statements
included in this report for more information).

Provision for Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate was 15% in 2012 comparet/f&h in 2011 . The decrease in our effective tas datring 2012 compared to 2011
was due primarily to U.S. taxes on the sale ofrémeaining equity interest in Skype in 2011 andfgw®rable impact from the sale of Rent.com
in 2012.

Our effective tax rate was 17% in 2011 comparetdh in 2010. The increase in our effective tax cateng 2011 compared to 2010
was due primarily to an increase in earnings framaperations in higher-tax jurisdictions, primgrhe U.S., and U.S. taxes on the sale of oul
remaining equity interest in Skype.

Our provision for income taxes differs from the yision computed by applying the U.S. federal statutate of 35% due primarily to
lower tax rates associated with certain earning® four operations in certain lower-tax jurisdicsavutside the U.S. The impact on our
provision for income taxes of foreign income beiaged at different rates than the U.S. federalitiay rate was a benefit of approximately
$617 million in 2012, $772 million in 2011, net®821 million charge for U.S. taxes on the saleloff®, and $441 million in 2010. We have
received tax rulings in certain foreign jurisdictsothat provide for lower rates of taxation on artclasses of income and require various
thresholds of investment and employment in thessdictions. The cash benefit of these reducesbradtaled approximately $439 million in
2012, $697 million in 2011 and $284 million in 20The foreign jurisdictions with lower tax ratesitthad the most significant impact on our
provision for income taxes in the periods preseiellide Switzerland, Singapore and Luxembourg."Skete 17 - Income Taxes" to the
consolidated financial statements included in teport for more information on our tax rate rectiation. Pursuant to the American Taxpayer
Relief Act of 2012, the federal research and dgwelent credit has been reenacted retroactivelyrtoalg 1, 2012. As the law implementing
this change was signed on January 3, 2013, we etgescord an immaterial discrete tax benefit githe first quarter of 2013.

Our provision for income taxes is volatile andganeral, is adversely impacted by earnings beiwgiddhan anticipated in countries that
have lower tax rates and higher than anticipatemimtries that have higher tax rates. Our promi$iw income taxes does not include
provisions for U.S. income taxes and foreign witldhng taxes associated with the repatriation afilasgantial portion of undistributed earnings
of certain foreign subsidiaries because we intemginvest those earnings indefinitely in our fgresubsidiaries. If these earnings were
distributed into the U.S. in the form of dividerntdseBay companies domiciled in the U.S. or othesyis if the shares of the relevant foreign
subsidiaries were sold or otherwise transferredyweeld be subject to additional U.S. income taxeehject to an adjustment for foreign tax
credits) and foreign withholding taxes. Furtheraagsult of certain of our ongoing employment eagital investment actions and
commitments, our income in certain countries igexttito reduced tax rates and in some cases idyw@mpt from tax. Our failure to meet
these commitments could adversely impact our piavifor income taxes. Additionally, please seeitffiermation in "ltem 1A: Risk Factors"
under the caption "We may have exposure to gréfader anticipated tax liabilities."

From time to time, we engage in certain interconydaansactions and legal entity restructurings. ddiesider many factors when
evaluating these transactions, including the aligninof our corporate structure with our organizagicobjectives
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and the operational and tax efficiency of our coap® structure, as well as the long-term cash flamg cash needs of our different
businesses. These transactions may impact ourlbtzecaate and/or result in additional cash taymants. The impact in any period may be
significant. These transactions may be complextaadmpact of such transactions on future periodyg be difficult to estimate.

We are regularly under examination by tax authesitboth domestically and internationally. We bediéivat adequate amounts have beel
reserved for any adjustments that may ultimatedyltefrom these examinations, although we canmaitrasyou that this will be the case given
the inherent uncertainties in these examination® I the ongoing tax examinations, we believg itripractical to determine the amount and
timing of these adjustments.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In millions)
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities 3,83¢ 3,27¢ 2,74¢
Investing activities (3,769 (3,307 (2,289
Financing activities 1,951 (83¢) 1,23¢
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equigalen 10C (a5) (120
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equis 2,12¢ (88€) 1,573

Operating Activities

We generated cash from operating activities of $8l®&n , $3.3 billion and $2.7 billion in 2012011 and 2010 , respectively. The
increase in cash provided by operating activitie8012 compared to 2011 was due primarily to highesme from operations resulting from
growth in revenues.

The increase in cash provided by operating aawiih 2011 compared to 2010 was due primarilyde@ease in cash paid for taxes in
2011. Cash paid for taxes in 2010 included a cagimpnt for taxes of approximately $207 million tethprimarily to a legal entity
restructuring completed in the fourth quarter 2009.

Cash paid for income taxes in 2012 , 2011 and 2049$789 million , $373 million and $646 millionespectively.
Investing Activities

The net cash used in investing activities of $3ll®h in 2012 was due primarily to net cash paid purchases of investments of $3.1
billion , purchases of property and equipment, o£$1.3 billion and the purchase of consumer laivables (net of collections) originated
through our Bill Me Later merchant network of $7#@illion , partially offset by proceeds of $1.4 mh for sales of investments.

The net cash used in investing activities of $3ll®h in 2011 was due primarily to net cash padd &cquisition of businesses of $3.2
billion, purchases of investments of $2.3 billiparchases of property and equipment, net, of $9®mand the purchase of consumer loan
receivables (net of collections) originated throwagin Bill Me Later merchant network of $587 milliopartially offset by proceeds of $2.3
billion related to the sale of our remaining 30gaet interest in Skype and $1.6 billion from matas and sales of investments.

Financing Activities

The net cash provided by financing activities oft#illion in 2012 was due primarily to cash inflewf approximately $3.0 billion from
the issuance of senior notes, $483 million fromigiseance of common stock in connection with ther@ge of stock options and our employee
stock purchase plan, and $130 million in excesdemefits from stock-based compensation. Theseinfistvs were partially offset by
outflows of $898 million in cash paid to repurchase common stock, $550 million for the net repaptnaf commercial paper, and $186
million in cash paid for tax withholdings relatemrtet share settlements of restricted stock unidsr@nvested share awards. We used a portic
of the net proceeds from the issuance of our sertas to repay the commercial paper referred toab

68




The net cash used in financing activities of $83ian in 2011 was due primarily to $1.1 billion cash paid to repurchase our common
stock and $147 million in cash paid for tax withdiohs related to net share settlements of restristieck units and nonvested share awards,
partially offset by proceeds from net borrowingslenour commercial paper program of $250 millio24& million from the issuance of
common stock in connection with the exercise oflstaptions and our employee stock purchase plarf@@dnillion in excess tax benefits
from stock-based compensation.

The positive effect of currency exchange ratesash@nd cash equivalents during 2012 was due todbkening of the U.S. dollar
against certain foreign currencies, primarily th@igh pound and the Euro. The negative effectusfency exchange rates on cash and cash
equivalents during 2011 and 2010 was due to tleagthening of the U.S. dollar against certain fpmeiurrencies, primarily the Euro.

Stock Repurchases

In September 2010, our Board of Directors authdraetock repurchase program that provides foraparchase of up to $2 billion of
our common stock, with no expiration from the dat@uthorization. In June 2012, our Board of Dicestauthorized an additional stock
repurchase program that provides for the repurcbisp to an additional $2 billion of our commomwnda, with no expiration from the date of
authorization. These stock repurchase programmteded to offset the impact of dilution from aquity compensation programs. During
2012 , we repurchased approximately $898 millionwfcommon stock under these stock repurchasegmsg As of December 31, 2012 , we
had repurchased the full amount of stock permittedier the 2010 stock repurchase program and appatedy $2.0 billion remained for
further repurchases of our common stock under 82 &tock repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase programs may be limited onitexted at any time without prior notice. Stockueghases under these programs
may be made through a variety of open market aivatety negotiated transactions, including struetustock repurchase transactions or othe
derivative transactions, at times and in such ansoas management deems appropriate and may bedfénode our working capital or other
financing alternatives. The timing and actual nundfeshares repurchased will depend on a variefactbrs including corporate and regula
requirements, price and other market conditionsraadagement's determination as to the approprs&®iiour cash. The programs are
intended to comply with the volume, timing and athmitations set forth in Rule 10b-18 under the@#éies Exchange Act of 1934.

Shelf Registration Statement

At December 31, 2012 , we had an effective shefisteation statement on file with the Securitied &xchange Commission that allows
us to issue various types of debt securities, agdixed or floating rate notes, U.S. dollar orefgn currency denominated notes, redeemable
notes, global notes, and dual currency or othezxad notes. Issuances under the shelf registrata@ament will require the filing of a
prospectus supplement identifying the amount andgef the securities to be issued. The registnatatement does not limit the amount of
debt securities that may be issued thereunderafility to issue debt securities is subject to readonditions and other factors impacting our
borrowing capacity, including our credit ratingslamompliance with the covenants in our credit agem.

We issued $3 billion of senior notes in an undettemi public offering in July 2012. These seniorasotemain outstanding and consist of
$250 million aggregate principal amount of 0.70%esalue 2015, $1 billion aggregate principal amadiit 35% notes due 2017, $1 billion
aggregate principal amount of 2.60% notes due 2022%750 million aggregate principal amount of #0@btes due 2042. We issued $1.5
billion of senior notes under a prior shelf regsitsn statement in an underwritten public offein@010. These senior notes remain
outstanding and consist of $400 million aggregaiecipal amount of 0.875% notes due 2013, $600ionilaggregate principal amount of
1.625% notes due 2015 and $500 million aggregateipal amount of 3.250% notes due 2020.

The indenture pursuant to which the notes wereessucludes customary covenants that, among dtivegg, limit our ability to incur,
assume or guarantee debt secured by liens on iggeadsets or enter into sale and lease-back ttmssiwith respect to specified properties,
and also includes customary events of default. fA3szember 31, 2012 , we were in compliance withadbvenants in the indenture.

Commercial Paper

We have a $2 billion commercial paper program pamsto which we may issue commercial paper notés nvaturities of up to 397
days from the date of issue in an aggregate p@haimount of up to $2 billion at any time outstandiAs of December 31, 2012 , there were
no commercial paper notes outstanding. We may,edabject to market conditions, to issue additiammsmhmercial paper notes from time to
time in the future.
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Credit Agreement

In 2011, we entered into a credit agreement thatiges for an unsecured $3 billion five-year rewodvcredit facility that includes a
$300 million letter of credit sub-facility and a@Lmillion swingline sub-facility, with availableobrowings under the revolving credit facility
reduced by the amount of any letters of creditamithgline borrowings outstanding from time to tifdée may also, subject to the agreeme!
the applicable lenders, increase the commitmerdsmnihe revolving credit facility by up to $1 bih. Funds borrowed under the credit
agreement may be used for general corporate pwgpose

As of December 31, 2012, no borrowings or lettérsredit were outstanding under our $3 billionditagreement. However, as
described above, we have a $2 billion commercipeparogram and we maintain $2 billion of availabdgrowing capacity under our credit
agreement in order to repay commercial paper bongsvn the event we are unable to repay thoseotamgs from other sources when they
become due. Accordingly, at December 31, 2012hilfiin of borrowing capacity was available for ettpurposes permitted by the credit
agreement.

Loans under the credit agreement bear interesthetr €i) the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR)s a margin (based on our
public debt credit ratings) ranging from 0.625 patcto 1.125 percent or (ii) a formula based oratpent bank's prime rate, the federal funds
effective rate or LIBOR plus a margin (based onmublic debt credit ratings) ranging from zero gertcto 0.125 percent. The credit agreemer
will terminate and all amounts owing thereundet b due and payable on November 22, 2016, unédsbé commitments are terminated
earlier, either at our request or, if an eventeffdlt occurs, by the lenders (or automaticallthie case of certain bankruptcy-related events of
default), or (b) the maturity date is extended uponrequest, subject to the agreement of the tendée credit agreement contains customary
representations, warranties, affirmative and nggatovenants, including a financial covenant, eveftdefault and indemnification provisions
in favor of the banks. The negative covenants ohelestrictions regarding the incurrence of liexudhject to certain exceptions. The financial
covenant requires us to meet a quarterly finarte&tlwith respect to a minimum consolidated inteceserage ratio.

As of December 31, 2012 , we were in compliancé #ie financial covenants in the credit agreement.
Notes Payable and Capital Lease Obligations

In addition to the debt described above, as of Béez 31, 2012 , we had notes payable of $15 mibiod capital lease obligations of
$17 million .

Commitments and Contingencies

As of December 31, 2012 , approximately $12.4dnlbf unused credit was available to Bill Me Later@aatholders. While this amot
represents the total unused credit available, we hat experienced, and do not anticipate, thaifalur Bill Me Later accountholders will
access their entire available credit at any givaintgn time. In addition, the individual lines ofedit that make up this unused credit are sul
to periodic review and termination by the chartdirdncial institution that is the issuer of BilldLater credit products based on, among othe
things, account usage and customer creditworthinddsen a consumer makes a purchase using a Billdtkr credit product the chartered
financial institution extends credit to the consunfiends the extension of credit at the point dé sad advances funds to the merchant. We
subsequently purchase the receivables relateatodiisumer loans extended by the chartered finansié&ution and, as a result of the
purchase, bear the risk of loss in the event af iefaults. Although the chartered financial ingiin continues to own each customer accoun
we own the related receivable, and Bill Me Latareisponsible for all servicing functions relatedhe account.
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We have certain fixed contractual obligations aoghmitments that include future estimated paymesttg&éneral operating purposes.
Changes in our business needs, contractual caticelfovisions, fluctuating interest rates, andestfactors may result in actual payments
differing from the estimates. We cannot providdaiety regarding the timing and amounts of thesangnts. The following table summarizes
our fixed contractual obligations and commitments:

Debt/Capital Purchase
Payments Due During the Year Ending December 31, Leases Leases Obligations Total
(In millions)

2013 $ 511 $ € 3 34t % 95t
2014 114 8C 13C 324
2015 94¢ 67 10€& 1,12t
2016 86 45 113 244
2017 1,08¢ 36 114 1,23¢
Thereafter 3,14¢ 43 4 3,19t
$ 589: $ 37C % 814 $ 7,07

The significant assumptions used in our deternminadf amounts presented in the above table arellas/é:

« Debt and capital lease amounts include the jmah@nd interest amounts of the respective deditiments and the present value of
capital lease payments. For additional detailgedlto our debt, please see “Note 11 — Debt” tacthesolidated financial statements
included in this report. This table does not refkty amounts payable under our $3 billion revajvinedit facility or $2 billion
commercial paper program, as no borrowings werstanding as of December 31, 2012.

e Lease amounts include minimum rental paymentéieunur non-cancelable operating leases for officdities, fulfillment centers,
as well as computer and office equipment that Wzetunder lease arrangements. The amounts pezbang consistent with
contractual terms and are not expected to diffgricantly from actual results under our existiegses, unless a substantial chang
in our headcount needs requires us to expand @uipad space or exit an office facility early.

e Purchase obligation amounts include minimum pase commitments for advertising, capital expeneétcomputer equipment,
software applications, engineering developmentisesy construction contracts) and other goods andces entered into in the
ordinary course of business.

As we are unable to reasonably predict the timingettlement of liabilities related to unrecognize® benefits, net, the table does not
include $457 million of such non-current liabilgiencluded in deferred and other tax liabilitiesmeled on our consolidated balance sheet as
December 31, 2012 .

Liquidity and Capital Resource Requirements

At December 31, 2012 , we had assets classifiedsts and cash equivalents, as well as short agetésm nonequity investments, in ¢
aggregate amount of $11.5 billion , compared t& $ilion at December 31, 2011 . At December 31,20this amount included assets held ir
certain of our foreign operations totaling approaiely $7.7 billion . If these assets were distriolto the U.S., we may be subject to additione
U.S. taxes in certain circumstances. We activelyitoo all counterparties that hold these assetsarily focusing on the safety of principal
and secondarily improving yield on these assetsdidersify our cash and cash equivalents and inveists among various counterparties in
order to reduce our exposure should any one oétbesnterparties fail or encounter difficulties. date, we have not experienced any materiz
loss or lack of access to our invested cash, oagivaents or short-term investments; however, ame rovide no assurances that access to o
invested cash, cash equivalents or short-term imargts will not be impacted by adverse conditionthée financial markets. At any point in
time we have funds in our operating accounts astbauer accounts that are deposited with third gargncial institutions.

To the extent that our Bill Me Later products beeamore widely available through improved and mam@grehensive product
integrations with eBay, PayPal and other chanagld,as we further promote Bill Me Later producte,expect customer adoption and usag
Bill Me Later products to expand. Any resulting gtb in the portfolio of Bill Me Later loan receivis would increase our liquidity needs and
any failure to meet those liquidity needs couldedely affect the Bill Me Later business. We cutisefund the expansion of the Bill Me Later
portfolio of loan receivables with borrowings ammhtkestic and international cash resources.
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From time to time, we engage in certain intercomyptaansactions and legal entity restructurings. ddiesider many factors when
evaluating these transactions, including the aligninof our corporate structure with our organizagicobjectives and the operational and tax
efficiency of our corporate structure, as wellfas long-term cash flows and cash needs of ourrdiftdousinesses. These transactions may
impact our overall tax rate and/or result in additil cash tax payments. The impact in any periog lmessignificant. These transactions may
complex and the impact of such transactions orréuperiods may be difficult to estimate.

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalshisit-term and long-term investments, togethén wash expected to be generated
from operations, borrowings available under ouditragreement and commercial paper program, andaeess to capital markets will be
sufficient to fund our operating activities, anpiated capital expenditures, Bill Me Later portfadibloan receivables and stock repurchases fo
the foreseeable future.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2012 , we had no off-balancetsligangements that have, or are reasonably likdiave, a current or future
material effect on our consolidated financial cdiodi, results of operations, liquidity, capital exglitures or capital resources.

In Europe, we have two cash pooling arrangemerntsaviinancial institution for cash management psgs. These arrangements allow
for cash withdrawals from this financial institutibased upon our aggregate operating cash balhaktks Europe within the same financial
institution (“Aggregate Cash Deposits”). These agements also allow us to withdraw amounts excegitie Aggregate Cash Deposits up to
an agreed-upon limit. The net balance of the wihdds and the Aggregate Cash Deposits are usdtelinancial institution as a basis for
calculating our net interest expense or incomeofABecember 31, 2012 , we had a total of $5.5dwilin cash withdrawals offsetting our $5.5
billion in Aggregate Cash Deposits held within #zene financial institution under these cash poaiimgngements.

Based on differences in regulatory requirementscamadmercial law in the jurisdictions where PayRag¢mates, PayPal previously held
customer balances either as direct claims agamg®® or as an agent or custodian on behalf of &@&y&ustomers. Customer balances held b
PayPal as an agent or custodian on behalf of aiomers are not reflected on our consolidated lbalaheet, while customer balances held a:
direct claims against PayPal are reflected on onsalidated balance sheet. These off-balance &lnegd totaled approximately $2.7 billion as
of December 31, 2011, and included funds held dralhef U.S. customers that were deposited in mrdounts insured by the Federal Dep
Insurance Corporation (subject to applicable lijnits

In 2012, PayPal's California regulator, the CatifarDepartment of Financial Institutions, notifiddyPal that PayPal's practice of holdinc
the funds underlying U.S. customer balances agiantan behalf of its customers, rather than assowhthose funds, meant that PayPal coul
not treat those funds as liquid assets for purpok#ee liquidity rules applicable to California mey transmitter licensees. Based on changes
our U.S. PayPal user agreement effective Novemh20112, PayPal began holding U.S. customer balaaxdgect claims against PayPal,
rather than as an agent or custodian on behaifaif BayPal customers. As a result, effective Nderit, 2012, all U.S. PayPal customer
balances, which were previously not reflected onommsolidated balance sheet, have been reflestadsets in our consolidated balance shee
under “Funds receivable and customer accountsli antassociated liability under “Funds payable @amdunts due to customers.” Following
this change, PayPal now holds all customer balafie#h in the U.S. and internationally) as dirdairas against PayPal. At December 31,
2012, U.S. PayPal customer funds representedofiBdh of the $8.1 billion balance of funds recable and customer accounts on our
consolidated balance sheet.

Indemnification Provisions

In the ordinary course of business, we have inauuheited indemnification provisions in certain @fir agreements with parties with
which we have commercial relations, including aianslard marketing, promotions and application-paiogning-interface license agreements.
Under these contracts, we generally indemnify, haldnless and agree to reimburse the indemnifiety far losses suffered or incurred by
indemnified party in connection with claims by &dhparty with respect to our domain names, tradésydogos and other branding element
the extent that such marks are applicable to oddopeance under the subject agreement. In cer@rswe have agreed to provide
indemnification for intellectual property infringemt. GSI has provided in many of its major ecommagreements an indemnity for other
types of third-party claims, which are indemnitieainly related to various intellectual propertyhtis, and we have provided similar
indemnities in a limited number of agreements far ather businesses. In our PayPal business, wegravided an indemnity to our payment
processors in the event of certain third-partynstaor card association fines against the procesgging out of
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conduct by PayPal or PayPal customers. PayPal$agmvided a limited indemnity to merchants usisgetail point of sale payment
services. It is not possible to determine the maxmpotential loss under these indemnification pimris due to our limited history of prior
indemnification claims and the unique facts andwinstances involved in each particular provisiomdate, losses recorded in our stateme
income in connection with our indemnification prsigins have not been significant, either individpalt collectively.

Critical Accounting Policies, Judgments and Estinest
General

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets and related notes requires us to make judgirestimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilitiegenue and expenses, and related disclosurenthgent assets and liabilities. We have base
our estimates on historical experience and on uaraiher assumptions that are believed to be rahtmnnder the circumstances, the results «
which form the basis for making judgments aboutdheying values of assets and liabilities thatreoereadily apparent from other sources.
Our senior management has discussed the developsetadtion and disclosure of these estimatestivitAudit Committee of our Board of
Directors. Actual results may differ from theserestes under different assumptions or conditions.

An accounting policy is considered to be critidat requires an accounting estimate to be madedas assumptions about matters thai
are highly uncertain at the time the estimate idenand if different estimates that reasonablyatalve been used, or changes in the
accounting estimates that are reasonably likebctaur periodically, could materially impact the solidated financial statements. We believe
the following critical accounting policies reflettte more significant estimates and assumptions insése preparation of our consolidated
financial statements. The following descriptionsifical accounting policies, judgments and esteaahould be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and other discéssincluded in this report.

Provision for Transaction and Loan Losses

Provision for transaction and loan losses congistsarily of transaction loss expense associated air customer protection programs,
fraud, chargebacks and merchant credit lossesti&bidexpense associated with our accounts receibathnce; and loan reserves associated
with our loan receivables balance. Our provisiantfansaction and loan loss expense fluctuatesrdidpg on many factors, including
macroeconomic conditions, our customer protectimg@ms and the impact of regulatory changes.

The following table illustrates the provision foamsaction and loan losses as a percentage aévegiues for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 :

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In millions, except percentages)
Net revenues $ 14,07 $ 11,65 $ 9,15¢
Provision for transaction and loan losses $ 58C $ 517 $ 392
Provision for transaction and loan losses as a #iebfevenues 4.1% 4.4% 4.2%

Determining appropriate allowances for these lossas inherently uncertain process and is sulbjectimerous estimates and
judgments, and ultimate losses may vary from theeot estimates. We regularly update our allowarstanates as new facts become kni
and events occur that may impact the settlemerdgamvery of losses. The allowances are maintaihedevel we deem appropriate to
adequately provide for losses incurred at the lwalameet date. An aggregate 50 basis point dewifiin our provision for transaction and
loan losses as a percentage of net revenues wauédrisulted in an increase or decrease in opgriattome of approximately $70 million in
2012, resulting in an approximate $0.04 chang#liied earnings per share.

Legal Contingencies

In connection with certain pending litigation arttieér claims, we have estimated the range of predakk, net of expected recoveries,
and provided for such losses through charges teansolidated statement of income. These estinhates been based on our assessment
facts and circumstances at each balance sheeamdi@re subject to change based upon new informatid future events.

From time to time, we are involved in disputes eegllatory inquiries that arise in the ordinary is@uof business. We are currently
involved in legal proceedings, some of which asedssed in “Item 1A: Risk Factors,” “Item 3: Le@abceedings” and “Note 12 -
Commitments and Contingencids’the consolidated financial statements incluatetthis report. We believe that we have meritoridefense:
to the claims against us, and we intend to defemdedves vigorously. However,
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even if successful, our defense against certaiorecwill be costly and could require significami@unts of management's time and result ir
diversion of significant operational resourcegh# plaintiffs were to prevail on certain claims might be forced to pay significant damages
and licensing fees, modify our business practices/en be prohibited from conducting a significpatt of our business. Any such results ¢
materially harm our business and could resultrimagerial adverse impact on the financial positresults of operations or cash flows of any or
all of our business segments.

Accounting for Income Taxes

Our annual tax rate is based on our income, stattaa rates and tax planning opportunities avédab us in the various jurisdictions in
which we operate. Tax laws are complex and sultjedifferent interpretations by the taxpayer argpeztive government taxing authorities.
Significant judgment is required in determining ¢ax expense and in evaluating our tax positiamduding evaluating uncertainties. We
review our tax positions quarterly and adjust takabces as new information becomes available. @amie tax rate is significantly affected by
the tax rates that apply to our foreign earningsaddition to local country tax laws and regulasioour income tax rate depends on the extent
that our earnings are indefinitely reinvested algghe U.S. Indefinite reinvestment is determingdnianagement's judgment about and
intentions concerning our future operations. At &aber 31, 2012, $11.9 hillion of earnings had kiedgfinitely reinvested outside the U.S.,
primarily in active non-U.S. business operationg @ not intend to repatriate these earnings td tli$. operations and, accordingly, we do
not provide for U.S. federal income and foreignhiiitlding tax on these earnings.

Deferred tax assets represent amounts availalbéaltece income taxes payable on taxable incometimefyears. Such assets arise
because of temporary differences between the finbreporting and tax bases of assets and liadsliths well as from net operating loss anc
credit carryforwards. We evaluate the recoverabdftthese future tax deductions and credits bgssag the adequacy of future expected
taxable income from all sources, including revecdabxable temporary differences, forecasted dpgraarnings and available tax planning
strategies. These sources of income rely heavilgstimates that are based on a number of factmisiding our historical experience and shor
range and long-range business forecasts. At Deaedih@012 , we had a valuation allowance on aeftas carryforwards based on our
assessment that it is more likely than not thatiferred tax asset will not be realized.

We recognize and measure uncertain tax positioasdordance with generally accepted accountingipiies in the U.S., or GAAP,
pursuant to which we only recognize the tax beriadin an uncertain tax position if it is more ligghan not that the tax position will be
sustained on examination by the taxing authoribasged on the technical merits of the position. thixebenefits recognized in the financial
statements from such positions are then measusatilmn the largest benefit that has a greater3aercent likelihood of being realized uj
ultimate settlement. We report a liability for uoognized tax benefits resulting from uncertaingazitions taken or expected to be taken in a
tax return. GAAP further requires that a changgidgment related to the expected ultimate resatutibuncertain tax positions be recognized
in earnings in the quarter in which such changeiscdNe recognize interest and penalties, if aghated to unrecognized tax benefits in
income tax expense.

We file annual income tax returns in multiple taxjarisdictions around the world. A number of yeanray elapse before an uncertain
position is audited by the relevant tax authoriéied finally resolved. While it is often difficuld predict the final outcome or the timing of
resolution of any particular uncertain tax positias@ believe that our reserves for income taxdeatethe most likely outcome. We adjust these
reserves, as well as the related interest, wheymppate in light of changing facts and circumses Settlement of any particular position
could require the use of cash.

The following table illustrates our effective teates for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 :

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In millions, except percentages)
Provision for income taxes $ 478 % 681 $ 297
As a % of income before income taxes 15% 17% 14%

Our future effective tax rates could be adversélycted by earnings being lower than anticipatedanntries where we have lower
statutory rates and higher than anticipated in t@swhere we have higher statutory rates, by gbsim the valuation of our deferred tax
assets or liabilities, or by changes or interpretatin tax laws, regulations or accounting prifesp In addition, we are subject to the
continuous examination of our income tax returnghgylnternal Revenue Service, as well as varitate sind foreign tax authorities. We
regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcameggting from these examinations to determineatiequacy of our provision for income
taxes.
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Based on our results for the year ended Decemhe&?@P , a one-percentage point change in our gi@vifor income taxes as a
percentage of income before taxes would have egbuitan increase or decrease in the provisioppfaximately $31 million , resulting in an
approximate $0.02 change in diluted earnings paresh

Revenue Recognition

We may enter into certain revenue transactionmanily related to arrangements in our GSI segmedtcartain advertising contracts,
that are considered multiple element arrangemantar(gements with more than one deliverable). We @alay enter into arrangements to
purchase goods and/or services from certain custme a result, significant interpretation andguorebnt is sometimes required to determine
the appropriate accounting for these transactiocisiding: (1) how the arrangement consideratiorukhbe allocated among potential multiple
deliverables; (2) developing an estimate of thadst@one selling price of each deliverable; (3) thiee revenue should be reported gross (as
eBay is acting as a principal), or net (as eBactsg as an agent); (4) when we provide cash dereion to our customers, determining
whether we are receiving an identifiable benefit ik separable from the customer's purchase gbrmglucts and/or services and for which we
can reasonably estimate fair value; and (5) whdtleearrangement would be characterized as revenug@mbursement of costs incurred.
Changes in judgments with respect to these assongéind estimates could impact the timing or amotirdvenue recognition.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The purchase price of an acquired company is dkddaetween intangible assets and the net tangisiets of the acquired business \
the residual of the purchase price recorded aswitio@he determination of the value of the intaolgi assets acquired involves certain
judgments and estimates. These judgments can mdud are not limited to, the cash flows that sseais expected to generate in the fu
and the appropriate weighted average cost of dapita

At December 31, 2012, our goodwill totaled $8.%idml and our identifiable intangible assets, néled $1.1 billion. We assess the
impairment of goodwill of our reporting units antlyaor more often if events or changes in circusmnses indicate that the carrying value may
not be recoverable. Goodwill is tested for impantnat the reporting unit level by first performiagjualitative assessment to determine
whether it is more likely than not that the faituaof the reporting unit is less than its carryiradue. If the reporting unit does not pass the
gualitative assessment, then the reporting uratisy/ing value is compared to its fair value. Thi Yalues of the reporting units are estimated
using market and discounted cash flow approac@emdwill is considered impaired if the carryingwalof the reporting unit exceeds its fair
value. The discounted cash flow approach usesctegbéuture operating results. Failure to achignese expected results may cause a future
impairment of goodwill at the reporting unit. Wenelucted our annual impairment test of goodwilbB8ugust 31, 2012 and 2011. Asare
of this test, we determined that no adjustmeniéocarrying value of goodwill for any reporting tewas required. See “Note Goodwill anc
Intangible Assets” to the consolidated financiatetnents included in this report. As of December2®12, we determined that no events or
circumstances from August 31, 2012 through DecerBbeP012 indicated that a further assessment eesssary.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure and recognize stock-based compensapense based on the fair value measurement fshaitk-based payment awards
made to our employees and directors, including eygd stock options, employee stock purchases atricted stock awards over the service
period for awards expected to vest. Stock-basegeasation expense recognized for 2012 , 2011 abd ®@s $488 million , $458 million
and $381 million , respectively. See “Note 16 -cBtBased and Employee Savings Plans” to the cateteldl financial statements included in
this report.
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We calculated the fair value of each restrictedlssoward based on our stock price on the dateasftgiVe calculated the fair value of
each stock option award on the date of grant usiadlack-Scholes option pricing model. The deteation of fair value of stock option
awards on the date of grant using an option-prianoglel is affected by our stock price as well auagptions regarding a number of additional
variables described below. The use of a Black-Ssholodel requires extensive actual employee excbeibavior data and a number of
assumptions, including expected life, expectedtilibja risk-free interest rate and dividend yiells a result, future stock-based compensatior
expense may differ from our historical amounts. Weighted-average grant-date fair value of stodioop granted during 2012 , 2011 and
2010 was $11.21 , $9.87 and $6.77 per share, ridgglgcusing the Black-Scholes model with the daling weighted-average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Risk-free interest rate 0.7% 1.2% 1.4%
Expected life (in years) 4.C 3.8 34
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected volatility 38% 38% 37%

Our computation of expected volatility for 2012012 and 2010 was based on a combination of histaaind market-based implied
volatility from traded options on our stock. Oungoutation of expected life was determined baselistorical experience of similar awards,
giving consideration to the contractual terms ef skock-based awards, vesting schedules and ekipastaf future employee behavior. The
interest rate for periods within the contractutd bf the award was based on the U.S. Treasurd gigive in effect at the time of grant. The
estimation of awards that will ultimately vest regs judgment, and to the extent actual resultgoiated estimates differ from our current
estimates, such amounts will be recorded as a @ativelladjustment in the period estimates are rdvidée consider many factors when
estimating forfeitures, including employee clasd historical experience.

ITEM 7A: QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Foreign Currency Exposure

We have significant operations internationally theg denominated in foreign currencies, primatily Euro, British pound, Korean won
and Australian dollar, subjecting us to foreignreacy risk which may adversely impact our financésults. We transact business in various
foreign currencies and have significant internatlaevenues as well as costs. In addition, we @hauy international subsidiaries for their use
of intellectual property and technology and fortair corporate services provided by eBay and byPBhyOur cash flow, results of operations
and certain of our intercompany balances that gpesed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations mégmdnaterially from expectations and we
may record significant gains or losses due to fpreurrency fluctuations and related hedging atitivi

We have a foreign exchange exposure managemengprdbat aims to identify material foreign curremoyposures, to manage these
exposures, and to reduce the potential effectsiméncy fluctuations on our reported consolidateshcflows and results of operations through
the purchase of foreign currency exchange contr@bisse foreign currency exchange contracts areuated for as derivative instruments. For
additional details related to our derivative ingtants, please see “Note 8 - Derivative Instrumetatshe consolidated financial statements
included in this report.

Interest Rate Risk

The primary objective of our investment activitisgo preserve principal while at the same timermeng yields without significantly
increasing risk. To achieve this objective, we rtaimour portfolio of cash equivalents and shonrt@nd long-term investments in a variety of
asset types, including bank deposits, money méukels, government bonds, and corporate debt seurAs of December 31, 2012 ,
approximately 55% of our total cash and investnpemtfolio was held in cash and cash equivalentssueh, changes in interest rates will
impact interest income. As discussed below, fixed securities may have their fair market valueseskly affected due to a rise in interest
rates, and we may suffer losses in principal ifaneforced to sell securities that have declineshamket value due to changes in interest rates
Additionally, changes in interest rates will impaterest expense on borrowings under our revoleieglit facility, which bear interest at
floating rates, and the interest rate on any comialgpaper borrowings we make and on any debt gexiwe issue in the future and,
accordingly, will impact interest expense or cdstet revenues (or both).

As of December 31, 2012 , we held no direct investisi in auction rate securities, collateralizedt @éltigations, structured investment

vehicles or mortgage-backed securities. For aduitidetails related to our investment activitideape see "Note 6 - Investments" to the
consolidated financial statements included in tafort.
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Investments in both fixed-rate and floating-rateiast-earning instruments carry varying degreéstefest rate risk. The fair market
value of our fixed-rate investment securities mayalversely impacted due to a rise in interessraegeneral, fixedate securities with long
maturities are subject to greater interest-ratethian those with shorter maturities. While flogtiate securities generally are subject to less
interest-rate risk than fixed-rate securities, tilogrrate securities may produce less income thpedated if interest rates decrease and may als
suffer a decline in market value if interest ratesease. Due in part to these factors, our investrimcome may fall short of expectations or
may suffer losses in principal if securities arllgbat have declined in market value due to chamgénterest rates. As of December 31, 2012
the balance of our government bond and corpordies#eurity portfolio was $3.9 billion , which reggented approximately 31% of our total
cash and investment portfolio. As of December 81,22, our government bond and corporate debt dgquoitfolio earned an average pretax
yield of approximateh1.62% , with a weighted average maturity of 24 rhentf interest rates at the end of the year wéfetasis points
higher (lower), the fair market value of our tdiskd-income investment portfolio as of December&112 could have decreased (increased)
by approximately $58 million .

Investment Risk

As of December 31, 2012, our cost and equity neetheestments totaled $327 million , which représdrapproximately 3%f our tota
cash and investment portfolio and were primarilatesl to equity method investments in privatelydrmdmpanies. We review our investments
for impairment when events and circumstances ineliaalecline in fair value of such assets belowyoag value is other-than-temporary. Our
analysis includes a review of recent operatingltesund trends, recent sales/acquisitions of thargees in which we have invested and other
publicly available data. During 2012, we did natarl any material impairment on our cost or equigthod investments.

Equity Price Risk

We are exposed to equity price risk on marketafplétg instruments due to market volatility. At Deaeer 31, 2012 , the total fair value
of our marketable equity instruments (primarilyated to our equity holdings in MercadoLibre) wa8&#nillion , which represented
approximately 5% of our total cash and investmemtfplio.

European Debt Exposures

We actively monitor our exposure to the Europearkets, including the impact of sovereign debt issagsociated with Greece, Irela
Portugal, Italy and Spain. As of December 31, 2042 did not have any direct investments in theessign debt, of these countries or in debt
securities issued by corporations or financialiingons organized in these countries. We maingagmall number of operating bank accounts
with Spanish, Italian and Portuguese banks that halances that we do not consider material.
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ITEM 8: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements and accompgmptes listed in Part IV, Item 15(a)(1) of thienual Report on Form 10-K are
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on ForrK10

ITEM 9: CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A: CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedur&ased on the evaluation of our disclosure contant procedures (as defined in the
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the SecuHtiesange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act) requingdExchange Act Rules 13a-15(b) or
15d-15(b), our principal executive officer and guincipal financial officer have concluded thatedishe end of the period covered by this
report, our disclosure controls and procedures wHeetive.

Changes in internal controlsThere were no changes in our internal controls Gimancial reporting as defined in Exchange Act
Rule 13a-15(f) that occurred during our most rdlgectimpleted fiscal quarter that have materialfigetied, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over fingaareporting.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Ovieancial Reporting.Our management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting. Our management, including our printigeecutive officer and principal financi
officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiv@nef our internal control over financial reportio@sed on the framework internal Control -
Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission. Based on its evalnaiiwder the
framework inlnternal Control - Integrated Framewortlour management concluded that our internal cbaotrer financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2012 .

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31, 2012 has beditealiby PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP, an independent registered public accounting,fas stated in their report which appears in li&ga) of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.

ITEM 9B: OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.

PART 1lI

ITEM 10: DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNRXCE

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Staterfmmbur 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to lbedf with the SEC within
120 days after the end of the year ended Decenihed(a 2 .

Code of Ethics, Governance Guidelines and Committearters

We have adopted@ode of Business Conduct and Ethitat applies to all eBay employees and directors.Have also adoptedGode o
Ethics for Senior Financial Officethat applies to our senior financial officers, umtihg our principal executive officer, principahéincial
officer and principal accounting officer. Ti®de of Ethics for Senior Financial Officassincluded in ouCode of Business Conduct and
Ethicsposted on our website http://investor.ebayinc.com/governance.ctiife will post any amendments to or waivers fromGlogle of Ethic
for Senior Financial Officerat that location.

We have also adoptd&slovernance Guidelines for the Board of Directarsl a written committee charter for each of ourifud
Committee, Compensation Committee and Corporatefdavnce and Nominating Committee. Each of thesardents is available on our
website ahttp://investor.ebayinc.com/governance.cfm.

ITEM 11: EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statenfi@mdur 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to thedf with the SEC within
120 days after the end of the year ended Decenihe@@(3 2 .

Annual stock option grants awarded to executivegaiced and granted to executives on the sameaddtat the same price that they are
granted to and priced for the rest of our eligéaeployees and have the same four-year vesting slgheth the past, these stock option grants
have been awarded on March 1 of each year (or iEMa was not a trading day, the next

78




trading day with vesting effective as of March Beginning in 2012, these annual stock option grant awarded on April 1 (or if April 1 is
not a trading day, the next trading day with vegtiffective as of April 1).

ITEM 12: SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Staterfmmbur 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to lbedf with the SEC within
120 days after the end of the year ended Decenihed(3 2 .

ITEM 13: CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, ANCDIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statenfi@mbur 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to thedf with the SEC within
120 days after the end of the year ended Decenihe@(3 2 .

ITEM 14: PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Staterfmmbur 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to lbedf with the SEC within
120 days after the end of the year ended Decenihed(a 2 .
PART IV

Item 15: EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
(a) The following documents are filed as part @ tieport:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements:

Page
Number
Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm E1
Consolidated Balance Sheet E-2
Consolidated Statement of Income E-3
Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Incoe F-4
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity E5
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements E-8
2. Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts E-43

All other schedules have been omitted becausenthamation required to be set forth therein is aygplicable or is shown in the financial
statements or notes thereto.




3. Exhibits.



Incorporated by Reference

Filed with
No. Exhibit Description this 10-K Form File No. Date Filed
2.01*++ Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of Septemd@09d, as 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
amended on September 14, 2009, by and among RedjstBay
International AG, Sonorit Holding, A.S. and Sprioglod Group
S.a.r.l. (formerly SLP Ill Cayman DS IV Holdingsag.l.)
2.02* Amendments to Share Purchase Agreement, dated@ctaber 19, 8-K 00024821 11/20/200¢
2009, October 21, 2009, November 5, 2009 and Noeerh®, 200¢
by and among Registrant, eBay International AG dsibiriolding,
A.S. and Springboard Group S.a.r.l. (formerly SURCRyman DS
IV Holdings S.a.r.l.)
2.03** Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated March 27, 2a8digng 8-K 00024821 3/30/200¢
Registrant, Gibraltar Acquisition Corp. and GSI Goerce, Inc.
3.01 Registrant's Amended and Restated Certificate adfrfroration. 8-K 00024821 4/27/201%
3.02 Registrant's Amended and Restated Bylaws. 8-K 00024821 4/27/201%
4.01 Form of Specimen Certificate for Registrant's ComrStock. S-1 33359097 8/19/199¢
4.02 Indenture dated as of October 28, 2010 betweensRagt and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee. 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
4.03 Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 28, Bétleen
Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank, National Associgtas trustee. 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
4.04 Forms of 0.875% Senior Note due 2013, 1.625% Sé\ite due
2015 and 3.250% Senior Note due 2020. 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
4.05 Forms of 0.70% Note due 2015, 1.35% Note due 2DB0D% Note 8-K 00024821
due 2022 and 4.00% Note due 2042. 7/24/201z
4.06 Indenture dated as of July 2, 2007 between GSI Genven Inc. and 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
The Bank of New York, as trustee.
4.07 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of June@¥] o the 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Indenture dated as of July 2, 2007 between GSI| Gencen Inc. and
The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee.
4.08 Form of 2.50% Convertible Senior Note d0272 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
10.01+  Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into by Registmwith each S-1 33359097 7/15/199¢
of its directors and executive officers.
10.02+  Registrant's 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
10.03+  Form of Stock Bonus Agreement under Registran®8 Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Incentive Plan.
10.04+  Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrar@$81Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢

Incentive Plan.
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Incorporated by Reference

Filed with

No. Exhibit Description this 10-K Form File No. Date Filed

10.05+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Penfamce-Based 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under Registrari%38 Equity
Incentive Plan.

10.06+ Registrant's Amended and Restated 1998 Employed Siarchase 10-Q 00024821 7/27/2007
Plan.

10.07+  Registrant's 1998 Directors Stock Option Plan,rasraled. 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.08+  Registrant's 1999 Global Equity Incentive Planam&nded. 10-Q 00024821 7127/2007

10.09+  Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrard%91Global 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Equity Incentive Plan.

10.10+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under Regig's 1999 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
Global Equity Incentive Plan.

10.11+ Registrant's 2001 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.12+  Form of Stock Option Agreement under RegistrafiG12Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Incentive Plan.

10.13+  Registrant's 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan, as a®en 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.14+ Amendment to Registrant's 2003 Deferred Stock Blaih, effective 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
April 2, 2012.

10.15+  Form of Director Award Agreement under RegistraR@63 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Deferred Stock Unit Plan.

10.16+  Form of Electing Director Award Agreement under Regnt's 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan.

10.17+  Form of New Director Award Agreement under Registea2003 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Deferred Stock Unit Plan.

10.18+  Form of 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan Restricteac8tUnit Grant 10-Q/A 00024821 4/24/200¢
Notice and Agreement.

10.19+  Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan, mgladed and DEF 14A 00024821 3/19/201z
restated.

10.20+  Amendment to the Registrant's 2008 Equity Incenfiward Plan, 10-Q 00024821 7/29/200¢
Registrant's 2001 Equity Incentive Plan, Registsal®99 Global
Equity Incentive Plan, Registrant's 1998 Equityeimive Plan and
Shopping.com Ltd. 2004 Equity Incentive Plan.

10.21+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (&w®formance- 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z

Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under Regiss 2003
Deferred Stock Unit Plan, Registrant's 2008 Eglritentive Award
Plan and GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentiaa P



10.22+

10.23+

10.24+

10.25+

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (wWillodified
Vesting) under Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentiweafd Plan.

Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrari@32Equity
Incentive Award Plan.

Form of Stock Option Agreement (with Modified Vesf) under
Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.

Form of Performance Share Unit Award Agreement unde
Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.
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Incorporated by Reference

Filed with
No. Exhibit Description this 10-K Form File No. Date Filed
10.26+ Form of Director Deferred Stock Unit Award Agreerhander 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.
10.27+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Pentamce- 8-K 00024821 6/25/200¢
Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under Regiss
2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.
10.28+ eBay Incentive Plan. DEF 14A 00024821 3/19/201(
10.29+ Amendment to eBay Incentive Plan, effective ApriR12. 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
10.30+ eBay Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan. 8-K 00024821 12/20/200:
10.31+ Employment Letter Agreement dated March 31, 20@8yben 10-Q/A 00024821 4/24/200¢
John Donahoe and Registrant.
10.32+ Letter Agreement dated September 30, 2008 betweerrR 10-Q 00024821 10/23/200¢
Swan and Registrant.
10.33+ GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan. 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
10.34+ Amendment to GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity Incenti 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Plan.
10.35+ Amendment to GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity Incenti 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Plan, effective April 2, 2012.
10.36+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement un@&i 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201:
Commerce, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.
10.37+ GSI Commerce, Inc. Leadership Team Incentive Ffdad as
Appendix B to GSI Commerce, Inc.'s Definitive Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the Commissioipril
25, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference).
10.38+ Amendment to GSI Commerce, Inc. Leadership Teararliie 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Plan, effective April 2, 2012.
10.39+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Pentamce- 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under GSh@erce,
Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.
10.40+ eBay Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan. DEF 14A 00024821 3/19/201z
10.41+ Letter Agreement dated July 7, 2011 between Choiso 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Saridakis and Registrant.
10.42+ Amended and Restated Performance Award Agreemésd @z 10-Q 00024821 4/20/201z
of March 28, 2012 between the Registrant and Gipisr
Saridakis.
10.43+ Offer letter dated August 30, 2011 and execute8eptember 8-K 00024821 9/6/2011

2, 2011 between Registrant and Devin Wenig.



10.44+

10.45

Offer letter dated March 29, 2012 and executed anchi 30, 8-K
2012 between Registrant and David Marcus

Credit Agreement, dated as of November 22, 201 By 8-K
among Registrant, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, and the other parties thereto
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Incorporated by Reference

Filed with

No. Exhibit Description this 10-K Form File No. Date Filed
12.01 Statement regarding computation of ratio of eammitagfixed

charges. X
21.01 List of Subsidiaries. X
23.01 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP consent. X
24.01 Power of Attorney (see signature page). X
31.01 Certification of Registrant's Chief Executive Offi¢ as require

by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
31.02 Certification of Registrant's Chief Financial Offig as required

by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
32.01 Certification of Registrant's Chief Executive Offic as require

by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
32.02 Certification of Registrant's Chief Financial Offig as required

by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
101.INS XBRL Instance Document X
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document X
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutne X
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen X
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document X
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenim X

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatonygolarrangeme

++ Portions of this exhibit are subject to a requestbnfidential treatment and have been redactddilu separately with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.

* The annexes and schedules to the Share Purchasem@nmt have been omitted from this filing pursuartem 601(b)(2) of Regulation
S-K. The Registrant will furnish copies of any axe®or schedules to the Securities and Exchangen@sion upon request.

**  The schedules and exhibits to the Agreement andd?I¥erger have been omitted from this filing puast to Item 601(b)(2) of
Regulation S-K. The Registrant will furnish copasany annexes or schedules to the Securities addaBge Commission upon request.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of eBay:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under Iltem 15{g)(&sent fairly, in all material respects, thefinial
position of eBay Inc. and its subsidiaries at Delgen81, 2012 and December 31, 2011, and the resfitheir operations and their cash flows for eatthe
three years in the period ended December 31, 20&@riformity with accounting principles generalgcapted in the United States of America. In additio
our opinion, the financial statement scheduledistethe index appearing under item 15(a)(2) presstirly, in all material respects, the informatiset forth
therein when read in conjunction with the relatedsolidated financial statements. Also in our aminithe Company maintained, in all material respect
effective internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2012, based on criteria estagliininternal Control - Integrated Framewoigsued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of thea@lwvay Commission (COSO). The Company's managdamezgponsible for these financial statements
and financial statement schedule, for maintainiifgcéive internal control over financial reportiagd for its assessment of the effectiveness ofriateontrol
over financial reporting, included in ManagemeRt&port on Internal Control over Financial Reporti®gir responsibility is to express opinions on ¢hes
financial statements, on the financial statemehéduale, and on the Company's internal control &mancial reporting based on our integrated audlits.
conducted our audits in accordance with the stalsdafrthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Ba&fdited States). Those standards require thatlare
and perform the audits to obtain reasonable asser@nout whether the financial statements arediresaterial misstatement and whether effectiverivde
control over financial reporting was maintainedlhmaterial respects. Our audits of the finanstatements included examining, on a test basideace
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fishstatements, assessing the accounting prirsciyged and significant estimates made by manageareht
evaluating the overall financial statement preg@maOur audit of internal control over financiaporting included obtaining an understanding térimal
control over financial reporting, assessing thk gt a material weakness exists, and testingeaatliating the design and operating effectivenéggernal
control based on the assessed risk. Our auditsralkmled performing such other procedures as wsidered necessary in the circumstances. We béliave
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our op#i

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial repog
and the preparation of financial statements foeml purposes in accordance with generally acdegateounting principles. A company's internal coinbver
financial reporting includes those policies andcgidures that (i) pertain to the maintenance ofrdscthat, in reasonable detail, accurately andyfeaflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets afdhgpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance thasations are recorded as necessary to permitrptepaof
financial statements in accordance with generalbepted accounting principles, and that receipisexpenditures of the company are being made anly i
accordance with authorizations of management aedtdirs of the company; and (iii) provide reasoaassurance regarding prevention or timely deteatfo
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition ef¢bmpany's assets that could have a materiat effethe financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any evatuatf
effectiveness to future periods are subject taitiethat controls may become inadequate becauskasfges in conditions, or that the degree of canpé
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
January 31, 2013
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PART I: FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ltem 1: Financial Statement:

eBay Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

December 31, December 31,
2012 2011
(In millions, except par value amounts)
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,817 $ 4,691
Short-term investments 2,591 1,23¢
Accounts receivable, net 82z 682
Loans and interest receivable, net 2,16( 1,501
Funds receivable and customer accounts 8,09« 3,96¢
Other current assets 914 581
Total current assets 21,39¢ 12,66:
Long-term investments 3,04« 2,45
Property and equipment, net 2,491 1,98¢
Goodwill 8,53 8,36¢
Intangible assets, net 1,12¢ 1,40¢
Other assets 47¢€ 44¢
Total assets $ 37,07¢ % 27,32(

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Short-term debt $ 41: % 56&
Accounts payable 301 282
Funds payable and amounts due to customers 8,09/ 3,96¢
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 1,91¢ 1,511
Deferred revenue 137 11C
Income taxes payable 63 29¢

Total current liabilities 10,92 6,73¢

Deferred and other tax liabilities, net 972 1,07:
Long-term debt 4,10¢ 1,52¢
Other liabilities 207 58
Total liabilities 16,20¢ 9,39(

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Stockholders' equity:

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 3,580 shares dméthrl,294 and 1,286 shares outstanding 2 2
Additional paid-in capital 12,06: 11,14¢
Treasury stock at cost, 271 and 249 shares (8,059 (7,155
Retained earnings 15,99¢ 13,38¢
Accumulated other comprehensive income 85¢€ 54¢
Total stockholders' equity 20,86¢ 17,93(

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 37,07¢ % 27,32(

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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eBay Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

Net revenues
Cost of net revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Product development
General and administrative
Provision for transaction and loan losses
Amortization of acquired intangible assets
Total operating expenses
Income from operations
Interest and other, net
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Net income per share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares:
Basic

Diluted

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

(In millions, except per share amounts)

14,07. $ 11,65. $ 9,15¢
4,21¢ 3,461 2,56¢
9,85¢ 8,191 6,59-
2,915 2,43t 1,947
1,57¢ 1,23 90¢
1,567 1,36¢ 1,101

58C 517 392
33t 267 19¢
6,96¢ 5,81¢ 4,53¢
2,88¢ 2,37: 2,05¢
19€ 1,53 44
3,08¢ 3,91( 2,09¢
(475) (681) (297)
2,60¢ $ 3,22¢ $ 1,801
2.0: $ 25 $ 1.3¢
1.9¢ $ 2.4€ $ 1.3€
1,29z 1,29: 1,30¢€
1,31 1,31 1,32

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.




eBay Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In millions)
Net income $ 260¢ $ 322¢ $ 1,801
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of recliasgibn adjustments:
Foreign currency translation 33t (280) (17€)
Tax (expense) benefit on foreign currency transhati 2 — 12
Unrealized gains (losses) on investments, net 99 57 117
Tax (expense) benefit on unrealized gains (losse#vestments, net (6) (35) (398)
Unrealized gains (losses) on hedging activities, ne (127 58 18
Tax (expense) benefit on unrealized gains (losze$ledging activities, net 4 (2) (2)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net tax 307 (201) (68)

Comprehensive income $ 291¢ $ 3,026 $ 1,73¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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eBay Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common stock:
Balance, beginning of year
Common stock issued
Common stock repurchased/forfeited
Balance, end of year
Additional paid-in-capital:
Balance, beginning of year

Common stock and stock-based awards issued anchadsu

Stock-based compensation
Stock-based awards tax impact
Structured stock repurchases
Non-controlling interests
Balance, end of year
Treasury stock at cost:
Balance, beginning of year
Common stock repurchased
Balance, end of year
Retained earnings:
Balance, beginning of year
Net income
Balance, end of year
Accumulated other comprehensive income:
Balance, beginning of year
Change in unrealized gains on investments
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on cash flalgds
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Tax benefit (provision) on above items
Balance, end of year
Total stockholders' equity
Number of Shares:
Common stock:
Balance, beginning of year
Common stock issued
Common stock repurchased/forfeited

Balance, end of year

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In millions)

$ 2 % 2 3 2
2 2 2
11,14¢ 10,48: 9,98¢
31z 13C 124
48¢ 45¢ 381
117 44 (13)
— — 3
_ 32 —
12,06: 11,14¢ 10,48:
(7,155 (6,097) (5,377
(89€) (1,069 (714
(8,059 (7,155 (6,097)
13,38¢ 10,16( 8,35¢
2,60¢ 3,22¢ 1,801
15,99¢ 13,38¢ 10,16(
54¢ 75C 81¢
99 57 117
(127) 58 18
33t (280) (176
— (36) (27
85€ 54¢ 75C
$ 20,86¢ $ 17,93( $ 15,30:
1,28¢ 1,29¢ 1,29¢
30 22 27
(29 (39 (27)
1,294 1,28¢ 1,29¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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eBay Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

(In millions)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 2,60¢ $ 3,22¢ % 1,801
Adjustments:

Provision for transaction and loan losses 58( 517 392
Depreciation and amortization 1,20( 94( 762
Stock-based compensation 48¢ 45¢ 381
Deferred income taxes (35) 17 34¢
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation (130 (8C) (42)
Gain on sale of Skype — (1,669 —
(Gain) loss on divestiture of businesses (11¢) 257 —
Gain on acquisitions — (79) —

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acqaisiffects

Accounts receivable (207) (292) (112)
Other current assets (310) 18 (252)
Other non-current assets (9€) (19) 74
Accounts payable (2€) 2¢ 9)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (164) (202) (95)
Deferred revenue 28 12 (©)]
Income taxes payable and other tax liabilities 9 132 (500)
Net cash provided by operating activities 3,83¢ 3,27 2,74¢
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment, net (1,257 (963) (724)
Changes in principal loans receivable, net (727) (587) (380)
Purchases of investments (3,12¢) (2,290) (2,649
Maturities and sales of investments 1,421 1,59¢ 1,43¢
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (143) (3,229 (92)
Repayment of Skype note receivable — — 12t
Proceeds from divested business, net of cash didpos 144 — —
Proceeds from the sale of Skype — 2,26¢ —
Other (73) (209) (6)
Net cash used in investing activities (3,769) (3,307) (2,289
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 48¢ 24z 23¢
Repurchases of common stock (89¢) (1,069 (7173)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 13C 8C 42
Tax withholdings related to net share settlemehtssiricted stock awards and units (18€) (147) (127)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net 2,97¢ — 1,48¢
Net (repayments) and borrowings under commercigépprogram (550 25( 30C
Repayment of acquired debt — (299) —
Funds receivable and customer accounts (4,12¢) (1,369) (399)
Funds payable and amounts due to customers 4,12¢ 1,36¢ 39:
Other 4) — —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities 1,951 (83¢) 1,23¢
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casratmts 10C (a5) (120)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalent 2,12¢ (88¢) 1,571

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 4,691 5,571 4,00(




Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 6,817 $ 4,691 % 5,571




Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Common stock options assumed pursuant to acquisitio

Note receivable from divested business

The accompanying notes are an

$ 15 %
$ 78¢ $
$ —  $
$ — 3

integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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eBay Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — The Company and Summary of Significant Aaunting Policies
The Company

We are a global technology company that enablegremee through three reportable segments: Markegp)deayments and GSI. Our
Marketplaces segment includes our eBay.com platfomthits localized counterparts and our other entilatforms, such as our online
classifieds businesses and StubHub. Our Paymegnsese is comprised of PayPal, Bill Me Later and @o@ur GSI segment consists of GSI,
which was added upon the completion of our acqarsitf GSI on June 17, 2011. The results of our &§iment have been included in our
consolidated results of operations from the actjorsdate.

We are required to comply with various regulatisrsldwide in order to operate our businesses, @adily our Payments business. We
also partner with banks and other financial initius in order to offer our Payments services dlgb&hanges in regulations, non-compliance
with regulations or loss of key bank or financiatitution partners could have a significant adeénspact on our ability to operate our
Payments business; therefore, we monitor theses atesely to mitigate potential adverse impacts.

When we refer to “we,” “our,” “us” or “eBay” in teidocument, we mean the current Delaware corporé&iBay Inc.) and its California
predecessor, as well as all of our consolidatedidigvies.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesm@ntonformity with U.S. generally accepted acdmgprinciples (GAAP) requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfengtttae reported amounts of assets and liaksligied disclosure of contingent assets anc
liabilities at the date of the consolidated finahstatements and the reported amounts of reveangesxpenses during the reporting period. Ol
an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, imgjutiose related to provisions for transaction laaah losses, legal contingencies, income
taxes, revenue recognition, stock-based compemnsatimdwill and the recoverability of intangiblesats. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions théelieve to be reasonable under the circumstaatsal results could differ from those
estimates.

Principles of consolidation and basis of presentati

The accompanying financial statements are congelidand include the financial statements of eBay, lwur wholly and majority-
owned subsidiaries and variable interest entiti¢tEs") if we are the primary beneficiary. Ownenglinterests of minority interests are
recorded as a non-controlling interest. All sigrafit intercompany balances and transactions haredieninated in consolidation. A
gualitative approach is applied to assess the ¢idason requirement for VIEs. Investments in @etwhere we hold at least a 20% ownershij
interest and have the ability to exercise signiftaafluence, but not control, over the investee arcounted for using the equity method of
accounting. For such investments, our share oiffthestees’ results of operations is included ierggt and other, net and our investment
balance is included in long-term investments. ltwests in entities where we hold less than a 20%eoghip interest are generally accounted
for using the cost method of accounting, and oareslof the investees' results of operations isugwdl in our consolidated statement of income
to the extent dividends are received.

We have evaluated all subsequent events througthatieethe financial statements were issued.

Revenue recognition

Our Marketplaces segment generates net transaetienues primarily from listing and final value $geaid by sellers. Listing fee
revenues are recognized ratably over the estingEgadd of the listing, while revenues related t@fivalue fees are recognized at the time tha
the transaction is successfully concluded. An auadtiansaction is considered successfully concludeeh at least one buyer has bid above th
seller's specified minimum price or reserve pneBichever is higher, at the end of the transadisom.
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eBay Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Our Payments segment earns net transaction revenoeily from processing transactions for custen&evenues resulting from a
payment processing transaction are recognized thiecansaction is completed.

Our GSI segment generates net transaction revemumarily from providing ecommerce technology, argeocessing, fulfilment and
customer care services to its clients. The revecaa be fixed or variable and are based on tligtggierformed and/or the value of
merchandise sold. Revenues are recognized astleelying activity is performed or upon shipmentled underlying merchandise.

Our marketing services and other revenues, inclirdedl of our segments, are derived principallynfrthe sale of advertisements,
revenue sharing arrangements, classifieds feeketiray service fees and lead referral fees, asagethe revenues described in the next
paragraph. Our advertising revenues are derivextipally from the sale of online advertisementse Thration of our advertising contracts has
ranged from one week to five years, but is generalke week to one year. Advertising revenues otraots are recognized as
“impressions” (i.e., the number of times that ameatisement appears in pages viewed by users afiebsites) are delivered, or as
“clicks” (which are generated each time users arveebsites click through our text-based advertisgsto an advertiser's designated website
are provided to advertisers. For contracts withimirm monthly or quarterly advertising commitmentsene the fee and commitments are
fixed throughout the term, we recognize revenughigitover the term of the agreement. Some of oueriding contracts consist of multiple
elements which generally include a blend of variougsressions and clicks as well as other markedeliyerables. Where neither vendor-
specific objective evidence nor thipdrty evidence of selling price exists, we use rganmeent's best estimate of selling price (BESP)ltaate
arrangement consideration on a relative basisab eeement. BESP is generally based on the sqiliings of the various elements when they
are sold to customers of a similar nature and gagigr on a stand-alone basis or estimated stan@-gigcing when the element has not
previously been sold stand-alone. These estimategemerally based on pricing strategies, marlatbfa and strategic objectives. Revenues
related to revenue sharing arrangements are rexejbased on revenue reports received from oungrartprovided that collectability is
reasonably assured. Revenues related to feesfioglitems on our classified websites are recaghwer the estimated period of the class
listing. Lead referral fee revenue is generatethftead referral fees based on the number of timeseaclicks through to a merchant's website
from our websites. Lead referral fees are recoghizehe period in which the user clicks throughtite merchant's website.

Our other revenues are derived principally fromtcactual arrangements with third parties that pte\services to our users, interest
earned on certain PayPal customer account balamcemterest and fees earned on the Bill Me Labetfqio of loan receivables. Revenues
from contractual arrangements with third partiesracognized as the contracted services are detiverend users. Interest income on certain
PayPal customer balances is recognized when edmterkst and fees earned on the Bill Me Laterfpliotof loan receivables are computed
and recognized based on contractual interest anchfes, and are net of any required reservesrandiaation of deferred origination costs.

To drive traffic to our websites, we provide indeas to our users in the form of coupons and bayek seller rewards. These incentives
are generally treated as reductions in revenue.

Internal use software and website development costs

Direct costs incurred to develop software for ingdruse and website development costs are capitisdind amortized over an estimated
useful life of one to five years. During the yearsled December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 , we dapdatosts, primarily related to labor and
stock-based compensation, of $285 million , $21Haniand $193 million , respectively. Amortizatiaf previously capitalized amounts was
$184 million , $166 million and $147 million for 2@ , 2011 and 2010 , respectively. Costs relatédaalesign or maintenance of internal use
software and website development are expensecaséa.

Advertising expense

We expense the costs of producing advertisemeiite dime production occurs and expense the casbroimunicating advertisements in
the period during which the advertising space dima¢ is used as sales and marketing expensenéitadvertising expenses are recognized
based on the terms of the individual agreement&hik generally over the greater of the ratiohef humber of impressions delivered over the
total number of contracted impressions, on a payefiek basis, or on a straight-line basis overtren of the contract. Advertising expense
totaled $1.1 billion , $977 million and $808 millidor the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 @hdl 2respectively.
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eBay Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Stock-based compensation

We issue two types of stock-based awards to emptoyestricted stock units (including performanesda restricted stock units) and
stock options. We primarily issue restricted stooks. We determine compensation expense assoaidtiedestricted stock units based on the
fair value of our common stock on the date of gré¥¢ determine compensation expense associatedtwoitk options based on the estimated
grant date fair value method using the Black-Schoduation model. We generally recognize compémsaixpense using a straight-line
amortization method over the respective vestingppdior awards that are ultimately expected to vAstordingly, stock-based compensation
expense for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 has been redacedtimated forfeitures. When estimating forfedgjrwe consider voluntary termination
behaviors as well as trends of actual option faufes. We recognize a benefit from stock-based emsgtion in equity to the extent that an
incremental tax benefit is realized by followingthrdering provisions of the tax law. In additiare account for the indirect effects of stock-
based compensation on the research tax crediharforteign tax credit through our consolidatedestant of income.

Provision for transaction losses

We are exposed to losses due to payment card badgdayment misuse, as well as non-performancadteedit losses from sellers.
Provisions for these items represent our estimiadetoal losses based on our historical experianceactuarial techniques, as well as econ
conditions. Provision for transaction losses ineliayPal's transaction loss expense as well ssslossulting from our customer protection
programs on and off our platforms.

Income taxes

We account for income taxes using an asset aniityadpproach, which requires the recognition @fés payable or refundable for the
current year and deferred tax liabilities and askmtthe future tax consequences of events that haen recognized in our financial statement
or tax returns. The measurement of current andideféax assets and liabilities is based on promsbf enacted tax laws; the effects of future
changes in tax laws or rates are not anticipafetbdessary, the measurement of deferred tax dsseduced by the amount of any tax ben:
that are not expected to be realized based onadmiévidence.

We report a liability for unrecognized tax benef#sulting from uncertain tax positions taken goexted to be taken in a tax return. We
recognize interest and penalties, if any, relabegihtrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term, higilydiinvestments with original maturities of thmeenths or less when purchased and
are mainly comprised of bank deposits, money mdtkats and commercial paper.

Allowance for doubtful accounts and authorized ciiexl

We record our allowance for doubtful accounts bagewh our assessment of various factors. We coniigirical experience, the age
the accounts receivable balances, credit qualiguoicustomers, current economic conditions andrdtictors that may affect our customers'
ability to pay. The allowance for doubtful accouatsl authorized credits was $89 million and $8Tionilat December 31, 2012 and 2011 ,
respectively.

Loans and interest receivable, net

Loans and interest receivable represent purchasezlimer receivables arising from loans made bytagrachartered financial institutic
to individual consumers in the U.S. to purchasedgand services through our Bill Me Later mercheattvork. The terms of the consumer
relationship require us to submit monthly billshe consumer detailing loan repayment requirem@aihs.terms also allow us to charge the
consumer interest and fees in certain circumstamas to the relatively small dollar amount of widual loans and interest receivable, we do
not require collateral on these balances.
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eBay Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Allowance for loans and interest receivable

The allowance for loans and interest receivableasgmts management's estimate of probable logsereint in our Bill Me Later
portfolio. The provision related to the principalincluded in provision of transaction and loars&ssand the provision related to the interest is
recorded as a reduction of marketing services #imef oevenue. The allowance for loans and intesxstivable represents management's
estimate of probable losses inherent in our Bill Mger portfolio, which is considered to be of asgment and one class. Management's
evaluation of probable losses is subject to judgmand numerous estimates, including forecastedtipal balance delinquency rates ("roll
rates"). Roll rates are the percentage of balathz#ave estimate will migrate from one stage ofraglency to the next based on our historical
experience, as well as external factors such asasid bankruptcies and levels of unemployment.rbleates are applied to principal and
interest balances for each stage of delinqueneo fiurrent to 180 days past due, in order to es#iitiee loans and interest that are probable t
be charged off by the end of 180 days.

We charge off loans and interest receivable imtbath in which the customer balance becomes 186 plast due. Bankrupt accounts are
charged off within 6@lays of receiving notification of customer bankayptrom the courts. Past due loans receivable soatto accrue intere
until such time as they are charged-off, with thetipn of the reserve related to interest recewddallance classified as a reduction of revenue

Funds receivable and funds payable

Funds receivable and funds payable relate primayigur Payments segment and arise due to thetdimlear transactions through
external payment networks. When customers fund #esiount using their bank account or credit cardyithdraw money to their bank acco
or through a debit card transaction, there is arirlg period before the cash is received or settledally one to three business days for
U.S. transactions, and generally up to five busirssy/s for international transactions. To a lesgtent and primarily related to our
Marketplaces segment, we generate funds receiuabkrtain foreign locations from external credibyiders that settle within 12 months
($263 million and $203 million as of December 30212 and 2011 , respectively).

Customer accounts

Based on differences in regulatory requirementscamadmercial law in the jurisdictions where PayRag¢mates, PayPal previously held
customer balances either as direct claims agamg®® or as an agent or custodian on behalf of &@y€ustomers. Customer balances held b
PayPal as an agent or custodian on behalf of &®mers are not reflected on our consolidated balaheet, while customer balances held as
direct claims against PayPal are reflected on onsalidated balance sheet as funds receivablewstdmer accounts. Based on changes to ol
U.S. PayPal user agreement effective November 112, Z8ayPal began holding U.S. customer balancésexs claims against PayPal, rather
than as an agent or custodian on behalf of sucR&aystomers. As a result, effective Novemb&012, all U.S. PayPal customer balances,
which were previously not reported on our constédabalance sheet, have been reflected as asseis ¢onsolidated balance sheet under
"Funds receivable and customer accounts," withsan@ated liability under "funds payable and amsuiue to customers.” At December 31,
2012, PayPal held all customer balances (bothantls. and internationally) as direct claims agafas/Pal. We maintain these customer
account balances in interest and non-interest hgénk deposits, including time deposits with mgtudates of less than one year.

Investments

Short-term investments, which include marketablgtgaecurities, time deposits and government b@mkscorporate debt securities
with original maturities of greater than three ntanbut less than one year when purchased, aréfidldsss available-for-sale and are reported
at fair value using the specific identification imed. Unrealized gains and losses are excluded &mmings and reported as a component of
other comprehensive income (loss), net of relastidhated tax provisions or benefits.

Long-term investments include marketable governrbents and corporate debt securities, time depasdscost and equity method
investments. Debt securities are classified adablaifor-sale and are reported at fair value usimegspecific identification method. Unrealized
gains and losses on our available-for-sale investsnare excluded from earnings and reported asnpaoent of other comprehensive income
(loss), net of related estimated tax provisionbamefits.

Certain time deposits are classified as held tairitgtand recorded at amortized cost. Our equittho@ investments are investments in
privately held companies. Our consolidated resaflgperations include, as a component of intenedtaher, net, our share of the net incon
loss of the equity method investments. Our sharewafstees' results of operations is
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

not significant for any period presented. Our ensthod investments consist of investments in pelyateld companies and are recorded at
cost. Amounts received from our cost method investeere not material to any period presented.

We assess whether an other-than-temporary impaido&ion our investments has occurred due tordecin fair value or other market
conditions. With respect to our debt securitiess #ssessment takes into account the severity aradiah of the decline in value, our intent to
sell the security, whether it is more likely thast that we will be required to sell the securitydse recovery of its amortized cost basis, and if
we do not expect to recover the entire amortizest lbasis of the security (that is, a credit logstex We did not recognize an other-than-
temporary impairment loss on our investments in2202011 , or 2010 .

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historicdlless accumulated depreciation. Depreciation ispded using the straighibe methoc
over the estimated useful lives of the assets,rgéineone to three years for computer equipmeudtsoftware, up to thirty years for buildings
and building improvements, ten years for aviatignipment, the shorter of five years or the terrtheflease for leasehold improvements and
three years for furniture, fixtures and vehicles.

Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill is tested for impairment at a minimum onamnual basis. Goodwill is tested for impairmdrtha reporting unit level by first
performing a qualitative assessment to determinethdr it is more likely than not that the fair valof the reporting unit is less than its carn
value. If the reporting unit does not pass thditpive assessment, then the reporting unit'syaagrvalue is compared to its fair value. The
fair values of the reporting units are estimatddgisnarket and discounted cash flow approached®ill is considered impaired if the
carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its¥alue. The discounted cash flow approach ugpeated future operating results. Failure to
achieve these expected results may cause a fatpagriment of goodwill at the reporting unit. Wendocted our annual impairment test of
goodwill as of August 31, 2012 and 2011. As altesuhis test we determined that no adjustment to the carryigevaf goodwill for any
reporting units was required.

Intangible assets consist of purchased custonterdisl user base, trademarks and trade namesppesig¢bchnologies and other
intangible assets, including patents and contrheigrgements. Intangible assets are amortizedtbegueriod of estimated benefit using the
straight-line method and estimated useful livegi@g from one to eight years. No significant residealue is estimated for intangible assets.

Impairment of long-lived assets

We evaluate long-lived assets (including intangdseets) for impairment whenever events or chainggscumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not loeverable. An asset is considered impaired ifarsying amount exceeds the undiscounted
future net cash flow the asset is expected to géaein 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , no impairment wasdo

Foreign currency

Most of our foreign subsidiaries use the local ency of their respective countries as their fumalaurrency. Assets and liabilities are
translated at exchange rates prevailing at thenbalaheet dates. Revenues, costs and expensematated into U.S. dollars using daily
exchange rates if the transaction is recorded iraocounting systems on a daily basis, and otherusing average exchange rates for the
period. Gains and losses resulting from the traiosiaf our consolidated balance sheet are recaadeslcomponent of accumulated other
comprehensive income.

Gains and losses from foreign currency transactmasecognized as interest and other, net.

Derivative instruments

We have significant international revenues as a®ltosts denominated in foreign currencies, subgeas to foreign currency risk. We
purchase foreign currency exchange contracts thelifg as cash flow hedges, generally with matesitof 18 months or less, to reduce the
volatility of cash flows related primarily to forasted revenue and intercompany transactions deatenlifn certain foreign currencies. All
outstanding derivatives are recognized on the lbalaheet at fair value. The effective portion &f designated derivative's gain or loss is
initially reported as a component of accumulatdeeptomprehensive income and is subsequently sifidabinto the financial statement line
item in which the hedged item is recorded in thees@eriod the forecasted transaction affects egsnin
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We also economically hedge our exposure to foreignency denominated monetary assets and liabilitieh foreign currency contrac
The gains and losses on the foreign exchange atsigaonomically offset transaction gains and essecertain foreign currency denomine
monetary assets and liabilities recognized in egiAccordingly, these outstanding non-designdegtvatives are recognized on the balance
sheet at fair value and changes in fair value ftlo@se contracts are recorded in interest and atbéim the consolidated statement of income.
Our derivatives program is not designed or operfettading or speculative purposes.

Our derivative instruments expose us to credittisthe extent that our counterparties may be wnimbimeet the terms of the agreements
We seek to mitigate this risk by limiting our coergarties to major financial institutions and byesaling the risk across several major finar
institutions. In addition, the potential risk oskwith any one counterparty resulting from thjgetyf credit risk is monitored on an ongoing
basis. See “Note 8 - Derivative Instruments” fodiidnal information related to our derivative inghents.

Concentration of credit risk

Our cash, cash equivalents, accounts receivalalasland interest receivable, funds receivable aatbmer accounts are potentially
subject to concentration of credit risk. Cash, aghivalents and customer accounts are placedfiwéhcial institutions that management
believes are of high credit quality. In additionnéls receivable are generated with financial iattins or credit card companies that
management believes are of high credit quality. &wounts receivable are derived from revenue ddroen customers located in the U.S. .
internationally. Our loans and interest receivaske derived from consumer financing activitiesdostomers located in the U.S. As of
December 31, 2012 and 2011 , no customer accofmtedore than 10% of net accounts receivable otagats receivable. During the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 , no custroeunted for more than 10% of net revenues.

Note 2 — Net Income Per Share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividietgincome for the period by the weighted averagaber of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted net incoree ghare is computed by dividing net income forghgod by the weighted average number
of shares of common stock and potentially dilutteenmon stock outstanding during the period. Thetid# effect of outstanding options and
restricted stock is reflected in diluted net incopee share by application of the treasury stockieekt The calculation of diluted net income pel
share excludes all anti-dilutive shares. The foilmptable sets forth the computation of basic aihdet net income per share for the periods
indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010

(In millions, except per share amounts)

Numerator:
Net income $ 2,60¢ $ 3,22¢  $ 1,801
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares - basic 1,292 1,29: 1,30¢
Dilutive effect of equity incentive plans 21 20 21
Weighted average common shares - diluted 1,31 1,31 1,327
Net income per share:
Basic $ 20z $ 250 $ 1.3¢
Diluted $ 1.9¢ $ 2.4€ $ 1.3¢€
Common stock equivalents excluded from income petedl share because their effect
would have been anti-dilutive 4 17 32
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Note 3 — Business Combinations and Divestitures
Our acquisition activity in 2012 , 2011 and 201@as as follows:

2012 Acquisition and Divestiture Activity

During 2012, we completed three acquisitions, tivavloich are included in our Marketplaces segment@me in our Payments segment,
for aggregate purchase consideration of approxign&tet9 million , consisting primarily of cash. Th#ocation of the purchase consideration
resulted in net liabilities of approximately $21llilon , purchased intangible assets of $70 milkor goodwill of $100 million The allocation
of the purchase price for these acquisitions haenlprepared on a preliminary basis and are subjestimates, assumptions and other
uncertainties, and changes to those allocationsaveyr as additional information becomes available consolidated financial statements
include the operating results of the acquired rssins since the respective dates of the acqussifsn forma results of operations have not
been presented because the effect of the acquisitias not material to our financial results.

In May 2012, we completed the sale of Rent.conpfoceeds of approximately $145 million , resultin@ gain of approximately $118
million . The results of operations from Rent.cora aot material to any period presented.

2011 Acquisition and Divestiture Activity

During 2011, we completed thirteen acquisitions|uding the acquisitions of GSI, brands4friendgtiGidiyor and Zong. Allocation of
the purchase consideration for the business conibinsacompleted in 2011 is summarized as follows:

Net Tangible
Assets Acquired/
Purchase (Liabilities Purchased
Consideration Assumed) Intangible Assets Goodwill
(In millions)
GSl $ 2,371 $ 12¢ $ 81¢ $ 1,43(
brands4friends 19z (33 76 15C
GittiGidiyor 23t (©)] 53 191
Zong 232 (36) 77 191
Other 40z (34) 164 272
Total $ 3,43¢ $ 16 $ 1,18¢ $ 2,23¢

The purchase consideration for each acquisitionallasated to the tangible assets and identifiatilngible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their estimated falines on the acquisition date, with the remainingllocated purchase consideration recorded
as goodwill. The fair value assigned to identifeabitangible assets acquired was determined pHimariusing valuation methods that disco
expected future cash flows to present value usstignates and assumptions determined by managePunchased identifiable intangible as
are amortized on a straight-line basis over thpaetsve useful lives. We generally do not expeaidyuill to be deductible for income tax
purposes.

GSl
Acquisition

We completed the acquisition of GSI on June 17120G&SI is a leading provider of ecommerce andautive marketing services. We
acquired GSI to utilize its comprehensive integiaaite of online commerce and interactive markgservices to strengthen our ability to
connect buyers and sellers worldwide. We paid $28et share, and assumed restricted stock-basedsawih a fair value of approximately
$25 million , resulting in total consideration gffgoximately $2.4 billion . In addition, we paid amount equal to $0.33 per share or
approximately $24 million , which was separate distinct from the per share merger consideratiomertain GSI security holders in
connection with the settlement of litigation rethte the acquisition of GSI and recorded that paynegeneral and administrative expenses.
GSl is reported as a separate segment.
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Divestiture

In conjunction with the acquisition of GSI, we imdi&tely divested 100 percent of GSl's licensedtspoerchandise business and 70
percent of GSI's ShopRunner and RuelLala busin¢ssgther, the "divested businesses"). The divaststhesses were sold to Kynetic, LLC
(formerly known as NRG Commerce, LLC), which weereto as Kynetic, led by GSI's former Chairman siient and Chief Executive
Officer, Mr. Michael Rubin, for a note receivabléhva face value of $467 million . The note receiegbears interest at an annual rate equal t
3-month LIBOR plus 1.10% , matures in December 2008 is secured by certain assets of the divdsatsithesses. The fair value of the note
receivable was determined to be $287 million basedomparable market interest rates and is recardether assets in our consolidated
balance sheet. The difference between the fairevaiithe note receivable and the carrying valuthefdivested businesses resulted in a loss ©
approximately $257 million . The loss was recordehterest and other, net in our consolidatedestaint of income.

The carrying value of our retained stake in thegfhoner and RuelLala businesses was $75 millionsaretorded in long-term
investments. We account for our retained interegthié ShopRunner and RuelLala businesses undeqitg miethod of accounting and record
our proportionate share of net income (loss) onexquarter lag as a component of interest and ,atle¢in our consolidated statement of
income. Our exposure to loss resulting from ouarfiting arrangement with Kynetic and equity investtaén RueLalLa and ShopRunner is
limited to the carrying value of the note receiveabhd equity investments, respectively. We alseredtinto a transitional services agreement,
pursuant to which GSI provided to the divested iesses certain transitional services for a limgtedod. GSI has also entered into a
transitional services agreement, pursuant to wiishproviding to the divested businesses cettt@insitional services for a limited period, as
well as certain other commercial agreements withd€ig and its affiliates.

Intangible Assets

The following table sets forth the components ¢dmgible assets acquired in connection with the &8§uisition (excluding intangible
assets sold in connection with the divested buse®s

Description Fair Value Useful Life (Years)
(In millions, except years)
Trademarks $ 8 2
User base 66¢ 5
Developed technology 14z 5
Total $ 81¢

We have included the financial results of GSI im consolidated financial statements from the dagecquisition.
Pro forma financial information

The unaudited pro forma financial information i ttable below summarizes the combined results obperations and those of GSI for
the periods shown as though the acquisition of &8lthe sale of the divested businesses had odaasref the beginning of fiscal year 2010.
The pro forma financial information for the perigai®sented includes the business combination atiogueffects of the acquisition, including
amortization charges from acquired intangible asséte pro forma financial information as presenelbw is for informational purposes or
is subject to a number of estimates, assumptiod®#rer uncertainties, and is not indicative ofrthsults of operations that would have been
achieved if the acquisition and divestiture hacktaglace at January 1, 2010. The unaudited proddimancial information is as follows (no
pro forma information is presented for 2012 as {S$tcluded in the consolidated results of operatifor the full year):

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010
(In millions, except per share amounts)
Total revenues $ 12,03¢ $ 10,02
Net income 3,16¢ 1,68
Basic earnings per share 2.4k 1.2¢
Diluted earnings per share $ 241 % 1.27
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brands4friends

brands4friends, an online shopping club for fasksiod lifestyle in Germany, was acquired duringftist quarter of 2011 for total cash
consideration of approximately $193 million . Thampany is included in our Marketplaces segment.d@nsolidated financial statements
include the operating results of brands4friendmftbe date of acquisition. Pro forma results ofraplens have not been presented because tt
effect of the acquisition was not material to oonsolidated results of operations.

GittiGidiyor
In the second quarter of 2011, we acquired additishares of GittiGidiyor, an online marketplacéirkey. We previously held a non-

controlling interest in GittiGidiyor, and followinthe completion of the acquisition of these addgicshares, we own approximately 98%the
outstanding shares of GittiGidiyor. The followirabte summarizes the purchase consideration (imoms):

Cash paid $ 182
Fair value of non-controlling interest 31
Fair value of previously held equity interest 22

Total purchase consideration $ 23¢

This company is included in our Marketplaces segm&na result of obtaining control over GittiGidiy our previously held 10%teres
was remeasured to fair value resulting in a gai®ldf million . The gain has been recognized inregeand other, net in our consolidated
statement of income. We recorded the remainingaamtrolling interest in additional paid-in capitalour consolidated balance sheet as the
amount is not significant. Our consolidated finahstatements include the operating results of@dtyor from the date of acquisition. Pro
forma results of operations have not been presdrgeduse the effect of the acquisition was not n@t® our consolidated results of
operations.

Zong

Zong is a provider of payment services through heotarrier billing. We completed the acquisitionZaing on August 11, 2011 , for total
cash consideration of approximately $232 millidrhe business is included in our Payments segmemtc@nsolidated financial statements
include the operating results of Zong from the adtacquisition. Pro forma results of operationgehaot been presented because the effect o
the acquisition was not material to our consolidatsults of operations

Other
* Magentc

We completed our acquisition of Magento, which apes an ecommerce storefront platform, on Augus2@&1 . We previously held a
non-controlling interest in Magento of 49.9% of thestanding shares, and following the completibthe acquisition, we own 100% of the
outstanding shares of Magento. As a result of abtgicontrol over Magento, our previously held iett was remeasured to fair value, which
resulted in a gain of $56 million . The gain hasrbeecognized in interest and other, net in ouscbdated statement of income. Our
consolidated financial statements include the dpeyaesults of Magento from the date of acquisitiMagento is included in our X.commerce
initiative. Pro forma results of operations have loeen presented because the effect of the adguoisiis not material to our consolidated
results of operations.

e Other

Other acquisition activity during 2011 consisteceigfht acquisitions. four acquisitions are includtedur Marketplaces segment and four
acquisitions are included in our Payments segnidm.purchase consideration for these acquisitionsisted solely of cash. Our consolidated
financial statements include the operating resfltdl of these acquisitions from the respectiveeda@f acquisition. Pro forma results of
operations have not been presented because tloe @ffbese acquisitions was not material to oursetidated results of operations.

2010 Acquisition Activity

We acquired three companies during 2010 for aggegqmarchase consideration of $96 million consisprigharily of cash. Each of these
three companies is included in our Marketplacesnsgy. Allocation of the purchase consideration liedun net tangible assets of $0.3
million , purchased intangible assets of $18 milland goodwill of $78 million .
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Note 4 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill

The following table presents goodwill balances adplistments to those balances for each of our t&plersegments and corporate
investments for the year ended December 31, 20d 2@l :

December 31, December 31,
December 31, Goodwill Goodwill
2010 Acquired Adjustments/Allocations 2011 Acquired Adjustments/Disposals 2012
(In millions)
Reportable segments:
Marketplaces $ 4,04t ¢ 38C $ 85 $ 451C $ 22 $ 3¢ $ 4,732
Payments 2,14¢ 31C 56 2,51t 8 4 2,51¢
GSI — 1,48¢ (197 1,29: — (59 1,23¢
Corporate and other — 114 (67) 47 — — 47
Total Goodwill $ 6,194 $ 2,28t $ 1179 % 836t $ 10C $ 72 % 8,53

The adjustments to goodwill during the year endeddmnber 31, 2012 were due primarily to foreigneney translation
and changes in tax items. A portion of goodwill gicgd as part of the GSI acquisition and Magentuaition (included in Corporate and
Other) was allocated to the Marketplaces and Patsrssgments, respectively, based on synergies xptrbe realized. The adjustments to
goodwill during the year ended December 31, 201ewlee primarily to foreign currency translation.

We conducted our annual impairment test of goodaelbf August 31, 2012 and determined that no &dprst to the carrying value of
goodwill for any reportable units was necessaryoPBecember 31, 2012 , we determined that no eventircumstances from August 31,
2012 through December 31, 2012 indicated thatthduiassessment was necessary.

Intangible Assets

The components of identifiable intangible asse¢saarfollows:

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Weighted Weighted
Gross Average Net Average
Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Useful Life Gross Carrying  Accumulated Carrying Useful Life
Amount Amortization Amount (Years) Amount Amortization Amount (Years)

(In millions, except years)

Intangible assets:
Customer lists and user

base $ 164 % 99) % 652 5 $ 1,63 % (787 $ 84¢€ 5

Trademarks and trade

names 743 (569) 174 5 73C (469) 261 5

Developed technologies 52E (322) 205 4 49¢ (249) 24¢ 3

All other 252 (159 98 4 182 (132) 50 4
$ 3,16¢ $ (2,036 % 1,12¢ $ 3,04 $ (1,637 $ 1,40¢

Amortization expense for intangible assets was $488n , $337 million and $254 million for the ses ended December 31, 2012 ,
2011 and 2010, respectively.
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Expected future intangible asset amortization a3axfember 31, 2012 is as follows (in millions):

Fiscal years:
2013 $ 40¢
2014 29¢
2015 244
2016 121
2017 32
Thereafter 24

$ 1,12¢

Note 5 — Segments

We have three reporting segments: MarketplacesnBats and GSI. We allocate resources to and adseperformance of each
reporting segment using information about its reneand operating income (loss). We do not evalopéeating segments using discrete asset
information. We do not allocate gains and lossesifequity investments, interest and other incomégxes to operating segments.

The corporate and other category includes incoxpereses and charges such as:

« results of operations of various initiatives whgtipport all of our reporting segmel

e corporate management costs, such as human resdimeese and legal, not allocated to our segm
e amortization of intangible asse

e restructuring charges; a

« stockbased compensation expel

The following tables summarize the financial perfance of our reporting segments and provide a wmigton to our consolidated
operating results for the periods reflected beldatd for the year ended December 31, 2011 inclulesfBce the date of acquisition):
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Net Revenue
Marketplaces
Net transaction revenues
Marketing services and other revenues

Payments
Net transaction revenues
Marketing services and other revenues

GSl
Net transaction revenues
Marketing services and other revenues

Corporate and other
Marketing services and other revenues

Elimination of inter-segment net revenués
Total consolidated net revenue

Operating income (loss)
Marketplaces
Payments
GSlI
Corporate and other

Total operating income (loss)

(1) Represents revenue generated between our abfmsgegments.
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Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In millions)

6,07¢ $ 5431 $ 4,80(
1,32(C 1,211 921
7,39¢ 6,642 5,721
5,14¢ 4,127 3,261
42¢ 28¢ 174
5,57¢ 4,412 3,43t
85C 46C —
238 13C —
1,08: 59C —
39 8 —
(22) — —
14,07: % 11,65: $ 9,15¢
294: $ 2631 $ 2,30¢
1,35¢ 97¢ 722
12¢ 83 —
(1,542 (1,319 (979
288t $ 2370 % 2,054
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The following tables summarize the allocation dof m¥enues and long-lived tangible assets basagtography:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In millions)
Net revenues:
u.S. $ 6,77¢ 3 548 $ 4,21¢
Germany 1,67¢ 1,53¢ 1,204
United Kingdom 1,88¢ 1,572 1,267
Rest of world 3,72¢ 3,057 2,471
Total net revenues $ 14,07 $ 11,65: $ 9,15¢€

December 31,

2012 2011
(In millions)
Long-lived tangible assets:
U.S. $ 2,727 % 2,20z
International 22z 12¢
Total long-lived tangible assets $ 2,94¢  § 2,33]

Net revenues are attributed to U.S. and internatigaographies primarily based upon the countmyhicth the seller, payment recipient,
customer, website that displays advertising, oeosiervice provider, as the case may be, is locataty-lived assets attributed to the U.S. and
international geographies are based upon the goimtvhich the asset is located or owned. Totagtssby segment are not presented as that
information is not used to allocate resources sess performance at the segment level and is vietrred by our Chief Operating Decision
Maker.

Note 6 — Investments

At December 31, 2012 and 2011 , the estimated/&dire of our short-term and long-term investmefassified as available for sale, are
as follows:

December 31, 2012

Gross Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(In millions)
Short-term investments:
Restricted cash $ 15 % — 3 —  $ 15
Corporate debt securities 1,15(C 3 — 1,15:%
Government and agency securities 20 — — 20
Time deposits and other 765 — — 765
Equity instruments 8 63C — 63€
$ 1,95¢ $ 63: $ —  $ 2,591
Long-term investments:
Corporate debt securities 2,61t 54 — 2,66¢
Government and agency securities 41 1 — 42
$ 2,65¢ $ SIS —  $ 2,711
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December 31, 2011

Gross Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(In millions)
Short-term investments:
Restricted cash $ 19 $ — ¢ — 3 19
Corporate debt securities 44¢ 1 — 44¢
Government and agency securities 42 — — 42
Time deposits and other 82 — — 82
Equity instruments 8 63€ — 64¢€
$ 50¢ $ 63 $ — 3 1,23¢
Long-term investments:
Restricted cash $ 1 9 — 3 — 8 1
Corporate debt securities 2,23¢ 6 (58) 2,18¢
Government and agency securities 70 1 — 71
$ 2,30¢ % 7 % (58 $ 2,25¢

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, we held $6 millind $5 million, respectively, of time deposits classified as helchaturity which ar
recorded at amortized cost.

We had no material long-term or short-term invesita¢hat have been in a continuous unrealizeddosgion for greater than 12 months
as of December 31, 2012 . Amounts reclassifiedtairgs from unrealized gains and losses were abd¢nmal in 2012, 2011 and 2010,

Our fixed-income investment portfolio consists oforate debt securities and government and agermyrities that have a maximum
maturity of six years. The corporate debt and gowvent and agency securities that we invest in aneiglly deemed to be low risk based on
their credit ratings from the major rating agenciése longer the duration of these securitiesntioee susceptible they are to changes in mark
interest rates and bond yields. As interest ratease, those securities purchased at a lower sfiglw a mark-to-market unrealized loss. The
unrealized losses are due primarily to changesdditspreads and interest rates. We expect tzeethle full value of all these investments
upon maturity or sale. As of December 31, 2012s¢hsecurities had a weighted average remainirggidnrof approximately 18 months.
Restricted cash is held primarily in money marketds and interest bearing accounts for lettersegficrelated primarily to our global
sabbatical program and various lease arrangements.

The estimated fair values of our short-term andj{term investments classified as available for bgldate of contractual maturity at
December 31, 2012 are as follows:

December 31,

2012
(In millions)
One year or less (including restricted cash of $15) $ 2,591
One year through two years 1,01¢
Two years through three years 492
Three years through four years 76€
Four years through five years 42(
Five years through six years 1€
$ 5,30

Equity and cost method investments

We have made multiple equity and cost method imvests which are reported in long-term investmentsur consolidated balance
sheet. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011 , ourequi cost method investments totaled $327 mikind $190 million , respectively. During
2012, we entered into a joint venture arrangemaéiht avthird party resulting in an equity investmehn®$130 million in exchange for our
contribution of $12 million cash and commitmenttmtribute certain assets of a business unit upteirang further regulatory approvals.
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Note 7 — Fair Value Measurement of Assets and Lialities

The following tables summarize our financial asseid liabilities measured at fair value on a reogrbasis as of December 31, 2Gi®]
2011:

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets for Significant Other
Balance as of Identical Assets Observable Inputs
Description December 31, 2012 (Level 1) (Level 2)
(In millions)
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,817 % 568 $ 1,132
Short-term investments:
Restricted cash 15 15 —
Corporate debt securities 1,152 — 1,152
Government and agency securities 20 — 2C
Time deposits 76E — 76%
Equity instruments 63€ 63€ —
Total short-term investments 2,591 653 1,93¢
Derivatives 55 — 55
Long-term investments:
Restricted cash — — —
Corporate debt securities 2,66¢ — 2,66¢
Government and agency securities 42 — 42
Total long-term investments 2,711 — 2,711
Total financial assets $ 12,17:  $ 6,33t $ 5,83¢
Liabilities:
Derivatives $ 86 % —  $ 86
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Quoted Prices in

Active Markets for Significant Other
Balance as of Identical Assets Observable Inputs
Description December 31, 2011 (Level 1) (Level 2)
(In millions)
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,691 % 4,691 % —
Short-term investments:
Restricted cash 19 19 —
Corporate debt securities 44¢ — 44¢
Government and agency securities 42 — 42
Time deposits 82 — 82
Equity instruments 64¢€ 64¢€ —
Total short-term investments 1,23¢ 665 573
Derivatives 112 — 112
Long-term investments:
Restricted cash 1 1 —
Corporate debt securities 2,18¢ — 2,18¢
Government and agency securities 71 — 71
Total long-term investments 2,25¢ 1 2,251
Total financial assets $ 829¢ % 5357 $ 2,94
Liabilities:
Derivatives $ 60 § —  § 60

Our financial assets and liabilities are valueshgsnarket prices on both active markets (levelnt) lass active markets (level 2). Level 1
instrument valuations are obtained from real-timetgs for transactions in active exchange marketving identical assets. Level 2
instrument valuations are obtained from readilyilatée pricing sources for comparable instrumelidisntical instruments in less active
markets, or models using market observable infits.majority of our derivative instruments are \ewsing pricing models that take into
account the contract terms as well as multiple iapthere applicable, such as equity prices, inteeds yield curves, option volatility and
currency rates. Our derivative instruments are grilynshort-term in nature, generally one montlone year in duration. Certain foreign
currency contracts designated as cash flow heddersdto 18 months in duration. Cash and cash atgrits are short-term, highly liquid
investments with original or remaining maturitidsiree months or less when purchased and are ¢sadgorimarily of bank deposits, money
market funds, and commercial paper. We did not lesenyetransfers of financial instruments betweematibn levels during 2012 and 2011.

In addition to the long-term investments noted ahave had approximately $327 million and $190 willbf cost and equity method
investments included in long-term investments oncmnsolidated balance sheet at December 31, 20d2@l1 , respectively.

As of December 31, 2012 , we held no direct invesii® in auction rate securities, collateralizedt @éligations, structured investment
vehicles or mortgage-backed securities.

Other financial instruments, including accountsereable, loans and interest receivable, funds ved#e, customer accounts, short-term

debt, accounts payable, funds payable and amousttoccustomers are carried at cost, which apprata@stheir fair value because of the shor
term nature of these instruments.
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Note 8 — Derivative Instruments

The notional amounts associated with our foreigmericy contracts at December 31, 2012 and 2011 $&febillion and $4.2 billion
respectively, of which $2.3 billion and $2.0 bitlig respectively, were designated as cash flow éedgerivative transactions are measured in
terms of the notional amount, but this amount isracorded on the balance sheet and is not, wiewed in isolation, a meaningful measure o
the risk profile of the instruments. The notionadaunt is generally not exchanged, but is used aslthe basis on which the value of foreign
exchange payments under these contracts are detzrmi

During each of the fiscal years presented, the atsaecognized in earnings on derivative instrumeesignated as cash flow hedges
related to the ineffective portion were not mateaad we did not exclude any component of the gbarin fair value of the derivative
instruments from the assessment of hedge effeessei\s of December 31, 2012 , we estimate thah$Hibn of net derivative losses related
to our cash flow hedges included in accumulatedrotbmprehensive income will be reclassified iraonégs within the next 12 months.

Fair Value of Derivative Contracts

The fair value of our outstanding derivative ingtents was as follows:

Derivative Assets Reported in Other Derivative Liabilities Reported in
Current Assets Other Current Liabilities
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2012 2011 2012 2011
(In millions)
Foreign exchange contracts designated as casthiéidges $ 1 3 75 % 56 $ 3
Foreign exchange contracts not designated as fgedgin
instruments 43 29 30 57
Other contracts not designated as hedging instrtemen 11 8 — —
Total fair value of derivative instruments $ 55 § 11z § 86 $ 6C

Effect of Derivative Contracts on Accumulated Oth€omprehensive Income

The following table summarizes the activity of detive contracts that qualify for hedge accountisgpf December 31, 2012 and 2011,
and the impact of designated derivative contractaaumulated other comprehensive income for thesyended December 31, 2012 and
2011 :

Amount of gain (loss)
reclassified from
accumulated other

Amount of gain (loss) comprehensive income
recognized in other to net revenue and operating
comprehensive income expense
December 31, 2011 (effective portion) (effective portion) December 31, 2012
(In millions)
Foreign exchange contracts
designated as cash flow hedges $ 72 (54) 77 % (59
Amount of gain (loss)
reclassified from
accumulated other
Amount of gain (loss) comprehensive income
recognized in other to net revenue and operating
comprehensive income expense
December 31, 2010 (effective portion) (effective portion) December 31, 2011
(In millions)
Foreign exchange contracts
designated as cash flow hedges $ 14 72 14 3 72
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Effect of Derivative Contracts on Consolidated Statent of Income

The following table provides the location in ourdncial statements of the recognized gains or $osdated to our derivative

instruments:
Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010
(In millions)
Foreign exchange contracts designated as cashfidges recognized in net revenues $ 44 3 (26) $ 11
Foreign exchange contracts designated as casthfidges recognized in operating expenses 16 @) —
Foreign exchange contracts not designated as hgdgtruments recognized in interest a
other, net — 5) 9
Other contracts not designated as hedging instrtemenognized in interest and other, net 3 (@D} —
Total gain (loss) recognized from derivative coatsan the consolidated statement of
income 63 $ (39) $ 2
Note 9 — Balance Sheet Components
As of December 31,
2012 2011
(In millions)
Other current assets:
Prepaid expenses $ 181 $ 16¢
Income tax receivable 29¢ 3
Deferred tax assets, net 13 48
Interest receivables 66 42
Derivatives 55 112
Other 302 207
$ 914 $ 581
As of December 31,
2012 2011
(In millions)
Property and equipment, net:
Computer equipment and software $ 4,17C % 3,36¢
Land and buildings, including building improvements 807 784
Leasehold improvements 413 33¢
Furniture and fixtures 22C 15C
Construction in progress and other 347 23€
5,957 4,87
Accumulated depreciation (3,46€) (2,89))
$ 2,491 $ 1,98¢

Total depreciation expense on our property andpegent in the years ended December 31, 2012 , 264 2@10 totaled $767 million ,

$603 million and $508 million , respectively.
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As of December 31,

2012 2011
(In millions)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities:

Acquisition related accrued expenses $ 2 3 24
Advertising 17¢ 101
Compensation and related benefits 64¢ 48¢
Contractors and consultants 63 71
Deferred tax liability 35 —
Professional fees 13¢ 12¢
Restructuring 20 2
Derivatives 86 60
Transaction loss accrual 33 62
VAT accrual 147 99
Other current liabilities 57C 47t

$ 1,91¢ $ 1,511

As of December 31,

2012 2011
(In millions)
Accumulated other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation $ 44¢ 3 114
Unrealized gains on investments 687 58¢
Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges (55 72
Estimated tax provision on above items (22%) (225)
$ 85€¢ $ 54¢

Note 10 — Restructuring

2012 Restructuring Plan

In the fourth quarter of 2012, we implemented @glaestructuring plan designed to simplify an@ainline our organization and
strengthen the overall competitiveness of our ixgdbusinesses. The plan includes a strategicctigauof our existing global workforce by
approximately 600 employees and 300 contractorgelated activities, including the closure of certiacilities and asset impairments. The
majority of the costs impacts our PayPal and GSIimsses. In connection with the plan, we incuaggiegate charges of approximately $31
million as of December 31, 2012, primarily relatecseverance and benefits. We expect to incutiaddi charges of approximateBi million
by the completion of the plan, which is currenttheduled for the first quarter of 2013.

The following table summarizes restructuring arfteotrelated charges by segment recognized forehegnded December 31, 2012:

Severance and Benefits Other Total
(In millions)
Marketplaces $ 2 9 — 3 2
Payments 18 1 19
GSI 8 — 8
Corporate 2 — 2
$ 3¢ 3 1 3 31

The above restructuring and other related chaagecluded in general and administrative expenrdabe consolidated statement of
income.
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The following table summarizes the restructuringeree activity during the year ended December 8122

Severance and

Benefits Other Total
(In millions)
Accrued liability as of January 1, 2012 $ — ¢ —  $ —
Charges 30 1 31
Payments (20 — (10)
Non-cash settlements — 1) Q)
Accrued liability as of December 31, 2012 $ 20 % — 2C

2009 Customer Service Consolidation

In 2009, we began the consolidation of certainamstr service facilities in North America and Eurapetreamline our operations and
deliver better and more efficient customer suppmdur users. We completed these activities dutiedirst quarter of 2011. The consolidation
impacted approximately 1,000 employees. In conapatiith the consolidation, we incurred total castapproximately $47 million , primarily
related to employee severance and benefits, ofw$2d million was incurred in 2010. These restrringucosts are presented in general and
administrative expenses on the consolidated stateofiégncome.

The following table summarizes by segment the wesiring costs recognized during the years endextibber 31, 2010:

Employee Severance

and Benefits Facilities Total
(In millions)
Marketplaces $ 18 % 3 3 22
Payments Q) — Q)
$ 18 $ 3 % 21
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Note 11 — Debt

The following tables summarizes the carrying vadtieur outstanding debt as of December 31, 201228dd.:

Coupon Carrying Value as of Effective
Rate December 31, 2012 Interest Rate
(In millions, except percentages)
Long-Term Debt
Senior notes due 2015 1.62%% $ 59¢ 1.805%
Senior notes due 2015 0.70(% 25C 0.82(%
Senior notes due 2017 1.35(% 99¢ 1.45€6%
Senior notes due 2020 3.25(% 49¢ 3.38%
Senior notes due 2022 2.60(% 99¢ 2.678%
Senior notes due 2042 4.00(% 742 4.11%
Total senior notes 4,087
Notes payable 13
Capital lease obligations 6
Total long-term debt $ 4,10¢
Short-Term Debt
Senior notes due 2013 0.87t% $ 40C 1.078%
Notes payable 2
Capital lease obligations 11
Total short-term debt 413
Total Debt $ 4,51¢
Coupon Carrying Value as of Effective
Rate December 31, 2011 Interest Rate
(In millions, except percentages)
Long-Term Debt
Senior notes due 2013 0.87% $ 40C 1.07&%
Senior notes due 2015 1.625% 59¢ 1.80%%
Senior notes due 2020 3.25(% 497 3.38%
Total senior notes 1,49¢
Notes payable 15
Capital lease obligations 15
Total long-term debt $ 1,52¢
Short-Term Debt
Commercial paper $ 55C
Notes payable 2
Capital lease obligations 13
Total short-term debt 56&
$ 2,09(

Total Debt

Senior Notes

In July 2012, we issued senior unsecured notesgemipr notes, in an aggregate principal amounBdjiion , of which $250 million
will mature in July 2015, $1 billion will mature ifuly 2017, $1 billion will mature in July 2022 a#@d50 million will mature in July 2042.
Interest on these senior notes is payable semidpmmJanuary 15 and July 15. Additionally, we
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have other senior notes outstanding in an aggregateipal amount of $1.5 billion , of which $40dlkon will mature in October 2013, $600
million will mature in October 2015 and $500 mitievill mature in October 2020. Interest on these@enotes is payable semiannually on
April 15 and October 15.

The effective interest rates for our fixed-rateigsenotes include the interest payable, the amatitn of debt issuance costs and the
amortization of any original issue discount on gheenior notes. Interest expense associated veifie thenior notes, including amortization of
debt issuance costs, during the years ended Dece&dhp2012 and 2011 was approximately $64 millind &32 million , respectively. At
December 31, 2012 , the estimated fair value dhale senior notes included in long-term debtapgsoximately $4.6 billiotased on mark:
prices on less active markets (Level 2).

The indenture pursuant to which the senior noteg wesued includes customary covenants that, arotirey things, limit our ability to
incur, assume or guarantee debt secured by liespexified assets or enter into sale and leasetbmtgactions with respect to specified
properties, and also includes customary eventgiafudt.

Notes Payable
Notes payable is comprised primarily of a note besrs interest at 6.3% per annum and has a nyadiaté of December 2015.
Capital Lease Obligations

Capital lease obligations are for certain warehaggepment and computer hardware and softwarededabe capital leases have
maturity dates from March 2013 to February 2016 lagak interest at rates ranging from 3% to 9% paum. The present value of future
minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2012w/é&sllows:

December 31, 2012

(In millions)
Gross capital lease obligations $ 18
Imputed interest @
Total present value of future minimum lease paysent $ 17

Commercial Paper

We have a $2 billion commercial paper program pamsto which we may issue commercial paper notés maturities of up to 397
days from the date of issue in an aggregate paheimount of up to $2 billion at any time outstangdiAs of December 31, 2012 , there were
no commercial paper notes outstanding.

Credit Agreement

In 2011, we entered into a credit agreement thatiges for an unsecured $3 billion five-year revdvcredit facility that includes a
$300 million letter of credit sub-facility and atLmillion swingline sub-facility, with availableobrowings under the revolving credit facility
reduced by the amount of any letters of creditamithgline borrowings outstanding from time to tirfée may also, subject to the agreemei
the applicable lenders, increase the commitmerdenithe revolving credit facility by up to $1 bdh . Funds borrowed under the credit
agreement may be used for working capital, capipenditures, acquisitions and other general catpgurposes.

As of December 31, 2012 , no borrowings or lettdrsredit were outstanding under our $3 billionditeagreement. However, as
described above, we have a $2 billion commercipeparogram and maintain $2 billion of availablerbaing capacity under our credit
agreement in order to repay commercial paper bongsvn the event we are unable to repay thoseotamgs from other sources when they
become due. Accordingly, at December 31, 2012hilfiin of borrowing capacity was available for ettpurposes permitted by the credit
agreement.

Loans under the credit agreement bear interesthatr €i) the London Interbank Offered Rate (* LIBJ) plus a margin (based on our
public debt credit ratings) ranging from 0.625 patcto 1.125 percent or (ii) a formula based oraihpent bank's prime rate, the federal funds
effective rate or LIBOR plus a margin (based onmublic debt credit ratings) ranging from zero gertcto 0.125 percent. The credit agreemer
will terminate and all amounts owing thereundet él due and payable on November 22, 2016, unégsbé commitments are terminated
earlier, either at our request or, if an eventeafadlt occurs, by the lenders (or automaticallyhie case of certain bankruptcy-related events of
default), or (b) the maturity date is extended uponrequest, subject to the agreement of the lsndée credit agreement contains customary
representations, warranties, affirmative and nggatovenants, including a financial covenant, evefdefault and indemnification provisions
in favor of
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the banks. The negative covenants include resmistiegarding the incurrence of liens, subjecettain exceptions. The financial covenant
requires us to meet a quarterly financial test wé$pect to a minimum consolidated interest coverago.

As of December 31, 2012 , we were in compliancé @it covenants in our outstanding debt instruments

Future Maturities

Expected future principal maturities as of Decen#er2012 are as follows (in millions):

Fiscal Years:
2013 $ 413
2014 19
2015 85(
2016 —
2017 1,00(
Thereafter 2,25(

$ 4,532

Note 12 — Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments

As of December 31, 2012 , approximately $12.4drilbf unused credit was available to Bill Me Later@actholders. While this amou
represents the total unused credit available, we hat experienced, and do not anticipate, thaifalur Bill Me Later accountholders will
access their entire available credit at any givaintgn time. In addition, the individual lines ofedit that make up this unused credit are sul
to periodic review and termination by the chartdirdncial institution that is the issuer of Bill&vLater credit products based on, among othe
things, account usage and customer creditworthivgben a consumer makes a purchase using a Billdtkr credit product issued by a
chartered financial institution, the chartered ficial institution extends credit to the consumends the extension of credit at the point of sale
and remits funds to the merchant. We subsequeuntihase the receivables related to the consumes egended by the chartered financial
institution and, as a result of the purchase, Hearisk of loss in the event of loan defaultshaligh the chartered financial institution contir
to own each customer account, we own the relaeivable, and Bill Me Later is responsible forsdfvicing functions related to the account.

Lease Arrangements

We have lease obligations under certain non-cableetaperating leases. Future minimum rental paysientler our non-cancelable
operating leases at December 31, 2012 are as fllow

Year Ended December 31, Leases

(In millions)
2013 $ 99
2014 8C
2015 67
2016 45
2017 36
Thereafter 43
Total minimum lease payments $ 37C

Rent expense in the years ended December 31, ZMA ,and 2010 totaled $152 million , $131 milleomd $113 million , respectively.
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Litigation and Other Legal Matters

Overview

We are involved in legal proceedings on an ongbiagjs. If we believe that a loss arising from songtiters is probable and can be
reasonably estimated, we accrue the estimatedityaibi our financial statements. If only a rangeestimated losses can be determined, we
accrue an amount within the range that, in our fjoelgt, reflects the most likely outcome; if nondtaf estimates within that range is a better
estimate than any other amount, we accrue the falwoéthe range. Amounts accrued for legal progegsifor which we believe a loss is
probable were not material for the year ended Déeer@l, 2012. Except as otherwise noted, we hanelwded that reasonably possible los
arising directly from the proceedings (i.e., mongtéamages or amounts paid in judgment or settl€nieexcess of our accruals are also not
material. For those proceedings in which an unfalvler outcome is reasonably possible but not prebai@ have disclosed an estimate of the
reasonably possible loss or range of losses orawve boncluded that an estimate of the reasonalslsille loss or range of losses arising
directly from the proceeding (i.e., monetary dansagieamounts paid in judgment or settlement) atenaterial. If we cannot estimate the
probable or reasonably possible loss or rangessEl® arising from a legal proceeding, we haveatied that fact.

In assessing the materiality of a legal proceedirgevaluate, among other factors, the amount afatesy damages claimed, as well as
the potential impact of nomonetary remedies sought by plaintiffs (e.g., iofire relief) that may require us to change oulifess practices
a manner that could have a material adverse ingraotir business. With respect to the matters disdan this Note 12, we are unable to
estimate the possible loss or range of lossexthdtl potentially result from the application othunon-monetary remedies.

Specific Matters

In August 2006, Louis Vuitton Malletier and Chrasti Dior Couture filed two lawsuits in the Paris @af Commerce against eBay Inc.
and eBay International AG. Among other things, ¢bmplaint alleged that we violated French tort laynnegligently broadcasting listings
posted by third parties offering counterfeit itebearing plaintiffs' trademarks and by purchasingade advertising keywords. Around
September 2006, Parfums Christian Dior, Kenzo PesfuParfums Givenchy, and Guerlain Société aled il lawsuit in the Paris Court of
Commerce against eBay Inc. and eBay Internatiol Phe complaint alleged that we had interferedhhi selective distribution network
plaintiffs established in France and the Europeaioitlby allowing third parties to post listings eéfing genuine perfumes and cosmetics for
sale on our websites. In June 2008, the Paris @d@bmmerce ruled that eBay and eBay Internatid@awere liable for failing to prevent tl
sale of counterfeit items on its websites thatedhdn plaintiffs’ brand names and for interferirithvthe plaintiffs' selective distribution
network. The court awarded plaintiffs approximatélyR 38.6 million in damages and issued an injumc{enforceable by daily fines of up to
EUR 100,000 ) prohibiting all sales of perfumes aagmetics bearing the Dior, Guerlain, Givenchy Krdzo brands over all worldwide eBay
sites to the extent that they are accessible frrande. We appealed this decision, and in Septe&0id), the Paris Court of Appeal reduced
damages award to EUR 5.7 million and modified theriction. We further appealed this decision toRhench Supreme Court, and in May
2012, the French Supreme Court ruled that the djgpea should not have assumed jurisdiction updivigy that took place on the eBay.com
site and that the injunction was too broad inseafait did not exclude private sales. The court atsted that the appeal court had not sufficie
dealt with assertions that the plaintiffs’ disttiban contracts were not valid. Those matters wollvbe remanded to the Paris Court of Appeal.
In 2009, plaintiffs filed an action regarding owmnapliance with the original injunction, and in Nawker 2009, the court awarded the plaintiffs
EUR 1.7 million (the equivalent of EUR 2,50fker day) and indicated that as a large Interneipamy we should do a better job of enforcing
injunction. Parfums Christian Dior has filed anath®tion relating to our compliance with the injtinoa. We have taken measures to comply
with the injunction and have appealed these rujingéing, among other things, the modificationtad tnitial injunction. In light of the French
Supreme Court ruling mentioned above, we askeddhe to stay proceedings with respect to enforegrakthe injunction pending the retrial
of the matters on appeal, and this request hasdreated. However, these and similar suits mayefossto modify our business practices,
which could lower our revenue, increase our castsiake our websites less convenient to our cuswmay such results could materially
harm our business. Other brand owners have akb dilit against us or have threatened to do soriverous different jurisdictions, seeking to
hold us liable for, among other things, allegedntetfeit items listed on our websites by third et “tester” and other not for resale consume
products listed on our websites by third partilegad misuse of trademarks in listings, allegeslations of selective distribution channel la
alleged violations of parallel import laws, allegsah-compliance with consumer protection laws ancdoinnection with paid search
advertisements. We have
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prevailed in some of these suits, lost in othemd, many are in various stages of appeal. We contiolelieve that we have meritorious
defenses to these suits and intend to defend oesseigorously.

In May 2009, the U.K. High Court of Justice ruledte case filed by L'Oréal SA, Lancome ParfunBeztuté & Cie, Laboratoire
Garnier & Cie and L'Oréal (UK) Ltd against eBaydmtational AG, other eBay companies, and severayaBllers (No. HC07C01978) that
eBay was not jointly liable with the seller co-dedants as a joint tortfeasor, and indicated thabitld certify to the European Court of Justice
("ECJ") questions of liability for the use of L'@iérademarks, hosting liability, and the scopea pbssible injunction against intermediaries.
On July 12, 2011 the ECJ ruled on the questiorfieerby the U.K. High Court of Justice. It heldat (a) brand names could be used by
marketplaces as keywords for paid search advagtisithout violating a trademark owner's rightstifviere clear to consumers that the goods
reached via the key word link were not being offidoy the trademark owner or its designees butéalsby third parties, (b) that marketplaces
could invoke the limitation from liability providelly Article 14 of the ecommerce directive if thag dot take such an active role with respect
to the listings in question that the limitation idnot be available, but that even where the litiitawas available, the marketplace could be
liable if it had awareness (through notice or itsdnvestigation) of the illegality of the listing&) that a marketplace would be liable in a
specific jurisdiction only if the offers on theesiait issue were targeting that jurisdiction, a tjaesf fact, (d) that injunctions may be issued
marketplace in connection with infringing third pacontent, but that such injunctions must be prispoate and not block legitimate trade and
(e) that trademark rights can only be evoked biglats owner as a result of a seller's commercigicas opposed to private activity. The
matter will now return to the U.K. High Court ofslice for further action in light of the ECJ opinidlhe case was originally filed in July 20
L'Oréal's complaint alleged that we were jointhblie for trademark infringement for the actionshaf sellers who allegedly sold counterfeit
goods, parallel imports and testers (not for repadelucts). Additionally, L'Oréal claimed that eBayse of L'Oréal brands on its website, in its
search engine and in sponsored links, and purdfds®réal trademarks as keywords, constitute tmzat& infringement. The suit sought an
injunction preventing future infringement, full dissure of the identity of all past and presenesglof infringing L'Oréal goods, and a
declaration that our Verified Rights Owner (VeR®@)gram as then operated was insufficient to presaah infringement. The scope of a
possible injunction claimed is to be specified iafte trial upon remand from the ECJ.

eBay's Korean subsidiary, IAC (which has merged @inarket and is now named eBay Korea), has natifseapproximately 20 million
users of a January 2008 data breach involving paflsoidentifiable information including name, adds, resident registration number and
some transaction and refund data (but not includiegit card information or real time banking infation). Approximately 149,000 users
sued IAC over this breach in several lawsuits imgém courts and more may do so in the future (diotpafter final determination of liability).
Trial for a group of representative suits begaAugust 2009 in the Seoul District Court, and tf@la group of 23 other suits began in
September 2009 in the Seoul District Court. Thergoime precedent in Korea for a court to grant$otation moneyfor data breaches withc
a specific finding of harm from the breach. Suchgedents have involved payments of up to approein&200 per user. In January 2010, one
bench of the Seoul District Court ruled that IAGImet its obligations with respect to defendingghe from intrusion and, accordingly, had
no liability for the breach. This ruling has begipaaled by approximately 34,000 plaintiffs to te® High Court. In September 2012, a
bench of the Seoul High Court announced its degisjgholding the Seoul District Court's 2010 decidior three cases involving 55 plaintiffs.
The remaining cases before the Seoul High Court@mently being heard de novo, and a decisioxpeeted in 2013. In January 2013, the
Seoul Western District Court ruled in favor of 1A@th respect to two cases filed by 2,291 plaintifiowing the January 2010 ruling.

General Matters

Other third parties have from time to time claimadd others may claim in the future, that we haferiged their intellectual property
rights. We are subject to patent disputes, andatxpat we will increasingly be subject to addiibpatent infringement claims involving
various aspects of our Marketplaces, Payments &ldGsinesses as our services continue to expasabe and complexity. Such claims r
be brought directly against our companies and/aimeg our customers (who may be entitled to cotedéndemnification under their contra
with us), and we are subject to increased expdsusach claims as a result of our recent acquisstiparticularly in cases where we are
entering into new businesses in connection witth @arjuisitions. We have in the past been forcdiigate such claims. We may also become
more vulnerable to third-party claims as laws saglhe Digital Millennium Copyright Act, the Lanhaket and the Communications Decency
Act are interpreted by the courts, and as we exfamdange and geographical scope of our servingdacome subject to laws in jurisdictions
where the underlying laws with respect to the pidéhability of online intermediaries like oursads are either unclear or less favorable. We
believe that additional lawsuits alleging that veevé violated patent, copyright or trademark lawi vé filed against us. Intellectual property
claims, whether meritorious or not, are time conisignand costly to defend and resolve, could regexgensive changes in our methods of
doing business, or could require us to enter in&ilg royalty or licensing agreements on unfavagablms.
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From time to time, we are involved in other dispute regulatory inquiries that arise in the ordyneourse of business, including suits by
our users (individually or as class actions) allggiamong other things, improper disclosure ofpiges, rules or policies, that our prices, rt
policies or customer/user agreements violate agipléclaw, or that we have not acted in conformitthwguch prices, rules, policies or
agreements. The number and significance of thegitis and inquiries are increasing as our compasygrown larger, our businesses have
expanded in scope (both in terms of the rangeadymts and services that we offer and our geogcapbperations) and our products and
services have increased in complexity. Any claimsegulatory actions against us, whether merita&riounot, could be time consuming, result
in costly litigation, damage awards (including staty damages for certain causes of action in irejtiaisdictions), injunctive relief or
increased costs of doing business through advedsgrient or settlement, require us to change ounésss practices in expensive ways, requir
significant amounts of management time, resulhediversion of significant operational resourcestberwise harm our business.

Indemnification Provisions

In the ordinary course of business, we have induuheited indemnification provisions in certain @fir agreements with parties with
which we have commercial relations, including aanglard marketing, promotions and application-progning-interface license agreements.
Under these contracts, we generally indemnify, laldnless and agree to reimburse the indemnifiety far losses suffered or incurred by
indemnified party in connection with claims by &dhparty with respect to our domain names, trad&mdogos and other branding element
the extent that such marks are applicable to orfoprance under the subject agreement. In cerzsrs; we have agreed to provide
indemnification for intellectual property infringemt. GSI has provided in many of its major ecommagreements an indemnity for other
types of third-party claims, which are indemnitieainly related to various intellectual propertyhtig, and we have provided similar
indemnities in a limited number of agreements far ather businesses. In our PayPal business, we gravided an indemnity to our payment
processors in the event of certain third-partyneaor card association fines against the procesging out of conduct by PayPal or PayPal
customers. PayPal has also provided a limited imitgrto merchants using its retail point of salgpant services. It is not possible to
determine the maximum potential loss under thedenmification provisions due to our limited histarfyprior indemnification claims and the
unique facts and circumstances involved in eactiqoder provision. To date, losses recorded instatement of income in connection with our
indemnification provisions have not been significaither individually or collectively.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2012 , we had no off-balancetstigangements that have, or are reasonably likdhave, a current or future
material effect on our consolidated financial cdiodi, results of operations, liquidity, capital exulitures or capital resources.

In Europe, we have two cash pooling arrangementsaviinancial institution for cash management psgs. These arrangements allow
for cash withdrawals from this financial institutibased upon our aggregate operating cash balhaltbs Europe within the same financial
institution (“Aggregate Cash Deposits”). These agements also allow us to withdraw amounts excegitie Aggregate Cash Deposits up to
an agreed-upon limit. The net balance of the wilhdils and the Aggregate Cash Deposits are usdtelinancial institution as a basis for
calculating our net interest expense or incomeofABecember 31, 2012 , we had a total of $5.5dwilin cash withdrawals offsetting our $5.5
billion in Aggregate Cash Deposits held within #zene financial institution under these cash poaiimgngements.

Based on differences in regulatory requirementscamadmercial law in the jurisdictions where PayRag¢mates, PayPal previously held
customer balances either as direct claims agamg®& or as an agent or custodian on behalf of &@y@ustomers. These off-balance sheet
funds totaled approximately $2.7 billion as of Dater 31, 2011, and included funds held on behdlf.8f customers that were deposited in
bank accounts insured by the Federal Deposit Inser&orporation (subject to applicable limits).

In 2012, PayPal's California regulator, the CafifarDepartment of Financial Institutions, notifigdyPal that PayPal's practice of holding
the funds underlying U.S. customer balances agiantan behalf of its customers, rather than assowhthose funds, meant that PayPal coul
not treat those funds as liquid assets for purpost®e liquidity rules applicable to California mey transmitter licensees. Based on changes
our U.S. PayPal user agreement effective Novemh2012, PayPal began holding U.S. customer balaaédgect claims against PayPal,
rather than as an agent or custodian on behalifaf BayPal customers. As a result, effective Ndermi, 2012, all U.S. PayPal customer
balances, which were previously not reported oncomsolidated balance sheet, have been reflectasisass in our consolidated balance shee
under “Funds

F-33




eBay Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

receivable and customer accounts,” with an assatiability under “Funds payable and amounts dueustomers.” Following this change,
PayPal now holds all customer balances (both ifUtl®e and internationally) as direct claims agal®eyPal. At December 31, 2012 , U.S.
PayPal customer funds represented $3.3 billioh@f8.1 billion balance of funds receivable andamgr accounts on our consolidated
balance sheet.

Note 13 — Related Party Transactions

We have entered into indemnification agreementl @adtch of our directors, executive officers andaterother officers. These
agreements require us to indemnify such individualshe fullest extent permitted by Delaware léov,certain liabilities to which they may
become subject as a result of their affiliationhwis.

All contracts with related parties are at rates t@mohs that we believe are comparable with thoaedbuld be entered into with
independent third parties. There were no matesiated party transactions in 2012 . As of DecerndieR012 , there were no significant
amounts payable to or amounts receivable fromeelparties.

Note 14 — Stockholders' Equity

Preferred Stock

We are authorized, subject to limitations presatibg Delaware law, to issue preferred stock in @nmore series; to establish the
number of shares included within each seriesxtthi rights, preferences and privileges of theeshaf each wholly unissued series and any
related qualifications, limitations or restrictiormsd to increase or decrease the number of shhess series (but not below the number of
shares of a series then outstanding) without ariiéu vote or action by our stockholders. At Decentkil, 2012 and 2011 , there were 10
million shares of $0.001 par value preferred staathorized for issuance, and no shares issuedtstanding.

Common Stock
Our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, atitles us to issue 3.6 billion shares of commonkstoc

Note 15 — Stock Repurchase Program

In September 2010, our Board of Directors authdraetock repurchase program that provides foragperchase of up to $2 billion of
our common stock, with no expiration from the dat@uthorization. In June 2012, our Board of Dicestauthorized an additional stock
repurchase program that provides for the repurcbisp to an additional $2 billion of our commowda, with no expiration from the date of
authorization. These stock repurchase programmtneded to offset the impact of dilution from aquity compensation programs. The stock
repurchase activity under these stock repurchasgam during 2012 is summarized as follows:

Remaining
Shares Average Price Value of Shares Amount
Repurchased per Share® Repurchased Authorized
(In millions, except per share amounts)

Balance at January 1, 2012 35 % 3158 % 1,11¢ % 881
Authorization of additional plan in June 2012 2,00(
Repurchase of common stock 22 40.5( 89¢ (89¢)
Balance at December 31, 2012 57§ 3500 § 2017 § 1,98¢

(1) Stock repurchase activity excludes broker cossions.

These repurchased shares were recorded as treshsckyand were accounted for under the cost methodepurchased shares have |
retired.

As of December 31, 2012 , we had repurchased tharmfwount of stock permitted under the 2010 stagurchase
program and approximately $2.0 billion remainedftother repurchases of our common stock unde2€i& stock repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase programs may be limited oniteated at any time without prior notice. Stockueghases under these programs
may be made through a variety of open market aivatety negotiated transactions, including struetustock repurchase transactions or othe
derivative transactions, at times and in such ansoas management deems appropriate and will beuftrdm our working capital or other
financing alternatives. The timing and actual nuntdfeshares repurchased
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will depend on a variety of factors including corate and regulatory requirements, price, other ptar&nditions and management's
determination as to the appropriate use of our.CHs& programs are intended to comply with the rautiming and other limitations set forth
in Rule 10b-18 under the Securities Exchange Ad9&34.

In addition to the above, we withhold shares franpyees to satisfy minimum statutory tax obligasidn conjunction with nonvested
shares under our equity incentive plans, whichraskided in treasury stock.

Note 16 — Stock-Based and Employee Savings Plans
Equity Incentive Plans

We have equity incentive plans under which we geapiity awards, including stock options, restricseatk units, performance-based
restricted stock units and nonvested shares, tdiceetors, officers and employees. At December2®12 , 653 million shares were authorizec
under our equity incentive plans and 58 millionrslsavere available for future grant.

All stock options granted under these plans gelyevabt 12.5% six months from the date of grants¥one year from the date of gr:
for grants to new employees) with the remaindetingsat a rate of 2.08% per month thereafter, gantkrally expire seven to ten years from
the date of grant. The cost of stock options iemeined using the Black-Scholes option pricing maaethe date of grant.

Restricted stock units and nonvested shares antegro eligible employees under our equity inaanplans. In general, restricted stock
units and nonvested shares vest in equal annuallments over a period of one to fiyears, are subject to the employees' continuingcsetc
us and do not have an expiration date. The caststficted stock units and nonvested shares isrdigted using the fair value of our common
stock on the date of grant. There were no grant®ofested shares in 2012 and vesting of all giants of nonvested shares was complett
of December 31, 2011.

In 2012 , 2011 and 2010, certain executives wigék to receive performance-based restrictedkstmits. The number of restricted
stock units ultimately received depends on ourrmss performance against specified performancettasgt by the Compensation Committee
If the performance criteria are satisfied, the penance-based restricted stock units are grantildl oe-half of the grant vesting in March
following the end of the performance period andrétaaining one-half vesting one year later.

In 2012, certain executives were granted performahare units with performance-based vesting condit The number of performance
share units ultimately received depends on eBaysltatal stockholder return meeting or exceedimgrnhedian as compared to its peer group
over annual performance periods from 2013-2016camaulative performance periods from 2012-2016. fédormance share units are also
subject to certain vesting and eligibility requiremts and the shares underlying the performance siméts issued upon satisfaction of the
performance metrics, if any, cannot be sold urftdraDecember 31, 2017.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We have an employee stock purchase plan for gibédi employees. Under the plan, shares of our comstock may be purchased over
an offering period with a maximum duration of tweays at 85% of the lower of the fair market valodle first day of the applicable offering
period or on the last day of the six-month purclzexéod. Employees may purchase shares havingue waltt exceeding 10% of their eligible
compensation during an offering period. Duringykars ended 2012 , 2011, and 2010 , employeebamed approximately 4 million , 3
million and 5 million shares under this plan atrage prices of $26.10 , $23.55 and $13.55 per shespectively. At December 31, 2012 ,
approximately 38 million shares of common stockeverserved for future issuance.

Employee Savings Plan

We have a savings plan, which qualifies under 8retD1(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Particigaéimployees may contribute up to
50% of their eligible compensation, but not morantistatutory limits. In 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , wetdbuted one dollar for each dollar a
participant contributed, with a maximum contributiof 4% of each employee's eligible compensatiohjest to a maximum employer
contribution of $10,200 per employee for each ger@ur non-U.S. employees are covered by varidusratavings plans. Our total expenses
for these savings plans were $71 million in 20$80 million in 2011 and $47 million in 2010 .
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Deferred Stock Units

Since December 31, 2002, we have granted defetweld anits to non-employee directors (other tharieiOmidyar) elected to our
Board of Directors with each new director receivingne-time grant of deferred stock units equéhéoresult of dividing $150,000 by the fair
market value of our common stock on the date afitgiBeginning with our 2008 annual meeting of staalklers, we granted deferred stock
units to each non-employee director (other than@nidyar) at the time of our annual meeting of khatders equal to the result of dividing
$110,000 by the fair market value of our commorlsion the date of grant. Beginning with the 201awat meeting of stockholders, we
granted deferred stock units to each non-emploireetdr (other than Mr. Omidyar) at the time of @mnual meeting of stockholders equal to
the result of dividing $220,000 by the fair markatue of our common stock on the date of granthEkaferred stock unit constitutes an
unfunded and unsecured promise by us to delivessbaee of our common stock (or the equivalent vétieecof in cash or property at our
election). Each deferred stock unit award gramea new non-employee director upon election tdBibard vests 25%ne year from the date
grant, and at a rate of 2.08% per month theredfthre services of the director are terminatedrat time, all rights to the unvested deferred
stock units will also terminate. In addition, ditexs may elect to receive, in lieu of annual rezaiand committee chair fees and at the time
these fees would otherwise be payable (i.e., ameaterly basis in arrears for services providad)y fvested deferred stock units with an initial
value equal to the amount based on the fair maxkdet of common stock at the date of grant. Defesteck units are payable following the
termination of a director's tenure as a directaroADecember 31, 2012 , there were approximat2®535 deferred stock units outstanding
included in our restricted stock unit activity belo

Stock Option Activity

The following table summarizes stock option acyivinder our equity incentive plans as of and ferytear ended December 31, 2012 :

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining
Exercise Contractual Aggregate
Shares Price Term (Years) Intrinsic Value

(In millions, except per share amounts and years)

Outstanding at January 1, 2012 40 % 25.8¢
Granted and assumed 2 $ 36.7¢
Exercised as s 24.4¢
Forfeited/expired/canceled B $ 31.2¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 24 % 27.1¢ 359 % 577
Expected to vest 23 % 26.9¢ 351 % 55¢
Options exercisable 16 $ 25.81 2.78 $ 41z

The aggregate intrinsic value of options was caleudl as the difference between the exercise pfiteeainderlying awards and the
quoted price of our common stock. At December 81,22, options to purchase 24 million shares of comistock were in-the-money.

The weighted average grant-date fair value of agtigranted during the years 2012 , 2011 and 20805WA.21 , $9.87 and $6.77 ,
respectively. During the years 2012 , 2011 and 206 aggregate intrinsic value of options exeatisnder our equity incentive plans was
$276 million , $129 million and $141 million , remgiively, determined as of the date of option eigerc
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Restricted Stock Unit Activity

A summary of the status of restricted stock uniRSU") granted (including performance-based retgdstock units that have been
earned) under our equity incentive plans as of Bées 31, 2012 and changes during the year endeeniiezr 31, 2012 is presented below:

Weighted Average

Gre}nt—Date
Units (Fpﬂ ;/r?elmL::)
(In millions, except per share amounts)
Outstanding at January 1, 2012 0 $ 24.7¢
Awarded and assumed 19 % 37.6:%
Vested s $ 22.8:¢
Forfeited 5) $ 27.4:
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 39 3 31.3¢
Expected to vest at December 31, 2012 34

During the years 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , the agtgegainsic value of restricted stock units vestedier our equity incentive plans was
$591 million , $466 million and $363 million , resgively.

Stock-based Compensation Expense

The impact on our results of operations of recayditock-based compensation expense for years éetmber 31, 2012 , 2011 and
2010 was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In millions)
Cost of net revenues $ 56 § 56 $ 49
Sales and marketing 13t 13z 10¢€
Product development 13¢ 12: 101
General and administrative 16C 147 12t
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 48¢ % 45¢  $ 381
Capitalized in product development $ ¢ $ 17 % 1C

As of December 31, 2012 , there was approximat@8b3dmillion of unearned stock-based compensatiahwfil be expensed from 2013
through 2016. If there are any modifications oraadlations of the underlying unvested awards, wg brarequired to accelerate, increase or
cancel all or a portion of the remaining unearrtedisbased compensation expense. Future uneammadisised compensation will increase tc
the extent we grant additional equity awards, clkahg mix of grants between stock options andiostr stock units or assume unvested
equity awards in connection with acquisitions.
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Stock Option Valuation Assumptions

We calculated the fair value of each stock optimara on the date of grant using the Black-Schopg®o pricing model. The following
weighted average assumptions were used for the yealed December 31, 2012 , 2011 and 2010 :

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Risk-free interest rate 0.7% 1.2% 1.4%
Expected life (in years) 4.C 3.8 34
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected volatility 38% 38% 37%

Our computation of expected volatility is basedaorombination of historical and market-based intplielatility from traded options on
our common stock. Our computation of expectedisifieased on historical experience of similar awagilsng consideration to the contractual
terms of the stock-based awards, vesting schedualkgxpectations of future employee behavior. fiterést rate for periods within the
contractual life of the award is based on the Ur8asury yield curve in effect at the time of grant

Note 17 — Income Taxes

The components of pretax income for the years ebgmgmber 31, 2012 , 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In millions)
United States $ 60t $ 1,74¢  $ 84¢
International 2,47¢ 2,16¢ 1,25(C
$ 3,08 % 391C $ 2,09¢

U.S. pre-tax income for the years ended Decembe2(ll1 and 2010 includes approximately $449 milkod $400 million ,
respectively, relating to non-U.S. income rechamaped as U.S. income due to the settlement ofiphiltincertain tax positions.

The provision for income taxes is comprised offtiowing:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In millions)
Current:

Federal $ 327 % 51€ $ (137)
State and local 63 24 (13
Foreign 12C 122 92
$ 51C $ 664 $ (52

Deferred:
Federal $ 34 $ 64 $ 39¢
State and local (29 3 8
Foreign (45) (44) (57)
(35) 17 34¢
$ 475 $ 681 $ 297
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The following is a reconciliation of the differenbetween the actual provision for income taxesthadgrovision computed by applying
the federal statutory rate of 35% for 2012 , 204d 2010 to income before income taxes:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In millions)

Provision at statutory rate $ 1,08 $ 1,36¢ $ 734
Permanent differences:

Foreign income taxed at different rates (617) (1,099 (447

Gain on sale of Skype — 321 —

Legal entity restructuring — — (24)

Change in valuation allowance 3 1) 1

Stock-based compensation (14) 32 8

State taxes, net of federal benefit 39 21 31

Tax credits 1 8 (49)

Divested business (47) 34 —

Other 24 6 37

$ 47 $ 681 $ 297

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognfaethe future tax consequences of differences betvithe carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities and their respective tax basesgisimacted tax rates in effect for the year in whighdifferences are expected to be reversed.
Significant deferred tax assets and liabilitiessisinof the following:

December 31,

2012 2011
(In millions)
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss, capital loss and credits $ 23t % 187
Accruals and allowances 35E 34C
Stock-based compensation 13z 114
Discount on note receivable 55 68
Net unrealized losses 5 1
Net deferred tax assets 783 71C
Valuation allowance (169 (83
$ 614 $ 627

Deferred tax liabilities:
Unremitted foreign earnings $ (2200 $ (19¢)
Acquisition-related intangibles (357) (462)
Depreciation and amortization (302) (269
Available-for-sale securities (237) (239
Other (22) (22)
(1,137) (1,179
$ (52%) $ (552)

As of December 31, 2012 , our federal, foreign stiatie net operating loss carryforwards for incoaxepurposes were approximat&l§s
million , $207 million and $478 million , respectly. The federal and state net operating loss framards are subject to various limitations
under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Codeappticable state tax laws. If not utilized, thedeal net operating loss carryforwards will
begin to expire in 2021 and the state net operabisg carryforwards will begin to expire in 2014 &f December 31, 2012 , our federal and
state tax credit carryforwards for income tax psgmwere approximately $4 million and $19 millimespectively. If not utilized, the federal
tax credit carryforwards will begin to expire in®and the state tax credit carryforwards will betgi expire in 2016.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, our federal abloiss carryover amounted to $344 million and $dbllion , respectively, which is
subject to a full valuation allowance. The increisthe capital loss carryover and associated viala
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allowance is primarily due to the tax loss on sdlRent.com. If not utilized, the federal capitag$ carryover will begin to expire in 2014.

At December 31, 2012 and 2011 , we maintained @atiain allowance with respect to certain of ouredefd tax assets relating primarily
to U.S. capital losses and operating losses imicenbn-U.S. jurisdictions that we believe arelilaly to be realized.

We have not provided for U.S. federal income andiém withholding taxes on $11.9 billion of our AONS. subsidiaries' undistributed
earnings as of December 31, 2012 . We intend tefimitely reinvest the $11.9 billion of our non-U Sibsidiaries’ undistributed earnings in
our international operations. Accordingly, we cuathg have no plans to repatriate those funds. Af swe do not know the time or manner in
which we would repatriate those funds. Becausitie or manner of repatriation is uncertain, wentardetermine the impact of local taxes,
withholding taxes and foreign tax credits assodiatéh the future repatriation of such earnings tretefore cannot quantify the tax liability.
In cases where we intend to repatriate a porticsuofforeign subsidiaries’ undistributed earnings,provide U.S. taxes on such earnings and
such taxes are included in our deferred taxesxopagable liabilities depending upon the plannedrtg and manner of such repatriation.

On aregular basis, we develop cash forecastditoade our cash needs internationally and domditid&'e consider projected cash
needs for, among other things, investments in gistiag businesses, potential acquisitions andtabpansactions, including repurchases of
our common stock and debt repayments. We estithatarhount of cash available or needed in the jigtisds where these investments are
expected, as well as our ability to generate cashase jurisdictions and our access to capitaketar Such an analysis enables us to conclud
whether or not we will indefinitely reinvest theroent period’s foreign earnings. We benefit from talings concluded in several different
jurisdictions, most significantly Switzerland, Sampre and Luxembourg. These rulings provide forelorates of taxation on certain classe
income and require various thresholds of investraadtemployment in those jurisdictions. These gdiresulted in a tax savings of $439
million and $697 million in 2012 and 2011 , reseaiy, which increased earnings per share (dilubydypproximately $0.33 and $0.53 in
2012 and 2011 , respectively. These tax rulingsarently in effect and expire over periods ragdirom 2020 to the duration of business
operations in the respective jurisdictions.

The following table reflects changes in unrecogaitaex benefits since January 1, 2011:

2012 2011
(In millions)
Gross amounts of unrecognized tax benefits asedbéiyginning of the period $ 28¢ $ 42¢
Increases related to prior period tax positions 60 33
Decreases related to prior period tax positions (24 (139
Increases related to current period tax positions 19 41
Settlements (@D} (77)
Gross amounts of unrecognized tax benefits aseoéitidl of the period $ 34C  $ 28¢

In the second quarter of 2011, we settled multipleertain tax positions, which resulted in an olW@ecrease in our unrecognized tax
benefits. As of December 31, 2012, our liabilifiesunrecognized tax benefits were included iredefd and other tax liabilities, net.

We recognize interest and/or penalties relatecht@dain tax positions in income tax expense. Ih220we recognized interest and
penalties of $25 million (consisting of $34 millitess a tax benefit of $9 million ) in income tagpense. The amount of interest and penalties
accrued as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 was apmtety $117 million and $83 million , respectively

We are subject to both direct and indirect taxatiothe U.S. and various states and foreign jucisalis. We are under examination by
certain tax authorities for the 2003 to 2009 taargeWe believe that adequate amounts have beerveesfor any adjustments that may
ultimately result from these examinations. The makgurisdictions where we are subject to potdregieamination by tax authorities for tax
years after 2002 include, among others, the U.&ldFal and California), France, Germany, ltaly,d&rsrael, Switzerland, Singapore :
Canada.

Although the timing of the resolution and/or closwf audits is highly uncertain, it is reasonaldggible that the balance of gross
unrecognized tax benefits could significantly changthe next 12 months. However, given the nunalbgears remaining subject to
examination and the number of matters being exainiwe are unable to estimate the full range of iptssadjustments to the balance of gross
unrecognized tax benefits.
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Note 18 — Loans and Interest Receivable, Net

Loans and interest receivable represent purchasezlimer receivables arising from loans made bytagrachartered financial institutic
to individual consumers in the U.S. to purchasedgand services through our Bill Me Later mercheattvork. During 2012 and 2011 , we
purchased approximately $3.2 billion and $2.3 duilli respectively, in consumer receivables. Loawkiaterest receivable are reported at their
outstanding principal balances, including unamedideferred origination costs and net of allowanoé, include the estimated collectible
interest and fees. We use a consumer's FICO samieng other measures, in evaluating the crediitgualour consumer receivables. A FICO
score is a type of credit score that lenders ussdess an applicant's credit risk and whethextemé credit. Individual FICO scores generally
are obtained each quarter the consumer has amoditsg) loan receivable owned by Bill Me Later. Mrgighted average consumer FICO scor
related to our loans and interest receivable balantstanding at December 31, 2012 was 689 . Aeoémber 31, 2012 and 2011,
approximately 55.8% and 59.3% , respectively, afloans and interest receivable balance was dure dansumers with FICO scores greater
than 680 , which is generally considered "prime'thy consumer credit industry. As of December 81,22, approximately 90% of our loans
and interest receivable portfolio were current.

The following table summarizes the activity in #ilwance for loans and interest receivable forytb@rs ended December 31, 2012 and
2011:

(In millions)
Balance as of January 1, 2011 $ 42
Charge-offs (78)
Recoveries 7
Provision 88
Balance as of January 1, 2012 5¢
Charge-offs (137)
Recoveries 9
Provision 17C
Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 101

Note 19 — Interest and Other, Net

The components of interest and other, net for #@yended December 31, 2012 , 2011 and 2010 &loags (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In millions)
Interest income $ 134 % 111 $ 86
Interest expense (63 (25) (4)
Gain on sale of Skype — 1,66¢ —
Gain (loss) on divestiture of businesses 11¢ (257) —
Other 7 44 (39
$ 19€ % 1537 $ 44

In 2011 , we recognized a loss on a divestitura lofisiness and a gain on the sale of our rema8tlfgequity interest in Skype.

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201dresh expense on borrowings incurred to finandieMg Later's portfolio of loan
receivables included in cost of net revenues wamiidn and $11 million , respectively.
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Supplementary Data — Quarterly Financial Data — Undited

The following tables present certain unaudited obdated quarterly financial information for eachtloe eight quarters ended
December 31, 2012 . This quarterly information besn prepared on the same basis as the Consolieiatattial Statements and includes all
adjustments necessary to state fairly the inforondfor the periods presented.

Quarterly Financial Data

(Unaudited, in millions, except per share amounts)

Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30% September 30 December 31

2012
Net revenues $ 3277 % 3,39t % 3,40¢  $ 3,99:
Gross profit $ 2,29.  $ 2,411 $ 238: $ 2,76¢
Net income $ 57C % 69z $ 597 $ 751
Net income per share-basic 0.44 0.54 0.4¢€ 0.5¢
Net income per share-diluted $ 044  $ 05: % 0.4t $ 0.57
Weighted-average shares:

Basic 1,28¢ 1,291 1,292 1,294

Diluted 1,30¢ 1,30¢ 1,314 1,31¢

(1) The quarterly financial information include$&18 million gain on the divestiture of a businedse "Note 3 - Business Combinations and
Divestitures" to the consolidated financial statataéncluded in this report.

Quarter Ended

March 31 June 300@ September 30Y December 310®

2011
Net revenues $ 2,546 $ 2,76 $ 2,96¢ $ 3,38(
Gross profit $ 1,817 $ 1,98: $ 2,046 $ 2,34¢
Net income $ 47¢  $ 28 % 491 % 1,98(
Net income per share-basic $ 037 $ 02z $ 03¢ $ 1.5¢
Net income per share-diluted $ 03¢ $ 02z $ 037 $ 1.51
Weighted-average shares:

Basic 1,297 1,297 1,29( 1,28¢

Diluted 1,32( 1,31t 1,30¢ 1,30¢

(1) The quarterly financial information includégtoperating results attributable to the GSI segrwerthe period beginning June 17, 2011
(the date that the acquisition was competed). Slege"3 - Business Combinations and Divestituregh&oconsolidated financial
statements included in this report.

(2) The quarterly financial information include$257 million loss on the divestiture of a busin&se “Note 3 - Business Combinations anc
Divestitures” to the consolidated financial statatséncluded in this report.

(3) The quarterly financial information include$A7 billiongain on the sale of our remaining interest in Sk
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The Financial Statement Schedule Il — VALUATION ANDUALIFYING ACCOUNTS is filed as part of this AnnuBeport on Form 10-K.

Balance at Charges
Beginning of  Charged/Credited Charged to Utilized/Write-  Balance at End
Period to Net Income Other Account offs of Period
(In millions)
Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and
Authorized Credits
Year ended December 31, 2010 $ 105 % 65 $ —  $ 82 % 86
Year Ended December 31, 2011 86 13t — (139 87
Year Ended December 31, 2012 $ 87 % 177 $ — 3 (17 $ 89
Allowance for Transaction, Loan and
Interest Losses
Year ended December 31, 2010 $ 14¢ ¢ 36C $ — 3 (371 $ 137
Year Ended December 31, 2011 137 482 — (42¢€) 19z
Year Ended December 31, 2012 $ 19 ¢ 57:  $ — 3 (53¢) $ 22¢
Tax Valuation Allowance
Year ended December 31, 2010 $ 69 $ 1 3 — 3 27 % 43
Year Ended December 31, 2011 43 33 — 7 83
Year Ended December 31, 2012 $ 83 $ 16 $ 78 % (8 % 16¢
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amentiedregistrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the usigeied, thereunto duly authorized, in the City ahSose, State of California, on the 31st d:
January, 2013.

eBay Inc.

By: /s/ John J. Donahoe

John J. Donahoe
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemshose sighature appears below constitutes anmrgp@ohn Donaha
Robert H. Swan, Brian J. Doerger, and Michael Robiaon, and each or any one of them, each withdiner of substitution, his or her
attorney-in-fact, to sign any amendments to thi®re with exhibits thereto and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and conifig all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, @ $ubstitute or substitutes, may do or

cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, as amended, this report has sigeed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the @tipa indicated on January 31, 2013.

Principal Executive Officer: Principal Financial Officer:
By: /s/ John J. Donahoe By: /s/ Robert H. Swan
John J. Donahoe Robert H. Swan
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief FinanciaDfficer

Principal Accounting Officer:

By: /s/ Brian J. Doerger

Brian J. Doerger
Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer
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By:

By:

By:

By:

By:

Additional Directors

/sl Pierre M. Omidyar By:

Pierre M. Omidyar
Founder, Chairman of the Board and Director

Is/ Marc L. Andreessen By:
Marc L. Andreessen
Director
/sl Scott D. Cook By:
Scott D. Cook
Director
/sl Kathleen C. Mitic By:
Kathleen C. Mitic
Director
/sl Richard T. Schlosberg, Il By:

Richard T. Schlosberg, IlI
Director
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Fred D. Anderson
Director

/s/ Edward W. Barnholt

Edward W. Barnholt
Director

/s/ William C. Ford, Jr.

William C. Ford, Jr.
Director

/s/ David M. Moffett

David M. Moffett
Director

/sl Thomas J. Tierney

Thomas J. Tierney
Director
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2.01*++ Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of Septemd@09d, as 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
amended on September 14, 2009, by and among RedjstBay
International AG, Sonorit Holding, A.S. and Sprioglod Group
S.a.r.l. (formerly SLP Ill Cayman DS IV Holdingsag.l.)
2.02* Amendments to Share Purchase Agreement, dated@ctaber 19, 8-K 00024821 11/20/200¢
2009, October 21, 2009, November 5, 2009 and Noeerh®, 200¢
by and among Registrant, eBay International AG dsibiriolding,
A.S. and Springboard Group S.a.r.l. (formerly SURCRyman DS
IV Holdings S.a.r.l.)
2.03** Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated March 27, 2a8digng 8-K 00024821 3/30/200¢
Registrant, Gibraltar Acquisition Corp. and GSI Goerce, Inc.
3.01 Registrant's Amended and Restated Certificate adfrfroration. 8-K 00024821 4/27/201%
3.02 Registrant's Amended and Restated Bylaws. 8-K 00024821 4/27/201%
4.01 Form of Specimen Certificate for Registrant's ComrStock. S-1 33359097 8/19/199¢
4.02 Indenture dated as of October 28, 2010 betweensRagt and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee. 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
4.03 Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 28, Bétleen
Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank, National Associgtas trustee. 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
4.04 Forms of 0.875% Senior Note due 2013, 1.625% Sé\ite due
2015 and 3.250% Senior Note due 2020. 8-K 00024821 10/28/201(
4.05 Forms of 0.70% Note due 2015, 1.35% Note due 2DB0D% Note 8-K 00024821
due 2022 and 4.00% Note due 2042. 7/24/201z
4.06 Indenture dated as of July 2, 2007 between GSI Genven Inc. and 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
The Bank of New York, as trustee.
4.07 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of June@¥] o the 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Indenture dated as of July 2, 2007 between GSI| Gencen Inc. and
The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee.
4.08 Form of 2.50% Convertible Senior Note d0272 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
10.01+  Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into by Registmwith each S-1 33359097 7/15/199¢
of its directors and executive officers.
10.02+  Registrant's 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
10.03+  Form of Stock Bonus Agreement under Registran®8 Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Incentive Plan.
10.04+  Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrar@$81Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢

Incentive Plan.
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10.05+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Penfamce-Based 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under Registrari%38 Equity
Incentive Plan.

10.06+ Registrant's Amended and Restated 1998 Employed Siarchase 10-Q 00024821 7/27/2007
Plan.

10.07+  Registrant's 1998 Directors Stock Option Plan,rasraled. 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.08+  Registrant's 1999 Global Equity Incentive Planam&nded. 10-Q 00024821 7127/2007

10.09+  Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrard%91Global 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Equity Incentive Plan.

10.10+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under Regig's 1999 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007
Global Equity Incentive Plan.

10.11+ Registrant's 2001 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.12+  Form of Stock Option Agreement under RegistrafiG12Equity 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200¢
Incentive Plan.

10.13+  Registrant's 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan, as a®en 10-K 00024821 2/28/2007

10.14+ Amendment to Registrant's 2003 Deferred Stock Blaih, effective 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
April 2, 2012.

10.15+  Form of Director Award Agreement under RegistraR@63 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Deferred Stock Unit Plan.

10.16+  Form of Electing Director Award Agreement under Regnt's 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan.

10.17+  Form of New Director Award Agreement under Registea2003 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Deferred Stock Unit Plan.

10.18+  Form of 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan Restricteac8tUnit Grant 10-Q/A 00024821 4/24/200¢
Notice and Agreement.

10.19+  Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan, mgladed and DEF 14A 00024821 3/19/201z
restated.

10.20+  Amendment to the Registrant's 2008 Equity Incenfiward Plan, 10-Q 00024821 7/29/200¢
Registrant's 2001 Equity Incentive Plan, Registsal®99 Global
Equity Incentive Plan, Registrant's 1998 Equityeimive Plan and
Shopping.com Ltd. 2004 Equity Incentive Plan.

10.21+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (&w®formance- 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z

Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under Regiss 2003
Deferred Stock Unit Plan, Registrant's 2008 Eglritentive Award
Plan and GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentiaa P



10.22+

10.23+

10.24+

10.25+

10.26+

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (wWillodified
Vesting) under Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentiweafd Plan.

Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrari@32Equity
Incentive Award Plan.

Form of Stock Option Agreement (with Modified Vesf) under
Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.

Form of Performance Share Unit Award Agreement unde
Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.

Form of Director Deferred Stock Unit Award Agreerhander
Registrant's 2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.
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10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

00024821

00024821

00024821

00024821

00024821

7/19/201z

7/19/201:

7/19/201z

7/19/201z

7/19/201:




Incorporated by Reference

Filed with
No. Exhibit Description this 10-K Form File No. Date Filed
10.27+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Penfomce- 8-K 00024821 6/25/200¢
Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under Regiss
2008 Equity Incentive Award Plan.
10.28+ eBay Incentive Plan. DEF 14A 00024821 3/19/201(
10.29+ Amendment to eBay Incentive Plan, effective ApriPR12. 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
10.30+ eBay Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan. 8-K 00024821 12/20/200:
10.31+ Employment Letter Agreement dated March 31, 20@8yben 10-Q/A 00024821 4/24/200¢
John Donahoe and Registrant.
10.32+ Letter Agreement dated September 30, 2008 betweberR 10-Q 00024821 10/23/200¢
Swan and Registrant.
10.33+ GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan. 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
10.34+ Amendment to GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity Incenti 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Plan.
10.35+ Amendment to GSI Commerce, Inc. 2010 Equity Incenti 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Plan, effective April 2, 2012.
10.36+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement un@&i 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201:
Commerce, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.
10.37+ GSI Commerce, Inc. Leadership Team Incentive Afded as
Appendix B to GSI Commerce, Inc.'s Definitive Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the Commissioipril
25, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference).
10.38+ Amendment to GSI Commerce, Inc. Leadership Teararliie 10-Q 00024821 7/19/201z
Plan, effective April 2, 2012.
10.39+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and Penfomce- 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement) under GSh@erce,
Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.
10.40+ eBay Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan. DEF 14A 00024821 3/19/201z
10.41+ Letter Agreement dated July 7, 2011 between Choiso 10-Q 00024821 7/22/2011
Saridakis and Registrant.
10.42+ Amended and Restated Performance Award Agreemésd @z 10-Q 00024821 4/20/201z
of March 28, 2012 between the Registrant and Gipisr
Saridakis.
10.43+ Offer letter dated August 30, 2011 and execute8eptember 8-K 00024821 9/6/2011
2, 2011 between Registrant and Devin Wenig.
10.44+ Offer letter dated March 29, 2012 and executed ancki 30, 8-K 00024821 4/2/2012

2012 between Registrant and David Marcus.



10.45

12.01

Credit Agreement, dated as of November 22, 201y 8-K
among Registrant, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, and the other parties thereto

Statement regarding computation of ratio of eammitagfixed
charges. X
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Incorporated by Reference

Filed with

No. Exhibit Description this 10-K Form File No. Date Filed
21.01 List of Subsidiaries. X
23.01 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP consent. X
24.01 Power of Attorney (see signature page). X
31.01 Certification of Registrant's Chief Executive Offi¢ as require

by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
31.02 Certification of Registrant's Chief Financial O#ic as required

by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
32.01 Certification of Registrant's Chief Executive Offi¢ as require

by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
32.02 Certification of Registrant's Chief Financial Offig as required

by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
101.INS XBRL Instance Document X
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document X
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docune X
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen X
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document X
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenim X

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatonygplarrangeme

++ Portions of this exhibit are subject to a requestbnfidential treatment and have been redactddil separately with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.

* The annexes and schedules to the Share PurchasenAgnt have been omitted from this filing pursuaritem 601(b)(2) of Regulation
S-K. The Registrant will furnish copies of any axe®or schedules to the Securities and Exchanger@sion upon request.

**  The schedules and exhibits to the Agreement anddI®&erger have been omitted from this filing puast to Item 601(b)(2) of
Regulation S-K. The Registrant will furnish copafsany annexes or schedules to the Securities aodaBge Commission upon request.
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eBay Inc.
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

(In millions, except ratio data)

Year Ended December 31,

Exhibit 12.01

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Income Before Income Taxes, Noncontrolling
Interest and Income/Loss of Equity Method
Investees 2,19¢ 2,88¢ (1) 2,111 3,92¢ 3,111
Add: Fixed Charge® 34 47 45 80 122
Earnings® 2,22¢ 2,931 2,15¢ 4,00¢ 3,23¢
Fixed Charge® 34 47 45 80 122
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges 65.1 x 61.7 x 47.€ X 50.1 x 26.4 X

(1) For the year ended December 31, 2009, Incoefer8 Income Taxes, Noncontrolling Interest andime/Loss of Equity Method

Investees includes a gain of $1.4 billion relatethe sale of our Communications reporting unit.

(2) Fixed Charges consist of interest expenseocan@stimate of an appropriate portion of rentajgesentative of the interest factor. The
estimate of interest within rental expense is estit to be one-third of rental expense.
(3) Earnings consist of income before income tareacontrolling interest and equity in income asdes of equity method investees plus

Fixed Charges.



LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2012

DOMESTIC SUBSIDIARIES

Name

ASFD, Inc., a Delaware corporation

7601 Trade Port Drive, LLC, a Kentucky limited ligly company
935 KOP Associates, LLC, a Pennsylvania limitebility company
935 HQ Associates, LLC, a Delaware limited liagiliompany
1075 First Global Associates, LLC, a Pennsylvaoigaration
GSI Legacy Holdings, Inc., a Pennsylvania corporati
Baazee.com, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Bill Me Later, Inc., a Delaware corporation

ClearSaleing, Inc., a Delaware corporation

EachNet, Inc., a Delaware corporation

eBay Domestic Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporatio
eBay Foundation, a California private foundation

eBay Insurance Services, Inc., a Delaware corporati

eBay International Inc., a Delaware corporation

eBay Mobile Labs, Inc., a Delaware corporation

eBay Real Estate Inc., a Delaware corporation

eBay Software Foundation LLC, a Delaware limitedbility corporation
eBay Partner Network, Inc., a Delaware corporation
e-Dialog, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Eureka Labs, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Fetchback, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Global Commerce Services, Inc., a Delaware cormorat
GSI Commerce Call Center, Inc., a Florida corporati

GSI Commerce, Inc., a Delaware corporation

GSI Commerce Solutions, Inc., a Pennsylvania ceattjmor
GSI Commerce South, Inc., a Delaware corporation

GSI Equipment, Inc., a New York corporation

GSl Interactive, Inc., a Delaware corporation

GSI Marketing Services, Inc., a Pennsylvania cafon

GSI Media, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Half.com, Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation

KOP, Promotions LLC, a Virginia limited liabilityoenpany
Last Minute Transactions, Inc., a Delaware corponat

M3 Mobile Incorporated, a Pennsylvania corporation
Magecom Ventures, a Delaware corporation

Marketplace Insurance Inc., a Hawaii corporation

MBS Insight, Inc., a Delaware corporation

MicroPlace, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Online Direct, Inc., a Delaware corporation

PayPal Asset Management, Inc., a Delaware corporati
PayPal Charitable Giving Fund, a Delaware corpomati
PayPal Data Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation
PayPal Gift Card Services, Inc., a Arizona corgorat
PayPal Global Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporatio
PayPal, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Promotions Distributor Service Corporation, a Qalifa Corporation
ProStores, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Shopping.com Inc., a Delaware corporation.

Silverlign Group, Inc., a California corporation

StubHub, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Truvie Security, Inc., a Delaware corporation

VendorNet, Inc., a Delaware corporation

WHERE, LLC., a Delaware limited liability corporati
X.commerce, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Zvents Inc., a California corporation

Exhibit 21.01




INTERNATIONAL SUBSIDIARIES

Jurisdiction of Percent Ownership

Name Incorporation If Less Than 100%
Autoact AB Sweden
Baazee.com Private Limited Mauritius
Bil Markedet ApS Denmark
BillSafe GmbH Germany
DealTime (Europe) B.V. Netherlands
Den Bla Avis A/S Denmark

EachNet.com Limited

eBay Advertising Group GmbH

eBay Asia Pacific Regional Management Services Ltd.
eBay Australia and New Zealand Pty Limited
eBay Canada Limited

eBay Classifieds Argentina S.R.L.

eBay Classifieds Denmark ApS

eBay Czech Republic s.r.o.

e-Dialog UK Limited

e-Dialog Singapore Private Ltd.

eBay Europe Sarl

eBay Europe Services Ltd.

eBay France SA

eBay GmbH

eBay e-Commerce Technology Operations (Shanghaj)L@b
eBay Engineering & Research Center (Shanghai)lGa.,
eBay India Centre Private Limited

eBay India Pvt. Ltd.

eBay International Advertising GmbH

eBay International AG

eBay International Hong Kong Ltd.

eBay International Marketing GmbH

eBay Israel Holding Ltd.

eBay ltalia S.r.l.

eBay Japan K.K.

eBay Korea Co., Ltd.

eBay KTA (UK) Limited

eBay Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
eBay Marketing (Thailand ) Company Limited
eBay Motors India Private Limited

eBay Malaysia Sdn Bhd

eBay Mauritius Holding Private Limited

eBay Merchant Services GmbH

eBay New Ventures K.K.

eBay Polska Sp z o.0.

eBay RU LLC

eBay Services Sarl

eBay Sweden AB

eBay Singapore Services Private Limited
eBay Software Technologies (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
eBay Spain International, S.L.

eBay Taiwan Company Ltd.

Cayman Islands
Germany
Korea
Australia
Canada
Argentina
Denmark
Czech Republic
United Kingdom
Singapore
Luxembourg
Ireland
France
Germany
People's Republic of China
People's Republic of China
India
India
Switzerland
Switzerland
Hong Kong
Switzerland
Israel
Italy
Japan
Korea 99.9%
United Kingdom
People's Republic of China
Thailand
India
Malaysia
Mauritius
Germany
Japan
Poland
Russia
Luxembourg
Sweden
Singapore
People's Republic of China
Spain

Taiwan

LinsAanmbhAaiiva



eBay (UK) Limited
EU Liaison Office BVBA
Gitti Gidiyor Bilgi Teknolojileri Sanayi ve Ticarédnonim Sirketi

GSI Commerce Solutions International , S.L.

United Kingdom
Canada
Belgium
Turkey 93%
Spain




Jurisdiction of Percent Ownership

Name Incorporation If Less Than 100%
GSI Commerce Japan K.K. Japan
GSI Luxembourg S.a.r.l. Luxembourg

Gumtree.com Limited
Internet Performance Testing Ltd.

eBay Corporate Services GmbH

Magento Europe LLC

Marktplaats B.V.

mobile.international GmbH

PayPal Argentina SRL

PayPal Asia Services Ltd.

PayPal Australia Pty Limited

PayPal Bilisim Hizmetleri Limited Sirketi
PayPal CA Limited

PayPal Deutschland GmbH

PayPal Do Brasil Servicos de e PagamentosLtda.
PayPal (Europe) Ltd.

PayPal (Europe) Sarl

PayPal (Europe) Sarl et Cie, SCA
PayPal Europe SE

PayPal Europe Services Ltd.

PayPal European Marketing S.A.
PayPal France SAS

PayPal Hong Kong Limited

PayPal India Private Limited

PayPal Information Technologies (Shanghai) Co., Ltd
PayPal International Limited

PayPal International Sarl

PayPal Israel Holding (2008) Ltd.
PayPal Israel Ltd.

PayPal Italia s.r.l.

PayPal Japan K.K.

PayPal Malaysia Services Sdn Bhd
PayPal Mexico, S. De R.L. De C.V.
PayPal Nederlands B.V.

PayPal Payments Pte. Holdings S.C.S.
PayPal Payments Pte. Ltd.

PayPal Payments Private Limited
PayPal Polska Sp z 0.0.

PayPal Pte. Ltd.

PayPal SE

PayPal Services Canada Limited
PayPal Settlement Services (ChongQing) Co., Ltd.
PayPal Spain S.L.

PayPal (UK) Limited

PayPal 2 Sarl

PayPal 3 Sarl

Peekspy Pte. Ltd.

United Kingdom
British Virgin Islands
Germany
Ireland/Luxembourg
Italy
Norway
Belgian Branch
The Netherlands
Germany
Argentina
Mauritius
Australia
Turkey
Canada
Germany
Brazil
United Kingdom
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Ireland
Ireland
Switzerland
France
Hong Kong
India
People's Republic of China
Ireland/Singapore
Luxembourg
Israel
Israel
Italy
Japan
Malaysia
Mexico
The Netherlands
Luxembourg
Singapore
India
Poland
Singapore
United Kingdom
Canada
People's Republic of China
Spain
United Kingdom
Luxembourg
Luxembourg

Singapore



Private Sale GmbH

Private Sale International GmbH

Shanghai eBay Network Information Services Co., Ltd
Shopping.com France SAS

Shopping.com GmbH

Shopping.com Ltd.

Germany
Germany
People's Republic of China
France
Germany

Israel

50%




Name

Jurisdiction of Percent Ownership
Incorporation If Less Than 100%

Shopping.com UK Ltd.
StubHub Europe Sarl
StubHub Services Sarl

Shopping Epinions International Ltd.

Trade2Trade Ltd.

Via-Online GmbH

WHERE d.o.o0.

X.Commerce Development LLC
Zendor/GSI Commerce Limited
Zong SA

Zong SAS

Zong GmbH

United Kingdom
Luxembourg
Luxembourg

Ireland
United Kingdom
Germany
Croatia
Ukraine

United Kingdom
Switzerland

France

Germany



Exhibit 23.01

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statements on Form S-3 (N8-B34449 and No. 333-175733), Form
S-4 (Nos. 333-97727 and 333-117914), and Form[$e8.(333-64179, 333-87593, 333-41944, 333-58048,8329, 333-100426, 333-
107832, 333-117913, 333-127971, 333-129072, 333-186333-140942, 333-143880, 333-149131, 333-149332 151851, 333-155314,
333-159778, 333-165438, 333-168295, 333-171154,133242, 333-175416, 333-175417, 333-176477, 3%H43, 333-178369, 333-
181535, 333-181539) of eBay Inc. of our report dakenuary 31, 2013 relating to the consolidateahiinl statements, financial statement
schedule and the effectiveness of internal comtvel financial reporting, which appears in thisfRdrO-K .

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
January 31, 2013



Exhibit 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

[, John J. Donahoe, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of eBay,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or én#ttate a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) drate responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durimg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrali$slosure controls and procedures and presentidisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantprocedures, as of the end of the period coumyehlis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportitgt occurred during the registra
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repo# tias materially affected, or is reason:
likely to materially affect, the registrant's imet control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) drithve disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thdtaxmnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize aport financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ John J. Donahoe

John J. Donahoe

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: January 31, 2013



Exhibit 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER,
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

I, Robert H. Swan, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of eBay,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or én#ttate a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) drate responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durimg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrali$slosure controls and procedures and presentidisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantprocedures, as of the end of the period coumyehlis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportitgt occurred during the registra
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repo# tias materially affected, or is reason:
likely to materially affect, the registrant's imet control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) drithve disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thdtaxmnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize aport financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/Robert H. Swan

Robert H. Swan

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: January 31, 2013



Exhibit 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

I, John J. Donahoe, hereby certify pursuant to 18.C. Section 1350 adopted pursuant to Sectioro®@& Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that:

(i) The accompanying annual report on Form 10-Ktleryear ended December 31, 2012 fully compli¢b thie requirements of
Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the SecuritieshHaxge Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) The information contained in such report faigresents, in all material respects, the finamgaldition and results of operations of
eBay Inc.

/s/ John J. Donahoe

John J. Donahoe

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: January 31, 2013

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is noighéled as part of this report.



Exhibit 32.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER,
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

I, Robert H. Swan, hereby certify pursuant to 18.0. Section 1350 adopted pursuant to Section B dBarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that:

(i) The accompanying annual report on Form 10-Ktl@ryear ended December 31, 2012 fully compliéb thie requirements of
Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securitiesiaxge Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) The information contained in such report fpigresents, in all material respects, the finammialdition and results of operations of
eBay Inc.

/s/ Robert H. Swan

Robert H. Swan

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: January 31, 2013

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is noighfled as part of this report.



